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Court File No.: 21-CV-________________ 

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

(COMMERCIAL LIST) 

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, 
R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR 
ARRANGEMENT OF LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY 

 
 

NOTICE OF APPLICATION 

 

TO THE RESPONDENT(S): 

A LEGAL PROCEEDING HAS BEEN COMMENCED by the Applicant.  The claim 
made by the Applicant appears on the following pages. 

THIS APPLICATION will come on for hearing on February 1, 2021 at 9:00 a.m. via 
Zoom videoconference due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

IF YOU WISH TO OPPOSE THIS APPLICATION, to receive notice of any step in 
the application or to be served with any documents in the application, you or an Ontario lawyer 
acting for you must forthwith prepare a notice of appearance in Form 38A prescribed by the Rules 
of Civil Procedure, serve it on the Applicant’s lawyer or, where the Applicant does not have a 
lawyer, serve it on the Applicant, and file it, with proof of service, in this court office, and you or 
your lawyer must appear at the hearing. 

IF YOU WISH TO PRESENT AFFIDAVIT OR OTHER DOCUMENTARY 
EVIDENCE TO THE COURT OR TO EXAMINE OR CROSS-EXAMINE WITNESSES 
ON THE APPLICATION, you or your lawyer must, in addition to serving your notice of 
appearance, serve a copy of the evidence on the Applicant’s lawyer or, where the Applicant does 
not have a lawyer, serve it on the Applicant, and file it, with proof of service, in the court office 
where the application is to be heard as soon as possible, but not later than 2:00 p.m. on the day 
before the hearing. 

IF YOU FAIL TO APPEAR AT THE HEARING, AN ORDER MAY BE MADE IN 
YOUR ABSENCE AND WITHOUT FURTHER NOTICE TO YOU.  If you wish to oppose 
this application but are unable to pay legal fees, legal aid may be available to you by contracting 
a Local Legal Aid office.  
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DATE:       Issued by:      

 

________________________________ 
Address of Court office: 
330 University Avenue 
Toronto, Ontario  M5G 1E6  

TO:  THIS HONOURABLE COURT 

AND TO: THE ATTACHED SERVICE LIST AT SCHEDULE “A”  
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APPLICATION 

THE APPLICANT MAKES THIS APPLICATION FOR:  

1. An Initial Order (the “Initial Order”) pursuant to the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement 

Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended (the “CCAA”) substantially in the form attached at 

Tab 4 to the Applicant’s application record (the “Application Record”), inter alia: 

(a) abridging the time for service of this Notice of Application and the materials filed in 

support of the application and dispensing with further service thereof; 

(b) declaring that the Applicant is a debtor company to which the CCAA applies;  

(c) appointing Ernst & Young Inc. (the “Proposed Monitor”) as an officer of this Court 

to monitor the assets, business, and financial affairs of the Applicant;  

(d) authorizing the Applicant to continue paying in the ordinary course: (i) all outstanding 

owing in respect of the current 2020-21 academic year and future amounts owing in 

respect of rebates, refunds, or other similar amounts that are owing or may be owed to 

students or student associations of the Applicant, provided that such amounts are 

subject to the existing policies and procedures of the Applicant; and (ii) all outstanding 

amounts owing in respect of the current 2020-21 academic year and future amounts 

payable to students in respect of scholarships, bursaries, or grants arising from funds 

held by the Applicant in its endowment investment account; 

(e) staying all proceedings taken or that might be taken in respect of the Applicant and its 

Property or Business, its current and future directors and officers, or the Proposed 

Monitor until February 11, 2021, subject to further Order of the Court (the “Stay of 

Proceedings”); 

(f) staying any enforcement proceedings that may be taken against the Laurentian 

University Students’ General Association (the “Non-Applicant Stay Party”) by 

reason of: (i) the Applicant being insolvent or commencing this proceeding, (ii) the 
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Applicant being a party to this proceeding, (iii) the granting of the Stay of Proceedings, 

or (iv) any default, cross-default or remedies arising due to the foregoing; 

(g) granting the following charges over the Applicant’s property: 

i. a charge in favour of the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor, all counsel and 

advisors to the Applicant, and independent counsel to the Applicant’s Board of 

Governors in the maximum amount of $400,000 pursuant to the Initial Order, 

such amount will be requested to be increased to $1,250,000 pursuant to the 

Amended and Restated Initial Order following the Comeback Hearing (the 

“Administration Charge”); and 

ii. a charge in favour of the current and future directors and officers of the 

Applicant in the maximum amount of $2 million, such amount to be in priority 

to the DIP Charge (as hereafter defined) pursuant to the Initial Order, with a 

further amount of $3 million to be subordinate to the DIP Charge pursuant to 

the Amended and Restated Initial Order (the “Directors’ Charge”); 

all in accordance with the terms of the draft orders annexed to the Application Record; 

(h) a sealing order in respect of Confidential Exhibits “EEE” and “FFF” to the Affidavit 

of Robert Haché sworn January 30, 2021 (the “Haché Affidavit”); 

2. Prior to the expiry of the Stay of Proceedings on a further motion on notice to affected parties 

(the “Comeback Hearing”), the Applicant intends to seek an Amended and Restated Initial 

Order (the “Amended and Restated Initial Order”). Among other things, the motion in 

respect of the Amended and Restated Initial Order will seek the following additional relief:  

(a) an extension of the Stay of Proceedings to April 30, 2021;  

(b) suspension of the Applicant’s obligation to make certain special payments in respect 

of the Applicant’s defined benefit pension plan, pending further Order of the Court; 

(c) suspending the Applicant’s obligation to respond to requests for information received 

pursuant to the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (Ontario), 
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R.S.O. 1990, c. F.31 (“FIPPA”) during the currency of the Stay of Proceedings, nunc 

pro tunc to February 1, 2021; 

(d) appointing a mediator, as an officer of the Court and a neutral third party (the “Court-

Appointed Mediator”), to undertake a mediation of various issues under the 

supervision of this Court, on an urgent basis; 

(e) approving the Applicant’s ability to borrow up to the principal amount of $25 million 

under a debtor-in-possession credit facility (the “DIP Facility”) to finance its working 

capital requirements and other general corporate purposes, post-filing expenses, and 

costs during the Stay of Proceedings, in accordance with the terms of the DIP Term 

Sheet annexed as Exhibit “HHH” to the Hache Affidavit;  

(f) granting a charge over the Applicant’s property in favour of the DIP Lender (as defined 

below) in the maximum principal amount of $25 million (the “DIP Charge”); and 

(g) increasing the amount of the Administration Charge and the Directors’ Charge as set 

out above.  

3. Such further and other relief as this Honourable Court deems just.  

THE GROUNDS FOR THE APPLICATION ARE: 

General 

(a) The Applicant, Laurentian University of Sudbury (“LU”), is insolvent and is anit entity to 

which the CCAA applies; 

(b) The claims against the Applicant exceed $5 million; 

(c) The Applicant is facing a severe liquidity crisis.  Since the 2014-15 fiscal year, LU has 

experienced operational deficits in the millions of dollars each year.  Despite LU’s recent 

attempts to reduce expenses and grow revenue, LU projects a further operational deficit of 

$5.6 million in the 2020-21 fiscal year. 
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(d) The Applicant requires immediate protection from this Court to permit it to, amongst other 

things: 

(i) Stabilize its liquidity position under Court supervision; 

(ii) Create a forum within which to urgently undertake negotiations involving key 

stakeholders with the assistance of a court-appointed mediator; 

(iii) Negotiate and implement long-term financial sustainability initiatives to allow it to 

return to profitability for the benefit of all stakeholders; 

(iv) Evaluate the structure and sustainability of its ongoing relationships with the 

Federated Universities; and 

(v) Restructure its program offerings; 

(e) Ernst & Young Inc. has consented to act as the Monitor in the CCAA Proceedings, should 

the Initial Order be granted; 

Overview of the Applicant 

(f) LU is a non-share capital corporation that was incorporated pursuant to An Act to 

Incorporate Laurentian University of Sudbury, S.O. 1960, c. 151 C. 154 (the “Act”). 

(g) LU is a publicly-funded, bilingual and tricultural postsecondary institution in Sudbury, 

Ontario; 

(h) LU is governed by a Board of Governors comprised of nominees from various stakeholder 

groups of LU and includes 25 voting members and 9 non-voting members for a total of 34 

members; 

(i) There are approximately 8,200 undergraduate students and 1,098 graduate students 

enrolled at LU in the 2020-2021 Academic Year. Further, pursuant to a contractual 

relationship between LU and Lakehead University, the Northern Ontario School of 

Medicine (“NOSM”) operates as an independent, not-for-profit corporation with a 
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mandate to improve the health of the people in Northern Ontario. There are approximately 

461 students enrolled at NOSM in the 2020-2021 Academic Year; 

(j) LU employs approximately 1,730 people, including approximately 734 full-time 

employees, most of whom are located in Sudbury, Ontario.  Approximately 581 employees 

are represented by the Laurentian University Faculty Association (“LUFA”). The 

Laurentian University Staff Union (“LUSU”) further represents approximately 267 

employees.  The Applicant is one of the largest employers in the Greater Sudbury area; 

Immediate Need for a Stay of Proceedings 

(k) The Applicant requires the Stay of Proceedings and the other relief sought in order to 

continue operating in the ordinary course of business and continue providing high-quality 

education to its thousands of students while it stabilizes its financial position and evaluates 

necessary restructuring strategies; 

(l) It is necessary and in the best interest of the Applicant and its stakeholders that the 

Applicant be afforded the breathing room necessary to financially and operationally 

restructure itself in order to emerge as a sustainable and long-term financially viable 

university to continue providing quality post-secondary education in Northern Ontario; 

(m) Without the benefit of the stay of proceedings and the protections of the CCAA, the 

significant changes required by the Applicant to effect its financial and operational 

restructuring plan will take too long, may not be achievable, and the Applicant simply does 

not have the available liquidity that would be required to attempt to do so; 

(n) The Applicant further seeks a limited stay in respect of the Non-Applicant Stay Party.  The 

Non-Applicant Stay Party is the largest undergraduate student association at LU and is led 

by elected students and full-time staff to represent the interests of the student body and 

provide services to all students. The Non-Applicant Stay Party may be adversely affected 

by the CCAA proceedings of LU due to its $8.5 million credit facility that is guaranteed 

by the Applicant.  The extension of the stay to the Non-Applicant Stay Party is necessary 
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given the Applicant’s status as an operating university and its overarching aim to avoid 

disruption to its students during this CCAA proceeding; 

Urgent Need for the DIP Loan 

(o) In connection with the commencement of this CCAA proceeding, the Applicant entered 

into the DIP Term Sheet dated January 29, 2021 with Firm Capital Corporation (“FCC”), 

which commitment was then assigned by FCC to Firm Capital Mortgage Fund Inc. (the 

“DIP Lender”), pursuant to which the DIP Lender has agreed to provide the DIP Facility 

to LU in the maximum principal amount of $25 million in accordance with a cash flow 

forecast prepared by the Applicant and reviewed by the intended Monitor; 

(p) The Applicant requires this debtor-in-possession financing to, inter alia, providing 

operating cash, fund the costs of its day-to-day operations, and negotiate and then 

implement a plan for its restructuring; 

(q) The DIP Facility is conditional upon, among other things, the obtaining of an order of this 

Court approving the DIP Term Sheet and the documents to be executed and delivered 

thereunder, and granting the DIP Charge over the Property. The Applicant will be seeking 

approval of the DIP Facility and granting of the DIP Charge at the Comeback Hearing; 

Payment of Rebates, Refunds, or Other Amounts Owing to Students  

(r) The Applicant seeks to permit the continued payment of all outstanding amounts owing in 

respect of the current 2020-21 academic year and future amounts owing in respect of 

rebates, refunds, or other amounts that are owing or may be owed to students or student 

associations of LU, whether such amounts are as a result of the reimbursement of tuition 

fees, ancillary fees, or otherwise in the ordinary course, provided that such amounts are 

subject to the existing policies and procedures of LU.  LU also seeks to permit the 

continued payment of amounts to students in respect of scholarship, bursary, or grant 

money which those students are dependent upon; 
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(s) LU intends on operating in the ordinary course during the CCAA proceeding and 

minimizing the disruption to students as much as possible. To facilitate this, LU must be 

able to process amounts payable in respect of the current 2020-21 academic year and future 

amounts payable to students in respect of scholarship and bursary money, which is a critical 

payment for students in need of financial aid.  Students represent a particularly vulnerable 

population in terms of their age and the academic pressures they face, in addition to the 

added stress that remote learning and reduced interaction and services due to COVID has 

created; 

Court Ordered Charges  

(t) The Applicant is seeking the Court’s approval of an Administration Charge and a 

Directors’ Charge as part of the Initial Order, and a DIP Charge as part of the Amended 

and Restated Initial Order (collectively, the “Charges”) to secure the professional services 

required to complete this CCAA proceeding, ensure the continued assistance and oversight 

of the Applicant’s directors and officers, and maintain the Applicant’s continued operation 

in the ordinary course of business during the Stay of Proceedings; 

(u) The relief sought in the Initial Order, including in respect of the Charges, is limited to what 

is reasonably necessary during the Stay of Proceedings; 

Stay of FIPPA Obligations 

(v) As a publicly funded university, LU is subject to information requests pursuant to FIPPA.  

It is expected that after CCAA proceedings are commenced, there will be an extraordinary 

influx of FIPPA requests; 

(w) The Applicant seeks to suspend its ordinary course obligations to respond to existing and 

future FIPPA requests during the course of the CCAA proceedings.  Such relief will allow 

the Applicant to focus its resources and efforts on the restructuring.  Any information 

requests of the Applicant may continue to proceed through the usual channels in a CCAA 

proceeding through the Monitor and the Applicant, and the Applicant will also endeavour 

to respond to information regarding the CCAA proceedings on a timely basis; 
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Sealing Provision 

(x) The Applicant seeks an order sealing Confidential Exhibits “EEE” and “FFF” to the Haché 

Affidavit, containing a copy of the letter from the Ministry of Colleges and Universities to 

the Applicant dated January 21, 2021, and the copy of the responding letter from the 

Applicant to the Ministry of Colleges and Universities dated January 25, 2021.  The 

correspondence contains sensitive information that, if disclosed publicly, could jeopardize 

the ability of the Applicant to complete a restructuring. 

Other Grounds  

(y) The provisions of the CCAA and the inherent and equitable jurisdiction of this Honourable 

Court; 

(z) Rules 2.03, 3.02, 14.05(2) and 16 of the Ontario Rules of Civil Procedure, R.R.O. 1990, 

Reg. 194, as amended and sections 106 and 137(2) of the Ontario Courts of Justice Act, 

R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43 as amended; and 

(aa) such further and other grounds as counsel may advise and this Court may permit.  

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE will be used at the hearing of this 

application: 

(bb) the Affidavit of Dr. Robert Haché sworn January 30, 2021 and Exhibits attached thereto;  

(cc) the Pre-Filing Report of the Proposed Monitor, Ernst & Young Inc., to be filed; 

(dd) the Consent of Ernst & Young Inc. to act as Monitor dated January 30, 2021; and 

(ee) such further and other evidence as counsel may advise and this Court may permit.  
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I, Dr. Robert Haché, of the City of Sudbury, in the Province of Ontario, MAKE OATH 

AND SAY AS FOLLOWS: 

I. INTRODUCTION 

1. I am the President and Vice-Chancellor of Laurentian University of Sudbury (“LU” or the 

“Applicant”) and a member of the Board of Governors (the “Board”) of LU, having served 

in this role since July 2019. 

2. Prior to joining LU in July 2019, I was the Vice-President of Research and Innovation at 

York University and prior to that, the Associate Vice-President of Research at the 

University of Calgary and the Vice Dean of Research for the Faculty of Medicine at the 

University of Ottawa.  I have been involved in leadership positions at post-secondary 

institutions for over 15 years and have extensive experience in the operational, academic 

and research arms of such institutions. 

3. As President and Vice-Chancellor, I am the chief executive officer (CEO) of LU.  I am the 

chair of the Senate and have supervision over and direction of the academic work and 

general administration of LU, including the faculty staff, students, and officers and 

employees of LU.  Further, I am a voting member of the Board, subject to certain limited 

exceptions. Generally speaking, I am the public face of LU.  For example, I am involved 

in coordination with the Government of Ontario, the Federated Universities (as defined 

below) communications with students, including the student associations and, at a high 

level, the Unions (as defined below).  Where I do not have direct communications, I rely 

on a team comprised of, among others, the Provost and VP Academic, AVP Human 

Resources & Organizational Development, VP Research, VP Administration, AVP 
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Financial Services, Chief Advancement Officer, the Executive Director of 

Communications, Marketing and Governmental Relations, and the University Secretary 

and the General Counsel of LU (collectively, the “Internal Team”). 

4. As such, I have knowledge of the matters hereinafter deposed to, save where I have 

obtained information from others.  Where I have obtained information from others, I have 

stated the source of the information and believe it to be true.   

5. In preparing this affidavit, I have relied upon the financial information in this affidavit has 

been provided to me by the VP Administration who is accountable for, and has 

responsibility over, LU’s Finance department. This is the best information available to me 

through the VP Administration, the Finance department and the books and records of LU 

as of the date of swearing.  LU has experienced a number of challenges with the limited 

team and resources in the Finance department, and such difficulties are made even more 

pronounced with the additional demands placed on their time in connection with the 

preparation for this CCAA proceeding. 

6. This affidavit is sworn in support of LU’s application for an Order (the “Initial Order”), 

among other things, commencing proceedings under the Companies’ Creditors 

Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended (the “CCAA”), and appointing Ernst 

& Young Inc. (“EY”) as the court-appointed monitor of the Applicant (in such capacity, 

the “Proposed Monitor”) in the CCAA proceeding, to facilitate the restructuring of the 

Applicant for the benefit of its stakeholders.  

7. All monetary amounts referred to in this Affidavit are in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise 

noted. 
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II. THE PRESSING NEED FOR RELIEF 

8. LU has experienced recurring operational deficits in the millions of dollars each year for a 

significant period of time.1  These operational deficits have led to the accumulated deficit 

in the operational fund of LU increasing from approximately $8.2 million in FY 2014-15 

to approximately $20 million per year in FY 2019-20. 

9. In the current 2020-21 fiscal year, LU projects a further operational deficit of $5.6 million.  

This is notwithstanding previous efforts implemented by the Internal Team and, previously, 

the budget committee (which was comprised of members of the Internal Team, among 

other academic and non-academic senior leaders) at LU to review and identify areas where 

LU could reduce its annual expenses and grow revenue.  In the years preceding this 

application, LU has: 

(a) reduced its non-faculty workforce from approximately 429 to 409 and faculty 

workforce (excluding the Barrie campus closure) from approximately 358 to 344 

at that time; 

(b) deferred the hiring of faculty and non-faculty positions; 

(c) negotiated with LUSU (as defined below) to forego their employee salary increases; 

(d) approved a pay freeze and reduced the salaries of its non-unionized, including 

managerial, employees; 

 

1 In fiscal year 2017-18, LU reported an operational surplus of approximately $2 million due to certain positive one-
time financial realizations by LU.  This fiscal year was an anomaly. 
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(e) approved a pay freeze and reduced the salaries of certain members of the Internal 

Team2; and 

(f) re-negotiated the funding model with the Federated Universities (as defined below). 

10. Nonetheless, these efforts are not enough.  LU is insolvent and absent the relief sought in 

the Initial Order, will run out of cash to meet payroll in February.  The financial challenges 

that LU faces are significant and, absent fundamental change, LU’s short-term and long-

term financial and operational sustainability are at risk. The COVID-19 pandemic has only 

exacerbated these issues. 

11. One significant source of financial challenge are the terms of LU’s collective agreement 

with Laurentian University Faculty Association (“LUFA”), which is addressed in this 

affidavit.  This financial issue is exacerbated by the labour relationship between LU and 

LUFA (there was a strike in 2017 during bargaining of the LUFA CA) stemming from 

decisions made in the past at LU and which remains challenging.  For example, there are 

approximately 102 active grievances that have been filed by LUFA dating back to 2017.  I 

am advised by LU’s external employment and labour counsel Michael Kennedy of Hicks 

Morley LLP that this volume of grievances is significantly higher than volumes seen at 

other Ontario universities. 

12. Operationally, the academic programming offered by LU is not sustainable in its current 

form and must be addressed.  LU offers 132 undergraduate programs and 43 graduate 

 

2 Some members of the Internal Team are considered ‘designated executives’ under the Broader Public Sector 
Executive Compensation Act, 2014.  The salary for the position of President and Vice-Chancellor of LU has 
remained unchanged since 2009. 
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programs.  Approximately 25% of students are enrolled in the top five programs, 

approximately 62% are enrolled in the top 25 programs and 83% are enrolled in the top 50 

programs. 

13. When considering individual courses (each program offers multiple courses), the issues are 

magnified.  Of the 1,902 courses offered by LU in the Winter 2021 semester: 

(a) 162 courses (8%) have five students or fewer enrolled; 

(b) 180 courses (9%) have between six to ten students enrolled; 

(c) 1,018 courses (53%) have between eleven to fourteen students enrolled; and 

(d) 568 courses (30%) have fifteen or more students enrolled. 

14. Notwithstanding the number of students enrolled in a course, LU must employ a faculty 

member to instruct that course.  A significant number of courses have ten or fewer students 

enrolled, and a majority of courses have fourteen or fewer students enrolled.  For context, 

average first-year and second-year class sizes at Canadian universities range from 23.1 

(Moncton) to 127.4 (McMaster).  Average upper year class sizes at Canadian universities 

range from 13.8 (Brandon) to 51.8 (McMaster).3 

15. Low enrolment in courses causes such courses to be financially unsustainable.  The cost of 

offering such courses greatly exceeds the grant and tuition revenue received by LU for 

those courses. 

 

3 Source: The average undergraduate class size at Canadian universities, 2017, Maclean’s Canada: 
https://www.macleans.ca/education/the-average-undergraduate-class-size-at-canadian-universities.  
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16. Within the current structure, it costs more for LU and the Federated Universities to educate 

each student per year when compared to the average cost across all other Ontario 

universities.  Based on data retrieved from Council of Ontario Finance Officers, it costs 

LU and the Federated Universities approximately $2,000 more to educate its students per 

year than the Provincial average across all universities. 

17. Historical efforts to address LU’s program offerings have been unsuccessful.  For example, 

LUFA has challenged the July 2020 decision by the Provost and VP Academic of LU to 

temporarily suspend admissions to 17 academic programs with low enrolment.  This is 

currently the subject of a pending judicial review, which proceeding will be stayed if this 

application is granted.  

18. LU seeks to commence proceedings under the CCAA in order to provide it with a platform 

to financially and operationally restructure itself in order to emerge as a sustainable and 

long-term financially viable institution. The commencement of a CCAA proceeding to 

address these significant issues represents the only realistic path forward for the university 

at this time. 

19. It is in the interest of public policy, as well as current and future students, faculty, staff, 

retirees, the Greater Sudbury community and the Northern Ontario region generally, to 

provide LU with the breathing room and platform of a court-supervised proceeding with 

the oversight and assistance of a Monitor, in order for it to restructure. I believe that 

supporting a successful restructuring is consistent with the Ontario Legislature’s public 

policy objective of providing accessible (financially and geographically) higher education 

to Ontarians. 
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20. LU has made every effort over the last several years to support its students and provide the 

best academic and student experience possible.  Such efforts will continue following the 

commencement of these proceedings.  However, LU must take steps to ensure its long-

term sustainability.  LU requires financial assistance and the breathing room afforded by 

CCAA protection to effect an overall restructuring and to safeguard against significant 

changes to its operations and a corresponding decline in student experience which would 

likely result if this is not undertaken through a coordinated, transparent and efficient court-

supervised process.  A successful restructuring of LU will necessarily involve its federated 

universities: Huntington University, Thorneloe University and the University of Sudbury 

(collectively, the “Federated Universities”), as described below. 

III. OVERVIEW OF THE APPLICANT 

A. Background and Corporate Structure 

21. On March 28, 1960, LU was incorporated pursuant to An Act to Incorporate Laurentian 

University of Sudbury, S.O. 1960, c. 151 C. 154 (the “Act”). A copy of the Act is attached 

as Exhibit “A” hereto.  

22. LU is a non-share capital corporation governed by the Board.  The Bylaws provide that the 

Board is to be comprised of 25 voting members.  Currently, there are four vacancies and 

only 21 current voting members (of which I am one) and 9 non-voting members for a total 

of 30 members.  The constitution of the Board is pursuant to the General Bylaws of the 

Board (the “Bylaws”) and requires representation from various stakeholder groups of LU, 

as described more fully in paragraph 101.  Attached as Exhibit “B” is a copy of the 

corporate profile report for LU obtained from the Ministry of Government and Consumer 

Services. 
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23. LU is a registered charity pursuant to the Income Tax Act.  Its charitable registration number 

is 119009686RR0001. For all charitable contributions and donations received by LU, LU 

issues a tax receipt to the donor. LU’s charitable fundraising is an essential component of 

various programs and services that LU provides to its students. 

24. LU has operated in Sudbury, Ontario since its incorporation as a publicly-funded, bilingual 

postsecondary institution.  At one time, LU operated a satellite campus in Barrie, Ontario 

which closed operations entirely in 2019. 

25. As further discussed below, LU has a federated school structure whereby it has formal 

affiliations with several independent universities under the overall LU umbrella: the 

University of Sudbury (“SU”), the University of Thorneloe (“Thorneloe”) and Huntington 

University (“Huntington”).  

26. Since inception, LU strives to provide quality higher education to the community of 

Sudbury and Northern Ontario at large. LU has rapidly grown its reputation as a leading 

university for Northern Ontario, with increasing international recognition and strong 

national, provincial and regional impact. The innovative programs that LU offers have been 

a significant factor in LU’s growth and success. 

27. LU is considered an “access university”, since over 50% of the student population is 

comprised of first-generation postsecondary students (those whose parents did not attend 

university) and over 12% of the student population self-identifies as Indigenous. 

28. LU is an integral part of the economic fabric of Northern Ontario and serves as the primary 

postsecondary institution for a large geographic region.  The City of Greater Sudbury has 
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a population of approximately 165,000.  Northern Ontario communities depend on LU to 

educate a local workforce of professionals in a wide array of disciplines, which assists with 

keeping these communities competitive and thriving.  It is not uncommon for LU students 

from outside the region to decide to reside in Northern Ontario after graduation. 

29. LU is consistently one of the largest employers in Sudbury.  If LU ceased to operate, there 

would be a profound economic impact on the City of Greater Sudbury as many employees 

would lose their livelihood and, in some cases, that may cause such persons to move out 

of the region. 

B. Students and Academic Programming 

30. LU’s mission is to provide the best possible academic and social experience to its students.  

LU recognizes that its students are the lifeblood of the organization and while this 

restructuring will touch on a significant number of financial and operational aspects of LU, 

the primary goal of the restructuring is to ensure that current and future students will 

continue to have access to a high quality post-secondary education at LU for years to come. 

31. Academically, LU’s programs result in success for its graduates.  LU provides some of the 

best outcomes for students in Ontario, including the highest post-graduation employment 

rate in Ontario after both six months (94.3%) and two years (97.4%), as well as strong 

salary outcomes.4  

32. This application is made with a view to protecting and preserving the student experience 

at LU.  I am committed to ensuring that the organization takes every step necessary to 

 

4 Source: Ontario University Graduate Survey, conducted in 2018-2019 with students who graduated in 2016. 
Available online at: http://www.iaccess.gov.on.ca/OsapRatesWeb/enterapp/home.xhtml.  
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ensure that the student experience is uninterrupted during this restructuring.  That will 

allow our students to focus on what they are at LU for – learning and growing as 

individuals, within a community of fellow students.  While the restructuring will be a 

central priority of the Board and Internal Team, it is our intention that student education 

and experience will not be impacted or disrupted. 

i. Undergraduate Programming 

33. LU primarily focuses on undergraduate programming, with approximately 8,200 total 

domestic and international undergraduate students (approximately 6,250 full-time 

equivalents) enrolled in the 2020-21 fall semester. 

34. LU students may choose to combine program offerings for a multidisciplinary and well-

rounded experience. To prepare LU students for the workforce, there are several programs 

offering hands-on experience, field work and co-op placements such as the Commerce and 

Engineering programs offered at LU. 

35. LU has five undergraduate faculties: 

(a) Faculty of Arts; 

(b) Faculty of Education; 

(c) Faculty of Health; 

(d) Faculty of Management; and 

(e) the Faculty of Science, Engineering and Architecture. 

36. Within these faculties, students can choose from approximately 132 undergraduate 

programs to enroll in.  Each faculty offers English and French programs and the Faculty of 
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Science, Engineering and Architecture offers a bilingual Bachelor of Engineering program 

designed to be responsive to the Francophone population at LU. 

37. As part of its bilingual mandate, LU offers its students the opportunity to obtain a 

Certificate of Bilingualism, which is awarded to students who earn a minimum of 15 credits 

in courses offered in English or French (whichever is not their primary language of study).  

In a world where fluency in more than one language is increasingly desirable, this 

Certificate is a valuable offering for LU students in their career progression and the 

Certificate provides a competitive edge in the workforce. 

38. LU has a consistent track record of providing an accessible and enhanced academic 

experience for Indigenous students. Key to this initiative is the Indigenous Student Affairs 

team, which strives to ensure a positive learning environment in a manner consistent with 

the Indigenous worldview. This team nurtures a learning environment supportive of the 

academic, spiritual, physical and emotional well-being of the First Nations, Metis, and Inuit 

student body.   

ii. Graduate Programming 

39. LU also has a strong graduate program, with approximately 1,100 total domestic and 

international graduate students (approximately 830 full-time equivalents) enrolled during 

the 2020-21 fall semester. 

40. Graduate studies are administered through the Faculty of Graduate Studies. 

41. LU offers over 40 Masters and Ph.D degrees, including, among others: (i) Ph.D in Rural 

and Northern Health; (ii) Ph.D in Mineral Deposits and Precambrian Geology; (iii) Ph.D 

in Boreal Ecology; (iv) Ph.D in Biomolecular Sciences; (v) Ph.D in Materials Sciences; 
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(vi) Sciences humaines et interdisciplinarité (Ph.D) (French); (vii) Masters in Indigenous 

Relations; (viii) Masters in Science Communication; (ix) Masters in Forensic Science; and 

(x) Masters in Business Administration. 

42. As part of their degree requirements, graduate students are required to complete research 

or scholarly activities.  Depending on the degree, this research can take place on campus 

in specified labs, with one of LU’s sixteen research centres, in the field in collaboration 

with industry and/or community partners, or in a clinical placement. Faculty supervise 

graduate students and, in many cases, fund the student’s research projects through grants 

they apply for and receive from external sources including, but not limited to, government, 

industry and community partners. 

iii. Northern Ontario School of Medicine 

43. Through agreement between LU and Lakehead University (located in Thunder Bay, 

Ontario), the Northern Ontario School of Medicine (“NOSM”) opened in 2005.  NOSM is 

an independent not-for-profit non-share corporation which serves as the faculty of 

medicine for both LU and Lakehead University.  LU and Lakehead University are the two 

members of NOSM and representatives from both organizations, among others, are on the 

Board of Directors of NOSM.  I am the current Chair of NOSM.   A copy of the Corporation 

Profile Report for NOSM is attached as Exhibit “C”. 

44. NOSM provides training in more than 90 communities across a geographic expanse of 

800,000 square kilometers and was established with a mandate to improve the health of the 

people in Northern Ontario.  The medical school is mandated both to educate doctors and 

to contribute to health care in Northern Ontario’s rural, urban, and remote communities. 
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45. NOSM has campuses located in Sudbury and Thunder Bay. LU owns the two buildings 

NOSM occupies on the Sudbury campus: the Health Sciences Education Resource Centre 

and the Medical School Building, which are leased to NOSM. A copy of the lease with 

respect to the Medical School Building is attached as Exhibit “D” and a copy of the 

amendment to the lease which added the Health Sciences Education Resource Centre to 

the demised premises is attached as Exhibit “E”. 

46. The medical school has approximately 461 students enrolled in the 2020-21 academic year 

across the medical doctor (MD) program, residency, the dietetic internship program and 

the Masters in Medical Studies (MMS) graduate program. 

47. NOSM employs approximately 21 full-time faculty and has approximately 1,776 part-time 

stipendiary faculty.  As a result of the nature of NOSM’s learning model, many of the 

clinical stipendiary faculty are situated in more than 90 teaching sites across Northern 

Ontario and provide a clinical learning experience to the students of NOSM. 

48. Pursuant to a Relationship Agreement dated December 18, 2018 (the “Relationship 

Agreement”), LU and Lakehead University each agreed to provide certain support services 

and faculty to NOSM.  Both LU and Lakehead provide facilities and support services, 

student registration and student fee collection, scholarship receipt and disbursement, and 

other educational, research and operational services.  

49. NOSM and LU entered into a subsequent agreement as a schedule to the Relationship 

Agreement which governs the collection and accounting of tuition and incidental fees for 

the 2020/2021 academic year. As part of this agreement, LU provides collection and 

accounting services for NOSM at a fee of $250 per NOSM student enrolled at the Sudbury 
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campus.  A copy of the Relationship Agreement and its schedules are attached hereto as 

Exhibit “F”. 

50. Certain NOSM students pay their fees to LU and those funds are deposited into LU’s 

general operating account with all other student fees.  LU provides monthly outstanding 

balance reports for NOSM students to NOSM and issues the relevant tax forms directly to 

NOSM students.  LU also provides bursaries to NOSM students and LU is reimbursed 

directly by NOSM for such payments.  These funds flow through LU’s main operating 

account. 

51. Although NOSM was formed by agreement between LU and Lakehead University, NOSM 

is legally, financially and operationally independent from LU, save and except for the 

aforementioned services provided by LU and the holding of endowment funds by LU from 

third parties designated for NOSM.  NOSM faculty and staff have separate unions and the 

NOSM pension plan and benefits packages are separate from the LU programs.  NOSM 

receives its government support directly from the Province of Ontario (the “Province”). 

52. Approximately $14 million of the $53 million in endowment funds currently held by LU 

are funds that are in respect of donations or gifts from third parties for NOSM, rather than 

LU.  As will be described in greater detail below, due to the unique nature of endowment 

funds to a post-secondary organization, LU proposes that such funds continue to be held 

and available only for their designated and intended purpose (that is, to fund scholarships 

to qualifying students). 
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53. Other than any ancillary reputational impact as a result of LU’s insolvency, LU anticipates 

that NOSM and its students will be largely unaffected by the commencement of these 

proceedings. 

C. Research and Scholarly Activity 

54. LU places considerable emphasis on its research and enjoys the reputation of being a 

leading undergraduate university in Canada for research and scholarly activity.  In the most 

recent rankings from Research InfoSource, LU ranked first in sponsored research income 

in the undergraduate university category in Canada with $39.4 million. The average 

sponsored research income of similar undergraduate universities is $17.4 million.5 

55. Sponsored research income includes all funds to support research received in the form of 

a grant, award, contribution or contract from external sources.  As discussed further below, 

LU carries significant obligations in respect of deferred contribution amounts on its balance 

sheet, which, among other things, represent sponsored research funds that have been 

received by LU in advance of the related expenses being incurred. These amounts include 

research grant funding which has not yet been allocated towards the designated research 

activities.  A few notable projects currently funded at LU through sponsored income are: 

(a) Metal Earth, which is funded through the federal government’s Canada First 

Research Excellence Fund (“CFREF”).  This program has received over $80 

million in in-kind funding from industry partners to date, and the federal 

government has committed $49 million in cash contributions over a seven-year 

 

5 Source: https://researchinfosource.com/pdf/Top50List2020MainMetrics_Undergraduate.pdf  
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period, with approximately $17 million committed between March 1, 2021 and 

March 1, 2023.  

(b) LU is scheduled to receive $3.7 million in funding over seven years from the 

McDonald Institute as an institutional partner in the CFREF project for astroparticle 

physics research. 

(c) Listening to Children’s Voices, which promotes Indigenous mental wellness, is 

funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research in the amount of $1.4 million 

over 5 years. 

(d) Neurodegeneration in Aging is scheduled to receive approximately $2 million over 

five years from the Baycrest Centre for Geriatric Care; and 

(e) the Canadian Foundation for Innovation has provided $200,000 to support the 

purchase of infrastructure for COVID-19 research. 

56. Laurentian University has 14 Senate-approved research centres and two affiliated research 

centres (SNOLab and MIRARCO, as defined and discussed below).  The majority of 

sponsored research is completed by faculty and students affiliated with a Senate-approved 

research centre.  These include research centres that carry out research on social justice and 

policy, rural and Northern Ontario health, ecology and ethical conservation, occupational 

safety, the Franco-Ontarian population, children’s health and Indigenous issues. 

57. Pursuant to the collective agreement with LUFA, full-time faculty are generally required 

to spend approximately 40% of their time during the academic year on scholarly activity, 

which includes commitments to external granting agencies and research funded by private 

research contracts. 
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58. To support research and scholarly activity, the LUFA collective agreement provides that 

LU is required to set aside $160,000 each year for the Laurentian University Research Fund 

(“LURF”) and provide an additional $20,000 per year to support the research activities of 

retired faculty members.  The Director of the Office of Research Services, under the 

supervision of the Vice-President Research, holds an open competition for LURF funding 

annually. LU’s past practice has been to roll over any LURF funds not awarded in a given 

calendar year into the next year’s open funding competition.  However, this funding has 

not been set aside in a separate account and instead has only been allocated in the internal 

general ledger of LU.  Historically, any LURF funds awarded to retired faculty members 

have been paid out of the general operating account of LU.  As a result of its liquidity crisis, 

LU does not have the funds to continue with the LURF program. 

59. External grants obtained by faculty are a significant source of funding used to support 

student research (including stipends for graduate students), employment for students and 

direct costs related to completing research activities. Funding programs administered by 

the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council, Social Sciences and Humanities 

Research Council, and Canadian Institutes of Health Research (collectively, the “Tri-

Agencies”) are examples of grants held by faculty members to support their research 

programs, which create opportunities for students to develop their research skills and 

knowledge in a particular field. 

60. LU’s research programming is critical for many LU students. As discussed above, graduate 

students are required to complete research/scholarly activities and many undergraduate 

programs have a research component as part of their degree requirements. This necessarily 
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requires access to research facilities, equipment, services, and library materials to support 

graduate and undergraduate programming. 

D. Federated Universities 

61. LU and the Federated Universities are affiliated through a variety of historical relationships 

and contractual arrangements.  Each of the Federated Universities are separate legal entities 

and are governed by Boards that are independent of LU. 

62. Each of the Federated Universities owns its own buildings on land that is owned by LU 

and is leased to the Federated University by LU. The Federated Universities do not receive 

funding directly from the Ministry of Colleges and Universities (“MCU”), but historically, 

LU has transferred a portion of the funding it receives from the MCU to each Federated 

University according to a set formula, unless otherwise instructed by the MCU.  

63. Students who enroll at LU may study at any or all of the three Federated Universities (as 

well as LU), which are all physically located on LU’s campus.  Students enrolled in 

programs, courses, majors and minors which are administered by the Federated 

Universities remain students of LU and these courses are credited towards a degree from 

LU, which has the sole authority to confer degrees upon students (with the exception of 

Theology). In addition, all students of LU enrolled in courses delivered by the Federated 

Universities can fully utilize the services offered on the entire campus.  For all intents and 

purposes, the Federated Universities are integrated into LU, however, each of the Federated 

Universities manages its finances separately from each other, and from LU, subject to the 

arrangements described below. 
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64. From an employee perspective, most of the faculty of the Federated Universities are 

represented by LUFA, but each of the Federated Universities has its own collective 

agreement with LUFA. 

65. The employees of the Federated Universities are a part of the defined benefit pension plan 

of LU.  Each of the Federated Universities are required, pursuant to the pension plan, to 

contribute the amount required to fund the pension plan, taking into account the assets and 

liabilities of the plan.  Each of the Federated Universities directly contribute to the pension 

plan on a monthly basis. 

i. Terms of Financial Distribution between LU and the Federated Universities 

66. On November 10, 1993, LU and the Federated Universities entered into a Proposed Grant 

Distribution and Services Fees arrangement (the “1993 Funding Model”). Although this 

document was not signed, meeting minutes are attached to the document which indicate 

that LU and the Federated Universities were all in agreement with the terms of same, and 

the parties operated under the terms of such agreement until it was amended as of May 1, 

2019. A copy of the 1993 Funding Model is attached hereto as Exhibit “G”. 

67. The 1993 Funding Model was replaced by notices delivered by LU to each of the Federated 

Universities on May 1, 2019 (the “Financial Distribution Notices”). Copies of the 

Financial Distribution Notices for Huntingon, Thornloe and Sudbury, respectively, are 

attached as Exhibits “H”, “I” and “J” hereto.   

68. The Financial Distribution Notices update the previous funding formula under the 1993 

Funding Model and set out the terms for the distribution of operating grants to the 

Federated Universities and service fees charged by LU to the Federated Universities from 
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and after May 1, 2019. The Financial Distribution Notices amended, restated and replaced 

in their entirety any prior documentation, oral or written representations and past practices 

relating to the distribution of grant funding, tuition fees and service fees between LU and 

the Federated Universities, including but not limited to, those described under the 1993 

Funding Model. 

69. The Financial Distribution Notices advised the Federated Universities that LU would 

transfer funds to each of the Federated Universities in accordance with the new university 

funding model introduced by the Province in 2017 (the “New Funding Model”). The New 

Funding Model adopted an enrolment-based approach, where the Province would provide 

each post-secondary organization with a base level of operating funding determined in 

accordance with a specific level of eligible enrolment and program of registration. 

70. The underlying principle behind LU adopting the New Funding Model was to ensure that 

neither LU or any of the Federated Universities would subsidize the operations or services 

of the other, and each organization would be responsible for covering its own expenses.  It 

was intended to align the financial relationship of LU and the Federated Universities with 

the New Funding Model introduced by the Province, to which LU was subject. 

71. The Financial Distribution Notices also provide that, in exchange for the provision of non-

academic administrative services by LU to the Federated Universities, each of the 

Federated Universities would be assessed a charge by LU in the amount of 15% of shared 

revenues, being grant revenue and tuition revenue as defined in the Financial Distribution 

Notices (the “Administrative Services Fee”). The Administrative Services Fee partially 

covers the costs incurred by LU for a number of non-academic services it provides, which 
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include but are not limited to: (i) student fee collection and accounting; (ii) central 

computing services; (iii) administration of all pension and employee benefits; (iv) campus 

security; and (v) student support services. 

72. Since the Financial Distribution Notices were issued by LU to each of the Federated 

Universities on May 1, 2019 the parties have been operating in accordance with the funding 

mechanisms set out therein. 

ii.  University of Sudbury 

73. SU is a Roman Catholic bilingual university offering programs in Culture and 

Communication Studies, Indigenous Studies, Philosophy and Religious Studies and 

courses in both English and French. It was founded in 1913 as Collège du Sacré-Coeur 

before changing its name to the University of Sudbury in 1957. There are 211 students 

enrolled in SU-delivered programs, along with a further 24 students in a combined LU/SU 

Philosophy program and 56 students in Religious Studies, which is jointly administered by 

the Federated Universities. 

LU-SU Federation Agreement 

74. LU and SU entered into a Federation Agreement on September 10, 1960 (the “LU-SU 

Federation Agreement”), a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “K”.  The LU-

SU Federation Agreement contains a provision stipulating that the relationship between 

LU and SU will be permanent, and the success of the relationship is to be predominantly 

fostered through “mutual cooperation and goodwill”, rather than any formal agreements. 
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75. Pursuant to the LU-SU Federation Agreement, SU suspended all of its degree-conferring 

power (with the exception of Theology) in favour of LU, for so long as the LU-SU 

Federation Agreement is in effect. 

76. Tuition fees paid by LU students enrolled in SU-delivered programs are apportioned 

between LU and SU pursuant to the Financial Distribution Notice. 

77. The LU-SU Federation Agreement requires LU to allocate and reserve land within its 

campus for SU to purchase and construct buildings on.  The allocation of land to SU was 

completed pursuant to the SU Indenture (as defined and described in detail below).   

Leases between LU and SU 

78. Pursuant to an Indenture between LU and SU dated April 9, 1965 (the “SU Indenture”), 

LU leased certain land for a term of 99 years to allow SU to construct buildings and student 

housing for SU.  Provided that SU performs all of the covenants during the term of the SU 

Indenture, LU is required to renew the lease for a further 99 years on substantially the same 

terms. 

79. The SU Indenture may be terminated by LU if: (i) SU withdraws from the federation with 

LU or the land and premises cease to be used for educational instruction at a university 

level for three years, or (ii) SU is in breach or non-performance of the covenants of the SU 

Indenture.  In the event that the SU Indenture is terminated, LU is entitled to take 

possession of the lands, and may elect to purchase any or all of the buildings constructed 

on the lands from SU.  The SU Indenture provides that the value of the buildings is to be 

determined by arbitration.  A copy of the SU Indenture is attached hereto as Exhibit “L”. 
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iii. Huntington University 

80. Huntington is an independent university founded in 1960 with its own charter, and offers 

programs in Communication Studies, Gerontology, Religious Studies and Theology. 

Students who graduate from Huntington have their degrees conferred by LU, save for a 

limited exception in respect of Theology.  There are 295 students enrolled in Huntington-

delivered programs this year, along with a further 56 students in Religious Studies, which 

is jointly administered by the Federated Universities. 

LU-Huntington Federation Agreement 

81. LU and Huntington entered into a Federation Agreement on September 10, 1960 (the “LU-

Huntington Federation Agreement”), a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “M”.  

The LU-Huntington Federation Agreement contains a provision stipulating that the 

relationship between LU and Huntington will be permanent, and the success of the 

relationship is to be predominantly fostered through “mutual cooperation and goodwill”, 

rather than any formal agreements. 

82. Pursuant to the Huntington Federation Agreement, Huntington agreed to suspend all of its 

degree-conferring powers except the power to grant degrees in Theology. 

83. Tuition fees paid by LU students enrolled in Huntington-delivered programs are 

apportioned between LU and Huntington by the Financial Distribution Notice.   

84. The LU-Huntington Federation Agreement requires LU to allocate and reserve land within 

its campus for Huntington to purchase and construct buildings on.  The allocation of land 
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to Huntington was completed pursuant to the Huntington Indenture (as defined and 

described in detail below).  

Other Agreements between LU and Huntington 

85. Pursuant to a lease indenture between LU and Huntington dated July 3, 1964 (the 

“Huntington Indenture”), LU leased certain land to Huntington for a term of 99 years to 

allow Huntington to construct buildings and student housing for Huntington.  The terms 

and conditions of the Huntington Indenture are substantially similar to the terms and 

conditions of the SU Indenture, such as: 

(a) provided that Huntington performs all of the covenants during the term of the 

Huntington Indenture, LU is required to renew the lease for a further 99 years on 

substantially the same terms; 

(b) the Huntington Indenture may be terminated by LU if: (i) Huntington withdraws 

from the federation with LU or the land and premises cease to be used for 

educational instruction at a university level for three years, or (ii) Huntington is in 

breach or non-performance of the covenants of the Huntington Indenture; 

(c) in the event that the Huntington Indenture is terminated, LU is entitled to take 

possession of the lands, and may elect to purchase any or all of the buildings 

constructed on the lands from Huntington; and 

(d) the Huntington Indenture provides that LU may pay for buildings that can be used 

by LU in the ordinary course for university purposes (such as residences and 

classrooms), but LU is not required to pay for any buildings that duplicate existing 
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facilities at LU.  The value of the buildings is calculated as the cost of construction 

less depreciation calculated at 4% per annum. 

A copy of the Huntington Indenture is attached hereto as Exhibit “N”. 

86. Pursuant to a Memorandum of Agreement between LU and Huntington dated December 

12, 2005, Huntington transferred its music program to LU with provisions regarding the 

transfer of scholarship funds, space for the program and a cost sharing arrangement for the 

music faculty.  A copy of the Memorandum of Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit 

“O”. 

iv. University of Thorneloe 

87. Thorneloe is a university with historic roots and affiliation with the Anglican Church of 

Canada and offers programs in the departments of Ancient Studies, Religious Studies and 

Women’s, Gender and Sexuality Studies. There are 119 students enrolled in Thorneloe-

delivered programs this year, along with a further 56 students in Religious Studies, which 

is jointly administered by the Federated Universities. 

LU-Thorneloe Federation Agreement 

88. LU and Thorneloe entered into a Federation Agreement in 1962 (the “LU-Thorneloe 

Federation Agreement”), a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “P”.  The LU-

Thorneloe Federation Agreement contains a provision stipulating that the relationship 

between LU and Thorneloe will be permanent, and the success of the relationship is to be 

predominantly fostered through “mutual cooperation and goodwill”, rather than any formal 

agreements. 
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89. Pursuant to the LU-Thorneloe Federation Agreement, Thorneloe suspended all of its 

degree-conferring power (with the exception of Theology) in favour of LU, for so long as 

the LU-Thorneloe Federation Agreement is in effect. 

90. Pursuant to the LU-Thorneloe Federation Agreement, tuition fees paid by LU students 

enrolled in Thorneloe-delivered programs are apportioned between LU and Thorneloe 

pursuant to the Financial Distribution Notice.   

91. LU-Thorneloe Federation Agreement requires LU to allocate and reserve land within its 

campus for Thorneloe to purchase and construct buildings on.  The allocation of land to 

Thorneloe was completed pursuant to the Thorneloe Indenture (as defined and described 

in detail below). 

Leases between LU and Thorneloe 

92. Pursuant to a lease indenture between LU and Thorneloe dated October 26, 1964 (the 

“Thorneloe Indenture”), LU leased certain land to Thorneloe for a term of 99 years to 

allow Thorneloe to construct buildings and student housing for Thorneloe.  The terms and 

conditions of the Thorneloe Indenture are substantially similar to the terms and conditions 

of the Huntington Indenture, including: 

(a) provided that Thorneloe performs all of the covenants during the term of the 

Thorneloe Indenture, LU is required to renew the lease for a further 99 years on 

substantially the same terms; 

(b) the Thorneloe Indenture may be terminated by LU if: (i) Thorneloe withdraws from 

the federation with LU or the land and premises cease to be used for educational 
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instruction at a university level for three years, or (ii) Thorneloe is in breach or non-

performance of the covenants of the Thorneloe Indenture; 

(c) in the event that the Thorneloe Indenture is terminated, LU is entitled to take 

possession of the lands, and may elect to purchase any or all of the buildings 

constructed on the lands from Thorneloe; and 

(d) the Thorneloe Indenture provides that LU may pay for buildings that can be used 

by LU in the ordinary course for university purposes (such as residences and 

classrooms), but LU is not required to pay for any buildings that duplicate existing 

facilities at LU.  The value of the buildings is calculated as the cost of construction 

less depreciation calculated at 4% per annum. 

A copy of the Thorneloe Indenture is attached hereto as Exhibit “Q”. 

E. Statutory Framework 

93. LU is governed by the Act.  The Act incorporated LU and vested the management of LU 

in the Board. The Act grants the Board all powers necessary or convenient to perform its 

duties and achieve the objects and purposes of the University. 

94. The objects and purposes of LU are described in the Act as: 

(a) the advancement of learning and the dissemination of knowledge; and 

(b) the intellectual, social, moral and physical development of its members and the 

betterment of society. 

95. The Act confers powers on LU, including, among other things, the power to: (i) establish 

courses (Senate); (ii) confer degrees (Senate); (iii) enter into federation agreements with 
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other colleges (Board); (iv) purchase, mortgage, lease and convey property (Board); (v) 

borrow money (Board); and (vi) commence proceedings in its own name (Board). 

F. Governance Structure 

96. The facts set out in this section relating to LU’s governance structure are based on my own 

knowledge and on information I have received and have been advised of by the University 

Secretary and General Counsel of LU, which I believe to be accurate in all respects. 

97. The governance structure of LU is bi-cameral. The Board and the President and Vice-

Chancellor generally have powers over the operational and financial management of LU, 

whereas the Senate of LU (the “Senate”) is responsible for the academic policy of LU. 

98. The Act establishes the governance structure for LU. Section 18(1) of the Act provides that 

all powers over, in respect of or in relation to the governance, financial management and 

control of LU and its officers, servants and agents, its property, revenues, expenditures, 

business and affairs are vested in the Board.  However, there is a carve-out in section 18(1) 

for matters that are specifically assigned by the Act to the President, the Senate or federated 

universities or colleges. 

99. Section 21 of the Act provides that the Senate is responsible for the educational policy of 

LU, subject to approval of the Board with respect to the expenditure of funds and the 

establishment of facilities. 

100. Section 28(2) of the Act provides that the President of LU is the chief executive officer and 

chairman of the Senate and has supervision over the direction of academic work and the 

general administration of LU. 
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i. Composition of the Board 

101. Pursuant to the Bylaws, the Board is comprised of 25 voting members, as follows: 

(a) President and Vice-Chancellor; 

(b) five members named by the Lieutenant Governor in Council; and 

(c) nineteen (19) members selected by the Board. These members are comprised of 

three people nominated by each of the federated universities (SU, Huntington and 

Thorneloe) one person nominated by the Laurentian University Alumni 

Association, two people nominated by the Student Associations of LU, and seven 

people put forward by the Nominations Committee of the Board. 

A copy of the Bylaws is attached hereto as Exhibit “R”. 

102. All voting members, except the members elected from student nominations, hold office for 

a period of three (3) years ending at the close of the annual meeting in the third year 

following such appointments. 

103. The elected voting members from student nominations hold office for a period of one (1) 

year ending at the close of the annual meeting in the year of such appointments. 

104. No voting member is permitted to hold office for more than four consecutive terms, 

however, the number of terms of a voting Board member who serves as Chair, Vice-Chair 

or past Chair of the Board may be extended.  A former voting member is eligible for re-

election after a lapse of one year. 

105. In addition, the Board may provide for non-voting members on the Board and Board 

Standing Committees. Such non-voting members are entitled to participate in the 
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discussions at meetings of the Board and Board Standing Committees, except when 

confidential matters are to be discussed “in camera”. 

106. A quorum is reached if there are ten (10) voting members present at a Board meeting.  All 

bylaws, motions and resolutions are decided by a majority of the votes of members present 

at said meeting with the exception of the enactment, amendment or repeal of by-laws, 

which must be approved at a meeting where at least fifty percent (50%) of the voting Board 

members are present, by a two-third majority of the voting Board members present.  

Further, a resolution signed by all members of the Board has the same force and effect as 

if passed at a regularly constituted meeting of the Board. 

ii. Formation of the Ad Hoc Committee 

107. On November 12, 2020, the Executive Committee of the Board, in exercising the powers 

of the Board under the Bylaws, authorized the formation of a special In Camera Ad Hoc 

Committee on Contingency Planning (the “Ad Hoc Committee”).  The Ad Hoc Committee 

was formed in response to the important and time sensitive work required to address LU’s 

financial challenges. 

108. The Ad Hoc Committee has the authority to act on behalf of the Board on matters related 

to all initiatives to address LU’s financial challenges, including the preparation for this 

application under the CCAA and providing certain ongoing strategic direction following 

the commencement of this CCAA proceeding.  The purpose of the Ad Hoc Committee is 

to provide day-to-day oversight and direction with respect to the CCAA proceedings in 

order to report back to the Board on any fundamental strategic decisions. 
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109. The Ad Hoc Committee is comprised of nine (9) voting members of the Board.  Since its 

formation, the Ad Hoc Committee has met on at least a bi-weekly basis, with increasing 

frequency over the past several weeks. 

110. Based upon the recommendation of the Ad Hoc Committee, the Board retained 

independent legal counsel (Peter Osborne of Lenczner Slaght Royce Smith Griffin LLP) 

to advise the Board with respect to issues solely related to the Board. 

iii. Authority to Commence Proceedings 

111. As set out above, section 8 of the Act provides that LU may commence proceedings.   

Further, section 18(1) of the Act provides that all powers over, in respect of or in relation 

to the governance, financial management and control of LU and its officers, revenues, 

expenditures, business and affairs are vested in the Board. 

112. Accordingly, the Board has the authority to authorize the commencement of this court 

proceeding.  On January 29, 2021, the Board convened a meeting duly constituted with 

quorum and on proper notice. At such meeting, the Board passed a resolution in camera 

authorizing LU to file this application to commence proceedings under the CCAA.  A copy 

of the Board resolution is attached hereto as Exhibit “S”. 

G. Key University Performance Measures 

113. LU has faced several major challenges recently, including declining demographics in 

Northern Ontario, the closure of LU’s Barrie campus which commenced in 2016 and was 

finalized in 2019, high debt levels and the Province’s domestic tuition reduction and freeze 

that was implemented in 2019. 
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114. Since 2011, Ontario has been facing weak demographic trends for university-aged entrants.  

This problem is particularly acute in Northern Ontario, where LU is located. LU’s domestic 

undergraduate direct entry high school enrolment, which represents Ontario high school 

students who attend LU immediately after high school, is a significant contributor to LU’s 

overall enrolment (around 40%) but has declined 22% since 2011. Ontario’s population 

projections suggest these trends will continue to get worse until 2024. Although this decline 

was offset by enrolment growth from students in online degrees and graduate programs, 

this growth is not sustainable. 

115. The current COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated these issues, including due to the loss 

of ancillary revenues derived from, among other areas, residence, parking, conferences and 

food services.  The loss of these revenues has made it increasingly difficult to manage the 

financial challenges that LU faces. 

116. LU has the fourth lowest domestic tuition and student ancillary fees in the Province. 

Historically, this was a strategic decision designed to attract more students to LU.  As 

tuition fees are one of LU’s primary sources of revenue, the Provincially-mandated tuition 

reduction of 10% in 2019 resulted in further stress to the financial situation of LU. While 

LU did receive one-time funding from the MCU to partially offset this revenue decline in 

2019-2020, the decrease in domestic tuition rates is a permanent loss of revenue which is 

further compounded by the Province-wide tuition freeze that is currently in place.  There 

is a risk that continued tuition freezes may be implemented by the Province, 

notwithstanding rising costs on an annual basis. 
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117. In addition to the low tuition fees, every employee of LU (including those of the Unions) 

and all retirees are entitled to free tuition for themselves, their spouses and their 

dependants. As a significant employer within Sudbury, this creates a potentially significant 

loss of tuition revenue every year. 

118. Due to these and other financial challenges, LU now has the worst primary reserve ratio of 

all universities in the Province (-29 days), the worst viability ratio (-17.6%) and one of the 

worst net income/loss ratios (-1.5%). 

119. In Maclean’s 2021 university rankings of primarily undergraduate schools across Canada, 

LU placed 12 out of 19 universities.  Reflective of LU’s leading research programs, LU 

ranked first in Canada in primarily undergraduate schools for total research dollars 

allocated to the school.6 This figure, calculated relative to the size of each institution’s full-

time faculty, includes income from sponsored research such as grants and contracts, 

federal, provincial and foreign government funding, and funding from non-governmental 

organizations. 

H. Employees 

120. As at December 30, 2020 LU employed approximately 1,751 people.  Of this total, 

approximately 758 are full-time employees.  Term employees funded through grants may 

also work full-time hours, but are not included in the full-time employee total. The total 

number of employees fluctuates on a regular basis given the large volume of part-time and 

student employment offered by LU. Typically, the operating departments of LU employ 

 

6 Source: https://www.macleans.ca/education/university-rankings/canadas-best-primarily-undergraduate-
universities-rankings-2021/.  
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approximately 400-500 student employees. However, due to the impact of COVID-19 and 

students studying remotely, there were only approximately 200 student employees in 

November 2020, whereas there were 470 in November 2019. These amounts do not include 

GTAs (as defined below) and students employed by faculty for research purposes. 

121. There are approximately 612 employees represented by LUFA. Among these employees, 

355 are full-time faculty (including seven employees currently on a leave of absence from 

LU), 221 are sessional faculty or health care professionals and five are full-time 

counsellors.  Almost all of the full-time faculty have acquired tenure as defined in the 

collective agreement.  In addition, there are 31 individuals who are staff or students of LU 

who also teach a sessional/clinical course. The number of sessional employees varies from 

term to term depending on need. 

122. The non-faculty staff are represented by the Laurentian University Staff Union (“LUSU”). 

LUSU represents LU’s staff, which includes all employees of LU in clerical, technical, 

administrative, service and security work. LUSU represents approximately 268 employees. 

123. The remainder of LU’s full-time employees who are not represented by a union include 

approximately 23 senior leadership employees, and 111 administrative and professional 

staff, most of which are in managerial roles. The managerial and non-managerial 

employees are considered part of an informal association that LU recognizes as the 

Laurentian University Administrative and Professional Staff Association (“LUAPSA”).  

LUAPSA has an executive committee that meets with LU on occasion and LU solicits 

feedback from the LUAPSA executive committee regarding matters that affect employees 

that are in positions falling under the LUAPSA umbrella. 
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I. Unions and Collective Bargaining Agreements 

i. LUFA 

124. Total salaries and benefits represent the single largest expense item for LU on an annual 

basis (approximately $134 million of $201 million in total expenses during fiscal year 

2019-20).  The total salaries and benefits paid by LU to its faculty (i.e. the members of 

LUFA) were approximately $70 million during fiscal year 2019-20, or 52% of total 

consolidated salaries and benefits. However, when excluding funding for salaries and 

benefits received from research grants, faculty are 57% of total salaries and benefits funded 

through operations, comprising LU’s single largest operating expense. 

125. Currently, LUFA members represent approximately 60% of total salaries and benefits. 

126. LUFA and the Board of LU are parties to a Collective Agreement (the “LUFA CA”), with 

a three year term which expired on June 30, 2020.  Pursuant to the provisions of the LUFA 

CA, the agreement automatically continues year-to-year unless notice is provided that 

either LUFA or LU intends to terminate or amend the LUFA CA.  In February 2020, LUFA 

provided LU with a notice to bargain.  Pursuant to Article 13.15.3 of the LUFA CA, the 

agreement automatically remains in force during any period of negotiation.  A copy of the 

LUFA CA is attached at Exhibit “T” hereto. 

127. LU and LUFA have been engaged in bargaining with respect to a new collective bargaining 

agreement.  As a prelude to bargaining and with a sense of the economic impact of COVID-

19 becoming apparent, LU met with the LUFA bargaining team on April 27, 2020, and 

briefed them on the economic state of LU.  In that discussion, LUFA was explicitly told 

by the University’s chief labour spokesperson, Michael Kennedy from Hicks Morley LLP, 
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that there was a material risk that LU could run out of money during the life of the collective 

agreement and that could happen as early as the Fall 2020 or as late as Spring 2021.  LUFA 

was also advised that LU would seek rollbacks in faculty compensation in the same way 

that it would with other unionized and non-unionized employee groups. 

128. LUFA’s response after the April 27, 2020, financial update meeting was to defer the 

commencement of bargaining on May 25 and 26, 2020, and seek more financial 

information regarding LU’s financial status and the budget for the upcoming and future 

academic years. LUFA required such information prior to the continuation of bargaining.   

129. LU has endeavoured to respond to much of LUFA’s information requests. On April 27, 

2020, LU responded to LUFA’s first request for financial information. Further, on August 

18, 2020, LU provided LUFA with a comprehensive package of financial information in 

response to their questions. LU also provided LUFA with financial update presentations 

on June 9, 2020 and August 26, 2020. 

130. LU and LUFA bargained on September 11, 23, 25, 29, October 1 and 2, 2020.  On 

September 11, 2020, LUFA responded to LU’s response to its financial information 

requests by indicating that “the administration is indicating a sudden and unprecedented 

financial crisis – the data reveals that while our financial situation is not optimal, our 

current position fiscal situation is better than 2016”.  Following the September 11, 2020 

bargaining date, LUFA provided a list of 11 priority questions regarding financial 

information they were seeking. 

131. On October 1, 2020, LU advised LUFA that EY had been retained as a financial advisor 

and that more financial information would not be forthcoming until LU had a chance to 
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work with EY.  On October 2, 2020, LUFA advised they did not think the information 

provided to date showed a financial crisis.  LU responded that given LUFA’s lack of 

satisfaction with the information provided to date demonstrating a financial crisis, that LU 

would defer providing more financial information until LU had the opportunity to review 

its financial data with EY. 

132. The parties also engaged the services of William Kaplan as mediator and met with him on 

October 5 and 6, 2020.  After the two-day mediation, bargaining was put on hold pending 

further review of LU’s finances. 

133. LU met with LUFA again on January 18, 2021 and responded to LUFA’s preliminary 

response to University’s financial circumstances. During the meeting on January 18, 2021, 

LUFA was advised by LU’s chief labour spokesperson that since the parties broke off 

bargaining in October, LU’s efforts to review and assess its finances had not changed the 

view that LU has profound economic challenges.  In fact, the passage of time had only 

served to confirm how profound LU’s financial challenges are.  More specifically, LU’s 

chief labour spokesperson confirmed as follows: 

(a) LU continued to be at risk of running out of money prior to the end of the academic 

term; 

(b) that LU had incurred short and long-term borrowing in excess of $100 million; 

(c) LU has consistently realized annual deficits going back to at least 2014-15; and 

(d) LU has no further capacity to service debt and/or acquire more debt. 
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134. Later that day on January 18, 2021, LUFA’s chief spokesperson, David Wright, of Ryder 

Wright Blair and Holmes LLP emailed LU’s chief labour spokesperson seeking production 

of a wide- ranging series of documents including: 

(a) all documents and financial records which support LU’s position that it is in an 

immediate financial crisis and will be unable to service debt or is likely to run out 

of funds in the near future; and  

(b) any documents provided to LU by Ernst & Young Inc. as a result of its 

review/analysis/consultation regarding LU’s finances. 

135. On January 22, 2021, the President of LUFA wrote to me indicating an intention to bring 

an Unfair Labour Practice Complaint pursuant to the Ontario Labour Relations Board 

alleging that LU had not provided any financial information to support that LU was in 

financial duress and that LU, as a result, had unduly delayed bargaining.  A copy of the 

letter is attached hereto as Exhibit “U”. 

136. LU’s chief labour spokesperson responded in an email to LUFA’s information request on 

Friday, January 29, 2021.  In his email response, LU’s chief labour spokesperson explained 

the following: 

(a) many of LUFA’s questions were predicated on previously provided financial 

information which did not reflect the current financial circumstances of LU and 

were no longer applicable; 

(b) LUFA’s request for all documents and financial records which supports LU’s 

position that it was in an immediate financial crisis,  was unable to service its debt, 
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or likely to run out of funds in the near future, was overly broad and beyond the 

duty to bargain in good faith;  

(c) LUFA already had the information it needs to understand the precariousness of 

LU’s financial circumstances.  It was well known and documented that LU has had 

an ongoing deficit since 2014-2015 and had accumulated debt of over $100 million.  

Moreover, the December 11, 2020 Board Information Package showed LU’s 

anticipated actual 2020-21 revenues were $148,548,297 and expenditures were 

$159,147,976; and 

(d) LU did not have the ability to obtain or service more debt or have access to borrow 

more money to finance its operations.  LU’s operations continue to be funded by 

the revenue it receives from tuition, grants, and other ancillary revenue.   

137. I am advised by our external labour counsel, Michael Kennedy of Hicks Morley LLP that 

as of the date of this affidavit, LUFA has not exercised its statutory right to request a 

conciliator pursuant to the Labour Relations Act and in fact, LUFA requested that LU agree 

to a moratorium whereby neither party would request a conciliator. 

138. I am further advised by Mr. Kennedy that there are a number of terms of the LUFA CA in 

favour of LUFA members that are considered to be above-market.  The following 

summarizes such provisions: 

(a) the annual salary increases provided for in the LUFA CA have resulted in salaries 

for LU assistant professors that are among the highest when compared to other 

Ontario universities; 
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(b) faculty have the option to elect “buying out” of a course (up to 15 credits over 5 

years, but no more than 6 credits in a given Academic Year) for the purposes of 

dedicating more time to scholarly activity if faculty reimburses LU for the cost of 

their replacement. The Dean of each faculty decides whether to approve the buy-

out, however, LU has an obligation to not unreasonably withhold its approval. This 

was intended to have a net-zero cost impact, however, in practice, if a sessional is 

required to replace the course, there are additional benefits and vacation pay 

obligations which result in a 10% premium to LU because LU is not permitted to 

seek reimbursement over and above the base salary for a course; 

(c) the large number of faculty who are able to reduce their teaching load to do other 

work that may not generate revenue (i.e. assume a chair/director position or the 

coordination of other duties), which causes LU to replace the workload through 

sessional instructors, thereby increasing overall faculty expenses; 

(d) courses assigned to full-time faculty members may only be cancelled if there is zero 

enrolment, which requires LU to continue offering courses with very low enrolment 

that are not financially sustainable; 

(e) sessional contracts which are typically entered into well in advance of the start date 

of a course cannot be reassigned to a full-time member or be cancelled without a 

financial penalty equal to 15% of the contract (approximately $1,200 per course), 

limiting LU’s flexibility in ensuring appropriate deployment of academic 

resources; 

(f) LUFA members who work between ages 65 and 71 are permitted to draw upon 

their pension while at the same time receiving a full salary.  This has created a 
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situation where LU has one of the highest rates of faculty members over the age of 

65 in the Province.  As of December 9, 2020, approximately 26 full-time faculty 

members were collecting both a pension and receiving a full salary; 

(g) Some LUFA members, who earn an income over a certain threshold and are 

enrolled in the Pension Plan are also eligible for the SuRP (as defined below).  

Based on my experience at other Canadian universities, a SuRP such as the plan 

provided by LU is not normative in the university sector, particularly as a smaller 

university; 

(h) Faculty years of service and earnings after the age of 62 continue to be counted 

towards accrual of pension value for LUFA members, which incentivizes LUFA 

members to postpone retirement; and 

(i) all full-time faculty and retirees are entitled to free tuition at LU, together with the 

spouses and dependants of all full-time faculty, retirees, deceased retirees, and 

deceased faculty. As discussed above, this can contribute to a significant loss of 

tuition revenue every year. 

139. The LUFA CA also contains financial exigency provisions which provide for a collegial 

process to evaluate the financial affairs of LU and determine whether budgetary cuts 

affecting members of LUFA are necessary. 

140. Determination of whether financial exigency exists is made by a Financial Commission 

(the “Commission”) consisting of three members (one LU representative, one LUFA 

representative and one mutually agreeable person). 

141. The salient terms of the financial exigency provisions provide: 
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(a) financial exigency is defined as substantial and recurring deficits that are projected 

to continue for more than two years, which threaten the long-term solvency of LU 

as a whole; 

(b) reductions in academic staff for reasons of financial exigency may only occur after 

efforts to alleviate the financial crisis by reductions in all other segments of the 

budget have been made; 

(c) LU is responsible for providing notice that a state of financial exigency exists and 

bears the onus of proving financial exigency; 

(d) the Commission decides whether financial exigency exists and, if so, the amount of 

reduction required in the budgetary allocation to salary and benefits; 

(e) the Commission decides how the budget will be reduced across faculty, library and 

other similar units at which point, the faculty and library councils shall apportion 

the budgetary reductions across their departments and schools; 

(f) tenured members may not be laid-off in preference to a non-tenured member, unless 

there is a clear and substantial reason for doing otherwise; 

(g) LU must make efforts to secure alternative positions within the university for 

members who have been laid off with up to one year of re-training and members 

are entitled to a first right of refusal on academic vacancies for which they are 

competent for three years following lay off; and 

(h) any members who are laid off are entitled to: (i) 12 months’ notice or 12 months’ 

salary in lieu of notice, and (ii) an additional one month’s salary for each year as a 
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full-time employee, provided that no tenured member shall receive less than 12 

month’s salary. 

142. The financial exigency provisions entail a lengthy process for establishing whether 

financial exigency exists. LU does not have access to cash to meet its obligations while 

that process would be undertaken. LU’s prospects of a successful restructuring will be 

handicapped if the financial exigency provisions and timeline are followed, particularly if 

a stay of proceedings is not obtained when financial exigency is declared by LU.  The 

process is onerous and rigid requiring: (i) the transfer of control to the Commission, (ii) a 

protracted timeline for the review of LU’s financial state and recommendations on 

terminations, (iii) priority rights in respect of who may be terminated, which may be 

incompatible with LU’s long-term faculty requirements and need for an overall 

restructuring; and (iv) a high degree of discretion in decisions made by the three members 

constituting the Commission. 

143. The financial exigency provisions of the LUFA CA create extraordinary liabilities for LU 

with respect to termination and severance payments that LU also does not have the cash to 

fund.  This additional burden places LU in the untenable situation that it cannot be fiscally 

prudent and take the steps required for its financial stability, while also being unable to 

address material faculty costs as a result of the obligations arising under the financial 

exigency provisions of the LUFA CA. 

144. Creating an effective process under the supervision of the Court and with the benefit of 

CCAA protection will provide LU with the opportunity to address the shortcomings in the 

process contemplated by the financial exigency provisions.  LU is of the view that the 
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appointment of a Mediator by the Court within the parameters of these CCAA proceedings 

and providing the Mediator with flexibility to adapt a process and timeline to achieve a 

resolution is the best option available.  Ultimately, it is the hope of LU that such mediation 

and discussions will result in LU achieving a collective agreement with LUFA in 

conjunction with negotiations and a resolution with other key stakeholders, that fits within 

the parameters of future sustainability of LU. 

145. These negotiations, and most importantly a resolution, need to be undertaken, completed 

and capable of being implemented by May 2021 due to: (i) the extent of DIP financing 

relative to the cash flow forecast; (ii) the need to plan for and implement the necessary 

changes in programming for the 2021/2022 Academic Year to be ready for September; and 

(iii) the need to demonstrate to existing and prospective incoming students of the successful 

restructuring of these critical components in order for 2021 high school graduates to choose 

LU as their destination for university prior to the June 2021 deadline for acceptances, and 

in order to retain the support of existing LU students and their families. 

146. The need for the court-supervised mediation to commence immediately is urgent.  The 

labour situation at LU is tenuous, and stability and transparency within this CCAA 

proceeding and the involvement of the Monitor will be critically important to provide the 

Applicant with the best possibility of success. 

ii. LUSU 

147. On July 1, 2018, LUSU and LU entered into a Collective Agreement that was set to expire 

on June 30, 2021 (the “LUSU CA”). Over the past two years, LUSU executives and their 

members have engaged in dialogue with LU to address some of the issues facing LU.  A 

copy of the LUSU CA is attached hereto as Exhibit “V”. 
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148. The LUSU CA provides a 1.5% salary increase effective July 1, 2020. It also contains 

highly burdensome provisions regarding temporary lay-offs, which offers LU limited 

flexibility in addressing staffing issues. Deferring salary increases and loosening the 

provisions on temporary lay-offs will need to be reviewed and considered as part of LU’s 

restructuring. 

149. The LUSU CA provides flexibility to transfer and reassign staff based on the operational 

requirements of LU.  Practically, this flexibility is limited due to the specialized skills of 

non-administrative positions in the LUSU bargaining unit.  For example, biology 

technicians, information technology specialists and security require a specialized skillset 

which makes it difficult to reassign LUSU members to these positions when greater need 

arises. 

150. Most importantly, the LUSU CA includes a memorandum of understanding, negotiated 

into a prior CA which has since been renewed for the remainder of the LUSU CA term, 

waiving the redundancy and termination provisions. This effectively prevents LU from 

terminating any LUSU employee for redundancy for the remaining term of the LUSU CA. 

151. In light of the financial challenges of LU, LUSU agreed to open the existing LUSU CA 

early for negotiation, prior to its expiration on June 30, 2021.  Those negotiations achieved 

the following: 

(a) Year 1: a 1.0% salary reduction, which previously was a 1.5% salary increase 

under the LUSU CA; 

(b) Year 2:  a 0.5% salary increase on July 1, 2021 and January 1, 2022; 

(c) Year 3: a 0.5% salary increase on July 1, 2022 and January 1, 2023; 
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(d) Six furlough days for all LUSU members without pay in 2020. This provided LU 

with a one-time cash savings of $450,000; 

(e) Confirmation of LU’s ability to effect employee transfers and the additional 

flexibility to reassign and transfer staff during the collective agreement; 

(f) Retirement incentive to maintain salary and pension at the pre-reduced salary level 

on June 30, 2020, with the condition to retire on or before October 31, 2020; and 

(g) The reassignment, transfer and retirement provisions resulted in 11.5 position 

redundancies in 2020, a total annual salary and benefits savings of approximately 

$808,077. 

iii. CUPE Collective Agreement 

152. On September 1, 2019, CUPE and LU entered into a Collective Agreement (the “CUPE 

CA”) which covers Masters level and Ph.D-level students who are employed as Graduate 

Teaching Assistants (“GTAs”). Approximately 305 GTAs are represented by CUPE 

although this number can fluctuate. The CUPE CA is set to expire on August 31, 2021.  A 

copy of the CUPE CA is attached hereto as Exhibit “W”. 

153. In September 2019, CUPE agreed to a total compensation increase of 1%. The entirety of 

the increase was allocated to scholarship payments, with a 0% increase in salary over the 

two-year term of the CUPE CA. 

J. Pension and Benefit Plans 

154. LU is the administrator of three types of plans for its employees: (i) a Primary Retirement 

Plan for Laurentian University and its Federated and Affiliated Universities (the “Pension 
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Plan”), (ii) a Supplementary Retirement Plan (“SuRP”), and (iii) a Retirement Health 

Benefits Plan (the “RHBP”). 

i. Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

155. There are currently 406 individuals collecting a lifetime pension from the Pension Plan. 

There are 981 active members currently contributing to the Pension Plan but not yet 

collecting a benefit.  In addition, there are approximately 500 individuals no longer 

employed by LU that are eligible, but not yet collecting such benefits.  This includes 

beneficiaries of the Federated Universities, the Sudbury Neutrino Observatory Laboratory 

(“SNOLab”), the Mining Innovation Rehabilitation and Applied Research Corporation 

(“MIRARCO”) and Centre for Excellence in Mining Innovation (“CEMI”).  Under the 

Pension Plan, LU is defined as the “primary employer” for the Federated Universities, 

SNOLab, MIRARCO and CEMI.  A copy of the Pension Plan is attached hereto as Exhibit 

“X”. 

156. The Pension Plan is a defined benefit pension plan for all eligible employees of LU and the 

Federated Universities.  Pursuant to the Pension Plan, all full-time employees of LU or the 

other applicable employers who are employed on a continuous full-time basis (as 

determined by the employer) must participate in the Pension Plan.  Other employees who 

are not full-time employees may elect to join the Pension Plan once such employee has 

been continuously employed for at least two years and the employee meets certain 

minimum salary or employment hour requirements. 

i. Pension Plan Valuation 

157. Based on the actuarial valuation of the Pension Plan as of January 1, 2020 (updated 

December 2020), the Pension Plan had a solvency ratio of 85.4%, representing a going 
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concern deficiency of approximately $4.5 million.  This liability must be liquidated over a 

period not exceeding ten years, beginning one year after the date of valuation (i.e. January 

1, 2021). 

158. As a result of this going concern deficiency, the actuary concluded that LU must make an 

annual special payment contribution of $505,000, payable in monthly instalments of 

approximately $42,083.  LU made the January instalment of the special payment during 

the week of January 17, 2021. 

159. Due to its insolvency, LU will be seeking relief from this Court to stay the payment of any 

pre-filing or post-filing special payments to the Pension Plan, which will assist LU with its 

current liquidity crisis and maximize the chance that LU can successfully restructure. 

ii. Supplementary Retirement Plan (SuRP) 

160. In addition to the Pension Plan, LU is the provider of a SuRP for certain employees of LU 

who are eligible for the Pension Plan and earn an income over a certain threshold. 

161. The SuRP was commenced on July 1, 2002.  If retiring employees are eligible based on 

income, they are automatically put into the plan and receive either an annual or monthly 

payment.  In 2020, the aggregate amount of SuRP payments was $384,489.18. The 

projected amount of SuRP payments to be made in 2021 is $262,744.87. A copy of the 

SuRP policy is attached hereto as Exhibit “Y”. 

162. The contributions and benefits of the Pension Plan are directly related to employees’ salary. 

However, due to certain limitations under the Income Tax Act, the pension benefits payable 

from the Pension Plan to higher-paid employees may be less, as a percentage of salary, 

than the benefits payable to lower-paid employees. As a result, the SuRP was implemented 
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to provide additional benefits to active employees of LU over the amounts payable from 

the Pension Plan. The intention is that the total benefits from the two plans combined 

should be roughly equal to the amount that would have been payable from the Pension Plan 

alone if the Income Tax Act limits were not a factor. 

163. Historically, LU has never set aside cash to fund the SuRP and as a result, the SuRP is 

unfunded.  In previous years, LU paid the lump-sum payment out of its operations account.  

As such, the SuRP is entirely unfunded. As at April 30, 2020, the accrued benefit obligation 

was $3,063,000. 

iii. Retirement Health Benefits Plan (RHBP) 

164. LU also provides the RHBP to retired employees of LU that elect to enrol in the program.  

In addition to LU employees, the RHBP is available to employees of the Federated 

Universities, SNOLab, Mirarco and CEMI. There are currently 866 employees 

contributing to the RHBP but not yet collecting the benefit, and 358 retirees who are 

eligible to collect the benefit. A copy of the RHBP policy is attached hereto as Exhibit 

“Z”. 

165. To be eligible to participate in the RHBP, employees must satisfy the following conditions: 

(a) the employee must retire at age 55 or older; 

(b) the employee must have contributed for at least 15 years to the RHBP; and 

(i) the employee has purchased private coverage and can provide the employer 

with receipts for private coverage; or 

(ii) the employee did not purchase private coverage, but can provide the 

employer with receipts for medical expenses. 
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166. Employees do not qualify if the employee qualifies for continued coverage under the 

Laurentian University Group Plan. 

167. Employees participating in the RHBP are required to pay a monthly premium which varies 

depending on the type of employee (i.e. LU, Federated Universities, SNOLab or LUSU 

member) and whether the employee enrolls in single or family coverage. 

168. The RHBP Policy provides that LU will establish a trust account in respect of the RHBP.  

This trust account was to receive all contributions by employees participating in the RHBP, 

the annual $25,000 contribution by LU and the proportionate contributions by the 

Federated Universities. 

169. Rather than establishing a separate trust account, I understand that LU has historically 

tracked contributions to the RHBP as a liability in its accounting records.  Contributions 

received by LU in respect of the RHBP were deposited into LU’s general operating bank 

account and are not held separately, or at all at this time. As at April 30, 2020, the accrued 

benefit obligation was approximately $7,200,000. 

170. I have only recently become aware of the fact that these contributions were merely recorded 

as internal accounting entries and had not actually been set aside.  Upon this issue being 

brought to my attention, I have requested the finance team to take the steps necessary to 

establish a segregated bank account for the monthly RHBP contributions received from the 

employees of LU to be deposited and retained, and this process is currently underway. 
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K. Certain Material Relationships and Contractual Arrangements 

i. SNOLab 

171. SNOLab is Canada’s deep underground research laboratory, located in Vale’s Creighton 

mine in close proximity to Sudbury, Ontario.  SNOLab’s science program focuses on 

astroparticle physics, although it also conducts biology and geology experiments. 

172. SNOLab is governed by the Third SNOLab Trust Agreement (the “SNOLab Trust 

Agreement”) dated May 10, 2012 between Queen’s University, Carleton University, the 

University of Montreal, and LU (collectively, the “SNOLab Member Institutions”).  The 

SNOLab Trust Agreement incorporates the SNOLab Constitution, the most recent version 

of which is dated November 27, 2012 and effective as of February 1, 2013 (the “SNOLab 

Constitution”). A copy of the SNOLab Trust Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit 

“AA” and a copy of the SNOLAB Constitution is attached hereto as Exhibit “BB”. 

173. SNOLab is an unincorporated Senate-approved Institute of Queen’s University.  The 

SNOLab Constitution provides that although SNOLab is formally constituted as a part of 

Queen’s University, it operates through the SNOLab Trust Agreement among the SNOLab 

Member Institutions.   

174. The SNOLab Member Institutions have changed over time, but at present they are Queen’s 

University, Carleton University, Université de Montreal, University of Alberta and LU.  

Pursuant to the SNOLab Trust Agreement, each SNOLab Member Institution has a twenty 

percent (20%) interest in SNOLab’s assets, and is responsible for SNOLab’s liabilities and 

obligations (including any potential wind-up obligations) on the same percentage basis. 
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175. Oversight and governance of SNOLab and its operational management occurs through the 

SNOLab Institute Board of Directors (the “SNOLab Board”).  The SNOLab Board is 

made up of a majority of independent directors.  Each of the SNOLab Member Institutions 

are entitled to appoint one non-independent director to the SNOLab Board and, as such, 

LU appoints one member to the SNOLab Board. LU’s appointee is the Vice President, 

Research. 

176. The operations of SNOLab are funded by a combination of federal and provincial 

government research grants. The SNOLab Trust Agreement provides that SNOLab 

Member Institutions may also apply for and receive individual grants on behalf of SNOLab 

and, when granted, such funds are governed by the SNOLab Trust Agreement. 

177. During the time that LU has been a SNOLab Member Institution, certain LU faculty 

members have received research grants that, in whole or in part, are for research conducted 

at or with SNOLab. Prior to December 2020, those research grant funds were typically 

received and deposited by LU into its main operating account.  It is likely that LU holds 

grant money that is allocated to research activities at SNOLab, but those amounts are 

difficult to ascertain absent an extensive reconciliation exercise. 

178. SNOLab is the employer for all individuals appointed to SNOLab.  However, pursuant to 

the SNOLab Constitution, SNOLab shall make arrangements for each employee to be on 

the payroll of a Member Institution and paid by a check drawn on its payroll account.  All 

direct costs of such Member Institution will be charged and reimbursed by SNOlab, 

including salaries and benefits, termination costs and legal fees, if any. SNOLab retains 
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control of the employees and retains responsibility for ensuring that all statutory 

obligations are met for the employees. 

179. As a result of this employee structure, LU processes the payroll for approximately 128 of 

SNOLab employees (2 on a monthly basis and 126 on a bi-weekly basis), provides their 

benefit programs, and eligible SNOLab employees participate in the Pension Plan. 

180. LU funds the payroll, benefit programs and contributions to the Pension Plan on behalf of 

SNOLab up front and then invoices SNOLab for the total amounts paid.  Upon receipt of 

the invoice, SNOLab reimburses LU in full for the total cost of payroll, benefits and 

Pension Plan contributions. 

181. Save and except for the costs of administering such employment related matters, there are 

no further costs to LU related to providing these services to SNOLab.  SNOLab funds all 

of the amounts required to meet its own payroll, benefits programs and the employer 

contributions to the Pension Plan. 

ii. MIRARCO 

182. MIRARCO is headquartered in Sudbury, Ontario and is the mining research arm of LU. 

MIRARCO’s success is a significant reason for LU’s reputation as a leading mining 

university in Canada.  The operations of MIRARCO are funded by a combination of private 

research contracts and government grants for research and the provision of technical 

services. MIRARCO also generates revenue by conducting training workshops for various 

entities in the mining sector. 

183. MIRARCO is a non-share capital corporation incorporated under the Corporations Act.  

MIRARCO is a wholly owned by LU and is consolidated in LU’s financial statements. The 
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majority of MIRARCO’s Board of Directors are independent from LU, although there is 

some overlap with the Board. MIRARCO’s executive team is comprised primarily of 

mining experts. 

184. As LU’s mining research arm, LU processes the payroll for all of MIRARCO’s 19 

employees, provides their benefit programs and eligible MIRARCO employees participate 

in the Pension Plan. 

185. Save and except for the costs of administering such employment related matters, there are 

no further costs to LU related to providing these services to MIRARCO.  MIRARCO funds 

all of the amounts required to meet its own payroll, benefits programs and the employer 

contributions to the Pension Plan. 

186. LU funds the payroll, benefit programs and contributions to the Pension Plan on behalf of 

MIRARCO up front and then invoices MIRARCO for the total amounts paid.  Upon receipt 

of the invoice, MIRARCO reimburses LU in full for the total cost of payroll, benefits and 

Pension Plan contributions. I understand that MIRARCO has itself experienced financial 

difficulties in the last several years, which has resulted in outstanding payables owing to 

LU. 

iii. CEMI 

187. CEMI is a non-share capital corporation incorporated pursuant to the Corporations Act.  

CEMI is one of Canada’s leading contributors to mining innovation by introducing new 

practices, procedures, tools and techniques to help generate significant improvement in the 

performance of mines. CEMI coordinates innovation initiatives with mining companies 

and helps ensure they are successfully implemented.  The operations of CEMI are funded 
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by a combination of private research grants and government research grants. CEMI also 

generates revenue by conducting training workshops for various entities in the mining 

sector.  

188. Oversight and governance of CEMI occurs through the CEMI Board of Directors, which 

is composed of leaders of the mining industry, including mining experts, government 

agency representatives and academics. CEMI has partnerships with numerous academic 

institutions globally, including LU.  

189. Although LU is only one of CEMI’s institutional partners, as part of its partnership with 

CEMI, LU processes the payroll for CEMI’s five employees, provides their benefit 

programs and eligible CEMI employees participate in the Pension Plan. 

190. Save and except for the costs of administering such employment related matters, there are 

no further costs to LU related to providing these services to CEMI.  CEMI funds all of the 

amounts required to meet its own payroll, benefits programs and the employer 

contributions to the Pension Plan. 

191. LU funds the payroll, benefit programs and contributions to the Pension Plan on behalf of 

CEMI up front and then invoices CEMI for the total amounts paid.  Upon receipt of the 

invoice, CEMI reimburses LU in full for the total cost of payroll, benefits and Pension Plan 

contributions. 

iv. St. Joseph’s Health Centre of Sudbury 

192. Pursuant to a lease between LU and St. Joseph’s Health Centre of Sudbury (“St. Joseph’s”) 

dated February 26, 2001, LU leased certain lands to St. Joseph’s for the construction of a 
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long-term health care facility with a term of 99 years (the “St. Joseph’s Lease”). The rental 

rate was a one-time payment of $300,000 at the commencement of the term. LU and St. 

Joseph’s are independent of each other, but have agreed to collaborate on certain research 

projects. A copy of the lease is attached hereto as Exhibit “CC”. 

193. LU and St. Joseph’s entered into a further agreement dated April 1, 2003, whereby LU 

agreed that it would not encumber or mortgage the title to the lands covered by the St. 

Joseph’s Lease between April 1, 2003 and March 31, 2024. This restrictive covenant was 

registered on title to the leased lands. However, the agreement also provided that despite 

the restrictive covenant, LU is not precluded from selling the leased lands during the term 

of the St. Joseph’s Lease. A copy of the agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit “DD”. 

194. On October 20, 2003, St. Joseph’s mortgaged its leasehold interest, with the consent of LU, 

in the leased lands to Royal Trust Corporation of Canada (“Royal Trust”) in the amount 

of $8,005,693.00 pursuant to a financing agreement between St. Joseph’s and Royal Trust. 

A Notice of Charge of Lease has been registered on title to the leased lands by Royal Trust. 

A copy of the mortgage with Royal Trust is attached here to as Exhibit “EE”. 

v. Leases 

195. LU has entered into a number of leases with various parties in which LU is the lessor. The 

following chart summarizes certain details of each lease: 

Date Counterparty Expiry of 
Term 

Building/Space 
Leased 

Registration 
on title 

Exhibit 

Sept. 11, 
2011 
(amended 
September 
1, 2016) 

Ontario 
Minister of 
Infrastructure 
(Crown) 

August 31, 
2021  
 

Vale Living with 
Lakes Centre 

N/A “FF” 
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April 1, 
2019 

Silvia 
Larocque 

May 31, 2023 1,771 square feet 
in the McEwen 
School of 
Architecture 

N/A “GG” 

January 1, 
2019 

Zayo Canada 
Inc. 

December 31, 
2020 (now 
monthly 
tenancy) 

3,032 square feet 
in the McEwen 
School of 
Architecture 

N/A “HH” 

February 
26, 2001 

St. Joseph’s 
Health Centre 
of Sudbury 

March 1, 2100 Village of Care 
Campus 

Registered on 
PIN 73592-
0412. 
Instrument # 
LT908773. 

“CC” 

October 
24, 2019 

Students’ 
General 
Association 

May 1, 2068 Student Centre 
building 

N/A “II” 

April 9, 
1965 

University of 
Sudbury 

April 9, 2064 University of 
Sudbury 
buildings 

Registered on 
PIN 73593-
0465. 
Instrument # 
LT223242. 

“L” 

July 3, 
1964 

Huntington 
University 

July 3, 2063 Huntington 
buildings 

Registered on 
PIN 73593-
0465. 
Instrument # 
LT213378. 

“N” 

October 
24, 1964 

Thorneloe 
University 

October 24, 
2063 

Thorneloe 
builidngs 

Registered on 
PIN 73593-
0465. 
Instrument #  
LT217228. 

“Q” 

July 1, 
2006 

NOSM June 30, 2016 
(now monthly 
tenancy) 

Health Sciences 
Education 
Resource Centre 

N/A “D” 

December 
1, 2005 
(amended 
July 1, 
2011) 

NOSM August 31, 
2035 

Northern Ontario 
School of 
Medicine 
Building 

N/A “E” 

March 16, 
1964 

Hydro-
Electric 
Power 
Commission 
of the City of 
Sudbury 

November 1, 
2013 (now 
monthly 
tenancy) 

Certain lands 
used for hydro 
substation 

Registered on 
PIN 73593-
0465. 
Instrument # 
LT436399. 

“JJ” 
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September 
12, 1969 

Ontario 
Student 
Housing Corp. 

August 14, 
2019. Either 
party had 
option to 
renew for 5-
year term, 
otherwise, the 
lessee is to 
return all lands 
and buildings 
to LU. 

Single Student 
Residence (SSR) 
building 

Registered on 
PIN 73593-
0465. 
Instrument # 
LT287236. 

“KK” 

November 
8, 1973 

Ontario 
Student 
Housing Corp. 

August 14, 
2023. 

Single Student 
Residence (SSR) 
building 

Registered on 
PIN 73593-
0465. 
Instrument # 
LT353270. 

“LL” 

February 
12, 1988 

Ontario 
Minister of 
Government 
Services 
(Crown) 

January 1, 
2087 

Mineral and 
Mining Research 
Centre 

Registered on 
PIN 73593-
0465. 
Instrument # 
LT804581. 

“MM” 

October 
15, 1968 

Ontario 
Minister of 
Lands and 
Forests 
(Crown) 

No term 
provided. 

Crown granted 
LU certain tracts 
of land. LU 
agreed that if the 
land is no longer 
required for 
university 
purposes, LU 
will re-convey 
the land to the 
Crown if the 
Crown requests 
it to do so. 

Registered on 
PIN 73583-
0406. 
Instrument # 
LT264533. 

“NN” 

L. Cash Management System 

196. Until December 2020, LU utilized a simple cash management system with one primary 

operating bank account at Royal Bank of Canada (“RBC”) whereby substantially all funds 

received by LU were deposited and LU funded its operations and all expenses from the 

same account. 
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197. In addition, LU maintains an investment account with SEI Investments for the purpose of 

depositing all donations received to fund future scholarship in the endowment fund of LU 

and has a blocked account with both the Bank of Montreal (“BMO”) and Toronto-

Dominion Bank (“TD”) solely for the purpose of sweeping and processing debt service 

payments. 

198. Since December 2020, LU has taken steps to alter its cash management system to better 

manage the various sources of cash that are provided to LU, which included opening three 

new bank accounts.  Today, LU’s cash management system includes the following bank 

accounts: 

(a) operating bank accounts where all grants, tuition and ancillary revenues are 

received, and through which disbursements are made; 

(b) the investment account with SEI (which holds the endowment funds); 

(c) the blocked accounts with BMO and TD; 

(d) a bank account dedicated to all research grants and award funding; 

(e) a bank account for all other restricted funds, other than certain restricted donations 

that are received through a dedicated account which funds will remain in that 

account; and 

(f) a bank account dedicated to the employee and employer contributions to the RHBP. 

199. The changes to the cash management system will allow LU to better account for cash that 

is received for specific purposes, and ensure that such funds are not comingled with other 
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operational amounts such as tuition, enrollment-based grants received from the Province 

and ancillary revenues 

IV. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

200. For the financial information that is described below, I have been advised of same by LU’s 

VP Administration, and believe it to be true. 

A. Financial Statements of LU 

201. As at the close of business on January 28, 2021, LU had approximately $13 million in 

unrestricted cash on hand, after allowing for known payments that were due on that day.  

LU does not prepare interim quarterly financial statements and the audited annual financial 

statements are the most recent available financial statements in the last twelve months.  A 

copy of LU’s audited consolidated annual financial statements for the year ended April 30, 

2020, are attached hereto as Exhibit “OO”.  

202. As at April 30, 2020, LU’s assets had a book value of approximately $358.5 million and 

LU’s liabilities were valued as follows: 

(CAD $’000s)  April 30, 2020 

ASSETS   

Current   

Cash and short-term investments  4,544 

Accounts receivable  27,045 

Other current assets  1,650 

  33,239 

Non-current   

Accounts receivable  169 

Investments  52,845 

Employee future benefit assets  - 

Capital assets  272,267 

TOTAL ASSETS  358,520 

   

LIABILITIES, DEFFERED CONTRIBUTIONS  
AND NET ASSETS 
Current liabilities   

Line of credit  14,400 

Short-term loan  1,367 
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Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  22,319 

Accrued vacation pay  1,846 
Deferred revenue  1,009 

Current portion of long-term debt  2,738 

  43,679 

Long-term obligations   

Long-term debt  88,973 

Employee future benefits liabilities  20,788 

  109,761 

Deferred contributions   

Deferred contributions  38,519 

Deferred capital contributions  129,879 

  168,398 

Net assets   

Unrestricted  (19,986) 

Vacation and employee future benefits  (22,635) 

Internally restricted  3,848 

Investment in capital assets  22,610 

Endowment  52,845 

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED 
CONTRIBUTIONS AND NET ASSETS 

 358,520 

 
 

  

B. Assets 

203. As at April 30, 2020, LU had assets with a book value totaling approximately $358 million, 

of which approximately $33 million is comprised of current assets such as cash and short-

term investments, accounts receivable and other current assets. 

204. The remaining assets of LU consist primarily of investments in LU’s segregated 

endowment fund ($53 million) and capital assets ($272 million), comprising LU’s land and 

buildings. 

i. Capital Assets 

205. The capital assets of LU are comprised of: (i) buildings, (ii) equipment and furnishing, (iii) 

site improvements, (iv) land; and (v) an art and library collection.  The book value of the 

capital assets (except land) are derived by their cost less accumulated amortization.  As of 

April 30, 2020, the book value of buildings is approximately $249 million, equipment is 
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approximately $7 million and site improvement is approximately $2 million.  The land has 

a book value of approximately $13 million. 

206. In addition to the land and buildings on LU’s main campus, the capital assets of LU consist 

of other buildings and real property in and around the Sudbury area such as the Art Gallery 

Building located at 251 John Street, the President’s House located at 179 John Street, the 

Vale Living with Lakes Centre at 840 Ramsey Lake Road and the McEwen School of 

Architecture located in downtown Sudbury at 85 Elm Street. 

ii. Investments 

207. LU’s investments consist solely of its endowment fund created through historic gifts and 

donations from third parties to LU for the specific purpose of funding scholarships at LU.  

As of April 30, 2020, LU’s endowment fund is approximately $53 million.  As described 

previously, approximately $14 million of that is in respect of endowment funds received 

for NOSM students. 

208. LU’s endowment fund has been treated as not being accessible for operational purposes as 

it is only to be used for limited purposes such as the funding of student scholarships and 

other commitments supported by the fund.  For 2020-2021, LU has set a spending rate of 

2.5% of the endowment fund. 

209. The endowment fund is comprised of an investment portfolio that holds the following asset 

classes: equity funds ($22 million), fixed income ($26 million), structured credit ($1.8 

million) and real estate ($2.7 million). 

210. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the investment portfolio yielded a negative return 

for the 2019-2020 fiscal year, requiring LU to fund from its operations the shortfall of the 
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spending rate from 2019-2020 and a portion from 2018-2019.  That shortfall was 

approximately $1.8 million. 

211. Since access to the assets in the endowment fund is treated as limited to the specific 

purposes described above, these assets have not been accessed by LU for operational 

purposes or to satisfy any obligations and liabilities. 

V. LIABILITIES OF THE APPLICANT 

212. As at April 30, 2020, LU had liabilities with a book value totaling approximately $322 

million, of which approximately $43 million is comprised of current liabilities, including 

$14.4 million for unsecured lines of credit (which as of today’s date, have not been utilized 

due to LU’s insolvency), a short-term loan, accounts payable, the current portion of long-

term debt, accrued vacation pay and deferred revenue. 

213. As at April 30, 2020, LU had deferred contributions with a book value of approximately 

$168 million, of which approximately $130 million consists of deferred capital 

contributions and $38 million consists of deferred external contributions for research and 

other expenses to be incurred in subsequent fiscal years. 

214. The remaining long-term liabilities are mostly comprised of LU’s long-term debt and 

future pension benefit liabilities in respect of LU’s employees and those of the Federated 

Universities whose employees are members of the Plan. 

215. As of January 29, 2021, LU is current on all statutory priority payables for which it is 

responsible, including with respect to SNOLab, MIRARCO and CEMI, which LU 

administers payroll on behalf of. 
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A. PPSA Registrations 

216. Based on the searches conducted in the Personal Property Security Registration System 

(the “PPSA Registry”) for “Laurentian University of Sudbury”, the only security interest 

registrations made against LU are with respect to certain computer equipment lessors. 

217. A copy of a certified search of the PPSA Registry as at January 26, 2021, with respect to 

LU is attached hereto as Exhibit “PP”.  

B. Unsecured Lines of Credit and Short-Term Credit Facility 

218. LU had access to two unsecured revolving credit facilities with two financial institutions.  

Pursuant to a letter agreement most recently dated May 1, 2019, between LU and Caisse 

Populaire Voyageurs Inc. (“Desjardins”), LU had access to a revolving demand loan 

facility up to the maximum amount of $26 million (the “Desjardins Line of Credit”).  The 

Desjardins Line of Credit provides that it may be used to finance daily operations, however, 

the agreement also provides that the revolving demand loan facility is for the purposes of 

providing short-term variable rate financing of internal projects.  Attached hereto as 

Exhibit “QQ” is a copy of the agreement governing the Desjardins Line of Credit. 

219. Due to the nature of LU’s cyclical revenue cycle and the timing of when tuition payments 

and grant amounts are received by LU annually, the Desjardins Line of Credit is only 

needed at specific times during the year.  For example, during the summer months, LU 

utilizes the full amount of the Desjardins Line of Credit. When tuition is received in 

September, the Desjardins Line of Credit is typically paid down and is not drawn again 

during the Fall. However, LU typically draws on the Desjardins Line of Credit again in 

February.  At this time, no amounts are drawn on the Desjardins Line of Credit. 
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220. Upon filing for CCAA protection, LU will no longer have access to the Desjardins Line of 

Credit. Accordingly, LU is seeking DIP financing at the comeback hearing, as discussed 

below. 

221. Pursuant to a letter agreement most recently dated June 12, 2019 (as amended from time 

to time, the “RBC Credit Facilities Agreement”), between LU and RBC, LU had access 

to, among other credit facilities with RBC, a demand revolving facility with availability of 

up to a maximum principal amount of $5 million (the “RBC Line of Credit”).  Similar to 

the Desjardins Line of Credit discussed above, LU would draw on the RBC Line of Credit 

at various times of the year based on its immediate cash requirements.  In addition to the 

RBC Line of Credit, RBC provided LU with a $250,000 revolving demand facility in 

respect of letters of guarantee.  Attached hereto as Exhibit “RR” is a copy of the RBC 

Credit Facilities Agreement. 

222. Pursuant to a letter agreement dated October 3, 2005 (as amended on May 30, 2008, June 

1, 2009 and July 27, 2016, the “TD Credit Facility Agreement”), among other credit 

facilities, The Toronto-Dominion Bank (“TD Bank”) provided LU with a single draw 

committed reducing term facility in the initial principal amount of $2,000,000, with a 

maturity date of April 3, 2021, for financing in respect of the Athletic Facility. As of 

January 29, 2021, the outstanding principal balance owing under this facility is $1,323,626 

(exclusive of accrued interest and costs). This is a single draw facility and LU is not entitled 

to draw further amounts under this facility. 

C. Guarantees 

223. In accordance with a Guarantee dated June 27, 2018, LU guaranteed the obligations owed 

by the Laurentian University Students’ General Association (“SGA”) to TD Bank up to 
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the maximum principal amount of $8,500,000 pursuant to a Letter Agreement between 

SGA and TD Bank dated April 10, 2018 which is attached hereto as Exhibit “SS”. 

Attached hereto as Exhibit “TT” is a copy of the Guarantee dated June 27, 2018. 

D. Unsecured Long-term Debt 

224. In addition to its short-term unsecured lines of credit with Desjardins and RBC, LU has 

unsecured long-term debt obligations to Bank of Montreal, RBC and TD Canada Trust. 

Bank of Montreal 

225. Pursuant to a term sheet, fixed rate promissory note and an ISDA Master Agreement 

(collectively, the “BMO Facility”), each dated November 12, 2004, LU and BMO entered 

into an unsecured fixed rate term loan and fixed rate operating loan with an interest rate 

SWAP option up to the maximum principal amount of $4,116,098 (the “BMO Credit 

Facility”).  The term of the BMO Credit Facility is 20 years. 

226. On June 16, 2020, LU requested and BMO agreed to provide certain payment 

accommodations to LU in light of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and defer principal 

payments under the BMO Credit Facility for a period of several months.  As of today’s 

date, approximately $1.3 million is outstanding under the BMO Facility.  A copy of the 

credit facility agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit “UU”. 

Royal Bank of Canada 

227. Pursuant to the RBC Credit Facilities Agreement, in addition to the RBC Line of Credit, 

RBC has provided LU with the following additional unsecured credit facilities: 

(a) a fully advanced non-revolving term facility in the principal amount of 

$13,547,000, with a maturity date of November 22, 2040, the proceeds of which 

were used by LU to finance the construction of a new building on LU’s campus; 
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(b) a fully advanced non-revolving term facility in the principal amount of 

$17,994,000, with a maturity date of October 7, 2042, the proceeds of which were 

used as takeout financing of a new residence located on LU’s campus (the 

“Residence Takeout Facility”); 

(c) a fully advanced non-revolving term facility in the principal amount of 

$40,509,000, with a maturity date of December 15, 2041, the proceeds of which 

were used as takeout financing of the Sudbury Campus Modernization Project; and 

(d) a fully advanced non-revolving term facility in the principal amount of $3,616,000, 

with a maturity date of May 31, 2023, the proceeds of which were used as takeout 

financing in respect of a renovation loan in respect of a single student residence 

(the “Renovation Takeout Facility”) 

(collectively, the “RBC Credit Facilities”). 

228. On or about June 25, 2020, LU requested, and RBC agreed, to provide certain payment 

accommodations to LU in light of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and defer principal 

payments for a period of several months in respect of the Residence Takeout Facility and 

the Renovation Takeout Facility. 

229. Pursuant to the RBC Credit Facilities Agreement, LU has, among other things, covenanted 

not to grant, create, assume or suffer any charge, security interest or encumbrance affecting 

any of its properties or assets without the written consent of RBC. 

230. Commencing January 11, 2021, LU engaged in open discussions with RBC with respect to 

its financial situation and the contingency planning exercises underway.  Those discussions 

included advising RBC that LU was already in discussions with prospective DIP lenders 
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and requesting whether RBC would consider providing DIP financing on an expedited 

basis. 

231. As a result of LU’s financial situation, LU could not satisfy the conditions precedent to 

borrow any additional amounts under the RBC Credit Facilities and LU advised RBC that 

it did not intend to make any further draws on any of the RBC Credit Facilities. 

232. As a result, on January 15, 2021, RBC delivered a letter through counsel advising that all 

availability under the RBC Credit Facilities were cancelled.  However, all cash balances in 

RBC bank accounts have continued to be available to LU. 

Toronto-Dominion Bank 

233. Pursuant to the TD Credit Facility Agreement, TD Bank has provided LU with the 

following unsecured credit facilities:  

(a) committed reducing term facility in the initial principal amount of $14,800,000, 

with a maturity date of August 31, 2021, used to pay out a previous facility 

advanced by TD Bank for the construction of a student residence. As of January 

29, 2021, the outstanding principal balance owing under this facility is $10,575,875 

(exclusive of accrued interest and costs). This is a single draw facility and LU is 

not entitled to draw further amounts under this facility; and 

(b) committed reducing term facility in the initial principal amount of $6,150,000 

(subsequently increased to $10,000,000), with a maturity date of September 30, 

2018 (which was extended to September 28, 2023), used to pay out previous 

facilities advanced by TD Bank and Infrastructure Ontario for the construction of a 

new Athletic Facility and to convert to long term debt. As of January 29, 2021, the 
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outstanding principal balance owing under this facility is $6,570,917 (exclusive of 

accrued interest and costs). This is a single draw facility and LU is not entitled to 

draw further amounts under this facility. 

234. Pursuant to the TD Credit Facility Agreement, LU has covenanted that its indebtedness 

under the TD Credit Facility Agreement to TD Bank will rank at least pari passu with all 

other obligations of LU.  A copy of the TD Credit Facility Agreement is attached hereto as 

Exhibit “VV”.  

235. On or about June 25, 2020, LU requested, and TD Bank agreed, to provide certain payment 

accommodations to LU in light of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and defer principal 

payments for a period of several months in respect of the TD Credit Facility Agreement. 

236. Commencing January 11, 2021, LU engaged in open discussions with TD Bank with 

respect to its financial situation and the contingency planning exercises underway.  Those 

discussions included advising TD Bank that LU was already in discussions with 

prospective DIP lenders and requesting whether TD Bank would consider providing DIP 

financing on an expedited basis. 

237. Below is a summary of the long-term debt obligations of LU (in thousands) as at April 30, 

2020 and as reflected in the notes to the annual financial statements: 

Bank Maturity Amount 
Outstanding 

BMO 2024 1,366 
RBC 2040 13,187 
RBC 2043 17,573 
RBC 2023 2,770 
RBC 2042 39,496 
TD 2036 10,647 
TD 2043 6,672 
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TOTAL LONG-
TERM DEBT 

91,711 
 

E. Interest Rate Swaps 

238. In order to manage its long-term interest rate risk, LU entered into a series of interest rate 

swap transactions with its lenders.  In each case, LU agreed to pay a fixed rate of interest 

on a notional principal amount and the counterparty lender agreed to pay a variable rate of 

interest on a notional principal amount based on the Canadian Dollar Offered Rate 

(“CDOR”). 

239. As the interest rate swap transactions correspond to certain of LU’s long-term debt 

obligations, the notional principal amount outstanding varies month to month in 

accordance with the amortization schedules appended to the interest rate swap 

confirmations.  The net impact of these interest rate swap transactions to LU has been a net 

monthly cash outflow of approximately $340,000.  Copies of the swap confirmations for 

the interest rate swap transactions separated by financial institution are attached hereto as 

Exhibits “WW” (RBC), “XX” (TD) and “YY” (BMO). 

F. Employee Future Benefits 

240. As described above, LU has three post-employment benefit plans.  On an annual basis, LU 

determines its obligations for its employee future benefits using certain funding 

assumptions within the financial statements of LU. 

241. In fiscal year 2019 - 2020, LU reduced the discount rate used in the calculation of future 

employee benefits, which had the corresponding effect of increasing the liability 

component to the post-employment benefit plans.  The decrease in the discount rate was 

caused by the reduction of overnight interest rates by the Bank of Canada in response to 

the COVID-19 pandemic. 
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242. A lower discount rate resulted in a net increase in total plan liability after the asset value 

of the investments as at April 30, 2020. 

G. Deferred Contributions 

243. The deferred contribution amounts on LU’s balance sheet represent funds that have been 

received by LU in advance of the related expense being incurred and in respect of which 

the funds were designated by the payor for a specific purpose.  Such purposes include: 

(a) Research Grants:  Grants received pursuant to specific research awards that in 

many cases are received in advance of the research actually being undertaken.  

These funds are required to be held and only used for the specific research 

contemplated in the grant and only for qualifying types of expenditures; 

(b) Restricted Donations:  Donations or other contributions received with a 

requirement that the funds are to be used for specific purposes; and 

(c) Scholarships:  Donations or funds received specifically to fund scholarships to 

students. 

244. Deferred research contributions include external research grants that faculty members have 

received which have outstanding allocations for 2021 to, among other things, pay students, 

fund research projects and research equipment purchases, and to transfer to affiliated 

research partners. 

245. Contracts associated with research grants typically include the amount and designated 

purpose for which the funds are allocated. Most contracts also contain certain provisions 

with respect to financial administration obligations. For example, universities receiving 

funds from the Tri-Agencies are governed by the Tri-Agency Guide on Financial 
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Administration and are further bound by the Agreement on the Administration of Agency 

Grants and Awards by Research Institutions (the “Tri-Agency Agreement”).  Typically, 

these agreements provide for reporting obligations and that the funds received by LU must 

be used for the specific purpose intended by the grant or award.  In the case of the Tri-

Agency Agreement, it requires LU to establish a separate account for each grant or award. 

246. As of December 30, 2020, LU had a liability of approximately $36.5 million in respect of 

deferred contributions, which have been allocated in the internal general ledger.  Although 

funds which comprise deferred contributions are received by LU for an intended purpose, 

historically, the funds have been received and deposited into LU’s sole operating account 

and comingled with all other sources of revenue.  As a result of the current financial 

position of LU, those funds have been spent and there are no funds set aside or available 

to satisfy the obligations represented by these deferred contributions. 

247. I understand that it is not uncommon for Ontario universities to deposit research grants and 

awards into their main operating account. However, it is not an issue with universities that 

have sufficient cash. In this case, it is LU's liquidity crisis and insolvency over a number 

of years that have caused the issue because LU used those research grant and award funds 

for operating purposes. 

248. This issue may impact LU’s ability to meet its research obligations as they become due, 

which may cause an event of default under certain research contracts it has entered into 

privately and with the Tri-Agencies.  LU’s access to research funding may be negatively 

impacted in the future if corrective actions are not taken to rectify these historical issues. 
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249. Although LU cannot retroactively remedy the amounts received on account of historical 

deferred contributions, LU implemented measures in December 2020 to account for and 

separately track all funds that are received by LU for a specific purpose.  As discussed 

above, LU implemented a new cash management system to allow LU to appropriately 

manage future research grant and award funding received. 

250. The new cash management system and processes contemplate that new incoming restricted 

funds will be deposited and held in the appropriate dedicated bank accounts until such time 

as the underlying obligations as specified in the research grant or donation have been 

satisfied, at which time LU will reimburse itself for such costs from the segregated account. 

251. Going forward, LU intends to continue to utilize the segregated bank account system 

established for all deferred contribution funds received and will advise agencies and donors 

of the establishment of these new bank accounts.  However, there may be an interim period 

whereby these funds are first received in LU’s general operating account until updated 

banking information for the new accounts can be provided to the sources for these 

payments.  In the circumstances, members of LU’s finance department will track receipts 

and transfer funds into the appropriate segregated account where they will be held for the 

specific purpose intended. 

H. Deferred Capital Contributions 

252. As at April 30, 2020, LU had a deferred capital contributions liability of approximately 

$129 million. This represents donations, grants or other contributions previously received 

by Laurentian to fund capital projects.  This amount is amortized or recognized as income 

over a period consistent with the amortization of the capital assets.  As a result, this amount 

does not represent a future cash liability of LU.  

97



 - 76 -

253. LU assesses the condition of its buildings and other assets and estimates the amount (the 

“Deferred Maintenance Amount”) required to be spent on maintenance and other 

improvement-type items to ensure that the buildings remain in a good state of repair.  This 

Deferred Maintenance Amount is not recorded on LU’s financial statements because it is 

not an obligation that has been incurred, although it does represent future obligations that 

may need to be incurred to maintain the infrastructure, unless LU reduces its footprint.  

Currently, LU’s estimate of the Deferred Maintenance Amount is approximately $135 

million. 

254. LU has allocated 1.5% of operating revenues, including the amounts received from the 

MCU under the Facilities Renewal Grant, in its annual budget since 2017 (approximately 

$2.3 million in 2020-21) to deferred maintenance contributions in order to deal with 

required capital and building repairs.  It is very likely that the budgeted amount is not 

sufficient to manage the deferred maintenance needs of LU. However, as a result of LU’s 

financial circumstances it is unable to contribute any additional amounts. 

255. In the event that there are a series of significant and expensive maintenance projects that 

require immediate attention by LU, it would be extremely difficult for LU to address these 

issues without obtaining further external financing.  Through these CCAA proceedings, 

LU intends to address its underlying financial difficulties, which will allow LU to 

normalize amounts allocated to deferred maintenance. 

I. Litigation 

256. LU is currently involved in several outstanding litigation matters. I am advised by the 

General Counsel of LU, that the outstanding litigation that LU is a party to generally 

consists of: 
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(a) Construction Claims brought by LU: LU has initiated a claim for damages 

against several contractors and subcontractors in the amount of approximately 

$2,500,000 with respect to certain alleged deficiencies in the cladding work on the 

School of Education building. Further, LU has initiated a separate claim for breach 

of contract damages against Bondfield Construction Company Ltd. (“Bondfield”) 

in the amount of approximately $2,500,000 as well as a claim against Travelers 

Insurance Company for $2,000,000; 

(b) Construction Lien Claims: Several subcontractors have registered construction 

liens against the lands owned by LU in relation to the McEwen School of 

Architecture project. The aggregate amount of the outstanding construction liens is 

approximately $5.9 million made by the following six lien claimants: (i) Accel 

Electrical Contractors Limited, (ii) BBM Excavating Company Ltd., (iii) F&M 

Caulking Ltd., (iv) Forma-Con Construction, (v) Interpaving Ltd. And (vi) Sandro 

Steel Fabrication Ltd.; 

(c) Civil Claims: There are several minor civil litigation claims brought by and against 

LU; 

(d) Human Rights Claims: There are four current human rights applications brought 

against LU for various alleged acts of discrimination; 

(e) Litigation Covered by Insurer: Several claims for damages are covered by LU’s 

insurance policies and are being defended by the insurer and its respective counsel; 

and 
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(f) Data Breach Class Action:  LU is a named party to a proposed $40 million class 

action claim in respect of a security incident that resulted in the personal and 

confidential information of certain LU students being disclosed without permission.  

As of today’s date, the proposed class action has not been certified to proceed as a 

class action and the claims against LU have not been evaluated on their merits. 

257. A summary of the outstanding litigation matters described above is attached hereto as 

Exhibit “ZZ”.  

258. With respect to the construction projects on property and buildings owned by LU, I have 

been advised by the University Secretary and General Counsel at LU that pursuant to the 

Construction Act (Ontario), LU is required to holdback 10% of the price of the services or 

materials as they are actually supplied under the contract until all liens have been expired 

or satisfied.  Based on information provided to me by the VP Administration and the LU 

Finance team, I understand that LU is responsible for approximately $3 million in unpaid 

holdback.  While these obligations were recorded for internal accounting purposes as being 

held in trust, since LU uses only one operating account and has no trust accounts, LU does 

not have the requisite funds required to pay the holdback amounts. 

259. As of January 8, 2021, LUFA has filed approximately 102 active grievances and one 

ongoing Unfair Labour Practice complaint. I am advised by LU’s labour counsel Michael 

Kennedy of Hicks Morley LLP, who also acts for other universities, that the number of 

grievances at LU is considerably higher than he has seen at other universities in Ontario.  

During the fiscal years 2018/2019 and 2019/2020, LU’s legal costs associated with 

grievances and complaints were $328,303 and $379,276, respectively. The most common 
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issues described in these grievances are challenges to LU’s management rights, allegations 

of insufficient resources and challenges to promotion or performance assessments. There 

are a further two active grievances filed by LUSU and none by CUPE. 

260. In the summer of 2020, LUFA brought an application for judicial review of the Provost 

and VP Academic’s decision to suspend admissions to 17 academic programs which all 

had either low or very low enrolment. In some instances, these programs had 2-3 students. 

The Provost and VP Academic reached this conclusion after discussions with the various 

Deans and the future of the programs was then to be put to the Academic Planning 

Committee in the Senate.  LUFA’s application argues that the jurisdiction to make 

decisions on academic programs lies solely with the Senate. The decision to suspend 

admissions to programs as being within the purview of the Provost and VP Academic is 

supported by the Ontario Universities Council on Quality Assurance (“CQA”), which is 

the provincial body responsible for assuring the quality of all programs leading to degrees 

and graduate diplomas. A copy of the letter from the CQA dated January 22, 2021 

approving the decision is attached hereto as Exhibit “AAA”. 

VI. CASH FLOW FORECAST 

261. Attached as Exhibit “BBB” is a statement of the projected 13-week cash flow forecast (the 

“Cash Flow Statement”) of LU for the week beginning February 1, 2021 to the week 

ending April 30, 2021.  The Cash Flow Statement was prepared with the assistance of Ernst 

& Young Inc. (“EY”), the Proposed Monitor herein. 

262. The Cash Flow Statement demonstrates that if the relief requested is granted, including the 

approval of the DIP Facility (as defined below) at the comeback hearing, LU has sufficient 

liquidity to meet its obligations during the initial 13-week period of a CCAA filing. 
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VII. INSOLVENCY AND LIQUIDITY CRISIS 

A. Historical Long-Term Financial Stability Initiatives 

263. LU’s financial issues were first identified as early as 2008-09 when a previous 

administration presented a budget to the Board that would not likely be balanced for the 

2008-2009 academic year, with little to no improvement for the future financial prospects 

of LU absent any change.  Although that budget was approved, the Board expected the 

financial situation to be remedied as a top priority item. 

264. During the summer of 2008, the acting President of LU convened a retreat of the entire 

leadership team at LU to launch a process to create a plan to address the current and future 

financial prospects of LU.  This retreat led to the formation of a Core Transition Group 

Committee (“CTG Committee”) made up of fifteen employees of LU from management 

and faculty to meet on a weekly basis to examine the various components identified at the 

retreat with a view to drafting a go-forward plan to present to the Board.  The CTG 

Committee prepared a Plan for Regaining Sustainability at LU (the “2009 Plan”) and 

presented it to the Board on December 18, 2008 and again on February 20, 2009.  The 

Board approved the implementation of the 2009 Plan, expected to occur over a three-year 

period, during the February meeting.  A copy of the 2009 Plan is attached hereto as Exhibit 

“CCC”. 

265. Pursuant to the 2009 Plan, the CTG Committee recommended a number of measures such 

as: (i) efforts to increase domestic and international enrolment, (ii) an increased internet 

presence through a revamped website, (iii) an integrated marketing and communications 

strategy, (iv) the retention of first-year students, international students and aboriginal 

students, (v) a reorganization of several upper management positions to eliminate 
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inefficiencies and provide for a better decision-making process, and (vi) the establishment 

of the “Next 50 Campaign”– an initiative to raise $50 million in cash and pledges. 

266. The 2009 Plan also identified that the growth of LU would lead to a severe shortage of 

space and a corresponding need for new capital projects.  Beginning in 2014, LU undertook 

a $64 million Campus Modernization Project for the construction of approximately 

250,000 sq. ft. of classrooms, research, study and public space. 

267. The Campus Modernization Project involved LU incurring a substantial amount of long-

term debt (approximately $40 million) to pay for the construction of buildings and facilities 

to modernize the campus in order to accommodate LU’s historical growth and fuel the 

projected enrolment growth.  LU elected to defer repayment of the principal amounts 

borrowed until after construction was completed, leading to the accrual of further interest. 

268. LU approved further significant investments in the 2014-15 budget to further support the 

2012-2017 strategic plan outcomes, graduate expansion strategy and enrolment growth 

targets. 

269. When the Board approved the 2016-17 operating budget, LU forecasted operational 

deficits continuing through 2021-22 leading to an accumulated operational deficit of 

greater than $43 million.  The Board took steps to address the issue and in February 2017, 

the Board approved the Long-Term Sustainability Report (the “2017 Report”).  The 2017 

Report highlighted the need to take a hard look at areas where LU could reduce costs and 

increase revenues in an effort to improve LU’s financial outlook.  It also outlined that many 

of the measures required to achieve long-term sustainability will take time to implement 
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and will generate benefits that start small and increase over time. A redacted copy of the 

Long-Term Sustainability Report is attached hereto as Exhibit “DDD”. 

270. In June 2017, the Board approved the 2017-18 Budget and the multi-year projected 

revenues and expenses for 2018-2019 to 2022-2023.  This budget included savings targets 

and forecasted a deficit of $889,000 for 2018-19.  

271. In response to the financial challenges faced by LU, including the unexpected enrolment 

decline in Fall 2017, steps were taken by academic and non-academic senior leaders and 

other support resources to implement on-going sustainability measures identified in the 

2017 Report and various other measures identified and informed by feedback from staff 

and faculty. Since 2018, LU and its senior leaders have tried to identify all potential sources 

of savings, efficiencies, cost avoidances and new sources of revenue in an effort to address 

its financial challenges and the accumulated operational deficit. 

272. At one point, LU delivered programs at Georgian College in Barrie, beginning in 2001.  

After the term of the original agreements expired in 2014, LU and Georgian College 

engaged in negotiations to continue the relationship.  LU considered a major expansion in 

Barrie, however, negotiations stalled with Georgian College and the MCU. Declining 

revenues and increasing expenses associated with the delivery of programs in Barrie, 

together with the failed expansion, resulted in the decision to close the Barrie campus being 

made in February 2016. 

273. The Barrie campus ultimately closed in May 2019. As a result of the closure, LU 

experienced an overall decline in enrolment in 2017 and additional one-time and on-going 

faculty costs.  LU also lost the enrolment of many international students as a result of 
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foreign policy issues in 2018.  Notably, Saudi Arabia ordered its international students 

studying in Canada to relocate to educational institutions in other countries as a result of a 

diplomatic dispute with the Canadian government. Prior to this dispute, there were 163 

students from Saudi Arabia enrolled at LU in Fall 2017.  This enrollment decreased to 26 

students from Saudi Arabia in Fall 2018. 

274. These stresses on LU’s revenue were exacerbated by changes made to the tuition fee 

structure across the Province.  The Provincial Tuition Fee Framework for 2019-20 and 

2020-21 required all universities in Ontario to reduce domestic tuition fees by 10% and the 

Province implemented a subsequent tuition freeze.  This had the impact of a permanent 

loss of $5.5 million in revenue in 2019-20, including the foregone ability to increase rates 

by 3%. This projected loss of revenue compounds to approximately $6.8 million in 2020-

21.  The MCU provided a one-time Northern Tuition Sustainability Grant in 2019-20 in 

the amount of $4.3 million, of which $0.2 million was shared with each of the Federated 

Universities A further aggravating factor related to the tuition decrease and freeze is that 

prior to the implementation of the Provincial Tuition Fee Framework, LU’s fees were 

already below the allowed maximum amount of tuition fees set by the Province as a result 

of a past strategic decision made by LU that was designed to increase enrolment. 

275. At the same time as the tuition freeze, LU received less funding from certain MCU grants 

(such as the Graduate Capital Grant and Teacher Education Stabilization Grant). In 2020-

2021, LU anticipates a decline in the funding of the Core Enrolment grant due to declining 

domestic enrolments, including from the closure of the Barrie campus. 
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276. With the exception of the modest growth experienced in 2020, enrolment has declined each 

year from 2015 to 2018 and tuition fees remain low, while labour and debt servicing costs 

have grown substantially.  LU’s academic costs are generally higher as a percentage of 

total costs than other Ontario universities.  LU has made efforts to reduce administrative 

costs which has resulted in a situation in which the reduced administrative staff has limited 

ability to focus on potential revenue-generating projects, while academic costs have 

become unsustainable. 

277. During the previous decade, LU has not periodically re-evaluated its offered programs to 

ensure it is focusing on programs that reflect current student demands.  For example, 

demand for Faculty of Arts programs have declined while demand for business and 

engineering programs has increased.  LU has not typically made program changes to align 

with these shifts in demand. 

278. Finally, the financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, which is discussed below, has 

further derailed LU’s efforts to achieve financial sustainability. 

279. Despite the continued and best efforts of members of the LU administration, a fundamental 

change to the status quo is required. 

B. Impact of COVID-19 

280. Upon the declaration by the World Health Organization of the COVID-19 pandemic, LU 

halted in-person activity, restricted its facilities to staff and students and took steps to move 

to a remote delivery format in March 2020 based on recommendations from Public Health 

Ontario. 
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281. Both the Spring and Summer semesters were transferred to alternate delivery and most of 

the Fall 2020 and Winter 2021 semesters are online, with the delivery of on-campus 

activities where deemed necessary and in accordance with guidance from Public Health 

Ontario. 

282. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, LU continues to face a number of financial and 

operational challenges.  As at December 30, 2020, LU estimates that the impacts associated 

with the COVID-19 pandemic were approximately $5 million in 2019-20 and 

approximately $7.5 million in 2020-21 for a total of approximately $12.5 million since 

March 2020.  These estimates are based on increased costs and decreased revenues, such 

as: 

(a) a decrease in ancillary revenues associated with: (i) less students staying in on-

campus residences owned and operated by LU, (ii) the loss of rental income from 

events and conferences hosted on campus, (iii) the loss of parking income, (iv) the 

loss of food service income, and (iv) reduced student fees and revenue from campus 

recreation services; 

(b) an increase in the employer pension contributions in 2020-2021 and an increase in 

the associated future employee benefits liability as a result of the reduction in the 

Bank of Canada’s overnight lending rate, resulting in a decrease to the discount rate 

used in such calculations; 

(c) increased costs associated with the implementation of additional protective 

measures designed to reduce or eliminate the risk of COVID-19 transmission on-

campus when students, faculty and staff are required to be physically present; and 
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(d) endowment investment return declines related to COVID-19 affected scholarships 

paid from operations, as of April 30, 2020. 

283. LU received $0.8 million in one-time COVID relief funding from MCU.  In addition, in 

response to known and potential COVID-19 impacts, LU amended and accelerated its 

sustainability plan to reduce reliance on revenue growth and focus on cost reductions and 

structural change to address its financial challenges.   In addition, a series of one-time fiscal 

restraint measures were implemented to reduce spending in an attempt to mitigate the 

projected losses in 2020-21.  The COVID-19 pandemic continues to evolve, and LU 

continues to adopt strategies to ensure that students continue to receive high quality 

education in the safest possible environment at LU.  However, given that the outcome and 

timeframe to a recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic is highly unpredictable, it is 

difficult to estimate the pandemic’s effect on future operations and the financial situation 

of LU. 

C. Discussions with the Provincial Government 

284. Concurrent with the exploration of contingency planning scenarios, LU has been 

completely transparent with the MCU regarding the financial challenges it faces, has 

provided details to the MCU regarding its financial situation and the concerns that are 

described herein, and the outcome if the efforts undertaken by LU could not achieve the 

required results. 

285. Discussions regarding LU’s financial challenges occurred with MCU during the Strategic 

Mandate Agreement bilateral negotiations which took place from November 2019 to April 

2020, during the summer of 2020 and then again with LU’s external advisors joining the 

discussions in December 2020. 
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286. During these discussions, LU highlighted the benefits that it provides to the community of 

Northern Ontario, but more importantly, the costs and risks associated with attempting an 

informal restructuring outside of a proceeding and the costs and risks associated with a 

potential CCAA restructuring. 

287. In December 2020 and January 2021, I, together with LU’s external counsel and advisors, 

have regularly met with the Minister of Colleges and Universities, several senior staff 

members at the MCU, members of the Treasury Board and senior staff members at the 

Ministry of Finance. 

288. I have been advised that MCU is the lead Ministry on this matter and that MCU has also 

involved the Finance and Treasury functions of the Province and I understand that the 

Premier’s office has been made aware of the situation.  MCU has asked two sets of follow-

up questions, which LU has provided prompt and complete responses to. 

289. In the weeks and days leading up to this application, I have been in frequent communication 

with members of MCU and LU advised the MCU the date that LU would seek to commence 

CCAA proceedings. 

290. More particularly, LU and MCU exchanged correspondence in the ten days prior to filing. 

A copy of the letter from MCU to LU dated January 21, 2021 is attached hereto as 

Confidential Exhibit “EEE” and a copy of the letter from LU to MCU dated January 25, 

2021 is attached hereto as Confidential Exhibit “FFF”. 

291. In summary, LU has been in continuous dialogue with MCU and intends to continue this 

dialogue throughout the CCAA proceedings. 
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VIII. OBJECTIVE OF THE CCAA FILING 

A. Proposed Restructuring of LU 

292. Leading up to this application for protection under the CCAA, I have worked with the 

Internal Team to plan for “Laurentian 2.0”.  Externally, Laurentian 2.0 will not look or feel 

much different than LU today because a vast majority of LU students take the most popular 

courses and the delivery of those courses should not materially change.  However, LU will 

be internally overhauled from an operational and financial standpoint to focus on its 

strengths and shed areas of relative weakness or unnecessary costs. 

293. Today, the future of LU could be in jeopardy due to, among others, the following factors: 

(a) a Student-to-Faculty teaching ratio that is far too low when compared to other 

Ontario universities (LU is approximately 20:1); 

(b) as described earlier, the annual cost to educate each student at LU and the Federated 

Universities is approximately $2,000 higher than the average cost when compared 

to other Ontario universities; 

(c) LU employs more faculty members than are required (355), which is one of the 

largest expense items annually for LU; 

(d) LU offers too many undergraduate programs today (132), many of which only have 

a handful of students, leading to programs that do not break-even; and 

(e) in circumstances which LU’s annual revenue is not expected to materially increase 

over the next five years due to declining demographics, LU’s total estimated 

operating expenses for 2020-21 of $156 million, plus increases for inflation, are too 

high. 
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294. To address these operational and financial issues, the implementation of Laurentian 2.0 

will seek to: 

(a) increase the Student-to-Faculty teaching ratio; 

(b) restructure its current academic model to reduce the number of undergraduate 

programs; 

(c) reduce the number of faculty members as a result of the elimination of admissions 

into certain programs and reduce or re-deploy the number of non-faculty members 

as a result of internal reorganization and the elimination of unnecessary cost 

centres; and 

(d) through these measures, significantly reduce expenses. 

295. The Laurentian 2.0 framework seeks to accomplish the foregoing through: 

(a) Restructuring the Academic Model by streamlining academic programming and 

delivery through the reduction of number of programs, restructuring academic 

supports and terminating the agreements and relationship with the Federated 

Universities; and 

(b) Restructuring the Business Model by updating business operations, restructuring 

existing obligations through a compromise in the CCAA and ultimately balancing 

the budget. 

296. Due to the unique bicameral nature of the university, the structure of the Federated 

Universities and LU’s Unions and the many challenges it faces, LU requires the platform 

of a Court-supervised proceeding to effect its proposed restructuring into Laurentian 2.0. 
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297. LU intends to use this CCAA proceeding to commence an intensive mediation with certain 

of its stakeholders that can be conducted within a relatively short time frame, as a necessary 

pre-condition to determining if a financially sustainable outcome can be achieved.  Given 

LU’s significant cash requirements, the availability and extent of DIP financing, and the 

timing of the academic year for programs and students in September 2021, a determination 

must be made expeditiously as to whether, and if so on what terms, that may be 

accomplished. 

298. More particularly, during this CCAA proceeding, LU intends to: 

(a) complete its review of the breadth of academic programs offered at LU to ensure 

that adequate students are enrolling in programs and classes to justify their 

continuance at LU and engaging in discussions with the Senate of LU in respect of 

same; 

(b) re-evaluate the Federated Universities model in such a way that the historic 

significance of the Federated Universities can be preserved while ensuring that the 

relationships reflect the current realities of each organization; 

(c) use the CCAA proceeding as a platform for negotiations with its unions regarding 

what LU must look like in the future and ensuring that a restructured LU can be 

aligned with collective agreements that will facilitate its future sustainability; 

(d) identify opportunities for future revenue generation; 

(e) focus on refining the student experience at LU so that students continue to receive 

a top-notch education at a university that they enjoy attending; 
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(f) consider available options for addressing its current and long-term indebtedness to 

its lenders; and 

(g) ultimately, implement the Laurentian 2.0 framework. 

B. Evaluation of Federated Universities Model 

299. In 2019, LU provided notice of a change in the funding agreement between LU and each 

of the Federated Universities.  While this amendment was necessary to make the funding 

arrangements consistent with metrics in respect of tuition and grants from the Province, 

further work is required.  LU estimates that the Federated Universities model costs LU 

approximately $5 million each year. 

300. Currently, the Federated Universities have duplicative organizational infrastructure, 

functions and services.  Although LU respects the autonomy of the Federated Universities, 

the Federated Universities also have financial challenges.  One successful outcome of this 

CCAA proceeding may be the remolding of the Federated Universities model in such a 

way that creates economies of efficiency for LU and the Federated Universities while 

maintaining the historical significance and identities of the Federated Universities. 

301. This Court-supervised proceeding will assist LU in focusing its discussions and 

negotiations with leadership of the Federated Universities to arrive at a compromise and 

solution that is acceptable and, more importantly, ensures the long-term sustainability of 

LU.  If necessary, LU may utilize the proposed mediation to address and resolve the 

Federated Universities model. 
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C. Restructuring of Program Offerings 

302. As summarized above, LU offers too many courses with low enrolment levels that cause 

the offering of such course to be financially unsustainable.  Although LU recognizes that 

not every course offered will have consistently high levels of enrolment, LU cannot 

continue to offer courses and programs where there are less than ten students enrolled.  The 

financial resources required to continue offering such courses are too great in 

circumstances which LU is insolvent. 

303. The Provost of LU, working with members of the Senate, the various faculties and 

academic departments has taken a number of steps to academically restructure LU to save 

costs:  

(a) on July 30, 2020, by way of report to the Senate (the “July 30 Report”), the interim 

Vice-President, Academic and Provost of LU identified 17 academic programs 

requiring temporary suspension, pending review by ACAPLAN, the academic 

planning committee of the Senate.  Notwithstanding objection to the 

recommendation at the September 15, 2020 meeting of the Senate, ACAPLAN 

approved a motion on September 18, 2020, directing the Provost of LU to contact 

the programs listed in the July 30 Report to ensure the appropriate processes were 

followed; 

(b) subsequently, an additional suspension of low enrolment programs is being 

considered in accordance with the Senate-approved Institutional Quality Assurance 

Program changes; 
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(c) in Fall 2020, faculties working collegially with Deans and the Provost agreed to 

decrease the number of course offerings for the 2021 Winter Term; 

(d) there are ongoing discussions to create efficiencies by reducing the number of 

Departments and Schools at LU through realignment, mergers and closures; 

(e) LU is moving towards implementing a new responsibility-based budget model, 

which empowers and holds Deans and academic units accountable for activity-

based revenues, expenses and sustainable academic outcomes; and 

(f) in my December report to Senate, I advised that LU has one of the highest education 

costs per student in the Province and that to be sustainable, LU must find ways to 

offer attractive, compelling programming in a way that also increases our student-

to-faculty ratio and brings our cost per student in line with sustainable levels.  

304. In my experience as an academic administrator, the normal course of Senate decision 

making entails extensive collegial committee work and Senate discussions, and takes up to 

one year to complete an academic program review and is only completed every seven years.  

LU does not have the necessary liquidity to sustain it during such a process, while it seeks 

to achieve financial sustainability. 

305. Outside of a CCAA proceeding, LU will not be able to reduce the number of academic 

programs through the Senate in a timely way.  This process must also be completed in an 

expedited fashion so LU can negotiate with LUFA to facilitate a reduction in the number 

of faculty members commensurate with the reduction in academic programs.  Further, LU 

is financially unable to facilitate voluntary retirements or terminations under the LUFA CA 

due to the massive liabilities such actions precipitate, with no means of addressing same. 

115



 - 94 -

306. In conjunction with its academic restructuring efforts in the Senate, LU is working on 

reducing the number of full-time tenured faculty members such that the student to faculty 

ratios and class sizes that will be comparable to other Ontario comprehensive research 

universities.  LU predicts this will require further reductions in the faculty complement.  

To facilitate reductions, the following measures are being taken: 

(a) there will be no replacement of vacant faculty positions (except for: (i) critical 

positions approved in June 2020 as term contract hires to incentivise retirement, 

and (ii) externally funded research chairs); 

(b) recruitment has been stopped for seven existing vacancies; and 

(c) six retirements are anticipated by June 2021. 

307. In addition to restructuring its program offerings, LU plans to increase academic-related 

revenue streams by implementing various measures, including: 

(a) expanding LU’s continuing education and micro-credential offerings, commencing 

in Spring 2021 which will include additional options for post-graduate training, 

professional development, summer youth camps, bridge programs for university 

admission, customized training programs for employers, specialized opportunities 

related to leadership, management, health and wellness, Indigenous culture and 

Francophone culture.  LU has set a revenue goal for this expansion, net of costs, of 

$1.5 million for 2023; 

(b) developing and enhancing business partnerships in order to deliver programs that 

meet the needs of businesses and the general public in collaboration with other 

postsecondary institutions in the Greater Sudbury area and employers; 
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(c) continuing to focus on the attraction and retention of international students, 

including a focus on competitive international tuition rates to attract and grow 

Francophone enrolment; 

(d) restructuring student services under the leadership of AVP Student Affairs and 

AVP Student Experience, with an aligned focus on recruitment, admissions, health 

and well-being, pedagogical support and increased opportunities for lifelong 

learning; 

(e) focusing on student success, leading to strong employment outcomes that will grow 

student demand, including bilingual and Francophone students;  

(f) implementing a new marketing plan, focused on student recruitment, retention, and 

ancillary operations including targeted recruitment and retention strategies to 

increase domestic and international student enrolment (both undergraduate and 

graduate), with a minimum goal of maintaining current levels of student enrolment 

to counterbalance the declining regional demographic trends; 

(g) continuing to build partnerships with other postsecondary institutions both within 

Canada and internationally to expand articulation opportunities; 

(h) growing philanthropic revenues to support student scholarships and strategic 

priorities/initiatives; and 

(i) reducing LU’s space footprint by a minimum of 20% from current occupancy 

which will create opportunities for revenue generation. 
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IX. RELIEF BEING SOUGHT 

A. Stay of Proceedings and Limited Exemptions 

308. Given LU’s current financial situation, LU requires a broad of stay of proceedings, 

including the stay of pre-filing amounts for goods, services, and principal and interest debt 

obligations, to provide it with the breathing room required to restructure.  I am advised by 

external counsel that the stay of proceedings sought is consistent with the Model Initial 

Order commonly used in CCAA proceedings, subject to certain exemptions described 

below. 

309. As a publicly-funded university, LU is subject to information requests in respect of the 

Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (“FIPPA”).  In the ordinary course, 

these requests are handled by the Office of the University Secretary and General Counsel.  

It is expected that one by-product of the CCAA proceeding will be an extraordinary influx 

of FIPPA requests.  LU’s human and financial resources are extremely thin, due in part to 

reductions undertaken over the past several years as a cost-cutting measure.  LU’s already-

thin resources are stretched further by the demands of its insolvency, this CCAA 

proceeding and the “real-time” nature of responses required to extensive information and 

documentation requests from our external advisors and stakeholders.  LU seeks an Order 

that the stay of proceedings will operate to suspend the requirement of LU to respond to 

existing and future FIPPA requests during the currency of the CCAA proceeding. 

310. If the stay of proceedings does not extend to FIPPA requests, the limited resources of LU 

will be further stressed during a critical time period that it needs to focus on its restructuring 

efforts.  This diversion of key resources could negatively affect LU’s ability to achieve a 

successful restructuring.  There are, and will continue to be, numerous means by which 
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interested parties can obtain full disclosure of all material facts throughout this CCAA 

proceeding.  That includes the website hosted by the Monitor, an extensive 

communications plan implemented by LU itself, access to up to date information on LU’s 

website, and through public statements, communications, Q&As and similar documents 

disseminated.  

Limited Stay for Students General Association 

311. As described herein, the finances and operations of LU are intertwined with certain entities 

that, while they are not related parties to LU, the commencement of proceedings under the 

CCAA may affect such parties.  At this time, LU believes that only one entity, the SGA, 

may be directly affected by the CCAA proceedings of LU due to the SGA’s credit facility 

in the amount of $8.5 million being guaranteed by LU.  At this time, LU seeks a limited 

stay of proceedings in favour of the SGA. 

312. The stay of proceedings in respect of the SGA is limited in nature in that it prevents any 

person from: (i) commencing proceedings against the SGA, (ii) terminating, repudiating, 

making any demand or otherwise altering any contractual relationships with the SGA or 

enforcing any rights or remedies, or (iii) discontinuing or ceasing to perform any 

obligations under any contractual agreements with the SGA, resulting from the 

commencement of CCAA proceeding by LU, the stay of proceedings granted to LU and 

any default or cross-default arising due to the foregoing. 

Stay of Interest Rate Swaps 

313. As previously described in the summary of LU’s financial health, LU entered into a series 

of interest rate swap transactions with RBC, TD and BMO.  In each of these swap 
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transactions, LU has agreed to pay a fixed rate of interest that varies between 4% to 5% on 

a notional principal amount and LU receives a variable rate of interest a notional principal 

amount based on CDOR. 

314. Due to the low interest rate environment in Canada at this time and the decrease in the 

Bank of Canada’s Prime Rate in 2020, the net effect of the interest rate swap transactions 

is that LU is required to pay approximately $341,764.22 per month, or approximately $4.1 

million annually. 

315. Given LU’s current financial situation, LU seeks relief in the Initial Order confirming that 

the payment of any post-filing net amounts payable pursuant to the interest rate swap 

transactions is not permitted during the CCAA proceedings.  For clarity, LU is not seeking 

to amend the swap transactions.  Instead, LU simply seeks to stay payment of the net 

interest payment amounts. 

Exemptions to the Stay of Certain Pre-filing Amounts 

316. At its core, LU exists because of its students who attend the university and LU must make 

every effort to protect its students or suffer the irreparable result that it has a restructured 

university with no students to teach. 

317. LU seeks to permit the payment of all outstanding amounts in respect of the current 2020-

21 academic year and future amounts owing in respect of rebates, refunds or other amounts 

that are owing or may be owed to students or the student associations of LU, whether such 

amounts are as a result of the reimbursement of tuition fees, ancillary fees or otherwise.  

LU also seeks to permit the continued payment of pre-filing and post-filing amounts 
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payable in respect of scholarship, bursary or grants.  This exemption is limited as long as 

any such rebates, refunds or other amounts are in accordance with LU’s existing policies 

and procedures. 

318. This exemption is intended to apply to students of LU and students who take courses 

offered by the Federated Universities (but are LU students). 

319. LU intends on operating in the ordinary course during the CCAA proceeding and 

minimizing the disruption to students as much as possible. To facilitate this, LU must be 

able to process certain rebates owing to students and continue to provide students with 

scholarship and bursary money, which is a critical payment for students in need of financial 

aid.  Students represent a particularly vulnerable population in terms of their age and the 

academic pressures they face, in addition to the added stress that remote learning and 

reduced interaction and services due to COVID has had. 

B. Appointment of the Monitor 

320. On August 28, 2020, the Board approved the engagement of EY as financial advisor to LU 

through a competitive process led by external counsel to LU.  EY was engaged by the 

Board as financial advisor to assist LU in its restructuring efforts and if necessary, act as 

the Court-appointed Monitor of LU should LU decide to seek protection under the CCAA.  

The engagement letter was signed by EY and LU on September 4, 2020. 

321. EY (the “Proposed Monitor”) has consented to act as the Court-appointed Monitor of the 

Applicant, subject to its consent to any form of order of appointment that may be approved 

by the Court.  A copy of EY’s consent is attached hereto as Exhibit “GGG”.  I am advised 

by Sharon Hamilton of EY that EY is a “trustee” within the meaning of section 2 of the 

121



 - 100 -

BIA, and is not subject to any of the restrictions on who may be appointed as Monitor set 

out in section 11.7(2) of the CCAA. 

C. Appointment of Mediator 

322. In order for this restructuring to be successful, difficult negotiations are required with 

multiple stakeholders in a condensed period of time before LU runs out of cash.  As a result 

of this dynamic, the Applicant is of the view that the best way to proceed is through court-

supervised mediation in order to advance such negotiations and reach an outcome that 

results in a financially sustainable university. 

323. LU will be seeking the appointment of a neutral third-party mediator (the “Court-

Appointed Mediator”).  At the outset, the Applicant expects the Court-Appointed 

Mediator to assist with: (i) negotiations related to the review and restructuring of the 

academic programs of the Academic, and (ii) the collective agreement between the 

Applicant and LUFA.  However, the Court-Appointed Mediator’s mandate will not be 

limited to such roles and will assist with any other issues that cannot be resolved 

consensually among the stakeholders and the Applicant. 

324. The Applicant’s counsel recently reached out to one party to canvass the possibility of 

being put forward as a proposed mediator, if appointed by the Court.  That party’s existing 

schedule did not permit them to undertake the role and intense time commitment that would 

be required through February, March and April.  In our view, the need for the appointment 

of a mediator by the Court is urgent and a highest priority item, given the timeframes 

involved if key aspects of a restructuring can be effected. 
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325. The Applicant’s relations with LUFA are strained at this time, and I am of the view that a 

fresh start in the negotiations within a court-supervised mediation setting will allow the 

parties to engage in open discussions with the benefit of all financial and other information 

that will provide the best framework for success.   In my view, regardless of the skills and 

experience of any party that may be proposed by the Applicant to be appointed by the Court 

as mediator, such proposal will unfortunately face fierce objections from LUFA.  I am 

concerned that valuable time will be lost in debating or objecting to the identity of the 

mediator, when there is virtually no time that can be lost in the process.  It is critically 

important that the court-supervised mediation commence forthwith, in order to allow any 

outcome to be implemented within the availability of DIP Facility, with faculty and 

program changes that can be implemented for the Fall 2021 academic calendar, and with 

key messages of stability to students for their continued education at LU being available. 

326. I believe that, in order to avoid any debates by stakeholders as to personal preferences, 

claims of bias or any other basis for objection, it would be most appropriate for the Court 

to identify and appoint a Mediator of its choosing at the earliest opportunity.  In the 

Applicant’s view, certain criteria that would be helpful in view of the issues to be addressed 

through mediation would be someone who is:  bilingual, has experience in insolvency 

matters, is familiar with collective agreements and labour negotiations, and has the time 

available in their schedule to commit to an intensive schedule over the months of February, 

March and April.  A sitting or recently-retired judge would be welcome, and in the case of 

a sitting judge, would not result in the costs being paid from the Applicant’s strained cash 

position. 
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D. Administration Charge 

327. The Applicant seeks a super-priority charge (the “Administration Charge”) on the 

Property (as defined in the draft Initial Order) to secure the fees and disbursements incurred 

in connection with services rendered to LU both before and after the commencement of the 

CCAA proceedings by counsel and advisors to LU, the Proposed Monitor, counsel to the 

Proposed Monitor and independent counsel to the Board.  During the initial ten days until 

the comeback hearing, the Applicant seeks the Administration Charge up to the maximum 

amount of $400,000, consistent with the first ten days in the Cash Flow Forecast.  At the 

comeback hearing, the Applicant will seek to increase the Administration Charge up to 

$1.25 million, representing the estimated restructuring costs for a one-month period. 

328. It is contemplated that each of the aforementioned parties: (i) will have extensive 

involvement during the CCAA proceedings; (ii) have contributed and will continue to 

contribute to the restructuring of LU; and (iii) will ensure that there is no unnecessary 

duplication of roles among the parties. 

329. I understand that the Proposed Monitor has reviewed the proposed quantum of the 

Administration Charge and is of the view that it is reasonable and appropriate in the 

circumstances given the contemplated work required to be completed during the pendency 

of the CCAA proceedings and the services provided and to be provided by the beneficiaries 

of the Administration Charge. 

E. Directors’ Charge 

330. To provide LU with continued direction during the CCAA proceedings, LU believes that 

the continued participation of the members of the Board would be helpful in this CCAA 

proceeding.  None of the Board members receive remuneration for acting, and each brings 
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a unique perspective to the bilingual and tricultural nature of the university’s operations. 

The volunteer nature of a directorship in a non-share corporation such as LU distinguishes 

it from a directorship in a typical OBCA or CBCA share capital corporation, where 

directors are typically both compensated and insured under their own policy. The 

Directors’ Charge will also secure the fees of independent counsel to the Board. 

331. There is a concern that the members of the Board may discontinue their services during 

this restructuring unless the Initial order grants the Directors’ Charge to secure LU’s 

indemnity obligations to the directors and officers that arise post-filing in respect of 

potential personal statutory liabilities. 

332. The Applicant’s payroll is approximately $11 million per month, and is payable once each 

month with some limited exceptions.   

i. Insurance Policies 

333. LU maintains an educational errors and omissions liability insurance policy with Canadian 

Universities Reciprocal Insurance Exchange (“CURIE”) (the “E&O Policy”), which 

renews annually on January 1.  The E&O Policy provides coverage for up to $5,000,000 

in respect of claims for “wrongful acts”, as defined under the E&O Policy, save and except 

for claims for “wrongful acts” in respect of terrorism, cyber risk and asbestos, which limit 

is only $3,000,000.  It is notable that since the E&O Policy is only an errors and omissions 

policy, the E&O Policy expressly excludes, among others, the following categories of 

claim: (i) employee benefits, (ii) breach of contract, (iii) employment-related practices, 

including consequential losses, and (iv) tuition, fees or rents. 
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334. In addition, LU also maintains an excess liability insurance policy from CURIE (the 

“Excess Policy”).  The Excess Policy provides increased coverage for up to $45 million 

for each claim in excess of the $5 million covered under the E&O Policy. 

335. The proposed Initial Order contemplates that the Directors’ Charge will be in the amount 

of $2 million.  The Applicant worked with the Proposed Monitor in determining the 

proposed quantum of the Directors’ Charge and believes that the Directors’ Charge is 

reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances.  The Director’s Charge is proposed to 

rank behind the Administration Charge.  At the comeback hearing, the Applicant proposes 

that the Directors’ Charge will rank in priority to the DIP Lender’s Charge up to the 

maximum amount of $2 million, with an additional amount that will rank subordinate to 

the DIP Lender’s Charge. 

336. The Proposed Monitor supports the granting of the Directors’ Charge and will expand on 

such support for the Directors’ Charge in its pre-filing report to the Court. 

337. The directors and officers of LU do not know whether CURIE will seek to deny coverage 

on the basis that the E&O Policy and the Excess Policy do not cover particular claims 

(specifically in circumstances where the E&O Policy excludes claims commonly asserted 

against directors and officers of insolvent corporations and those that could be reasonably 

anticipated in this insolvency proceeding) or that coverage limits have been exhausted. 

338. LU may not have sufficient funds available to satisfy any contractual indemnities to the 

directors or officers should the directors or officers need to call upon those indemnities.  It 

is proposed that the Directors’ Charge will only be engaged if the E&O Policy or Excess 

Policy, if applicable, fail to respond to a claim. 
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F. DIP Financing and DIP Lender’s Charge 

339. At the initial hearing for the commencement of these CCAA proceedings, LU will not be 

seeking approval of the DIP financing. 

340. At the comeback hearing, LU will seek to have the DIP Term Sheet and the DIP financing 

approved.  As demonstrated by the Cash Flow Forecast, LU forecasts that it will require an 

amount of up to $25 million of DIP financing during the first thirteen weeks of these CCAA 

proceedings. 

341. During its contingency planning process, LU, with the assistance of its external legal 

counsel, canvassed the market for interim financing and evaluated competing offers.  In 

order to preserve confidentiality, LU’s counsel required potential lenders to execute a 

redacted form of Non-Disclosure Agreement (“NDA”) prior to having LU’s identity 

disclosed to them and prior to receiving any information in respect of LU.  Once the 

redacted NDA was executed by the potential lender, external counsel to LU provided the 

potential lender with an unredacted form of NDA and requested that it be executed as well. 

342. In December 2020, four potential external lenders were contacted by LU’s counsel and 

each executed the applicable two forms of NDA.  Beginning in December 2020, the 

potential lenders were granted access to a virtual data room containing certain information 

and documents that may be relevant to interim financing and external counsel convened 

telephone calls with these lenders.  The data room was updated at various times with 

additional information. 
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343. The potential lenders requested and reviewed additional due diligence materials as 

necessary and were invited to submit interim financing term sheet proposals.  Three non-

binding term sheets were received from the four potential lenders originally contacted. 

344. In January, LU, through its external counsel, also reached out to four additional parties 

(including three of LU’s existing lenders) to see if those parties wished to provide DIP 

financing. 

345. Following this process, LU identified two proposals for DIP financing as being superior to 

all others received by LU.  LU engaged in further negotiations with the potential lenders 

in respect of the terms of their DIP financing proposals. 

346. For the reasons described below, with the assistance of counsel and on an informed basis 

and in good faith with a view to the best interests of LU and its stakeholders, LU selected 

the DIP facility (the “DIP Facility”) offered by Firm Capital Corporation (“FCC”). 

347. LU has negotiated and is seeking Court approval of the DIP Facility, described in more 

detail below, and a charge over the Property (defined below) securing the DIP Facility (the 

“DIP Lender’s Charge”), as further described in the Term Sheet between LU and FCC 

dated January 29, 2021 (the “DIP Term Sheet”) attached as Exhibit “HHH” hereto.  I am 

advised by LU’s external counsel Thornton Grout Finnigan LLP that subsequent to 

execution of the DIP Term Sheet, FCC will be assigning its interest to Firm Capital 

Mortgage Fund Inc. (the “DIP Lender”).  In addition to addressing LU’s short-term 

liquidity issues, approval of the DIP Facility will provide assurance to LU’s suppliers, 

employees, students and other stakeholders that LU has the necessary funds to continue 

operating during this CCAA proceeding. 
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348. The salient terms of the DIP Term Sheet are as follows: 

(a) the DIP Lender will make available to LU two advances of up to a maximum 

amount of $25 million; 

(b) the DIP Facility has a maturity date of May 1, 2021, which maturity date may be 

extended if LU achieves the following milestones, to the satisfaction of the DIP 

Lender in its sole and unfettered discretion: 

(i) LU enters into a negotiated settlement with LUFA with respect to the terms 

of a collective agreement between LUFA and LU; 

(ii) LU reaches a consensus among all necessary stakeholders on an academic 

restructuring of LU’s program offerings; and 

(iii) LU provides the DIP Lender with a revised cash flow forecast and a multi-

year budget demonstrating to the DIP Lender, in its sole and unfettered 

discretion, that LU is financially sustainable; 

(c) interest accrues on the outstanding indebtedness at a rate that is the greater of 8.50% 

per annum or the TD Canada Trust Posted Bank Prime Rate of Interest plus 6.05% 

per annum, which amounts are reflected in the Cash Flow Forecast; 

(d) a Commitment Fee of $500,000 that is earned and payable to the DIP Lender on 

the date that the Court approves the DIP Facility; 

(e) all amounts outstanding under the DIP Facility shall be secured by a charge on all 

of the current and future assets, undertakings and property of LU pursuant to a 

court-approved, super-priority charge (the “DIP Lender’s Charge”) that is only 

subordinate to: (i) the Administration Charge  up to the maximum of $1.25 million; 
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(ii) the Directors’ Charge up to the maximum of $2 million (with such further 

amount to be subordinate to the DIP Lender’s Charge); and (iii) any valid purchase 

money security interests, including the registrations made under the Personal 

Property Security Act (Ontario); 

(f) the DIP Facility is conditional on, among other things, LU obtaining a court order 

approving the DIP Term Sheet and the DIP Facility; and 

(g) customary reporting covenants given the size of the DIP Facility and the third party 

nature of the DIP Lender. 

349. The DIP Lender has requested a definitive DIP loan agreement to formally document the 

terms and conditions of the DIP Facility.  Prior to the comeback hearing, the Applicant and 

the DIP Lender will negotiate and finalize the DIP Loan Agreement. 

350. It is necessary to obtain the DIP Facility to support the costs to be incurred by LU after the 

commencement of the CCAA proceeding, as LU will not be further utilizing its existing 

unsecured lines of credit and has no other cash reserves on which to draw.  The DIP Facility 

will allow LU to continue to operate in the ordinary course and will allow LU the 

opportunity to undertake its operational restructuring. 

351. LU will access the DIP Facility in two tranches.  One will be shortly after the comeback 

hearing and the second is expected to be 30-45 days afterwards, based on the cash needs 

of LU. 

352. If a successful restructuring with LU’s Unions and other stakeholders can be achieved by 

April, 2021, LU expects that it will seek this Court’s approval for exit financing that would 
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allow LU’s operations to return to a position of sustainability, and to fund any payments to 

be made under a Plan of Arrangement. 

G. Ranking of Court-Ordered Charges 

353. During the first ten days of the CCAA proceedings, the Applicant proposes ranking the 

Administration Charge and the Directors’ Charge (collectively, the “CCAA Charges”) as 

follows: 

(a) first, the Administration Charge initially up to a maximum amount of $400,000; 

and 

(b) second, the Directors’ Charge initially up to a maximum amount of $2,000,000. 

354. During the first ten days of the CCAA proceedings until the comeback hearing, the CCAA 

Charges are proposed to rank in priority to all other security interests, trusts, liens, 

construction liens, charges and encumbrances, except for any person who is a “secured 

creditor” as defined in the CCAA that has not been served with the Notice of Application. 

355. At the comeback hearing, the Applicant proposes ranking the CCAA Charges, including 

the DIP Lender’s Charge, as follows: 

(a) first, the Administration Charge, which is proposed to be increased up to a 

maximum amount of $1,250,000; 

(b) second, the Directors’ Charge up to a maximum amount of $2,000,000; 

(c) third, the DIP Lender’s Charge, up to a maximum amount of $25,000,000; and 

(d) fourth, the balance of the Director’s Charge, up to a maximum amount of 

$3,000,000, 
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Court File No. CV-21-______________________-00CL 

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

COMMERCIAL LIST 

THE HONOURABLE CHIEF 

JUSTICE MORAWETZ 

) 
) 
) 

MONDAY, THE 1ST  

DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2021 

 
IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, 

R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED 
 

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF  
LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY 

 
Applicant 

INITIAL ORDER 

THIS APPLICATION, made by the Applicant pursuant to the Companies' Creditors 

Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended (the “CCAA”), was heard this day by 

videoconference via Zoom in Toronto, Ontario due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

ON READING the affidavit of Dr. Robert Haché sworn January 30, 2021 and the 

Exhibits thereto (the “Haché Affidavit”), the pre-filing report of the proposed monitor, Ernst & 

Young Inc. (“EY”), dated January 30, 2021 (the “Pre-Filing Report”), and on hearing the 

submissions of counsel for the Applicant, counsel for EY and those other parties listed on the 

Counsel Slip, and on reading the consent of EY to act as the monitor (the “Monitor”); 
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SERVICE AND DEFINITIONS 

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Application and the 

Application Record is hereby abridged and validated so that this Application is properly 

returnable today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof. 

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that capitalized terms used herein that are not otherwise 

defined shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Haché Affidavit. 

NON-APPLICANT STAY PARTY 

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Laurentian University Students General Association 

(the “SGA”) shall be referred to herein as a “Non-Applicant Stay Party”.  Although not an 

applicant under the CCAA, the Non-Applicant Stay Party shall enjoy certain of the benefits and 

protections provided herein and be subject to the restrictions as expressly hereunder set out. 

APPLICATION 

4. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the Applicant is insolvent and is a 

company to which the CCAA applies. 

POSSESSION OF PROPERTY AND OPERATIONS 

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall remain in possession and control of its 

current and future assets, undertakings and properties of every nature and kind whatsoever, and 

wherever situate including all proceeds thereof (the “Property”).  Subject to further Order of this 

Court, the Applicant shall continue to carry on business and deal with its assets, including the 

businesses and assets of the other entities, partnerships and joint ventures in which the Applicant 

has a direct or indirect interest, and is authorized to continue to provide services to such parties 

in respect of which it is currently providing services, in a manner consistent with the preservation 

of its business (the “Business”) and Property.  The Applicant is authorized and empowered to 

continue to retain and employ the employees, consultants, agents, experts, accountants, counsel 

and such other persons (collectively “Assistants”) currently retained or employed by it, with 

liberty to retain such further Assistants as it deems reasonably necessary or desirable in the 

ordinary course of business or for the carrying out of the terms of this Order. 

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall be entitled to continue to use the cash 

management system currently in place, as described in the Haché Affidavit, which for greater 
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certainty includes any segregated bank accounts now existing (together with any segregated 

accounts established pursuant to paragraph 7, the “Cash Management System”), and that any 

present or future bank or institution providing the Cash Management System to the Applicant 

shall not be under any obligation whatsoever to inquire into the propriety, validity or legality of 

any transfer, payment, collection or other action taken under the Cash Management System, or as 

to the use or application by the Applicant of funds transferred, paid, collected or otherwise dealt 

with in the Cash Management System, shall be entitled to provide the Cash Management System 

without any liability in respect thereof to any Person (as hereinafter defined) other than the 

Applicant, pursuant to the terms of the documentation applicable to the Cash Management 

System, except to the extent that such terms are expressly modified by this Order or with the 

consent of the Applicant, the Monitor and any applicable bank or financial institution providing a 

Cash Management System, and shall be, solely in its capacity as provider of the Cash 

Management System only, an unaffected creditor under any plan or arrangement filed by the 

Applicant under the CCAA with regard to any claims or expenses it may suffer or incur in 

connection with the provision of the Cash Management System on or after the date of this Order. 

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that (a) any segregated bank accounts established by the 

Applicant from and after December 1, 2020, to hold funds received by it on the condition that 

such funds be used for a specific purpose in respect of a particular aspect of the Applicant’s 

Business, including without limitation, funds provided to the Applicant for the purpose of 

research projects (including grants, awards or other similar funds), funds received in respect of 

restricted donations or endowments, and employee and employer contributions to benefit plans 

(collectively, the “Segregated Funds”) shall be used for such specific purpose, and (b) from and 

after the date of this Order, the Applicant may establish additional segregated bank accounts, 

including trust accounts if necessary, to hold any additional Segregated Funds that are received 

by the Applicant under such agreed upon arrangements, and the Segregated Funds shall not form 

part of the Applicant’s Property. 

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall be entitled but not required to pay the 

following expenses whether incurred prior to, on or after the date of this Order: 

(a) all outstanding and future wages, salaries, employee and retiree benefits (including, 

without limitation, employee medical, dental, vision, insurance and similar benefit 
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plans or arrangements), amounts owing under corporate credit cards issued to 

management and employees of the Applicant, ordinary course pension benefits or 

contributions, vacation pay, expenses and any director fees and expenses, payable on 

or after the date of this Order, in each case for costs incurred in the ordinary course of 

business and consistent with existing practices, compensation policies and 

arrangements for current and future employees (but not including any payments to 

former employees or retirees in respect of the SuRP and the RHBP, as such terms are 

defined in the Haché Affidavit, or termination or severance payments, which are 

hereby stayed), and all other payroll processing and servicing expenses; 

(b) all outstanding amounts owing in respect of the current 2020-21 academic year and 

future amounts owing in respect of rebates, refunds or other similar amounts that are 

owing or may be owed to students or student associations of the Applicant, whether 

such amounts are as a result of the reimbursement of tuition fees, ancillary fees or 

otherwise, provided that such rebates, refunds or other similar amounts are subject to 

the existing policies and procedures of the Applicant; 

(c) all outstanding amounts owing in respect of the current 2020-21 academic year and 

future amounts payable to students in respect of student scholarship, bursary or 

grants; and 

(d) the fees and disbursements of any Assistants retained or employed by the Applicant 

in respect of these proceedings, at their standard rates and charges. 

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as otherwise provided to the contrary herein, the 

Applicant shall be entitled but not required to pay all reasonable expenses incurred by the 

Applicant in carrying on the Business in the ordinary course after the date of this Order, and in 

carrying out the provisions of this Order, which expenses shall include, without limitation: 

(a) all expenses and capital expenditures reasonably necessary for the preservation of the 

Property or the Business (including the value thereof) including, without limitation, 

payments on account of insurance (including directors and officers’ insurance), 

maintenance and security services; and 
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(b) payment for goods or services actually supplied to the Applicant following the date of 

this Order or payments to obtain the release of goods or delivery of services 

contracted for prior to the date of this Order. 

10. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall remit, in accordance with legal 

requirements, or pay: 

(a) until further order of this Court, all outstanding and future normal course 

contributions to or payments in respect of the Pension Plan, as defined in the Haché 

Affidavit, in the ordinary course of business and consistent with existing 

compensation policies and arrangements; 

(b) any statutory deemed trust amounts in favour of the Crown in right of Canada or of 

any Province thereof or any other taxation authority which are required to be 

deducted from employees’ wages, including, without limitation, amounts in respect of 

(i) employment insurance, (ii) Canada Pension Plan, and (iii) income taxes; 

(c) all goods and services or other applicable sales taxes (collectively, “Sales Taxes”) 

required to be remitted by the Applicant in connection with the sale of goods and 

services by the Applicant, but only where such Sales Taxes are accrued or collected 

after the date of this Order, or where such Sales Taxes were accrued or collected prior 

to the date of this Order but not required to be remitted until on or after the date of 

this Order, and 

(d) any amount payable to the Crown in right of Canada or of any Province thereof or 

any political subdivision thereof or any other taxation authority in respect of 

municipal realty, municipal business or other taxes, assessments or levies of any 

nature or kind which are entitled at law to be paid in priority to claims of secured 

creditors and which are attributable to or in respect of the carrying on of the Business 

by the Applicant. 

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as specifically permitted herein, the Applicant is 

hereby directed, until further Order of this Court: (a) to make no payments of principal, interest 

thereon or otherwise on account of amounts owing by the Applicant to any of its creditors as of 
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the date of this Order (including for greater certainty in respect of the interest rate swap 

transactions); (b) to grant no security interests, trust, liens, charges or encumbrances upon or in 

respect of any of its Property; and (c) to not grant credit or incur liabilities except in the ordinary 

course of the Business. 

RESTRUCTURING 

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall, subject to such requirements as are 

imposed by the CCAA, have the right to continue negotiations with stakeholders in an effort to 

pursue all restructuring options. 

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE APPLICANT OR THE PROPERTY 

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that until and including February 11, 2021, or such later date 

as this Court may subsequently order (the “Stay Period”), no proceeding or enforcement process 

in or out of any court or tribunal or other forum, whether arising by contract (including pursuant 

to any collective agreement) or otherwise (each, a “Proceeding”) shall be commenced or 

continued against or in respect of the Applicant or the Monitor, or affecting the Business or the 

Property, except with the written consent of the Applicant and the Monitor, or with leave of this 

Court. 

NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES 

14. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all rights and remedies of any 

individual, firm, corporation, governmental body or agency, or any other entities (all of the 

foregoing, collectively being “Persons” and each being a “Person”) against or in respect of the 

Applicant or the Monitor, or affecting the Business or the Property, are hereby stayed and 

suspended, except with the written consent of the Applicant and the Monitor, or leave of this 

Court, provided that nothing in this Order shall: 

(a) empower the Applicant to carry on any business which the Applicant is not lawfully 

entitled to carry on; 

(b) exempt the Applicant from compliance with any statutory or regulatory provisions 

relating to health, safety or the environment; 
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(c) affect such investigations, actions, suits or proceedings by a regulatory body as are 

specifically permitted by Section 11.1 of the CCAA; 

(d) prevent the filing of any registration to preserve or perfect a security interest; 

(e) prevent the registration of a claim for lien; or 

(f) prevent any actions that are permitted by Section 34(8) of the CCAA. 

LIMITED STAY IN RESPECT OF THE NON-APPLICANT STAY PARTY 

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, no Person shall (a) commence or 

continue any Proceeding or enforcement process, (b) terminate, repudiate, make any demand, 

accelerate, alter, amend, declare in default, exercise any options, rights or remedies, or (c) 

discontinue, fail to honour, alter, interfere with or cease to perform any obligation, pursuant to or 

in respect of any agreement, lease, sublease, license or permit with respect to which the Non-

Applicant Stay Party is a party, borrower, principal obligor or guarantor, by reason of: 

(a) the Applicant being insolvent or having made an application to this Court under the 

CCAA; 

(b) the Applicant being a party to this proceeding or taking any steps related thereto; or 

(c) the stay granted pursuant to this paragraph 15; and 

(d) any default or cross-default arising from the matters set out in the foregoing 

subparagraphs, 

except with the written consent of the Applicant and the Monitor, or with leave of this Court. 

NO INTERFERENCE WITH RIGHTS 

16. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, no Person shall discontinue, fail to 

honour, alter, interfere with, repudiate, terminate or cease to perform any right, renewal right, 

contract, agreement, lease, sublease, licence or permit in favour of or held by the Applicant or 

the Non-Applicant Stay Party or take any steps to interrupt or interfere with the operation of the 
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Business or the continued use of the Property of the Applicant, except with the written consent of 

the Applicant and the Monitor, or leave of this Court. 

CONTINUATION OF SERVICES 

17. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all Persons having oral or written 

agreements with the Applicant or statutory or regulatory mandates for the supply of goods and/or 

services, including without limitation all computer software, communication and other data 

services, centralized banking services, insurance, transportation services, utility or other services 

to the Business or the Applicant, are hereby restrained until further Order of this Court from 

discontinuing, altering, interfering with or terminating the supply of such goods or services as 

may be required by the Applicant, and that the Applicant shall be entitled to the continued use of 

its current premises, telephone numbers, facsimile numbers, internet addresses and domain 

names, provided in each case that the normal prices or charges for all such goods or services 

received after the date of this Order are paid by the Applicant in accordance with normal 

payment practices of the Applicant or such other practices as may be agreed upon by the supplier 

or service provider and the Applicant and the Monitor, or as may be ordered by this Court.  

NON-DEROGATION OF RIGHTS 

18. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding anything else in this Order, no Person 

shall be prohibited from requiring immediate payment for goods, services, use of lease or 

licensed property or other valuable consideration provided on or after the date of this Order, nor 

shall any Person be under any obligation on or after the date of this Order to advance or re-

advance any monies or otherwise extend any credit to the Applicant. Nothing in this Order shall 

derogate from the rights conferred and obligations imposed by the CCAA. 

PROCEEDINGS AGAINST DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

19. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, and except as permitted by 

subsection 11.03(2) of the CCAA, no Proceeding may be commenced or continued against any 

of the current or future directors or officers of the Applicant, including the members of the Board 

of Governors of the Applicant (the “Board”) with respect to any claim against the directors, 

officers or the Board that arose before the date of this Order and that relates to any obligations of 

the Applicant whereby the directors, officers or the Board are alleged under any law to be liable 

in their capacity as directors or officers for the payment or performance of such obligations, until 
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a compromise or arrangement in respect of the Applicant, if one is filed, is sanctioned by this 

Court or is refused by the creditors of the Applicant or this Court. 

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INDEMNIFICATION AND CHARGE 

20. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall indemnify its directors, officers and 

the Board against obligations and liabilities that they may incur as directors or officers of the 

Applicant after the commencement of the within proceedings, except to the extent that, with 

respect to any officer, director or member of the Board, the obligation or liability was incurred as 

a result of the director’s or officer’s gross negligence or wilful misconduct. 

21. THIS COURT ORDERS that the directors, officers and Board of the Applicant shall be 

entitled to the benefit of and are hereby granted a charge (the “Directors’ Charge”) on the 

Property, which charge shall not exceed an aggregate amount of $2,000,000, as security for the 

indemnity provided in paragraph 20 of this Order. The Directors’ Charge shall have the priority 

set out in paragraphs 32 and 34 herein. 

22. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any language in any applicable 

insurance policy to the contrary, (a) no insurer shall be entitled to be subrogated to or claim the 

benefit of the Directors’ Charge, and (b) the Applicant’s directors, officers and the Board shall 

only be entitled to the benefit of the Directors’ Charge to the extent that they do not have 

coverage under any applicable insurance policy, or to the extent that such coverage is insufficient 

to pay amounts indemnified in accordance with paragraph 20 of this Order. 

APPOINTMENT OF MONITOR 

23. THIS COURT ORDERS that Ernst & Young Inc. is hereby appointed pursuant to the 

CCAA as the Monitor, an officer of this Court, to monitor the business and financial affairs of 

the Applicant with the powers and obligations set out in the CCAA or set forth herein and that 

the Applicant and its officers, directors, and Assistants shall advise the Monitor of all material 

steps taken by the Applicant pursuant to this Order, and shall co-operate fully with the Monitor 

in the exercise of its powers and discharge of its obligations and provide the Monitor with the 

assistance that is necessary to enable the Monitor to adequately carry out the Monitor’s 

functions. 
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24. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, in addition to its prescribed rights and 

obligations under the CCAA, is hereby directed and empowered to: 

(a) monitor the Applicant’s receipts and disbursements; 

(b) report to this Court at such times and intervals as the Monitor may deem appropriate 

with respect to matters relating to the Property, the Business and such other matters as 

may be relevant to the proceedings herein; 

(c) advise the Applicant in the preparation of the Applicant’s cash flow statements and 

any other reporting to the Court or otherwise; 

(d) be at liberty to participate in discussions with representatives of the Ministry of 

Colleges and Universities (“MCU”) and such other representatives of Provincial or 

Federal government agencies, at any time on all aspects of this proceeding and the 

Applicant’s restructuring, subject to such terms of confidentiality as may be 

appropriate in the Monitor’s assessment and in consultation with the Applicant; 

(e) have full and complete access to the Property, including the premises, books, records, 

data, including data in electronic form, and other financial documents of the 

Applicant, wherever situate, in order to assess the Applicant’s business and financial 

affairs or to perform its duties arising under this Order; 

(f) be at liberty to engage independent legal counsel or such other persons as the Monitor 

deems necessary or advisable respecting the exercise of its powers and performance 

of its obligations under this Order; and 

(g) perform such other duties as are required by this Order or by this Court from time to 

time. 

25. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall not take possession of the Property of 

the Applicant, or any property of the Non-Applicant Stay Party, and shall take no part 

whatsoever in the management or supervision of the management of the Business and shall not, 

by fulfilling its obligations hereunder, be deemed to have taken or maintained possession or 

control of the Business or Property, or any part thereof. 
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26. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Monitor to 

occupy or to take control, care, charge, possession or management (separately and/or 

collectively, “Possession”) of any of the Property that might be environmentally contaminated, 

might be a pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or contribute to a spill, discharge, release 

or deposit of a substance contrary to any federal, provincial or other law respecting the 

protection, conservation, enhancement, remediation or rehabilitation of the environment or 

relating to the disposal of waste or other contamination including, without limitation, the 

Canadian Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario 

Water Resources Act, or the Ontario Occupational Health and Safety Act and regulations 

thereunder (the “Environmental Legislation”), provided however that nothing herein shall 

exempt the Monitor from any duty to report or make disclosure imposed by applicable 

Environmental Legislation.  The Monitor shall not, as a result of this Order or anything done in 

pursuance of the Monitor’s duties and powers under this Order, be deemed to be in Possession of 

any of the Property within the meaning of any Environmental legislation, unless it is actually in 

possession. 

27. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall provide any creditor of the Applicant 

and the proposed DIP Lender with information provided by the Applicant in response to 

reasonable requests for information made in writing by such creditor addressed to the Monitor. 

The Monitor shall not have any responsibility or liability with respect to the information 

disseminated by it pursuant to this paragraph. In the case of information that the Monitor has 

been advised by the Applicant is confidential, the Monitor shall not provide such information to 

creditors unless otherwise directed by this Court or on such terms as the Monitor and the 

Applicant may agree. 

28. THIS COURT ORDERS that, in addition to the rights and protections afforded the 

Monitor under the CCAA or as an officer of this Court, the Monitor shall incur no liability or 

obligation as a result of its appointment or the carrying out of the provisions of this Order, save 

and except for any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part. Nothing in this Order shall 

derogate from the protections afforded the Monitor by the CCAA or any applicable legislation. 

29. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor and the Applicant’s 

counsel and advisors in connection with the CCAA proceedings (collectively, the “Restructuring 
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Advisors”) together with independent counsel to the Board (“Board Counsel”) shall each be 

paid their reasonable fees and disbursements, in each case at their standard rates and charges, 

whether incurred prior to or subsequent to the date of this Order, by the Applicant as part of the 

costs of these proceedings. The Applicant is hereby authorized and directed to pay the accounts 

of the Restructuring Advisors and Board Counsel.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the fees and 

disbursement of Board Counsel paid by the Applicant from and after the date of this Order shall 

not exceed the aggregate amount of $250,000, plus HST, pending further Order of the Court. 

30. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor and its legal counsel shall pass their accounts 

from time to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Monitor and its legal counsel are 

hereby referred to a judge of the Commercial List of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice. 

31. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Restructuring Advisors shall be entitled to the benefit 

of and are hereby granted a charge (the “Administration Charge”) on the Property, which 

charge shall not exceed an aggregate amount of $400,000, as security for their professional fees 

and disbursements incurred at the standard rates and charges of the Restructuring Advisors, both 

before and after the making of this Order in respect of these proceedings. The Administration 

Charge shall have the priority set out in paragraphs 32 and 34 hereof. 

VALIDITY AND PRIORITY OF CHARGES CREATED BY THIS ORDER 

32. THIS COURT ORDERS that the priorities of the Administration Charge and the 

Directors’ Charge (collectively, the “Charges” and each individually, a “Charge”) as among 

them, shall be as follows: 

First – Administration Charge (to the maximum amount of $400,000); and 

Second –Directors’ Charge (to the maximum amount of $2,000,000). 

33. THIS COURT ORDERS that the filing, registration or perfection of the Charges shall 

not be required, and that the Charges shall be valid and enforceable for all purposes, including as 

against any right, title or interest filed, registered, recorded or perfected subsequent to the 

Charges coming into existence, notwithstanding any such failure to file, register, record or 

perfect. 
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34. THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Charges shall constitute a charge on the 

Property and such Charges shall rank in priority to all other security interests, trusts, liens, 

construction liens, charges and encumbrances, claims of secured creditors, statutory or otherwise 

(collectively, “Encumbrances”) in favour of any Person, except for any Person who is a 

“secured creditor” as defined in the CCAA that has not been served with the Notice of 

Application for this Order. 

35. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall be entitled, on a subsequent 

attendance on notice to those Persons likely to be affected thereby, to seek an increase to the 

amounts, to seek additional charges and to seek priority of the Charges ahead of any 

Encumbrance over which the Charges have not obtained priority under this Order. 

36. THIS COURT ORDERS that except as otherwise expressly provided for herein, or as 

may be approved by this Court, the Applicant shall not grant any Encumbrances over any 

Property that rank in priority to, or pari passu with, any of the Charges, unless the Applicant also 

obtains the prior written consent of the Monitor and the beneficiaries of the Charges affected 

thereby (collectively, the “Chargees”), or further Order of this Court.  

37. THIS COURT ORDERS that any Charge created by this Order over leases of real 

property in Canada shall only be a Charge in the Applicant’s interest in such real property leases. 

38. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding anything else contained herein and 

pending further Order of the Court, the Property subject to the Charges herein shall not include 

the Segregated Accounts. 

SERVICE AND NOTICE 

39. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall (i) without delay, publish in the Globe 

& Mail and the Sudbury Star a notice containing the information prescribed under the CCAA, 

and (ii) within five days of the date of this Order, (A) make this Order publicly available in the 

manner prescribed under the CCAA, (B) send, in the prescribed manner, a notice to every known 

creditor who has a claim against the Applicant of more than $1,000 (excluding any individual 

employees, former employees with pension and/or retirement savings or benefits plan 

entitlements, and retirees and other beneficiaries who have entitlements under any pension or 

retirement savings plan), and (C) prepare a list showing the names and addresses of those 
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creditors and the estimated amounts of those claims, and make it publicly available in the 

prescribed manner, all in accordance with Section 23(1)(a) of the CCAA and the regulations 

made thereunder, provided that the Monitor shall not make the claims, names and addresses of 

individuals who are creditors publicly available, unless otherwise ordered by the Court. 

40. THIS COURT ORDERS that the E-Service Protocol of the Commercial List (the 

“Protocol”) is approved and adopted by reference herein and, in this proceeding, the service of 

documents made in accordance with the Protocol (which can be found on the Commercial List 

website at http://www.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/practice-directions/toronto/eservice-

commercial) shall be valid and effective service. Subject to Rule 17.05 of the Rules of Civil 

Procedure, this Order shall constitute an order for substituted service pursuant to Rule 16.04 of 

the Rules of Civil Procedure. Subject to Rule 3.01(d) of the Rules of Civil Procedure and 

paragraph 21 of the Protocol, service of documents in accordance with the Protocol will be 

effective on transmission. This Court further orders that a Case Website shall be established in 

accordance with the Protocol with the following URL: www.ey.com/ca/Laurentian. 

41. THIS COURT ORDERS that if the service or distribution of documents in accordance 

with the Protocol is not practicable, the Applicant and the Monitor are at liberty to serve or 

distribute this Order, any other materials and orders in these proceedings, any notices or other 

correspondence, by forwarding true copies thereof by prepaid ordinary mail, courier, personal 

delivery or facsimile transmission to the Applicant’s creditors or other interested parties at their 

respective addresses as last shown on the records of the Applicant and that any such service or 

distribution by courier, personal delivery or facsimile transmission shall be deemed to be 

received on the next business day following the date of forwarding thereof, or if sent by ordinary 

mail, on the third business day after mailing. 

42. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall create, maintain and update as 

necessary a list of all Persons appearing in person or by counsel in this proceeding (the “Service 

List”).  The Monitor shall post the Service List, as may be updated from time to time, on the case 

website as part of the public materials in relation to this proceeding.  Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, the Monitor shall have no liability in respect of the accuracy of or the timeliness of 

making any changes to the Service List. 
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43. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant and the Monitor and their respective 

counsel are at liberty to serve or distribute this Order, and other materials and orders as may be 

reasonably required in these proceedings, including any notices, or other correspondence, by 

forwarding true copies thereof by electronic message to the Applicant’s creditors or other 

interested parties and their advisors. For greater certainty, any such distribution or service shall 

be deemed to be in satisfaction of a legal or judicial obligation, and notice requirements within 

the meaning of clause 3(c) of the Electronic Commerce Protection Regulations, Reg. 81000-2-

175 (SOR/DORS). 

SEALING PROVISION 

44. THIS COURT ORDERS that Confidential Exhibits “EEE” and “FFF” of the Haché 

Affidavit are hereby sealed pending further order of the Court, and shall not form part of the 

public record. 

GENERAL 

45. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant or the Monitor may from time to time apply 

to this Court for advice and directions in the discharge of their powers and duties hereunder. 

46. THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court, tribunal, 

regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada or outside of Canada to give 

effect to this Order and to assist the Applicant, the Monitor and their respective agents in 

carrying out the terms of this Order. All courts, tribunals, regulatory and administrative bodies 

are hereby respectfully requested to make such orders and to provide such assistance to the 

Applicant and to the Monitor, as an officer of this Court, as may be necessary or desirable to give 

effect to this Order, to grant representative status to the Monitor in any foreign proceeding, or to 

assist the Applicant and the Monitor and their respective agents in carrying out the terms of this 

Order. 

47. THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Applicant and the Monitor be at liberty and is 

hereby authorized and empowered to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or administrative 

body, wherever located, for the recognition of this Order and for assistance in carrying out the 

terms of this Order, and that the Monitor is authorized and empowered to act as a representative 
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in respect of the within proceedings for the purpose of having these proceedings recognized in a 

jurisdiction outside Canada. 

48. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party (including the Applicant and the 

Monitor) may apply to this Court to vary or amend this Order on not less than seven (7) days 

notice to any other party or parties likely to be affected by the order sought or upon such other 

notice, if any, as this Court may order. 

49. THIS COURT ORDERS that this Order and all of its provisions are effective as of 

12:01 a.m. Eastern Time on the date of this Order, and is enforceable without any need for entry 

and filing. 

__________________________________ 
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Revised: January 21, 2014

Court File No.      CV-21-______________________-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

COMMERCIAL LIST

THE HONOURABLE      CHIEF

JUSTICE      MORAWETZ

)
)
)

WEEKDAYMONDAY, THE #1ST

DAY OF MONTHFEBRUARY, 20YR2021

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES'’ CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT,
R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF
[APPLICANT’S NAME] (the "

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY

Applicant")

INITIAL ORDER

THIS APPLICATION, made by the Applicant, pursuant to the Companies' Creditors

Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended (the "“CCAA"”), was heard this day at 330

University Avenue,by videoconference via Zoom in Toronto, Ontario due to the COVID-19

pandemic.

ON READING the affidavit of [NAME]Dr. Robert Haché sworn [DATE]January 30,

2021 and the Exhibits thereto, and on being advised that the secured creditors who are likely to

be affected by the charges created herein were given notice (the “Haché Affidavit”), the

pre-filing report of the proposed monitor, Ernst & Young Inc. (“EY”), dated January 30, 2021

(the “Pre-Filing Report”), and on hearing the submissions of counsel for [NAMES], no one

appearing for [NAME]1 although duly served as appears from the affidavit of service of [NAME]

sworn [DATE]the Applicant, counsel for EY and those other parties listed on the Counsel Slip,

and on reading the consent of [MONITOR’S NAME]EY to act as the monitor (the “Monitor,  ”);

1 Include names of secured creditors or other persons who must be served before certain relief in this model Order may 
be granted.  See, for example, CCAA Sections 11.2(1), 11.3(1), 11.4(1), 11.51(1), 11.52(1), 32(1), 32(3), 33(2) and 
36(2).
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SERVICE AND DEFINITIONS

THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Application and the1.

Application Record is hereby abridged and validated2 so that this Application is properly

returnable today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof.

THIS COURT ORDERS that capitalized terms used herein that are not otherwise2.

defined shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Haché Affidavit.

NON-APPLICANT STAY PARTY

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Laurentian University Students General Association3.

(the “SGA”) shall be referred to herein as a “Non-Applicant Stay Party”.  Although not an

applicant under the CCAA, the Non-Applicant Stay Party shall enjoy certain of the benefits and

protections provided herein and be subject to the restrictions as expressly hereunder set out.

APPLICATION

2. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the Applicant is insolvent and is a4.

company to which the CCAA applies. 

PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall have the authority to file and5.

may, subject to further order of this Court, file with this Court a plan of compromise or

arrangement (hereinafter referred to as the "Plan").

POSSESSION OF PROPERTY AND OPERATIONS

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall remain in possession and control of6.

its current and future assets, undertakings and properties of every nature and kind whatsoever,

and wherever situate including all proceeds thereof (the "“Property"”).  Subject to further Order

of this Court, the Applicant shall continue to carry on business and deal with its assets, including

the businesses and assets of the other entities, partnerships and joint ventures in which the

Applicant has a direct or indirect interest, and is authorized to continue to provide services to

such parties in respect of which it is currently providing services, in a manner consistent with the

2 If service is effected in a manner other than as authorized by the Ontario Rules of Civil Procedure, an order 
validating irregular service is required pursuant to Rule 16.08 of the Rules of Civil Procedure and may be granted 
in appropriate circumstances.
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preservation of its business (the "“Business"”) and Property.  The Applicant is authorized and

empowered to continue to retain and employ the employees, consultants, agents, experts,

accountants, counsel and such other persons (collectively "“Assistants"”) currently retained or

employed by it, with liberty to retain such further Assistants as it deems reasonably necessary or

desirable in the ordinary course of business or for the carrying out of the terms of this Order.

5. [THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall be entitled to continue to utilizeuse7.

the central cash management system3 currently in place, as described in the Haché Affidavit of

[NAME] sworn [DATE] or replace it with another substantially similar central cash management

system (, which for greater certainty includes any segregated bank accounts now existing

(together with any segregated accounts established pursuant to paragraph 7, the "“Cash

Management System"”), and that any present or future bank or institution providing the Cash

Management System to the Applicant shall not be under any obligation whatsoever to inquire

into the propriety, validity or legality of any transfer, payment, collection or other action taken

under the Cash Management System, or as to the use or application by the Applicant of funds

transferred, paid, collected or otherwise dealt with in the Cash Management System, shall be

entitled to provide the Cash Management System without any liability in respect thereof to any

Person (as hereinafter defined) other than the Applicant, pursuant to the terms of the

documentation applicable to the Cash Management System, except to the extent that such terms

are expressly modified by this Order or with the consent of the Applicant, the Monitor and any

applicable bank or financial institution providing a Cash Management System, and shall be,

solely in its capacity as provider of the Cash Management System only, an unaffected creditor

under the Planany plan or arrangement filed by the Applicant under the CCAA with regard to any

claims or expenses it may suffer or incur in connection with the provision of the Cash

Management System on or after the date of this Order.] 

THIS COURT ORDERS that (a) any segregated bank accounts established by the8.

Applicant from and after December 1, 2020, to hold funds received by it on the condition that

such funds be used for a specific purpose in respect of a particular aspect of the Applicant’s

Business, including without limitation, funds provided to the Applicant for the purpose of

3 This provision should only be utilized where necessary, in view of the fact that central cash management systems 
often operate in a manner that consolidates the cash of applicant companies.  Specific attention should be paid to 
cross-border and inter-company transfers of cash.
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research projects (including grants, awards or other similar funds), funds received in respect of

restricted donations or endowments, and employee and employer contributions to benefit plans

(collectively, the “Segregated Funds”) shall be used for such specific purpose, and (b) from and

after the date of this Order, the Applicant may establish additional segregated bank accounts,

including trust accounts if necessary, to hold any additional Segregated Funds that are received

by the Applicant under such agreed upon arrangements, and the Segregated Funds shall not form

part of the Applicant’s Property.

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall be entitled but not required to pay9.

the following expenses whether incurred prior to, on or after the date of this Order:

all outstanding and future wages, salaries, employee and retiree benefits (including,(a)

without limitation, employee medical, dental, vision, insurance and similar benefit

plans or arrangements), amounts owing under corporate credit cards issued to

management and employees of the Applicant, ordinary course pension benefits or

contributions, vacation pay and, expenses and any director fees and expenses, payable

on or after the date of this Order, in each case for costs incurred in the ordinary course

of business and consistent with existing practices, compensation policies and

arrangements for current and future employees (but not including any payments to

former employees or retirees in respect of the SuRP and the RHBP, as such terms are

defined in the Haché Affidavit, or termination or severance payments, which are

hereby stayed), and all other payroll processing and servicing expenses;

all outstanding amounts owing in respect of the current 2020-21 academic year and(b)

future amounts owing in respect of rebates, refunds or other similar amounts that are

owing or may be owed to students or student associations of the Applicant, whether

such amounts are as a result of the reimbursement of tuition fees, ancillary fees or

otherwise, provided that such rebates, refunds or other similar amounts are subject to

the existing policies and procedures of the Applicant;

all outstanding amounts owing in respect of the current 2020-21 academic year and(c)

future amounts payable to students in respect of student scholarship, bursary or

grants; and
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(b) the fees and disbursements of any Assistants retained or employed by the(d)

Applicant in respect of these proceedings, at their standard rates and charges.

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as otherwise provided to the contrary herein,10.

the Applicant shall be entitled but not required to pay all reasonable expenses incurred by the

Applicant in carrying on the Business in the ordinary course after the date of this Order, and in

carrying out the provisions of this Order, which expenses shall include, without limitation:

all expenses and capital expenditures reasonably necessary for the preservation of the(a)

Property or the Business (including the value thereof) including, without limitation,

payments on account of insurance (including directors and officers’ insurance),

maintenance and security services; and

payment for goods or services actually supplied to the Applicant following the date of(b)

this Order or payments to obtain the release of goods or delivery of services

contracted for prior to the date of this Order.

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall remit, in accordance with legal11.

requirements, or pay:

until further order of this Court, all outstanding and future normal course(a)

contributions to or payments in respect of the Pension Plan, as defined in the Haché

Affidavit, in the ordinary course of business and consistent with existing

compensation policies and arrangements;

(a) any statutory deemed trust amounts in favour of the Crown in right of Canada or(b)

of any Province thereof or any other taxation authority which are required to be

deducted from employees'’ wages, including, without limitation, amounts in respect

of (i) employment insurance, (ii) Canada Pension Plan, and (iii) Quebec Pension Plan,

and (iv) income taxes;

(b) all goods and services or other applicable sales taxes (collectively, "“Sales(c)

Taxes"”) required to be remitted by the Applicant in connection with the sale of

goods and services by the Applicant, but only where such Sales Taxes are accrued or
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collected after the date of this Order, or where such Sales Taxes were accrued or

collected prior to the date of this Order but not required to be remitted until on or after

the date of this Order, and

(c) any amount payable to the Crown in right of Canada or of any Province thereof or(d)

any political subdivision thereof or any other taxation authority in respect of

municipal realty, municipal business or other taxes, assessments or levies of any

nature or kind which are entitled at law to be paid in priority to claims of secured

creditors and which are attributable to or in respect of the carrying on of the Business

by the Applicant.

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that until a real property lease is disclaimed [or resiliated]4 in 

accordance with the CCAA, the Applicant shall pay all amounts constituting rent or payable as 

rent under real property leases (including, for greater certainty, common area maintenance 

charges, utilities and realty taxes and any other amounts payable to the landlord under the lease) 

or as otherwise may be negotiated between the Applicant and the landlord from time to time 

("Rent"), for the period commencing from and including the date of this Order, twice-monthly in 

equal payments on the first and fifteenth day of each month, in advance (but not in arrears).  On 

the date of the first of such payments, any Rent relating to the period commencing from and 

including the date of this Order shall also be paid.

10. THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as specifically permitted herein, the Applicant12.

is hereby directed, until further Order of this Court: (a) to make no payments of principal, interest

thereon or otherwise on account of amounts owing by the Applicant to any of its creditors as of

the date of this dateOrder (including for greater certainty in respect of the interest rate swap

transactions); (b) to grant no security interests, trust, liens, charges or encumbrances upon or in

respect of any of its Property; and (c) to not grant credit or incur liabilities except in the ordinary

course of the Business.

4 The term "resiliate" should remain if there are leased premises in the Province of Quebec, but can otherwise be 
removed.
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RESTRUCTURING

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall, subject to such requirements as13.

are imposed by the CCAA and such covenants as may be contained in the Definitive Documents

(as hereinafter defined), have the right to: continue negotiations with stakeholders in an effort to

pursue all restructuring options.

(a) permanently or temporarily cease, downsize or shut down any of its business or 

operations, [and to dispose of redundant or non-material assets not exceeding $●

in any one transaction or $● in the aggregate]5

(b) [terminate the employment of such of its employees or temporarily lay off such 

of its employees as it deems appropriate];  and

(c) pursue all avenues of refinancing of its Business or Property, in whole or part, subject 

to prior approval of this Court being obtained before any material refinancing,

all of the foregoing to permit the Applicant to proceed with an orderly restructuring of the

Business (the "Restructuring").

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall provide each of the relevant landlords 

with notice of the Applicant’s intention to remove any fixtures from any leased premises at least 

seven (7) days prior to the date of the intended removal.  The relevant landlord shall be entitled 

to have a representative present in the leased premises to observe such removal and, if the 

landlord disputes the Applicant’s entitlement to remove any such fixture under the provisions of 

the lease, such fixture shall remain on the premises and shall be dealt with as agreed between any 

applicable secured creditors, such landlord and the Applicant, or by further Order of this Court 

upon application by the Applicant on at least two (2) days notice to such landlord and any such 

secured creditors. If the Applicant disclaims [or resiliates] the lease governing such leased 

premises in accordance with Section 32 of the CCAA, it shall not be required to pay Rent under 

such lease pending resolution of any such dispute (other than Rent payable for the notice period 

5 Section 36 of the amended CCAA does not seem to contemplate a pre-approved power to sell (see subsection 
36(3)) and moreover requires notice (subsection 36(2)) and evidence (subsection 36(7)) that may not have 
occurred or be available at the initial CCAA hearing.
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provided for in Section 32(5) of the CCAA), and the disclaimer [or resiliation] of the lease shall 

be without prejudice to the Applicant's claim to the fixtures in dispute.

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that if a notice of disclaimer [or resiliation] is delivered 

pursuant to Section 32 of the CCAA, then (a) during the notice period prior to the effective time 

of the disclaimer [or resiliation], the landlord may show the affected leased premises to 

prospective tenants during normal business hours, on giving the Applicant and the Monitor 24 

hours' prior written notice, and (b) at the effective time of the disclaimer [or resiliation], the 

relevant landlord shall be entitled to take possession of any such leased premises without waiver 

of or prejudice to any claims or rights such landlord may have against the Applicant in respect of 

such lease or leased premises, provided that nothing herein shall relieve such landlord of its 

obligation to mitigate any damages claimed in connection therewith.

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE APPLICANT OR THE PROPERTY

14. THIS COURT ORDERS that until and including [DATE – MAX. 3014.

DAYS]February 11, 2021, or such later date as this Court may subsequently order (the "“Stay

Period"”), no proceeding or enforcement process in or out of any court or tribunal or other

forum, whether arising by contract (including pursuant to any collective agreement) or otherwise

(each, a "“Proceeding"”) shall be commenced or continued against or in respect of the Applicant

or the Monitor, or affecting the Business or the Property, except with the written consent of the

Applicant and the Monitor, or with leave of this Court, and any and all Proceedings currently

under way against or in respect of the Applicant or affecting the Business or the Property are

hereby stayed and suspended pending further Order of this Court.

NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all rights and remedies of any15.

individual, firm, corporation, governmental body or agency, or any other entities (all of the

foregoing, collectively being "“Persons"” and each being a "“Person"”) against or in respect of

the Applicant or the Monitor, or affecting the Business or the Property, are hereby stayed and

suspended, except with the written consent of the Applicant and the Monitor, or leave of this

Court, provided that nothing in this Order shall (i) :
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empower the Applicant to carry on any business which the Applicant is not lawfully(a)

entitled to carry on, (ii) ;

exempt the Applicant from compliance with any statutory or regulatory provisions(b)

relating to health, safety or the environment;

affect such investigations, actions, suits or proceedings by a regulatory body as are(c)

specifically permitted by Section 11.1 of the CCAA, (iii) ;

prevent the filing of any registration to preserve or perfect a security interest, or (iv) ;(d)

prevent the registration of a claim for lien; or(e)

prevent any actions that are permitted by Section 34(8) of the CCAA.(f)

LIMITED STAY IN RESPECT OF THE NON-APPLICANT STAY PARTY

THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, no Person shall (a) commence or16.

continue any Proceeding or enforcement process, (b) terminate, repudiate, make any demand,

accelerate, alter, amend, declare in default, exercise any options, rights or remedies, or (c)

discontinue, fail to honour, alter, interfere with or cease to perform any obligation, pursuant to or

in respect of any agreement, lease, sublease, license or permit with respect to which the

Non-Applicant Stay Party is a party, borrower, principal obligor or guarantor, by reason of:

the Applicant being insolvent or having made an application to this Court under the(a)

CCAA;

the Applicant being a party to this proceeding or taking any steps related thereto; or(b)

the stay granted pursuant to this paragraph 15; and(c)

any default or cross-default arising from the matters set out in the foregoing(d)

subparagraphs,

except with the written consent of the Applicant and the Monitor, or with leave of this Court.
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NO INTERFERENCE WITH RIGHTS

THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, no Person shall discontinue, fail to17.

honour, alter, interfere with, repudiate, terminate or cease to perform any right, renewal right,

contract, agreement, lease, sublease, licence or permit in favour of or held by the Applicant or the

Non-Applicant Stay Party or take any steps to interrupt or interfere with the operation of the

Business or the continued use of the Property of the Applicant, except with the written consent of

the Applicant and the Monitor, or leave of this Court.

CONTINUATION OF SERVICES

THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all Persons having oral or written18.

agreements with the Applicant or statutory or regulatory mandates for the supply of goods and/or

services, including without limitation all computer software, communication and other data

services, centralized banking services, payroll services, insurance, transportation services, utility

or other services to the Business or the Applicant, are hereby restrained until further Order of this

Court from discontinuing, altering, interfering with or terminating the supply of such goods or

services as may be required by the Applicant, and that the Applicant shall be entitled to the

continued use of its current premises, telephone numbers, facsimile numbers, internet addresses

and domain names, provided in each case that the normal prices or charges for all such goods or

services received after the date of this Order are paid by the Applicant in accordance with normal

payment practices of the Applicant or such other practices as may be agreed upon by the supplier

or service provider and each of the Applicant and the Monitor, or as may be ordered by this

Court.

NON-DEROGATION OF RIGHTS

THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding anything else in this Order, no Person19.

shall be prohibited from requiring immediate payment for goods, services, use of lease or

licensed property or other valuable consideration provided on or after the date of this Order, nor

shall any Person be under any obligation on or after the date of this Order to advance or
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re-advance any monies or otherwise extend any credit to the Applicant.  Nothing in this Order

shall derogate from the rights conferred and obligations imposed by the CCAA.6

PROCEEDINGS AGAINST DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, and except as permitted by20.

subsection 11.03(2) of the CCAA, no Proceeding may be commenced or continued against any of

the former, current or future directors or officers of the Applicant, including the members of the

Board of Governors of the Applicant (the “Board”) with respect to any claim against the

directors or, officers or the Board that arose before the date hereofof this Order and that relates to

any obligations of the Applicant whereby the directors or, officers or the Board are alleged under

any law to be liable in their capacity as directors or officers for the payment or performance of

such obligations, until a compromise or arrangement in respect of the Applicant, if one is filed, is

sanctioned by this Court or is refused by the creditors of the Applicant or this Court.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INDEMNIFICATION AND CHARGE

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall indemnify its directors and, officers21.

and the Board against obligations and liabilities that they may incur as directors or officers of the

Applicant after the commencement of the within proceedings,7 except to the extent that, with

respect to any officer or, director or member of the Board, the obligation or liability was incurred

as a result of the director'’s or officer'’s gross negligence or wilful misconduct.

THIS COURT ORDERS that the directors and, officers and Board of the Applicant22.

shall be entitled to the benefit of and are hereby granted a charge (the "“Directors’ Charge"”)8

on the Property, which charge shall not exceed an aggregate amount of $2,000,000, as security

for the indemnity provided in paragraph [20] of this Order.  The Directors’ Charge shall have the

priority set out in paragraphs [38]32 and [40]34 herein.

6 This non-derogation provision has acquired more significance due to the recent amendments to the CCAA, since a 
number of actions or steps cannot be stayed, or the stay is subject to certain limits and restrictions.  See, for 
example, CCAA Sections 11.01, 11.04, 11.06, 11.07, 11.08, 11.1(2) and 11.5(1).

7 The broad indemnity language from Section 11.51 of the CCAA has been imported into this paragraph.  The 
granting of the indemnity (whether or not secured by a Directors' Charge), and the scope of the indemnity, are 
discretionary matters that should be addressed with the Court.

8 Section 11.51(3) provides that the Court may not make this security/charging order if in the Court's opinion the 
Applicant could obtain adequate indemnification insurance for the director or officer at a reasonable cost.
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THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any language in any applicable insurance23.

policy to the contrary, (a) no insurer shall be entitled to be subrogated to or claim the benefit of

the Directors'’ Charge, and (b) the Applicant'’s directors and, officers and the Board shall only be

entitled to the benefit of the Directors'’ Charge to the extent that they do not have coverage under

any directors' and officers'applicable insurance policy, or to the extent that such coverage is

insufficient to pay amounts indemnified in accordance with paragraph [20] of this Order.

APPOINTMENT OF MONITOR

THIS COURT ORDERS that [MONITOR’S NAME]Ernst & Young Inc. is hereby24.

appointed pursuant to the CCAA as the Monitor, an officer of this Court, to monitor the business

and financial affairs of the Applicant with the powers and obligations set out in the CCAA or set

forth herein and that the Applicant and its shareholders, officers, directors, and Assistants shall

advise the Monitor of all material steps taken by the Applicant pursuant to this Order, and shall

co-operate fully with the Monitor in the exercise of its powers and discharge of its obligations

and provide the Monitor with the assistance that is necessary to enable the Monitor to adequately

carry out the Monitor'’s functions.

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, in addition to its prescribed rights and25.

obligations under the CCAA, is hereby directed and empowered to:

monitor the Applicant'’s receipts and disbursements;(a)

report to this Court at such times and intervals as the Monitor may deem appropriate(b)

with respect to matters relating to the Property, the Business, and such other matters

as may be relevant to the proceedings herein;

(c) assist the Applicant, to the extent required by the Applicant, in its dissemination, to 

the DIP Lender and its counsel on a [TIME INTERVAL] basis of financial and other 

information as agreed to between the Applicant and the DIP Lender which may be 

used in these proceedings including reporting on a basis to be agreed with the DIP 

Lender;

(d) advise the Applicant in itsthe preparation of the Applicant’s cash flow statements(c)

and any other reporting required byto the DIP Lender, which information shall be
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reviewed with the Monitor and delivered to the DIP Lender and its counsel on a

periodic basis, but not less than [TIME INTERVAL],Court or as otherwise agreed to

by the DIP Lender;

(e) advise the Applicant in its development of the Plan and any amendments to the Plan;

(f) assist the Applicant, to the extent required by the Applicant, with the holding and 

administering of creditors’ or shareholders’ meetings for voting on the Plan;

be at liberty to participate in discussions with representatives of the Ministry of(d)

Colleges and Universities (“MCU”) and such other representatives of Provincial or

Federal government agencies, at any time on all aspects of this proceeding and the

Applicant’s restructuring, subject to such terms of confidentiality as may be

appropriate in the Monitor’s assessment and in consultation with the Applicant;

(g) have full and complete access to the Property, including the premises, books,(e)

records, data, including data in electronic form, and other financial documents of the

Applicant, to the extent that is necessarywherever situate, in order to adequately

assess the Applicant'’s business and financial affairs or to perform its duties arising

under this Order;

(h) be at liberty to engage independent legal counsel or such other persons as the(f)

Monitor deems necessary or advisable respecting the exercise of its powers and

performance of its obligations under this Order; and

(i) perform such other duties as are required by this Order or by this Court from time(g)

to time.

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall not take possession of the Property of26.

the Applicant, or any property of the Non-Applicant Stay Party, and shall take no part whatsoever

in the management or supervision of the management of the Business and shall not, by fulfilling

its obligations hereunder, be deemed to have taken or maintained possession or control of the

Business or Property, or any part thereof.

168



14

THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Monitor to27.

occupy or to take control, care, charge, possession or management (separately and/or collectively,

"“Possession"”) of any of the Property that might be environmentally contaminated, might be a

pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or contribute to a spill, discharge, release or deposit of

a substance contrary to any federal, provincial or other law respecting the protection,

conservation, enhancement, remediation or rehabilitation of the environment or relating to the

disposal of waste or other contamination including, without limitation, the Canadian

Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Water

Resources Act, or the Ontario Occupational Health and Safety Act and regulations thereunder

(the "“Environmental Legislation"”), provided however that nothing herein shall exempt the

Monitor from any duty to report or make disclosure imposed by applicable Environmental

Legislation.  The Monitor shall not, as a result of this Order or anything done in pursuance of the

Monitor'’s duties and powers under this Order, be deemed to be in Possession of any of the

Property within the meaning of any Environmental Legislationlegislation, unless it is actually in

possession.

THIS COURT ORDERS that that the Monitor shall provide any creditor of the28.

Applicant and the proposed DIP Lender with information provided by the Applicant in response

to reasonable requests for information made in writing by such creditor addressed to the Monitor.

The Monitor shall not have any responsibility or liability with respect to the information

disseminated by it pursuant to this paragraph.  In the case of information that the Monitor has

been advised by the Applicant is confidential, the Monitor shall not provide such information to

creditors unless otherwise directed by this Court or on such terms as the Monitor and the

Applicant may agree.

THIS COURT ORDERS that, in addition to the rights and protections afforded the29.

Monitor under the CCAA or as an officer of this Court, the Monitor shall incur no liability or

obligation as a result of its appointment or the carrying out of the provisions of this Order, save

and except for any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part.  Nothing in this Order shall

derogate from the protections afforded the Monitor by the CCAA or any applicable legislation.

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor and the Applicant’s30.

counsel and advisors in connection with the CCAA proceedings (collectively, the “Restructuring
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Advisors”) together with independent counsel to the ApplicantBoard (“Board Counsel”) shall

each be paid their reasonable fees and disbursements, in each case at their standard rates and

charges, whether incurred prior to or subsequent to the date of this Order, by the Applicant as

part of the costs of these proceedings.  The Applicant is hereby authorized and directed to pay the

accounts of the Monitor, counsel for the Monitor and counsel for the Applicant on a [TIME

INTERVAL] basis and, in addition, the Applicant is hereby authorized to pay to the Monitor,

counsel to the Monitor, and counsel to the Applicant, retainers in theRestructuring Advisors and

Board Counsel.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the fees and disbursement of Board Counsel

paid by the Applicant from and after the date of this Order shall not exceed the aggregate

amount[s] of $ [250,000, respectively,] to be held by them as security for payment of their

respective fees and disbursements outstanding from time to timeplus HST, pending further Order

of the Court.

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor and its legal counsel shall pass their accounts31.

from time to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Monitor and its legal counsel are

hereby referred to a judge of the Commercial List of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice.

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor, if any, and the32.

Applicant’s counselRestructuring Advisors shall be entitled to the benefit of and are hereby

granted a charge (the "“Administration Charge"”) on the Property, which charge shall not

exceed an aggregate amount of $400,000,  as security for their professional fees and

disbursements incurred at the standard rates and charges of the Monitor and such

counselRestructuring Advisors, both before and after the making of this Order in respect of these

proceedings.  The Administration Charge shall have the priority set out in paragraphs [38]32 and

[40]34 hereof.

DIP FINANCING

32. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant is hereby authorized and empowered to 

obtain and borrow under a credit facility from [DIP LENDER'S NAME] (the "DIP Lender") in 

order to finance the Applicant's working capital requirements and other general corporate 

purposes and capital expenditures, provided that borrowings under such credit facility shall not 

exceed $ unless permitted by further Order of this Court.
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33. THIS COURT ORDERS THAT such credit facility shall be on the terms and subject to 

the conditions set forth in the commitment letter between the Applicant and the DIP Lender dated 

as of [DATE] (the "Commitment Letter"), filed.

34. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant is hereby authorized and empowered to 

execute and deliver such credit agreements, mortgages, charges, hypothecs and security 

documents, guarantees and other definitive documents (collectively, the "Definitive 

Documents"), as are contemplated by the Commitment Letter or as may be reasonably required 

by the DIP Lender pursuant to the terms thereof, and the Applicant is hereby authorized and 

directed to pay and perform all of its indebtedness, interest, fees, liabilities and obligations to the 

DIP Lender under and pursuant to the Commitment Letter and the Definitive Documents as and 

when the same become due and are to be performed, notwithstanding any other provision of this 

Order.

35. THIS COURT ORDERS that the DIP Lender shall be entitled to the benefit of and is 

hereby granted a charge (the "DIP Lender’s Charge") on the Property, which DIP Lender's 

Charge shall not secure an obligation that exists before this Order is made.  The DIP Lender’s 

Charge shall have the priority set out in paragraphs [38] and [40] hereof.  

36. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any other provision of this Order:

(a) the DIP Lender may take such steps from time to time as it may deem necessary or 

appropriate to file, register, record or perfect the DIP Lender’s Charge or any of the 

Definitive Documents;

(b) upon the occurrence of an event of default under the Definitive Documents or the DIP 

Lender’s Charge, the DIP Lender, upon  days notice to the Applicant and the 

Monitor, may exercise any and all of its rights and remedies against the Applicant or 

the Property under or pursuant to the Commitment Letter, Definitive Documents and 

the DIP Lender’s Charge, including without limitation, to cease making advances to 

the Applicant and set off and/or consolidate any amounts owing by the DIP Lender to 

the Applicant against the obligations of the Applicant to the DIP Lender under the 

Commitment Letter, the Definitive Documents or the DIP Lender’s Charge, to make 
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demand, accelerate payment and give other notices, or to apply to this Court for the 

appointment of a receiver, receiver and manager or interim receiver, or for a 

bankruptcy order against the Applicant and for the appointment of a trustee in 

bankruptcy of the Applicant; and   

(c) the foregoing rights and remedies of the DIP Lender shall be enforceable against any 

trustee in bankruptcy, interim receiver, receiver or receiver and manager of the 

Applicant or the Property.  

37. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the DIP Lender shall be treated as 

unaffected in any plan of arrangement or compromise filed by the Applicant under the CCAA, or 

any proposal filed by the Applicant under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act of Canada (the 

"BIA"), with respect to any advances made under the Definitive Documents.

VALIDITY AND PRIORITY OF CHARGES CREATED BY THIS ORDER

38. THIS COURT ORDERS that the priorities of the Directors’ Charge, the33.

Administration Charge and the DIP Lender’s Directors’ Charge (collectively, the “Charges” and

each individually, a “Charge,”) as among them, shall be as follows9:

First – Administration Charge (to the maximum amount of $400,000); and

Second – DIP Lender’s Charge; and

Third – Directors’ Charge (to the maximum amount of $2,000,000).

39. THIS COURT ORDERS that the filing, registration or perfection of the Directors’34.

Charge, the Administration Charge or the DIP Lender’s Charge (collectively, the "Charges")

shall not be required, and that the Charges shall be valid and enforceable for all purposes,

including as against any right, title or interest filed, registered, recorded or perfected subsequent

to the Charges coming into existence, notwithstanding any such failure to file, register, record or

perfect.

9 The ranking of these Charges is for illustration purposes only, and is not meant to be determinative.  This ranking 
may be subject to negotiation, and should be tailored to the circumstances of the case before the Court.  Similarly, 
the quantum and caps applicable to the Charges should be considered in each case.  Please also note that the 
CCAA now permits Charges in favour of critical suppliers and others, which should also be incorporated into this 
Order (and the rankings, above), where appropriate.
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40. THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Directors’ Charge, the Administration35.

Charge and the DIP Lender’s Charge (all as constituted and defined herein)Charges shall

constitute a charge on the Property and such Charges shall rank in priority to all other security

interests, trusts, liens, construction liens, charges and encumbrances, claims of secured creditors,

statutory or otherwise (collectively, "“Encumbrances"”) in favour of any Person, except for any

Person who is a “secured creditor” as defined in the CCAA that has not been served with the

Notice of Application for this Order.

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall be entitled, on a subsequent36.

attendance on notice to those Persons likely to be affected thereby, to seek an increase to the

amounts, to seek additional charges and to seek priority of the Charges ahead of any

Encumbrance over which the Charges have not obtained priority under this Order.

41. THIS COURT ORDERS that except as otherwise expressly provided for herein, or37.

as may be approved by this Court, the Applicant shall not grant any Encumbrances over any

Property that rank in priority to, or pari passu with, any of the Directors’ Charge, the

Administration Charge or the DIP Lender’s ChargeCharges, unless the Applicant also obtains the

prior written consent of the Monitor, the DIP Lender and the beneficiaries of the Directors’

Charge and the Administration ChargeCharges affected thereby (collectively, the “Chargees”),

or further Order of this Court.

42. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Directors’ Charge, the Administration Charge, the 

Commitment Letter, the Definitive Documents and the DIP Lender’s Charge shall not be 

rendered invalid or unenforceable and the rights and remedies of the chargees entitled to the 

benefit of the Charges (collectively, the "Chargees") and/or the DIP Lender thereunder shall not 

otherwise be limited or impaired in any way by (a) the pendency of these proceedings and the 

declarations of insolvency made herein; (b) any application(s) for bankruptcy order(s) issued 

pursuant to BIA, or any bankruptcy order made pursuant to such applications; (c) the filing of any 

assignments for the general benefit of creditors made pursuant to the BIA; (d) the provisions of 

any federal or provincial statutes; or (e) any negative covenants, prohibitions or other similar 

provisions with respect to borrowings, incurring debt or the creation of Encumbrances, contained 

in any existing loan documents, lease, sublease, offer to lease or other agreement (collectively, an 
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"Agreement") which binds the Applicant, and notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in 

any Agreement:

(a) neither the creation of the Charges nor the execution, delivery, perfection, registration 

or performance of the Commitment Letter or the Definitive Documents shall create or 

be deemed to constitute a breach by the Applicant of any Agreement to which it is a 

party;

(b) none of the Chargees shall have any liability to any Person whatsoever as a result of 

any breach of any Agreement caused by or resulting from the Applicant entering into 

the Commitment Letter, the creation of the Charges, or the execution, delivery or 

performance of the Definitive Documents; and

(c) the payments made by the Applicant pursuant to this Order, the Commitment Letter or 

the Definitive Documents, and the granting of the Charges, do not and will not 

constitute preferences, fraudulent conveyances, transfers at undervalue, oppressive 

conduct, or other challengeable or voidable transactions under any applicable law.

43. THIS COURT ORDERS that any Charge created by this Order over leases of real38.

property in Canada shall only be a Charge in the Applicant'’s interest in such real property leases.

THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding anything else contained herein and39.

pending further Order of the Court, the Property subject to the Charges herein shall not include

the Segregated Accounts.

SERVICE AND NOTICE

44. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall (i) without delay, publish in40.

[newspapers specified bythe Globe & Mail and the Court]Sudbury Star a notice containing the

information prescribed under the CCAA, and (ii) within five days afterof the date of this Order,

(A) make this Order publicly available in the manner prescribed under the CCAA, (B) send, in

the prescribed manner, a notice to every known creditor who has a claim against the Applicant of

more than $10001,000 (excluding any individual employees, former employees with pension

and/or retirement savings or benefits plan entitlements, and retirees and other beneficiaries who

have entitlements under any pension or retirement savings plan), and (C) prepare a list showing

174



20

the names and addresses of those creditors and the estimated amounts of those claims, and make

it publicly available in the prescribed manner, all in accordance with Section 23(1)(a) of the

CCAA and the regulations made thereunder, provided that the Monitor shall not make the claims, 

names and addresses of individuals who are creditors publicly available, unless otherwise

ordered by the Court.

45. THIS COURT ORDERS that the E-Service Protocol of the Commercial List (the41.

“Protocol”) is approved and adopted by reference herein and, in this proceeding, the service of

documents made in accordance with the Protocol (which can be found on the Commercial List

website at

http://www.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/practice-directions/toronto/e-service-protocol/http://ww

w.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/practice-directions/toronto/eservice-commercial) shall be valid

and effective service.  Subject to Rule 17.05 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, this Order shall

constitute an order for substituted service pursuant to Rule 16.04 of the Rules of Civil Procedure.

Subject to Rule 3.01(d) of the Rules of Civil Procedure and paragraph 21 of the Protocol, service

of documents in accordance with the Protocol will be effective on transmission.  This Court

further orders that a Case Website shall be established in accordance with the Protocol with the

following URL: ‘<@>’www.ey.com/ca/Laurentian.

46. THIS COURT ORDERS that if the service or distribution of documents in42.

accordance with the Protocol is not practicable, the Applicant and the Monitor are at liberty to

serve or distribute this Order, any other materials and orders in these proceedings, any notices or

other correspondence, by forwarding true copies thereof by prepaid ordinary mail, courier,

personal delivery or facsimile transmission to the Applicant'’s creditors or other interested parties

at their respective addresses as last shown on the records of the Applicant and that any such

service or distribution by courier, personal delivery or facsimile transmission shall be deemed to

be received on the next business day following the date of forwarding thereof, or if sent by

ordinary mail, on the third business day after mailing.

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall create, maintain and update as necessary43.

a list of all Persons appearing in person or by counsel in this proceeding (the “Service List”).

The Monitor shall post the Service List, as may be updated from time to time, on the case

website as part of the public materials in relation to this proceeding.  Notwithstanding the
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foregoing, the Monitor shall have no liability in respect of the accuracy of or the timeliness of

making any changes to the Service List.

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant and the Monitor and their respective44.

counsel are at liberty to serve or distribute this Order, and other materials and orders as may be

reasonably required in these proceedings, including any notices, or other correspondence, by

forwarding true copies thereof by electronic message to the Applicant’s creditors or other

interested parties and their advisors. For greater certainty, any such distribution or service shall

be deemed to be in satisfaction of a legal or judicial obligation, and notice requirements within

the meaning of clause 3(c) of the Electronic Commerce Protection Regulations, Reg.

81000-2-175 (SOR/DORS).

SEALING PROVISION

THIS COURT ORDERS that Confidential Exhibits “EEE” and “FFF” of the Haché45.

Affidavit are hereby sealed pending further order of the Court, and shall not form part of the

public record.

GENERAL

47. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant or the Monitor may from time to time46.

apply to this Court for advice and directions in the discharge of itstheir powers and duties

hereunder.

48. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Monitor from acting 

as an interim receiver, a receiver, a receiver and manager, or a trustee in bankruptcy of the 

Applicant, the Business or the Property.

49. THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court,47.

tribunal, regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada or in the United

States,outside of Canada to give effect to this Order and to assist the Applicant, the Monitor and

their respective agents in carrying out the terms of this Order.  All courts, tribunals, regulatory

and administrative bodies are hereby respectfully requested to make such orders and to provide

such assistance to the Applicant and to the Monitor, as an officer of this Court, as may be

necessary or desirable to give effect to this Order, to grant representative status to the Monitor in
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any foreign proceeding, or to assist the Applicant and the Monitor and their respective agents in

carrying out the terms of this Order.

50. THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Applicant and the Monitor be at liberty48.

and is hereby authorized and empowered to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or

administrative body, wherever located, for the recognition of this Order and for assistance in

carrying out the terms of this Order, and that the Monitor is authorized and empowered to act as a

representative in respect of the within proceedings for the purpose of having these proceedings

recognized in a jurisdiction outside Canada.

51. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party (including the Applicant and the49.

Monitor) may apply to this Court to vary or amend this Order on not less than seven (7) days

notice to any other party or parties likely to be affected by the order sought or upon such other

notice, if any, as this Court may order.

52. THIS COURT ORDERS that this Order and all of its provisions are effective as of50.

12:01 a.m. Eastern Standard/Daylight Time on the date of this Order, and is enforceable without

any need for entry and filing.

       _____________________________________  
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Court File No. CV-21-______________________-00CL 

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

COMMERCIAL LIST 

THE HONOURABLE CHIEF 

JUSTICE MORAWETZ 

) 
) 
) 

MONDAY, THE 1ST  

DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2021 

 
IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, 

R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED 
 

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF  
LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY 

 
Applicant 

AMENDED AND RESTATED INITIAL ORDER 

THIS MOTION, made by the Applicant pursuant to the Companies’ Creditors 

Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended (the “CCAA”) for an order amending and 

restating the Initial Order (the “Initial Order”) issued on February 1, 2021 (the “Initial Filing 

Date”) and extending the stay of proceedings provided for therein was heard this day by judicial 

videoconference via Zoom in Toronto, Ontario due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

ON READING the affidavit of Dr. Robert Haché sworn January 30, 2021 and the 

Exhibits thereto (the “Haché Initial Affidavit”), the Pre-filing Report of Ernst & Young Inc. 

(the “Monitor”) dated January 30, 2021, the First Report of the Monitor dated February [►], 

2021 (the “First Report”) and on hearing the submissions of counsel for the Applicant, counsel 

for the Monitor, and those other parties listed on the Counsel Slip, no one else appearing 

although duly served as appears from the Affidavit of Service of [►] sworn February [►], 2021, 

and on reading the consent of Ernst & Young Inc. to act as the Monitor, 
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SERVICE AND DEFINITIONS 

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Motion and the 

Motion Record is hereby abridged and validated so that this Motion is properly returnable today 

and hereby dispenses with further service thereof. 

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that capitalized terms used herein that are not otherwise 

defined shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Haché Initial Affidavit. 

NON-APPLICANT STAY PARTY 

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Laurentian University Students General Association (the 

“SGA”) shall be referred to herein as a “Non-Applicant Stay Party”.  Although not an applicant 

under the CCAA, the Non-Applicant Stay Party shall enjoy certain of the benefits and 

protections provided herein and be subject to the restrictions as expressly hereunder set out. 

APPLICATION 

3. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the Applicant is insolvent and is a 

company to which the CCAA applies. 

PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT 

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall have the authority to file and may, 

subject to further order of this Court, file with this Court a plan of compromise or arrangement 

(hereinafter referred to as the "Plan"). 

POSSESSION OF PROPERTY AND OPERATIONS 

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall remain in possession and control of its 

current and future assets, undertakings and properties of every nature and kind whatsoever, and 

wherever situate including all proceeds thereof (the “Property”).  Subject to further Order of this 

Court, the Applicant shall continue to carry on business and deal with its assets, including the 

businesses and assets of the other entities, partnerships and joint ventures in which the Applicant 

has a direct or indirect interest, and is authorized to continue to provide services to such parties 

in respect of which it is currently providing services, in a manner consistent with the preservation 

of its business (the “Business”) and Property.  The Applicant is authorized and empowered to 

continue to retain and employ the employees, consultants, agents, experts, accountants, counsel 
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and such other persons (collectively “Assistants”) currently retained or employed by it, with 

liberty to retain such further Assistants as it deems reasonably necessary or desirable in the 

ordinary course of business or for the carrying out of the terms of this Order. 

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall be entitled to continue to use the cash 

management system currently in place, as described in the Haché Initial Affidavit, which for 

greater certainty includes any segregated bank accounts now existing (together with any 

segregated bank accounts established pursuant to paragraph 7, the “Cash Management 

System”), and that any present or future bank or institution  providing the Cash Management 

System to the Applicant shall not be under any obligation whatsoever to inquire into the 

propriety, validity or legality of any transfer, payment, collection or other action taken under the 

Cash Management System, or as to the use or application by the Applicant of funds transferred, 

paid, collected or otherwise dealt with in the Cash Management System, shall be entitled to 

provide the Cash Management System without any liability in respect thereof to any Person (as 

hereinafter defined) other than the Applicant, pursuant to the terms of the documentation 

applicable to the Cash Management System, except to the extent that such terms are expressly 

modified by this Order or with the consent of the Applicant, the Monitor and any applicable bank 

or financial institution providing a Cash Management System, and shall be, solely in its capacity 

as provider of the Cash Management System only, an unaffected creditor under the Plan with 

regard to any claims or expenses it may suffer or incur in connection with the provision of the 

Cash Management System on or after the Initial Filing Date. 

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that (a) any segregated bank accounts established by the 

Applicant from and after December 1, 2020, to hold funds received by it on the condition that 

such funds be used for a specific purpose in respect of a particular aspect of the Applicant’s 

Business, including without limitation, funds provided to the Applicant for the purpose of 

research projects (including grants, awards or other similar funds), funds received in respect of 

restricted donations or endowments, and employee and employer contributions to benefit plans 

(collectively, the “Segregated Funds”) shall be used for such specific purpose, and (b) from and 

after the date of this Order, the Applicant may establish additional segregated bank accounts, 

including trust accounts if necessary, to hold any additional Segregated Funds that are received 

by the Applicant under such agreed upon arrangements, and the Segregated Funds shall not form 

part of the Applicant’s Property. 
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8. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall be entitled but not required to pay the 

following expenses whether incurred prior to, on or after the date of this Order, in all cases 

subject to the availability of financing under the DIP Term Sheet (as defined below): 

(a) all outstanding and future wages, salaries, employee and retiree benefits (including, 

without limitation, employee medical, dental, vision, insurance and similar benefit 

plans or arrangements), amounts owing under corporate credit cards issued to 

management and employees of the Applicant, ordinary course pension benefits or 

contributions, vacation pay, expenses and any director fees and expenses, payable on 

or after the date of this Order, in each case for costs incurred in the ordinary course of 

business and consistent with existing practices, compensation policies and 

arrangements for current and future employees (but not including any payments to 

former employees or retirees in respect of the SuRP and the RHBP, as such terms are 

defined in the Haché Initial Affidavit, or termination or severance payments, which 

are hereby stayed), and all other payroll processing and servicing expenses; 

(b) all outstanding amounts owing in respect of the current 2020-21 academic year and 

future amounts owing in respect of rebates, refunds or other similar amounts that are 

owing or may be owed to students or student associations of the Applicant, whether 

such amounts are as a result of the reimbursement of tuition fees, ancillary fees or 

otherwise, provided that such rebates, refunds or other similar amounts are subject to 

the existing policies and procedures of the Applicant; 

(c) all outstanding amounts owing in respect of the current 2020-21 academic year and 

future amounts payable to students in respect of student scholarship, bursary or 

grants; and 

(d) the fees and disbursements of any Assistants retained or employed by the Applicant 

in respect of these proceedings, at their standard rates and charges. 

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as otherwise provided to the contrary herein, the 

Applicant shall be entitled but not required to pay all reasonable expenses incurred by the 

Applicant in carrying on the Business in the ordinary course after the Initial Filing Date, and in 

carrying out the provisions of this Order, which expenses shall include, without limitation: 

183



5 
 

(a) all expenses and capital expenditures reasonably necessary for the preservation of the 

Property or the Business (including the value thereof) including, without limitation, 

payments on account of insurance (including directors and officers’ insurance), 

maintenance and security services; and 

(b) payment for goods or services actually supplied to the Applicant following the date of 

this Order or payments to obtain the release of goods or delivery of services 

contracted for prior to the date of this Order, 

provided that, to the extent such expenses were incurred prior to the date Initial Filing Date, 

the Applicant shall only be entitled to pay such amounts if they are determined by the 

Applicant, in consultation with the Monitor, to be necessary to the continued operation of the 

Business or preservation of the Property and such payments are approved in advance by the 

Monitor. 

10. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall remit, in accordance with legal 

requirements, or pay: 

(a) until further order of this Court, all outstanding and future normal course 

contributions to or payments in respect of the Pension Plan, as defined in the Haché 

Initial Affidavit, in the ordinary course of business and consistent with existing 

compensation policies and arrangements; 

(b) any statutory deemed trust amounts in favour of the Crown in right of Canada or of 

any Province thereof or any other taxation authority which are required to be 

deducted from employees’ wages, including, without limitation, amounts in respect of 

(i) employment insurance, (ii) Canada Pension Plan, and (iii) income taxes; 

(c) all goods and services or other applicable sales taxes (collectively, “Sales Taxes”) 

required to be remitted by the Applicant in connection with the sale of goods and 

services by the Applicant, but only where such Sales Taxes are accrued or collected 

after the date of this Order, or where such Sales Taxes were accrued or collected prior 

to the date of this Order but not required to be remitted until on or after the date of 

this Order, and 
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(d) any amount payable to the Crown in right of Canada or of any Province thereof or 

any political subdivision thereof or any other taxation authority in respect of 

municipal realty, municipal business or other taxes, assessments or levies of any 

nature or kind which are entitled at law to be paid in priority to claims of secured 

creditors and which are attributable to or in respect of the carrying on of the Business 

by the Applicant. 

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that until a real property lease is disclaimed or resiliated in 

accordance with the CCAA, the Applicant shall pay, without duplication, all amounts 

constituting rent or payable as rent under real property leases (including, for greater certainty, 

common area maintenance charges, utilities and realty taxes and any other amounts payable to 

the landlord under the lease, but for greater certainty, excluding accelerated rent or penalties, 

fees or other charges arising as a result of the insolvency of the Applicant or the making of this 

Order) or as otherwise may be negotiated between the Applicant and the landlord from time to 

time ("Rent"), for the period commencing from and including the date of this Order, twice-

monthly in equal payments on the first and fifteenth day of each month, in advance (but not in 

arrears). On the date of the first of such payments, any Rent relating to the period commencing 

from and including the date of this Order shall also be paid. 

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as specifically permitted herein, the Applicant is 

hereby directed, until further Order of this Court: (a) to make no payments of principal, interest 

thereon or otherwise on account of amounts owing by the Applicant to any of its creditors as of 

the date of this Order (including for greater certainty in respect of the interest rate swap 

transactions); (b) to grant no security interests, trust, liens, charges or encumbrances upon or in 

respect of any of its Property; and (c) to not grant credit or incur liabilities except in the ordinary 

course of the Business. 

PENSION PLAN 

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that the obligation of the Applicant to make special payments 

(whether pursuant to the Ontario Pension Benefits Act, RSO 1990, c. P-8 and regulations made 

thereunder or to the terms of the Pension Plan, as such term is defined in the Haché Initial 

Affidavit) in respect of the defined benefit component of the Pension Plan (such payments being 

the “Special Payments”), shall be suspended effective on and after February 1, 2021 for the 

185



7 
 

duration of this CCAA proceeding, subject to further Order of this Court. For greater certainty, 

the suspension of Special Payments hereunder does not constitute a disclaimer or termination by 

the Applicant of any component of the Pension Plan. 

14. THIS COURT ORDERS that for the duration of this proceeding, no Person (as 

hereinafter defined), including employees and former employees of the Applicant (or the 

surviving spouse of any such person) entitled to a benefit under the defined benefit component of 

the Pension Plan (whether or not such member was represented by a union when the member 

was employed by the Applicant) or the Superintendent of Financial Services, shall commence 

any action or other proceeding in connection with the suspension of the Special Payments or 

because the Applicant has not made the Special Payments. 

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant and each of its respective directors, officers, 

officials, and agents shall not incur any obligation or liability, whether by way of debt, damages 

for breach of any duty whether statutory, fiduciary, common law or otherwise, or for breach of 

trust, nor shall any trust be imposed, whether express, implied, constructive, resulting, deemed or 

otherwise, as a result of the suspension of the Special Payments in accordance with the terms of 

this Order. 

16. THIS COURT ORDERS that if any claim, lien, charge or trust, including deemed trust, 

arises as a result of the suspension of the Special Payments, no such claim, lien charge or trust, 

including deemed trust, shall have priority over the Charges (as hereinafter defined) in this 

proceeding, or in any subsequent receivership, interim receivership or bankruptcy of the 

Applicant. 

RESTRUCTURING 

17. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall, subject to such requirements as are 

imposed by the CCAA, have the right to:  

(a) permanently or temporarily cease, downsize or shut down any of its Business or 

operations, and to dispose of redundant or non-material assets not exceeding $50,000 

in any one transaction or $250,000 in the aggregate.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 

the Applicant shall not cease, downsize or shut down any parts of its Business if such 

action would cause any current students of the Applicant to be unable to continue and 
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complete courses that they are already enrolled in, subject to further Order of the 

Court; 

(b) terminate the employment of such of its employees or temporarily lay off such of its 

employees as they deem appropriate; 

(c) vacate, abandon or quit any leased premises and disclaim or resiliate any real property 

lease and any ancillary agreements relating to any leased premises, subject to 

paragraphs 11 and 18 of this Order; 

(d) disclaim arrangements or agreements of any nature whatsoever with whomever, 

whether oral or written, as the Applicant deems appropriate, with the Monitor’s 

consent or pursuant to further Order of the Court, in accordance with Section 32 of 

the CCAA; 

(e) pursue all avenues of refinancing of the Business or Property, in whole or part, 

subject to prior approval of this Court being obtained before any material refinancing; 

and 

(f) pursue all avenues and to engage in discussions with key stakeholders of the 

Applicant in an effort to give effect to an operational restructuring of the Applicant; 

all of the foregoing to permit the Applicant to proceed with an orderly restructuring of its 

business (the “Restructuring”). 

18. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall provide each of the relevant landlords 

with notice of the Applicant’s intention to remove any fixtures from any leased premises at least 

seven (7) days’ prior to the date of the intended removal.  The relevant landlord shall be entitled 

to have a representative present in the leased premises to observe such removal and, if the 

landlord disputes the Applicant’s entitlement to remove any such fixture under the provisions of 

the lease, such fixture shall remain on the premises and shall be dealt with as agreed between any 

applicable secured creditors, such landlord and the Applicant, or by further Order of this Court 

upon application by the Applicant on at least two (2) days’ notice to such leased premises in 

accordance with Section 32 of the CCAA, it shall not be required to pay Rent under such lease 
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pending resolution of any such dispute (other than Rent payable for the notice period provided 

for in Section 32(5) of the CCAA), and the disclaimer of the lease shall be without prejudice to 

the Applicant’s claim to the fixtures in dispute. 

19. THIS COURT ORDERS that if a notice of disclaimer is delivered pursuant to Section 

32 of the CCAA, then (a) during the notice period prior to the effective time of the disclaimer, 

the landlord may show the affected leased premises to prospective tenants during normal 

business hours, on giving the Applicant and the Monitor 24 hours’ prior written notice, and (b) at 

the effective time of the disclaimer, the relevant landlord shall be entitled to take possession of 

any such leased premises without waiver of or prejudice to any claims or rights such landlord 

may have against the Applicant in respect of such lease or leased premises, provided that nothing 

herein shall relieve such landlord of its obligation to mitigate any damages claimed in connection 

therewith. 

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE APPLICANT OR THE PROPERTY 

20. THIS COURT ORDERS that until and including April 30, 2021, or such later date as 

this Court may subsequently order (the “Stay Period”), no proceeding or enforcement process in 

or out of any court or tribunal or other forum, whether arising by contract (including pursuant to 

any collective agreement) or otherwise (each, a “Proceeding”) shall be commenced or continued 

against or in respect of the Applicant or the Monitor, or affecting the Business or the Property, 

except with the written consent of the Applicant and the Monitor, or with leave of this Court, and 

any and all Proceedings currently under way against or in respect of the Applicant or affecting 

the Business or the Property are hereby stayed and suspended pending further Order of this 

Court. 

NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES 

21. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all rights and remedies of any 

individual, firm, corporation, governmental body or agency, or any other entities (all of the 

foregoing, collectively being “Persons” and each being a “Person”) against or in respect of the 

Applicant or the Monitor, or affecting the Business or the Property, are hereby stayed and 

suspended, including any existing, pending or future information requests made to the Applicant 

under the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, except with the written consent 

of the Applicant and the Monitor, or leave of this Court, including, without limitation, by way of 
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terminating, making any demand, accelerating, amended or declaring in default, sweeping any 

cash in the Applicant’s bank accounts (if available), exercising any option, right or remedy or 

taking any enforcement steps under or in respect of any agreement or agreements with respect to 

which the Applicant is a party, borrower, principal obligor or guarantor, by reason of: 

(a) the Applicant being insolvent or having made an application to this Court under the 

CCAA; 

(b) the Applicant being a party to this proceeding or taking any steps related thereto; or 

(c) any default or cross-default arising from the matters set out in the foregoing 

subparagraphs, 

provided that nothing in this Order shall: 

(a) empower the Applicant to carry on any business which the Applicant is not lawfully 

entitled to carry on; 

(b) exempt the Applicant from compliance with any statutory or regulatory provisions 

relating to health, safety or the environment; 

(c) affect such investigations, actions, suits or proceedings by a regulatory body as are 

specifically permitted by Section 11.1 of the CCAA; 

(d) prevent the filing of any registration to preserve or perfect a security interest; 

(e) prevent the registration of a claim for lien; or 

(f) prevent any actions that are permitted by Section 34(8) of the CCAA. 

LIMITED STAY IN RESPECT OF THE NON-APPLICANT STAY PARTY 

22. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, no Person shall (a) commence or 

continue any Proceeding or enforcement process, (b) terminate, repudiate, make any demand, 

accelerate, alter, amend, declare in default, exercise any options, rights or remedies, or (c) 

discontinue, fail to honour, alter, interfere with or cease to perform any obligation, pursuant to or 
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in respect of any agreement, lease, sublease, license or permit with respect to which the Non-

Applicant Stay Party is a party, borrower, principal obligor or guarantor, by reason of: 

(a) the Applicant being insolvent or having made an application to this Court under the 

CCAA; 

(b) the Applicant being a party to this proceeding or taking any steps related thereto; or 

(c) the stay granted pursuant to this paragraph 22; and 

(d) any default or cross-default arising from the matters set out in the foregoing 

subparagraphs, 

except with the written consent of the Applicant and the Monitor, or with leave of this Court. 

NO INTERFERENCE WITH RIGHTS 

23. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, no Person shall discontinue, fail to 

honour, alter, interfere with, repudiate, terminate or cease to perform any right, renewal right, 

contract, agreement, lease, sublease, licence or permit in favour of or held by the Applicant or 

the Non-Applicant Stay Party or take any steps to interrupt or interfere with the operation of the 

Business or the continued use of the Property of the Applicant, except with the written consent of 

the Applicant and the Monitor, or leave of this Court. 

CONTINUATION OF SERVICES 

24. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all Persons having oral or written 

agreements with the Applicant or statutory or regulatory mandates for the supply of goods and/or 

services, including without limitation all computer software, communication and other data 

services, centralized banking services, insurance, transportation services, utility or other services 

to the Business or the Applicant, are hereby restrained until further Order of this Court from 

discontinuing, altering, interfering with or terminating the supply of such goods or services as 

may be required by the Applicant, and that the Applicant shall be entitled to the continued use of 

its current premises, telephone numbers, facsimile numbers, internet addresses and domain 

names, provided in each case that the normal prices or charges for all such goods or services 

received after the date of this Order are paid by the Applicant in accordance with normal 
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payment practices of the Applicant or such other practices as may be agreed upon by the supplier 

or service provider and the Applicant and the Monitor, or as may be ordered by this Court.  

NON-DEROGATION OF RIGHTS 

25. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding anything else in this Order, no Person 

shall be prohibited from requiring immediate payment for goods, services, use of lease or 

licensed property or other valuable consideration provided on or after the date of this Order, nor 

shall any Person be under any obligation on or after the date of this Order to advance or re-

advance any monies or otherwise extend any credit to the Applicant. Nothing in this Order shall 

derogate from the rights conferred and obligations imposed by the CCAA. 

PROCEEDINGS AGAINST DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

26. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, and except as permitted by 

subsection 11.03(2) of the CCAA, no Proceeding may be commenced or continued against any 

of the current or future directors or officers of the Applicant, including the members of the Board 

of Governors of the Applicant (the “Board”) with respect to any claim against the directors, 

officers or the Board that arose before the date of this Order and that relates to any obligations of 

the Applicant whereby the directors, officers or the Board are alleged under any law to be liable 

in their capacity as directors or officers for the payment or performance of such obligations, until 

a compromise or arrangement in respect of the Applicant, if one is filed, is sanctioned by this 

Court or is refused by the creditors of the Applicant or this Court. 

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INDEMNIFICATION AND CHARGE 

27. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall indemnify its directors, officers and 

the Board against obligations and liabilities that they may incur as directors or officers of the 

Applicant after the commencement of the within proceedings, except to the extent that, with 

respect to any officer, director or member of the Board, the obligation or liability was incurred as 

a result of the director’s or officer’s gross negligence or wilful misconduct. 

28. THIS COURT ORDERS that the directors, officers and Board of the Applicant shall be 

entitled to the benefit of and are hereby granted a charge (the “Directors’ Charge”) on the 

Property, which charge shall not exceed an aggregate amount of $5,000,000, as security for the 
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indemnity provided in paragraph 27 of this Order. The Directors’ Charge shall have the priority 

set out in paragraphs 54 and 56 herein. 

29. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any language in any applicable 

insurance policy to the contrary, (a) no insurer shall be entitled to be subrogated to or claim the 

benefit of the Directors’ Charge, and (b) the Applicant’s directors, officers and the Board shall 

only be entitled to the benefit of the Directors’ Charge to the extent that they do not have 

coverage under any applicable insurance policy, or to the extent that such coverage is insufficient 

to pay amounts indemnified in accordance with paragraph 27 of this Order. 

APPOINTMENT OF MONITOR 

30. THIS COURT ORDERS that Ernst & Young Inc. is hereby appointed pursuant to the 

CCAA as the Monitor, an officer of this Court, to monitor the business and financial affairs of 

the Applicant with the powers and obligations set out in the CCAA or set forth herein and that 

the Applicant and its officers, directors, and Assistants shall advise the Monitor of all material 

steps taken by the Applicant pursuant to this Order, and shall co-operate fully with the Monitor 

in the exercise of its powers and discharge of its obligations and provide the Monitor with the 

assistance that is necessary to enable the Monitor to adequately carry out the Monitor’s 

functions. 

31. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, in addition to its prescribed rights and 

obligations under the CCAA, is hereby directed and empowered to: 

(a) monitor the Applicant’s receipts and disbursements; 

(b) liaise with and assist the Applicant and the Assistants with respect to all matters 

relating to the Applicant’s Business, the Applicant’s Property and the Restructuring, 

and such other matters as may be relevant to the proceedings herein; 

(c) report to this Court at such times and intervals as the Monitor may deem appropriate 

with respect to matters relating to the Property, the Business and such other matters as 

may be relevant to the proceedings herein; 

(d) advise the Applicant in the preparation of the Applicant’s cash flow statements and 

any other reporting to the Court or otherwise; 
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(e) be at liberty to participate in discussions with representatives of the Ministry of 

Colleges and Universities (“MCU”) and such other representatives of Provincial or 

Federal government agencies, at any time on all aspects of this proceeding and the 

Applicant’s restructuring, subject to such terms of confidentiality as may be 

appropriate in the Monitor’s assessment and in consultation with the Applicant; 

(f) assist the Applicant, to the extent required by the Applicant, in its dissemination, to 

the DIP Lender (as defined below) and its counsel on a weekly basis of financial and 

other information as agreed to between the Applicant and the DIP Lender which may 

be used in these proceedings including reporting on a basis to be agreed with the DIP 

Lender; 

(g) advise the Applicant in its development of the Plan and any amendments to the Plan; 

(h) assist the Applicant, to the extent required by the Applicant, with the holding and 

administering of a creditors’ meeting for voting on the Plan; 

(i) have full and complete access to the Property, including the premises, books, records, 

data, including data in electronic form, and other financial documents of the 

Applicant, wherever situate, in order to assess the Applicant’s business and financial 

affairs or to perform its duties arising under this Order; 

(j) be at liberty to engage independent legal counsel or such other persons as the Monitor 

deems necessary or advisable respecting the exercise of its powers and performance 

of its obligations under this Order; and 

(k) perform such other duties as are required by this Order or by this Court from time to 

time. 

32. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall not take possession of the Property of 

the Applicant, or any property of the Non-Applicant Stay Party, and shall take no part 

whatsoever in the management or supervision of the management of the Business and shall not, 

by fulfilling its obligations hereunder, be deemed to have taken or maintained possession or 

control of the Business or Property, or any part thereof.  
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33. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Monitor to 

occupy or to take control, care, charge, possession or management (separately and/or 

collectively, “Possession”) of any of the Property that might be environmentally contaminated, 

might be a pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or contribute to a spill, discharge, release 

or deposit of a substance contrary to any federal, provincial or other law respecting the 

protection, conservation, enhancement, remediation or rehabilitation of the environment or 

relating to the disposal of waste or other contamination including, without limitation, the 

Canadian Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario 

Water Resources Act, or the Ontario Occupational Health and Safety Act and regulations 

thereunder (the “Environmental Legislation”), provided however that nothing herein shall 

exempt the Monitor from any duty to report or make disclosure imposed by applicable 

Environmental Legislation.  The Monitor shall not, as a result of this Order or anything done in 

pursuance of the Monitor’s duties and powers under this Order, be deemed to be in Possession of 

any of the Property within the meaning of any Environmental legislation, unless it is actually in 

possession. 

34. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall provide any creditor of the Applicant 

and the DIP Lender with information provided by the Applicant in response to reasonable 

requests for information made in writing by such creditor addressed to the Monitor. The Monitor 

shall not have any responsibility or liability with respect to the information disseminated by it 

pursuant to this paragraph. In the case of information that the Monitor has been advised by the 

Applicant is confidential, the Monitor shall not provide such information to creditors unless 

otherwise directed by this Court or on such terms as the Monitor and the Applicant may agree. 

35. THIS COURT ORDERS that, in addition to the rights and protections afforded the 

Monitor under the CCAA or as an officer of this Court, the Monitor shall incur no liability or 

obligation as a result of its appointment or the carrying out of the provisions of this Order or the 

Initial Order, save and except for any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part. Nothing 

in this Order or the Initial Order shall derogate from the protections afforded the Monitor by the 

CCAA or any applicable legislation. 

36. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor and the Applicant’s 

counsel and advisors in connection with the CCAA proceedings (collectively, the “Restructuring 
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Advisors”) together with independent counsel to the Board (“Board Counsel”) shall each be 

paid their reasonable fees and disbursements, in each case at their standard rates and charges, 

whether incurred prior to or subsequent to the date of this Order, by the Applicant as part of the 

costs of these proceedings. The Applicant is hereby authorized and directed to pay the accounts 

of the Restructuring Advisors and Board Counsel.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the fees and 

disbursement of Board Counsel paid by the Applicant from and after the date of this Order shall 

not exceed the aggregate amount of $250,000, plus HST, pending further Order of the Court. 

37. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor and its legal counsel shall pass their accounts 

from time to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Monitor and its legal counsel are 

hereby referred to a judge of the Commercial List of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice. 

38. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Restructuring Advisors shall be entitled to the benefit 

of and are hereby granted a charge (the “Administration Charge”) on the Property, which 

charge shall not exceed an aggregate amount of $1,250,000, as security for their professional 

fees and disbursements incurred at the standard rates and charges of the Restructuring Advisors, 

both before and after the making of this Order in respect of these proceedings. The 

Administration Charge shall have the priority set out in paragraphs 54 and 56 hereof. 

COURT-APPOINTED MEDIATOR 

39. THIS COURT ORDERS that [►] is hereby appointed, as an officer of the Court and to 

act as a neutral third party (the “Court-Appointed Mediator”) to assist the Applicant and the 

relevant stakeholders with a mediation of: 

(a) the review and restructuring of the academic programs of the Applicant; 

(b) the collective agreement between the Applicant and the Laurentian University Faculty 

Association;  

(c) the framework for the Applicant’s restructuring and future operations; and 

(d) any other matters that are referred to the Court-Appointed Mediator by the Applicant, 

the Monitor or this Court 

(together, the “Mediation Objectives”). 
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40. THIS COURT ORDERS that in carrying out his/her mandate, the Court-Appointed 

Mediator may, among other things: 

(a) adopt processes, procedures and timelines which, in his/her discretion, he/she 

considers appropriate to facilitate an effective and efficient negotiation of the 

Mediation Objectives (the “Mediation Process”); and 

(b) consult with an appointed representative of the parties affected by the Mediation 

Objectives, the Monitor, the Applicant, and such other creditors and stakeholders of 

the Applicant and any other persons the Court-Appointed Mediator considers 

appropriate. 

41. THIS COURT ORDERS that, subject to an agreement between the Applicant and the 

Court-Appointed Mediator, all reasonable fees and disbursements of the Court-Appointed 

Mediator as may have been incurred prior to the date of this Order or which shall be incurred by 

them in relation to carrying out his mandate shall be paid by the Applicant on a monthly basis, 

forthwith upon the rendering of accounts to the Applicant. 

42. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Court-Appointed Mediator is authorized to take all 

steps and to do all acts necessary or desirable to carry out the terms of this Order, including as it 

relates to any Court, regulatory body or other government ministry, department or agency, and to 

take all such steps as are necessary or incidental thereto. 

43. THIS COURT ORDERS that, in addition to the rights and protections afforded as an 

officer of this Court, the Court-Appointed Mediator shall incur no liability or obligation as a 

result of his/her appointment or the carrying out of the provisions of this Order, save and except 

for any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on his/her part.  Nothing in this Order shall 

derogate from the protections afforded to a person pursuant to Section 142 of the Courts of 

Justice Act (Ontario). 

44. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Court and the Court-Appointed Mediator may 

communicate between one another directly to discuss, on an ongoing basis, the conduct of the 

Mediation Process and the manner in which it will be coordinated with the CCAA proceedings, 

including but not limited to individual matters referred specifically by the Court to the Court-

Appointed Mediator for resolution. 
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45. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Court will not disclose to the Court-Appointed 

Mediator how the Court will decide any matter which may come before the Court for 

determination and the Court-Appointed Mediator will not disclose to the Court the negotiating 

positions or confidential information of any of the parties in the Mediation Process. 

46. THIS COURT ORDERS that all statements, discussions, offers made and documents 

produced by any of the parties in the course of the Mediation Process shall not be subject to 

disclosure through discovery or any other process; shall be confidential; shall not be referred to 

in Court and shall not be admissible into evidence for any purpose, including impeaching 

credibility or to establish the meaning and/or validity of any settlement or alleged settlement 

arising from the Mediation Process. 

47. THIS COURT ORDERS that any notes, records, statements made, discussions had and 

recollections of the Court-Appointed Mediator in conducting the Mediation Process shall be 

confidential and without prejudice and protected from disclosure for all purposes in accordance 

with paragraph 46 hereof. 

DIP FINANCING 

48. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant is hereby authorized and empowered to 

obtain and borrow under a credit facility from Firm Capital Mortgage Fund Inc., or its assignee 

(the “DIP Lender”) in order to finance the Applicant’s working capital requirements and other 

general corporate purposes and capital expenditures, provided that borrowings under such credit 

facility shall not exceed $25,000,000, unless permitted by further Order of this Court. 

49. THIS COURT ORDERS that such credit facility shall be on the terms and subject to the 

conditions set forth in the term sheet between the Applicant and the DIP Lender dated as of 

January 29, 2021 (the “DIP Term Sheet”) attached as Exhibit “HHH” to the Hache Initial 

Affidavit, subject to such minor amendments as may be acceptable to the Applicant and the DIP 

Lender and approved by the Monitor. 

50. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant is hereby authorized and empowered to 

execute and deliver such credit agreements, mortgages, charges, hypothecs and security 

documents and other definitive documents (collectively, the “DIP Documents”), as are 

contemplated by the DIP Term Sheet or as may be reasonably required by the DIP Lender 
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pursuant to the terms of the DIP Term Sheet, and the Applicant is hereby authorized and directed 

to pay and perform all of its indebtedness, interest, liabilities and obligations to the DIP Lender 

under and pursuant to the DIP Term Sheet and the DIP Documents, as and when the same 

become due, and are to be performed, notwithstanding any other provision of this Order. 

51. THIS COURT ORDERS that the DIP Lender shall be entitled to the benefit of and is 

hereby granted a charge (the “DIP Lender’s Charge”) on the Property, including without 

limitation, the real property set out in Schedule “A”, and the DIP Lender’s Charge shall not 

secure any obligation that exists between the Applicant and the DIP Lender before this Order is 

made.  The DIP Lender’s Charge shall have the priority set out in paragraphs 54 and 56 hereof. 

52. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any other provision of this Order: 

(a) the DIP Lender may take such steps from time to time as it may deem necessary or 

appropriate to file, register, record or perfect the DIP Lender’s Charge or any of the 

DIP Documents; 

(b) upon the occurrence of an event of default under the DIP Documents or the DIP 

Lender’s Charge or upon the Maturity Date (as defined in the DIP Term Sheet), the 

DIP Lender, upon 14 days’ written notice to the Applicant and the Monitor, may 

exercise, with prior approval of this Court, any and all of its rights and remedies 

against the Applicant or the Property under or pursuant to the DIP Term Sheet, the 

DIP Documents and the DIP Lender’s Charge, including without limitation, to cease 

making advances to the Applicant, to make, demand, accelerate payment and give 

other notices, or to apply to this Court for the appointment of a receiver, receiver and 

manager or interim receiver, or for a bankruptcy order against the Applicant and for 

the appointment of a trustee in bankruptcy of the Applicant; and 

(c) the foregoing rights and remedies of the DIP Lender shall be enforceable against any 

trustee in bankruptcy, interim receiver, receiver or receiver and manager of the 

Applicant or the Property. 

53. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that, unless otherwise agreed by the DIP 

Lender, the DIP Lender shall be treated as unaffected in any plan of arrangement or compromise 
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filed by the Applicant under the CCAA, or any other or similar proceeding that may be 

commenced by the Applicant with respect to any advances made under the DIP Documents. 

VALIDITY AND PRIORITY OF CHARGES CREATED BY THIS ORDER 

54. THIS COURT ORDERS that the priorities of the Administration Charge, the Directors’ 

Charge and the DIP Lender’s Charge (collectively, the “Charges” and each individually, a 

“Charge”) as among them, shall be as follows: 

First – Administration Charge (to the maximum amount of $1,250,000); 

Second – Directors’ Charge (to the maximum amount of $2,000,000); 

Third – DIP Lender’s Charge (to the maximum amount of $25,000,000); and 

Fourth – Directors’ Charge (to the maximum amount of $3,000,000). 

55. THIS COURT ORDERS that the filing, registration or perfection of the Charges shall 

not be required, and that the Charges shall be valid and enforceable for all purposes, including as 

against any right, title or interest filed, registered, recorded or perfected subsequent to the 

Charges coming into existence, notwithstanding any such failure to file, register, record or 

perfect. 

56. THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Charges shall constitute a charge on the 

Property and such Charges shall rank in priority to all other security interests, trusts, liens, 

construction liens, charges and encumbrances, claims of secured creditors, statutory or otherwise 

(collectively, “Encumbrances”) in favour of any Person. 

57. THIS COURT ORDERS that except as otherwise expressly provided for herein, or as 

may be approved by this Court, the Applicant shall not grant any Encumbrances over any 

Property that rank in priority to, or pari passu with, any of the Charges, unless the Applicant also 

obtains the prior written consent of the Monitor and the beneficiaries of the Charges affected 

thereby (collectively, the “Chargees”), or further Order of this Court.  

58. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Charges shall not be rendered invalid or 

unenforceable and the rights and remedies of the Chargees shall not be limited or impaired in any 

way by (a) the pendency of these proceedings and the declarations of insolvency made herein; 
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(b) any application(s) for bankruptcy order(s) issued pursuant to Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act 

(Canada) (the “BIA”), or any bankruptcy order made pursuant to such applications; (c) the filing 

of any assignments for the general benefit of creditors made pursuant to the BIA; (d) the 

provisions of any federal or provincial statutes; or (e) any negative covenants, prohibitions or 

other similar provisions with respect to borrowings, incurring debt or the creation of 

Encumbrances, contained in any existing loan documents, lease, sublease, offer to lease or other 

agreement (collectively, an "Agreement") which binds the Applicant, and notwithstanding any 

provision to the contrary in any Agreement: 

(a) the creation of the Charges nor the execution, delivery, perfection, registration or 

performance of the DIP Term Sheet or the DIP Documents shall not create or be 

deemed to constitute a breach by the Applicant of any Agreement to which it is a 

party; 

(b) none of the Chargees shall have any liability to any Person whatsoever as a result of 

any breach of any Agreement caused by or resulting from the Applicant entering into 

the DIP Term Sheet, the creation of the Charges or the execution, delivery or 

performance of the DIP Documents; and 

(c) the payments made by the Applicant pursuant to this Order, the DIP Term Sheet or 

the DIP Documents and the granting of the Charges, do not and will not constitute 

preferences, fraudulent conveyances, transfers at undervalue, oppressive conduct, or 

other challengeable or voidable transactions under any applicable law. 

59. THIS COURT ORDERS that any Charge created by this Order over leases of real 

property in Canada shall only be a Charge in the Applicant’s interest in such real property leases. 

60. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding anything else contained herein and 

pending further Order of the Court, the Property subject to the Charges herein shall not include 

the Segregated Funds. 

SERVICE AND NOTICE 

61. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall (i) without delay, publish in the Globe 

& Mail and the Sudbury Star a notice containing the information prescribed under the CCAA, 
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and (ii) within five days of the date of this Order, (A) make this Order publicly available in the 

manner prescribed under the CCAA, (B) send, in the prescribed manner, a notice to every known 

creditor who has a claim against the Applicant of more than $1,000 (excluding any individual 

employees, former employees with pension and/or retirement savings or benefits plan 

entitlements, and retirees and other beneficiaries who have entitlements under any pension or 

retirement savings plan), and (C) prepare a list showing the names and addresses of those 

creditors and the estimated amounts of those claims, and make it publicly available in the 

prescribed manner, all in accordance with Section 23(1)(a) of the CCAA and the regulations 

made thereunder, provided that the Monitor shall not make the claims, names and addresses of 

individuals who are creditors publicly available, unless otherwise ordered by the Court. 

62. THIS COURT ORDERS that the E-Service Protocol of the Commercial List (the 

“Protocol”) is approved and adopted by reference herein and, in this proceeding, the service of 

documents made in accordance with the Protocol (which can be found on the Commercial List 

website at http://www.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/practice-directions/toronto/eservice-

commercial) shall be valid and effective service. Subject to Rule 17.05 of the Rules of Civil 

Procedure, this Order shall constitute an order for substituted service pursuant to Rule 16.04 of 

the Rules of Civil Procedure. Subject to Rule 3.01(d) of the Rules of Civil Procedure and 

paragraph 21 of the Protocol, service of documents in accordance with the Protocol will be 

effective on transmission. This Court further orders that a Case Website shall be established in 

accordance with the Protocol with the following URL: www.ey.com/ca/Laurentian. 

63. THIS COURT ORDERS that if the service or distribution of documents in accordance 

with the Protocol is not practicable, the Applicant and the Monitor are at liberty to serve or 

distribute this Order, any other materials and orders in these proceedings, any notices or other 

correspondence, by forwarding true copies thereof by prepaid ordinary mail, courier, personal 

delivery or facsimile transmission to the Applicant’s creditors or other interested parties at their 

respective addresses as last shown on the records of the Applicant and that any such service or 

distribution by courier, personal delivery or facsimile transmission shall be deemed to be 

received on the next business day following the date of forwarding thereof, or if sent by ordinary 

mail, on the third business day after mailing. 
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64. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall create, maintain and update as 

necessary a list of all Persons appearing in person or by counsel in this proceeding (the “Service 

List”).  The Monitor shall post the Service List, as may be updated from time to time, on the case 

website as part of the public materials in relation to this proceeding.  Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, the Monitor shall have no liability in respect of the accuracy of or the timeliness of 

making any changes to the Service List. 

65. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant and the Monitor and their respective 

counsel are at liberty to serve or distribute this Order, and other materials and orders as may be 

reasonably required in these proceedings, including any notices, or other correspondence, by 

forwarding true copies thereof by electronic message to the Applicant’s creditors or other 

interested parties and their advisors. For greater certainty, any such distribution or service shall 

be deemed to be in satisfaction of a legal or judicial obligation, and notice requirements within 

the meaning of clause 3(c) of the Electronic Commerce Protection Regulations, Reg. 81000-2-

175 (SOR/DORS). 

SERVICE AND NOTICE 

66. THIS COURT ORDERS that, subject to paragraph 67, all motions in this proceeding 

are to be brought on not less than seven (7) calendar days' notice to all persons on the Service 

List. Each Notice of Motion shall specify a date (the “Return Date”) and time for the hearing. 

67. THIS COURT ORDERS that motions for relief on an urgent basis need not comply 

with the notice protocol described herein. 

68. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested Person wishing to object to the relief 

sought in a motion must serve responding motion material or, if they do not intend to file 

material, a notice in all cases stating the objection to the motion and the grounds for such 

objection in writing (the “Responding Material”) to the moving party, the Applicant and the 

Monitor, with a copy to all Persons on the Service List, no later than 5:00 p.m. on the date that is 

four (4) calendar days prior to the Return Date (the “Objection Deadline”).  

69. THIS COURT ORDERS that, if no Responding Materials are served by the Objection 

Deadline, the judge having carriage of the motion (the “Presiding Judge”) may determine: 

(a) whether a hearing is necessary; 
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(b) whether such hearing will be in person, by telephone, by video conference, or by 

written submissions only; and 

(c) the parties from whom submissions are required 

(collectively, the “Hearing Details”). In the absence of any such determination, a hearing will be 

held in the ordinary course. 

70. THIS COURT ORDERS that, if no Responding Materials are served by the Objection 

Deadline, the Monitor shall communicate with the Presiding Judge regarding whether a 

determination has been made by the Presiding Judge concerning the Hearing Details.  The 

Monitor shall thereafter advise the Service List of the Hearing Details and the Monitor shall 

report upon its dissemination of the Hearing Details to the Court in a timely manner, which may 

be contained in the Monitor's next report in the proceeding. 

71. THIS COURT ORDERS that if any party objects to the motion proceeding on the 

Return Date or believes that the Objection Deadline does not provide sufficient time to respond 

to the motion, such objecting party shall, promptly upon receipt of the Notice of Motion and in 

any event prior to the Objection Deadline, contact the moving party and the Monitor (together 

with the objecting party and any other party who has served Responding Materials, the 

“Interested Parties”) to advise of such objection and the reasons therefor.  If the Interested 

Parties are unable to resolve the objection to the timing and schedule for the motion following 

good faith consultations, the Interested Parties may seek a scheduling appointment before the 

Presiding Judge to be held prior to the Return Date or on such other date as may be mutually 

agreed by the Interested Parties or as directed by the Presiding Judge to establish a schedule for 

the motion.  At the scheduling appointment, the Presiding Judge may provide directions 

including a schedule for the delivery of any further materials and the hearing of the contested 

motion, and may address such other matters, including interim relief, as the Court may see fit.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Presiding Judge may require the Interested Parties to proceed 

with the contested motion on the Return Date or on any other date as may be directed by the 

Presiding Judge or as may be mutually agreed by the Interested Parties, if otherwise satisfactory 

to the Presiding Judge. 
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SEALING PROVISION 

72. THIS COURT ORDERS that Confidential Exhibits “EEE” and “FFF” of the Haché 

Initial Affidavit, are hereby sealed pending further order of the Court, and shall not form part of 

the public record. 

GENERAL 

73. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant or the Monitor may from time to time apply 

to this Court for advice and directions in the discharge of their powers and duties hereunder. 

74. THIS COURT ORDERS that upon the registration in the Land Titles Division of the 

Real Property of the DIP Lender’s Charge in the form prescribed in the Land Titles Act or the 

Registration Reform Act, or both, as applicable, the Land Registrar is hereby directed to register 

the DIP Lender’s Charge on title of the Real Property. 

75. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Monitor from 

acting as an interim receiver, a receiver, a receiver and manager, or a trustee in bankruptcy of the 

Applicant, the Business or the Property. 

76. THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court, tribunal, 

regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada or outside of Canada to give 

effect to this Order and to assist the Applicant, the Monitor and their respective agents in 

carrying out the terms of this Order. All courts, tribunals, regulatory and administrative bodies 

are hereby respectfully requested to make such orders and to provide such assistance to the 

Applicant and to the Monitor, as an officer of this Court, as may be necessary or desirable to give 

effect to this Order, to grant representative status to the Monitor in any foreign proceeding, or to 

assist the Applicant and the Monitor and their respective agents in carrying out the terms of this 

Order. 

77. THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Applicant and the Monitor be at liberty and is 

hereby authorized and empowered to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or administrative 

body, wherever located, for the recognition of this Order and for assistance in carrying out the 

terms of this Order, and that the Monitor is authorized and empowered to act as a representative 

in respect of the within proceedings for the purpose of having these proceedings recognized in a 

jurisdiction outside Canada. 
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78. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party (including the Applicant and the 

Monitor) may apply to this Court to vary or amend this Order on not less than seven (7) days 

notice to any other party or parties likely to be affected by the order sought or upon such other 

notice, if any, as this Court may order. 

79. THIS COURT ORDERS that this Order and all of its provisions are effective as of 

12:01 a.m. Eastern Time on the date of this Order, and is enforceable without any need for entry 

and filing. 

__________________________________ 
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Schedule “A” 
Real Property 

 
PIN Legal Description 

73584-0678 LT 63-67 PL 4SB MCKIM; LT 158-159 PL 25SA MCKIM; PT LT 160 PL 25SA 
MCKIM; PT LT 68-69 PL 4SB MCKIM; PT NELSON ST, DAVID ST PL 4SB 
MCKIM (CLOSED BY S70); PT S1/2 LT 5 CON 3 MCKIM AS IN S61148; S/T 
INTEREST IN S61148; S/T EXECUTION 00-00878, IF ENFORCEABLE; 
GREATER SUDBURY 

73584-0804 LT 232-234 PL 6S MCKIM; PT LT 229-231 PL 6S MCKIM AS IN S53645 EXCEPT 
PART 1 53R6379; GREATER SUDBURY 

73585-1052 PT N1/2 LT 5 CON 3 MCKIM; PT LT 6 CON 3 MCKIM PT 1, 2, 3, 4 & 5 
53R16518; GREATER SUDBURY; SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT IN GROSS 
OVER PT 2 53R19698 AS IN SD225472; SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT IN 
GROSS OVER PT 3 53R19698 AS IN SD225678; SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT 
IN GROSS OVER PT 3, 53R19698 AS IN SD239534 

73585-1167 PT LT 6, CON 3 MCKIN, PTS 1, 2, AND 3 ON PLAN 53R-19698; SUBJECT TO 
AN EASEMENT IN GROSS OVER PT 2, 53R19698 AS IN SD225472; SUBJECT 
TO AN EASEMENT IN GROSS OVER PT 3, 53R19698 AS IN SD225678; 
SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT IN GROSS OVER PT 3, 53R19698 AS IN 
SD229534; CITY OF GREATER SUDBURY 

73592-0084 PCL 46194 SEC SES SRO; PT LT 2 CON 2 MCKIM PT 2 53R7594; GREATER 
SUDBURY 

73592-0217 PCL 30769 SEC SES; PT LT 2 CON 2 MCKIM AS IN LT212290 (THIRDLY) 
EXCEPT PT 3 53R7594; PT LT 3 CON 2 MCKIM AS IN LT212290 (FIRSTLY) 
EXCEPT PT 1, 53R16920; LT 1 EXPROP PL M785 & UNIT 8 EXPROP PL D49; 
EXCEPT PT 13, 14 53R9175, UNITS 1-7, 9 EXPROP PL D49, PT 1-16 53R5371; PT 
BROKEN LT 4 CON 2 MCKIM AS IN LT220905 (FIRSTLY) EXCEPT UNITS 1, 2, 
3, 13 EXPROP PL D48; S/T LT233153, LT32862, LT622331, LT748126, LT842126; 
GREATER SUDBURY 

73592-0412 PCL 53884 SEC SES; 1STLY: PT LT 3 CON 2 MCKIM PT 1, 53R16920: 2NDLY: 
PT LT 3 CON 2 MCKIM PT 5, 8, 11 & 12 53R5371; GREATER SUDBURY; 
SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT IN GROSS OVER PTS 2,4,5,6,8,10,11,12 & 13 
53R17763 AS IN SD246793 

73592-0414  PCL 53880 SEC SES; PT LT 3 CON 2 MCKIM PT 7, 53R5371; GREATER 
SUDBURY 

73592-0427 PCL 30769 SEC SES; PT LT 3 CON 2 MCKIM LT 1 EXPROP PL M785; S/T 
LT622331; GREATER SUDBURY; SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT IN GROSS 
OVER PT 1 53R19195 AS IN SD246792 

73593-0063 PCL 21810 SEC SES; FIRSTLY: PT LT 2 CON 1 MCKIM; SECONDLY: PT LT 2 
CON 2 MCKIM AS IN LT130739; GREATER SUDBURY 
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73593-0276 PCL 30769 SEC SES; PT LT 3 CON 1 MCKIM; PT LT 4 CON 1 MCKIM; PT LT 2 
CON 1 MCKIM AS IN LT212290 (SECONDLY, FIFTHLY), LT220905 
(SECONDLY, THIRDLY), LT 1 EXPROP PL M764, EXCEPT PT 1 SR754, PT 1 
53R4053, PT 1-6 & 8 53R6915, PT 1 53R7807, PT 1, 2 53R8716, PT 1, 2 53R9178,; 
PT LT 3 CON 1 MCKIM SRO AS IN LT 212290 (FOURTHLY); PT LT 3 CON 1 
MCKIM COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST ANGLE OF THE SAID LT; 
THENCE SOUTH ALONG THE WEST LIMIT THEREOF TWENTY CHAINS; 
THENCE EAST PARALLEL TO THE NORTH LIMIT OF THE LOT 5 CHAINS; 
THENCE NORTH PARALLEL TO THE WEST LIMIT TWENTY CHAINS 
MORE OR LESS TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LIMIT OF THE LOT; THENCE 
WEST ALONG SAID LIMIT FIVE CHAINS MORE OR LESS TO THE POINT 
OF COMMENCEMENT; PT LT 5 PL M92 MCKIM PT 2, 53R7807; S/T 
LT119418, LT233153, LT25019, LT436834, LT748126, LT842126; GREATER 
SUDBURY 

73593-0406  PCL 34100 SEC SES AS IN LT264521; PT BROKEN LT 1 CON 1 MCKIM 
LOCATION 145, PT 1 SR1028; GREATER SUDBURY 

73593-0444 PCL 30769 SEC SES; LT 3 CON 2 MCKIM S OF UNIT 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 & 6 EXPROPPL 
D49 & SW OF PT 2, 3, 7, 9 & 14, 53R5371 EXCEPT PT 1 SR754; N 1/2 LT 2 CON 
1 MCKIM EXCEPT LT130739; PT LT 2 CON 2 MCKIM AS IN EP6694 EXCEPT 
LT130739, PT 3 53R7594; SRO E 1/2 LT 3 CON 1 MCKIM EXCEPT PT 1-6, 8 
53R6915; PT LT 3 CON 1 MCKIM AS IN LT211094, EP4842, LT 1 EXPROP PL 
M764 EXCEPT PT 1 SR754; PT BROKEN LT 4 CON 2 MCKIM AS IN LT220905 
(FIRSTLY) EXCEPT UNITS 1-3, 13 EXPROP PL D48; PT LT 4 CON 1 MCKIM 
AS IN LT2 20905 (SECONDLY) & PT 2 SR754 EXCEPT PT 1 53R4053, PT 1 
53R7807, PT 1 & 2 53R8716 & PT 1 & 2 53R9178; PT LT 5 PL M92 PT 2 53R7807; 
S/T LT119418, LT32862, LT233153 (PARTIALLY RELEASED AS IN SD371949), 
LT436834, LT25019, LT748126, LT842126;; SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT IN 
GROSS OVER PT LT 4 CON 2, PT 1 53R7680 AS IN SD261440; SUBJECT TO AN 
EASEMENT IN GROSS OVER PART LOT 3 CONCESSION 3 MCKIM,PART 1 
PLAN 53R20567 AS IN SD317507; SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT IN GROSS 
OVER PART LOTS 3 AND 4 CONCESSION 2 MCKIM PARTS 2 AND 3 PLAN 
53R20797 AS IN SD353369; CITY OF GREATER SUDBURY 

73593-0446 PCL 53880 SEC SES; PT LT 3 CON 2 MCKIM PT 7 53R5371; GREATER 
SUDBURY 
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73593-0465 PCL 30769 SEC SES; LT 3 CON 2 MCKIM S OF UNIT 1,2,3,4,5 & 6 EXPROP PL 
D49 & SW OF PT 2,3,7,9 & 14 53R5371; EXCEPT PT 1 SR754 & PARTS 1,2,3 
53R20763; N 1/2 LT 2 CON 1 MCKIM; EXCEPT LT130739; PT LT 2 CON 2 
MCKIM AS IN EP6694; EXCEPT LT130739, PT 3 53R7594; SRO E 1/2 LT 3 CON 
1 MCKIM; EXCEPT PT 1-6, 853R6915; PT LT 3 CON 1 MCKIM AS IN LT211094, 
EP4842, LT 1 EXPROP PL M764; EXCEPT PT 1 SR754; PT BROKEN LT 4 CON 2 
MCKIM AS IN LT220905 (FIRSTLY); EXCEPT UNITS 1-3, 13 EXPROP PL D48; 
PT LT 4 CON 1 MCKIM AS IN LT2 20905 (SECONDLY) & PT 2 SR754; EXCEPT 
PT 1 53R4053, PT 1 53R7807, PT 1 & 2 53R8716 & PT 1 & 2 53R9178; PT LT 5 PL 
M92 PT 2 53R7807; S/T LT119418, LT32862, LT233153 (PARTIALLY RELEASED 
AS IN SD371949), LT436834, LT25019, LT748126, LT842126;; SUBJECT TO AN 
EASEMENT IN GROSS OVER PT 1 53R7680 AS IN SD261440; SUBJECT TO AN 
EASEMENT IN GROSS OVER PART 1 53R20567 AS IN SD317507; SUBJECT TO 
AN EASEMENT IN GROSS OVER PARTS 2 & 3 53R20797 AS IN SD353369; 
CITY OF GREATER SUDBURY 

 Lease between Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Ontario as Represented by the 
Minister of Government and Consumer Services and Laurentian University 
dated January 1, 2020 
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Revised: January 21, 2014

Court File No.      CV-21-______________________-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

COMMERCIAL LIST

THE HONOURABLE      CHIEF

JUSTICE      MORAWETZ

)
)
)

WEEKDAYMONDAY, THE #1ST

DAY OF MONTHFEBRUARY, 20YR2021

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES'’ CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT,
R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF
[APPLICANT’S NAME] (the "

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY

Applicant")

AMENDED AND RESTATED INITIAL ORDER

THIS APPLICATIONMOTION, made by the Applicant, pursuant to the Companies'’

Creditors Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended (the "“CCAA"”) for an order

amending and restating the Initial Order (the “Initial Order”) issued on February 1, 2021 (the

“Initial Filing Date”) and extending the stay of proceedings provided for therein was heard this

day at 330 University Avenue,by judicial videoconference via Zoom in Toronto, Ontario due to

the COVID-19 pandemic.

ON READING the affidavit of [NAME]Dr. Robert Haché sworn [DATE]January 30,

2021 and the Exhibits thereto, and on being advised that the secured creditors who are likely to

be affected by the charges created herein were given notice, (the “Haché Initial Affidavit”), the

Pre-filing Report of Ernst & Young Inc. (the “Monitor”) dated January 30, 2021, the First

Report of the Monitor dated February [►], 2021 (the “First Report”) and on hearing the

submissions of counsel for [NAMES]the Applicant, counsel for the Monitor, and those other

parties listed on the Counsel Slip, no one else appearing for [NAME]1 although duly served as

appears from the affidavitAffidavit of serviceService of [NAME►] sworn [DATE]February

1 Include names of secured creditors or other persons who must be served before certain relief in this model Order may 
be granted.  See, for example, CCAA Sections 11.2(1), 11.3(1), 11.4(1), 11.51(1), 11.52(1), 32(1), 32(3), 33(2) and 
36(2).
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[►], 2021, and on reading the consent of [MONITOR’S NAME]Ernst & Young Inc. to act as the

Monitor,

SERVICE AND DEFINITIONS

THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of ApplicationMotion1.

and the ApplicationMotion Record is hereby abridged and validated2 so that this

ApplicationMotion is properly returnable today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof.

THIS COURT ORDERS that capitalized terms used herein that are not otherwise2.

defined shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Haché Initial Affidavit.

NON-APPLICANT STAY PARTY

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Laurentian University Students General Association (the

“SGA”) shall be referred to herein as a “Non-Applicant Stay Party”.  Although not an applicant

under the CCAA, the Non-Applicant Stay Party shall enjoy certain of the benefits and protections

provided herein and be subject to the restrictions as expressly hereunder set out.

APPLICATION

2. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the Applicant is insolvent and is a3.

company to which the CCAA applies.

PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall have the authority to file and may,4.

subject to further order of this Court, file with this Court a plan of compromise or arrangement

(hereinafter referred to as the "Plan").

POSSESSION OF PROPERTY AND OPERATIONS

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall remain in possession and control of5.

its current and future assets, undertakings and properties of every nature and kind whatsoever,

and wherever situate including all proceeds thereof (the "“Property"”).  Subject to further Order

of this Court, the Applicant shall continue to carry on business and deal with its assets, including

the businesses and assets of the other entities, partnerships and joint ventures in which the

2 If service is effected in a manner other than as authorized by the Ontario Rules of Civil Procedure, an order 
validating irregular service is required pursuant to Rule 16.08 of the Rules of Civil Procedure and may be granted 
in appropriate circumstances.
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Applicant has a direct or indirect interest, and is authorized to continue to provide services to

such parties in respect of which it is currently providing services, in a manner consistent with the

preservation of its business (the "“Business"”) and Property.  The Applicant is authorized and

empowered to continue to retain and employ the employees, consultants, agents, experts,

accountants, counsel and such other persons (collectively "“Assistants"”) currently retained or

employed by it, with liberty to retain such further Assistants as it deems reasonably necessary or

desirable in the ordinary course of business or for the carrying out of the terms of this Order.

5. [THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall be entitled to continue to utilizeuse6.

the central cash management system3 currently in place, as described in the Haché Initial

Affidavit of [NAME] sworn [DATE] or replace it with another substantially similar central cash

management system (, which for greater certainty includes any segregated bank accounts now

existing (together with any segregated bank accounts established pursuant to paragraph 7, the

"“Cash Management System"”), and that any present or future bank or institution providing the

Cash Management System to the Applicant shall not be under any obligation whatsoever to

inquire into the propriety, validity or legality of any transfer, payment, collection or other action

taken under the Cash Management System, or as to the use or application by the Applicant of

funds transferred, paid, collected or otherwise dealt with in the Cash Management System, shall

be entitled to provide the Cash Management System without any liability in respect thereof to

any Person (as hereinafter defined) other than the Applicant, pursuant to the terms of the

documentation applicable to the Cash Management System, except to the extent that such terms

are expressly modified by this Order or with the consent of the Applicant, the Monitor and any

applicable bank or financial institution providing a Cash Management System, and shall be,

solely in its capacity as provider of the Cash Management System only, an unaffected creditor

under the Plan with regard to any claims or expenses it may suffer or incur in connection with the

provision of the Cash Management System on or after the Initial Filing Date.] 

THIS COURT ORDERS that (a) any segregated bank accounts established by the7.

Applicant from and after December 1, 2020, to hold funds received by it on the condition that

such funds be used for a specific purpose in respect of a particular aspect of the Applicant’s

3 This provision should only be utilized where necessary, in view of the fact that central cash management systems 
often operate in a manner that consolidates the cash of applicant companies.  Specific attention should be paid to 
cross-border and inter-company transfers of cash.
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Business, including without limitation, funds provided to the Applicant for the purpose of

research projects (including grants, awards or other similar funds), funds received in respect of

restricted donations or endowments, and employee and employer contributions to benefit plans

(collectively, the “Segregated Funds”) shall be used for such specific purpose, and (b) from and

after the date of this Order, the Applicant may establish additional segregated bank accounts,

including trust accounts if necessary, to hold any additional Segregated Funds that are received

by the Applicant under such agreed upon arrangements, and the Segregated Funds shall not form

part of the Applicant’s Property.

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall be entitled but not required to pay8.

the following expenses whether incurred prior to, on or after the date of this Order, in all cases

subject to the availability of financing under the DIP Term Sheet (as defined below):

all outstanding and future wages, salaries, employee and retiree benefits (including,(a)

without limitation, employee medical, dental, vision, insurance and similar benefit

plans or arrangements), amounts owing under corporate credit cards issued to

management and employees of the Applicant, ordinary course pension benefits or

contributions, vacation pay and, expenses and any director fees and expenses, payable

on or after the date of this Order, in each case for costs incurred in the ordinary course

of business and consistent with existing practices, compensation policies and

arrangements for current and future employees (but not including any payments to

former employees or retirees in respect of the SuRP and the RHBP, as such terms are

defined in the Haché Initial Affidavit, or termination or severance payments, which

are hereby stayed), and all other payroll processing and servicing expenses;

all outstanding amounts owing in respect of the current 2020-21 academic year and(b)

future amounts owing in respect of rebates, refunds or other similar amounts that are

owing or may be owed to students or student associations of the Applicant, whether

such amounts are as a result of the reimbursement of tuition fees, ancillary fees or

otherwise, provided that such rebates, refunds or other similar amounts are subject to

the existing policies and procedures of the Applicant;
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all outstanding amounts owing in respect of the current 2020-21 academic year and(c)

future amounts payable to students in respect of student scholarship, bursary or

grants; and

(b) the fees and disbursements of any Assistants retained or employed by the(d)

Applicant in respect of these proceedings, at their standard rates and charges.

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as otherwise provided to the contrary herein,9.

the Applicant shall be entitled but not required to pay all reasonable expenses incurred by the

Applicant in carrying on the Business in the ordinary course after this Orderthe Initial Filing

Date, and in carrying out the provisions of this Order, which expenses shall include, without

limitation:

all expenses and capital expenditures reasonably necessary for the preservation of the(a)

Property or the Business (including the value thereof) including, without limitation,

payments on account of insurance (including directors and officers’ insurance),

maintenance and security services; and

payment for goods or services actually supplied to the Applicant following the date of(b)

this Order or payments to obtain the release of goods or delivery of services

contracted for prior to the date of this Order,

provided that, to the extent such expenses were incurred prior to the date Initial Filing Date,

the Applicant shall only be entitled to pay such amounts if they are determined by the

Applicant, in consultation with the Monitor, to be necessary to the continued operation of the

Business or preservation of the Property and such payments are approved in advance by the

Monitor.

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall remit, in accordance with legal10.

requirements, or pay:

until further order of this Court, all outstanding and future normal course(a)

contributions to or payments in respect of the Pension Plan, as defined in the Haché

Initial Affidavit, in the ordinary course of business and consistent with existing

compensation policies and arrangements;
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(a) any statutory deemed trust amounts in favour of the Crown in right of Canada or(b)

of any Province thereof or any other taxation authority which are required to be

deducted from employees'’ wages, including, without limitation, amounts in respect

of (i) employment insurance, (ii) Canada Pension Plan, and (iii) Quebec Pension Plan,

and (iv) income taxes;

(b) all goods and services or other applicable sales taxes (collectively, "“Sales(c)

Taxes"”) required to be remitted by the Applicant in connection with the sale of

goods and services by the Applicant, but only where such Sales Taxes are accrued or

collected after the date of this Order, or where such Sales Taxes were accrued or

collected prior to the date of this Order but not required to be remitted until on or after

the date of this Order, and

(c) any amount payable to the Crown in right of Canada or of any Province thereof or(d)

any political subdivision thereof or any other taxation authority in respect of

municipal realty, municipal business or other taxes, assessments or levies of any

nature or kind which are entitled at law to be paid in priority to claims of secured

creditors and which are attributable to or in respect of the carrying on of the Business

by the Applicant.

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that until a real property lease is disclaimed [or resiliated]411.

in accordance with the CCAA, the Applicant shall pay, without duplication, all amounts

constituting rent or payable as rent under real property leases (including, for greater certainty,

common area maintenance charges, utilities and realty taxes and any other amounts payable to

the landlord under the lease, but for greater certainty, excluding accelerated rent or penalties, fees

or other charges arising as a result of the insolvency of the Applicant or the making of this Order)

or as otherwise may be negotiated between the Applicant and the landlord from time to time

("Rent"), for the period commencing from and including the date of this Order, twice-monthly in

equal payments on the first and fifteenth day of each month, in advance (but not in arrears).  On

the date of the first of such payments, any Rent relating to the period commencing from and

including the date of this Order shall also be paid.

4 The term "resiliate" should remain if there are leased premises in the Province of Quebec, but can otherwise be 
removed.
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10. THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as specifically permitted herein, the Applicant12.

is hereby directed, until further Order of this Court: (a) to make no payments of principal, interest

thereon or otherwise on account of amounts owing by the Applicant to any of its creditors as of

the date of this dateOrder (including for greater certainty in respect of the interest rate swap

transactions); (b) to grant no security interests, trust, liens, charges or encumbrances upon or in

respect of any of its Property; and (c) to not grant credit or incur liabilities except in the ordinary

course of the Business.

PENSION PLAN

THIS COURT ORDERS that the obligation of the Applicant to make special payments13.

(whether pursuant to the Ontario Pension Benefits Act, RSO 1990, c. P-8 and regulations made

thereunder or to the terms of the Pension Plan, as such term is defined in the Haché Initial

Affidavit) in respect of the defined benefit component of the Pension Plan (such payments being

the “Special Payments”), shall be suspended effective on and after February 1, 2021 for the

duration of this CCAA proceeding, subject to further Order of this Court. For greater certainty,

the suspension of Special Payments hereunder does not constitute a disclaimer or termination by

the Applicant of any component of the Pension Plan.

THIS COURT ORDERS that for the duration of this proceeding, no Person (as14.

hereinafter defined), including employees and former employees of the Applicant (or the

surviving spouse of any such person) entitled to a benefit under the defined benefit component of

the Pension Plan (whether or not such member was represented by a union when the member was

employed by the Applicant) or the Superintendent of Financial Services, shall commence any

action or other proceeding in connection with the suspension of the Special Payments or because

the Applicant has not made the Special Payments.

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant and each of its respective directors, officers,15.

officials, and agents shall not incur any obligation or liability, whether by way of debt, damages

for breach of any duty whether statutory, fiduciary, common law or otherwise, or for breach of

trust, nor shall any trust be imposed, whether express, implied, constructive, resulting, deemed or

otherwise, as a result of the suspension of the Special Payments in accordance with the terms of

this Order.
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THIS COURT ORDERS that if any claim, lien, charge or trust, including deemed trust,16.

arises as a result of the suspension of the Special Payments, no such claim, lien charge or trust,

including deemed trust, shall have priority over the Charges (as hereinafter defined) in this

proceeding, or in any subsequent receivership, interim receivership or bankruptcy of the

Applicant.

RESTRUCTURING

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall, subject to such requirements as17.

are imposed by the CCAA and such covenants as may be contained in the Definitive Documents

(as hereinafter defined), have the right to:

permanently or temporarily cease, downsize or shut down any of its businessBusiness(a)

or operations, [and to dispose of redundant or non-material assets not exceeding

$●50,000 in any one transaction or $●250,000 in the aggregate]5.  Notwithstanding

the foregoing, the Applicant shall not cease, downsize or shut down any parts of its

Business if such action would cause any current students of the Applicant to be

unable to continue and complete courses that they are already enrolled in, subject to

further Order of the Court;

[terminate the employment of such of its employees or temporarily lay off such of its(b)

employees as it deemsthey deem appropriate];  and

vacate, abandon or quit any leased premises and disclaim or resiliate any real property(c)

lease and any ancillary agreements relating to any leased premises, subject to

paragraphs 11 and 18 of this Order;

disclaim arrangements or agreements of any nature whatsoever with whomever,(d)

whether oral or written, as the Applicant deems appropriate, with the Monitor’s

consent or pursuant to further Order of the Court, in accordance with Section 32 of

the CCAA;

5 Section 36 of the amended CCAA does not seem to contemplate a pre-approved power to sell (see subsection 
36(3)) and moreover requires notice (subsection 36(2)) and evidence (subsection 36(7)) that may not have 
occurred or be available at the initial CCAA hearing.
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(c) pursue all avenues of refinancing of itsthe Business or Property, in whole or part,(e)

subject to prior approval of this Court being obtained before any material

refinancing,; and

pursue all avenues and to engage in discussions with key stakeholders of the(f)

Applicant in an effort to give effect to an operational restructuring of the Applicant;

all of the foregoing to permit the Applicant to proceed with an orderly restructuring of the

Businessits business (the "“Restructuring"”).

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall provide each of the relevant18.

landlords with notice of the Applicant’s intention to remove any fixtures from any leased

premises at least seven (7) days’ prior to the date of the intended removal.  The relevant landlord

shall be entitled to have a representative present in the leased premises to observe such removal

and, if the landlord disputes the Applicant’s entitlement to remove any such fixture under the

provisions of the lease, such fixture shall remain on the premises and shall be dealt with as

agreed between any applicable secured creditors, such landlord and the Applicant, or by further

Order of this Court upon application by the Applicant on at least two (2) days’ notice to such

landlord and any such secured creditors. If the Applicant disclaims [or resiliates] the lease

governing such leased premises in accordance with Section 32 of the CCAA, it shall not be

required to pay Rent under such lease pending resolution of any such dispute (other than Rent

payable for the notice period provided for in Section 32(5) of the CCAA), and the disclaimer [or

resiliation] of the lease shall be without prejudice to the Applicant'’s claim to the fixtures in

dispute.

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that if a notice of disclaimer [or resiliation] is delivered19.

pursuant to Section 32 of the CCAA, then (a) during the notice period prior to the effective time

of the disclaimer [or resiliation], the landlord may show the affected leased premises to

prospective tenants during normal business hours, on giving the Applicant and the Monitor 24

hours'’ prior written notice, and (b) at the effective time of the disclaimer [or resiliation], the

relevant landlord shall be entitled to take possession of any such leased premises without waiver

of or prejudice to any claims or rights such landlord may have against the Applicant in respect of
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such lease or leased premises, provided that nothing herein shall relieve such landlord of its

obligation to mitigate any damages claimed in connection therewith.

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE APPLICANT OR THE PROPERTY

14. THIS COURT ORDERS that until and including [DATE – MAX.April 30 DAYS],20.

2021, or such later date as this Court may subsequently order (the "“Stay Period"”), no

proceeding or enforcement process in or out of any court or tribunal or other forum, whether

arising by contract (including pursuant to any collective agreement) or otherwise (each, a

"“Proceeding"”) shall be commenced or continued against or in respect of the Applicant or the

Monitor, or affecting the Business or the Property, except with the written consent of the

Applicant and the Monitor, or with leave of this Court, and any and all Proceedings currently

under way against or in respect of the Applicant or affecting the Business or the Property are

hereby stayed and suspended pending further Order of this Court.

NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all rights and remedies of any21.

individual, firm, corporation, governmental body or agency, or any other entities (all of the

foregoing, collectively being "“Persons"” and each being a "“Person"”) against or in respect of

the Applicant or the Monitor, or affecting the Business or the Property, are hereby stayed and

suspended, including any existing, pending or future information requests made to the Applicant

under the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, except with the written consent

of the Applicant and the Monitor, or leave of this Court, including, without limitation, by way of

terminating, making any demand, accelerating, amended or declaring in default, sweeping any

cash in the Applicant’s bank accounts (if available), exercising any option, right or remedy or

taking any enforcement steps under or in respect of any agreement or agreements with respect to

which the Applicant is a party, borrower, principal obligor or guarantor, by reason of:

the Applicant being insolvent or having made an application to this Court under the(a)

CCAA;

the Applicant being a party to this proceeding or taking any steps related thereto; or(b)
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any default or cross-default arising from the matters set out in the foregoing(c)

subparagraphs,

provided that nothing in this Order shall (i) :

empower the Applicant to carry on any business which the Applicant is not lawfully(a)

entitled to carry on, (ii) ;

exempt the Applicant from compliance with any statutory or regulatory provisions(b)

relating to health, safety or the environment;

affect such investigations, actions, suits or proceedings by a regulatory body as are(c)

specifically permitted by Section 11.1 of the CCAA, (iii) ;

prevent the filing of any registration to preserve or perfect a security interest, or (iv) ;(d)

prevent the registration of a claim for lien; or(e)

prevent any actions that are permitted by Section 34(8) of the CCAA.(f)

LIMITED STAY IN RESPECT OF THE NON-APPLICANT STAY PARTY

THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, no Person shall (a) commence or22.

continue any Proceeding or enforcement process, (b) terminate, repudiate, make any demand,

accelerate, alter, amend, declare in default, exercise any options, rights or remedies, or (c)

discontinue, fail to honour, alter, interfere with or cease to perform any obligation, pursuant to or

in respect of any agreement, lease, sublease, license or permit with respect to which the

Non-Applicant Stay Party is a party, borrower, principal obligor or guarantor, by reason of:

the Applicant being insolvent or having made an application to this Court under the(a)

CCAA;

the Applicant being a party to this proceeding or taking any steps related thereto; or(b)

the stay granted pursuant to this paragraph 22; and(c)

221



12

any default or cross-default arising from the matters set out in the foregoing(d)

subparagraphs,

except with the written consent of the Applicant and the Monitor, or with leave of this Court.

NO INTERFERENCE WITH RIGHTS

16. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, no Person shall discontinue,23.

fail to honour, alter, interfere with, repudiate, terminate or cease to perform any right, renewal

right, contract, agreement, lease, sublease, licence or permit in favour of or held by the Applicant

or the Non-Applicant Stay Party or take any steps to interrupt or interfere with the operation of

the Business or the continued use of the Property of the Applicant, except with the written

consent of the Applicant and the Monitor, or leave of this Court.

CONTINUATION OF SERVICES

17. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all Persons having oral or24.

written agreements with the Applicant or statutory or regulatory mandates for the supply of goods

and/or services, including without limitation all computer software, communication and other

data services, centralized banking services, payroll services, insurance, transportation services,

utility or other services to the Business or the Applicant, are hereby restrained until further Order

of this Court from discontinuing, altering, interfering with or terminating the supply of such

goods or services as may be required by the Applicant, and that the Applicant shall be entitled to

the continued use of its current premises, telephone numbers, facsimile numbers, internet

addresses and domain names, provided in each case that the normal prices or charges for all such

goods or services received after the date of this Order are paid by the Applicant in accordance

with normal payment practices of the Applicant or such other practices as may be agreed upon by

the supplier or service provider and each of the Applicant and the Monitor, or as may be ordered

by this Court.

NON-DEROGATION OF RIGHTS

18. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding anything else in this Order, no25.

Person shall be prohibited from requiring immediate payment for goods, services, use of lease or

licensed property or other valuable consideration provided on or after the date of this Order, nor

shall any Person be under any obligation on or after the date of this Order to advance or
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re-advance any monies or otherwise extend any credit to the Applicant.  Nothing in this Order

shall derogate from the rights conferred and obligations imposed by the CCAA.6

PROCEEDINGS AGAINST DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

19. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, and except as permitted by26.

subsection 11.03(2) of the CCAA, no Proceeding may be commenced or continued against any of

the former, current or future directors or officers of the Applicant, including the members of the

Board of Governors of the Applicant (the “Board”) with respect to any claim against the

directors or, officers or the Board that arose before the date hereofof this Order and that relates to

any obligations of the Applicant whereby the directors or, officers or the Board are alleged under

any law to be liable in their capacity as directors or officers for the payment or performance of

such obligations, until a compromise or arrangement in respect of the Applicant, if one is filed, is

sanctioned by this Court or is refused by the creditors of the Applicant or this Court.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INDEMNIFICATION AND CHARGE

20. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall indemnify its directors and,27.

officers and the Board against obligations and liabilities that they may incur as directors or

officers of the Applicant after the commencement of the within proceedings,7 except to the extent

that, with respect to any officer or, director or member of the Board, the obligation or liability

was incurred as a result of the director'’s or officer'’s gross negligence or wilful misconduct.

21. THIS COURT ORDERS that the directors and, officers and Board of the Applicant28.

shall be entitled to the benefit of and are hereby granted a charge (the "“Directors’ Charge"”)8

on the Property, which charge shall not exceed an aggregate amount of $5,000,000, as security

for the indemnity provided in paragraph [20]27 of this Order.  The Directors’ Charge shall have

the priority set out in paragraphs [38]54 and [40]56 herein.

6 This non-derogation provision has acquired more significance due to the recent amendments to the CCAA, since a 
number of actions or steps cannot be stayed, or the stay is subject to certain limits and restrictions.  See, for 
example, CCAA Sections 11.01, 11.04, 11.06, 11.07, 11.08, 11.1(2) and 11.5(1).

7 The broad indemnity language from Section 11.51 of the CCAA has been imported into this paragraph.  The 
granting of the indemnity (whether or not secured by a Directors' Charge), and the scope of the indemnity, are 
discretionary matters that should be addressed with the Court.

8 Section 11.51(3) provides that the Court may not make this security/charging order if in the Court's opinion the 
Applicant could obtain adequate indemnification insurance for the director or officer at a reasonable cost.
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22. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any language in any applicable29.

insurance policy to the contrary, (a) no insurer shall be entitled to be subrogated to or claim the

benefit of the Directors'’ Charge, and (b) the Applicant'’s directors and, officers and the Board

shall only be entitled to the benefit of the Directors'’ Charge to the extent that they do not have

coverage under any directors' and officers'applicable insurance policy, or to the extent that such

coverage is insufficient to pay amounts indemnified in accordance with paragraph [20]27 of this

Order.

APPOINTMENT OF MONITOR

23. THIS COURT ORDERS that [MONITOR’S NAME]Ernst & Young Inc. is hereby30.

appointed pursuant to the CCAA as the Monitor, an officer of this Court, to monitor the business

and financial affairs of the Applicant with the powers and obligations set out in the CCAA or set

forth herein and that the Applicant and its shareholders, officers, directors, and Assistants shall

advise the Monitor of all material steps taken by the Applicant pursuant to this Order, and shall

co-operate fully with the Monitor in the exercise of its powers and discharge of its obligations

and provide the Monitor with the assistance that is necessary to enable the Monitor to adequately

carry out the Monitor'’s functions.

24. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, in addition to its prescribed rights and31.

obligations under the CCAA, is hereby directed and empowered to:

monitor the Applicant'’s receipts and disbursements;(a)

liaise with and assist the Applicant and the Assistants with respect to all matters(b)

relating to the Applicant’s Business, the Applicant’s Property and the Restructuring,

and such other matters as may be relevant to the proceedings herein;

(b) report to this Court at such times and intervals as the Monitor may deem(c)

appropriate with respect to matters relating to the Property, the Business, and such

other matters as may be relevant to the proceedings herein;

advise the Applicant in the preparation of the Applicant’s cash flow statements and(d)

any other reporting to the Court or otherwise;
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be at liberty to participate in discussions with representatives of the Ministry of(e)

Colleges and Universities (“MCU”) and such other representatives of Provincial or

Federal government agencies, at any time on all aspects of this proceeding and the

Applicant’s restructuring, subject to such terms of confidentiality as may be

appropriate in the Monitor’s assessment and in consultation with the Applicant;

(c) assist the Applicant, to the extent required by the Applicant, in its dissemination,(f)

to the DIP Lender (as defined below) and its counsel on a [TIME INTERVAL]weekly

basis of financial and other information as agreed to between the Applicant and the

DIP Lender which may be used in these proceedings including reporting on a basis to

be agreed with the DIP Lender;

(d) advise the Applicant in its preparation of the Applicant’s cash flow statements and(g)

reporting required by the DIP Lender, which information shall be reviewed with the

Monitor and delivered to the DIP Lender and its counsel on a periodic basis, but not

less than [TIME INTERVAL], or as otherwise agreed to by the DIP Lender;

(e) advise the Applicant in its development of the Plan and any amendments to the(h)

Plan;

(f) assist the Applicant, to the extent required by the Applicant, with the holding and(i)

administering of a creditors’ or shareholders’ meetingsmeeting for voting on the Plan;

(g) have full and complete access to the Property, including the premises, books,(j)

records, data, including data in electronic form, and other financial documents of the

Applicant, to the extent that is necessarywherever situate, in order to adequately

assess the Applicant'’s business and financial affairs or to perform its duties arising

under this Order;

(h) be at liberty to engage independent legal counsel or such other persons as the(k)

Monitor deems necessary or advisable respecting the exercise of its powers and

performance of its obligations under this Order; and
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(i) perform such other duties as are required by this Order or by this Court from time(l)

to time.

25. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall not take possession of the Property32.

of the Applicant, or any property of the Non-Applicant Stay Party, and shall take no part

whatsoever in the management or supervision of the management of the Business and shall not,

by fulfilling its obligations hereunder, be deemed to have taken or maintained possession or

control of the Business or Property, or any part thereof.

26. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Monitor to33.

occupy or to take control, care, charge, possession or management (separately and/or collectively,

"“Possession"”) of any of the Property that might be environmentally contaminated, might be a

pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or contribute to a spill, discharge, release or deposit of

a substance contrary to any federal, provincial or other law respecting the protection,

conservation, enhancement, remediation or rehabilitation of the environment or relating to the

disposal of waste or other contamination including, without limitation, the Canadian

Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Water

Resources Act, or the Ontario Occupational Health and Safety Act and regulations thereunder

(the "“Environmental Legislation"”), provided however that nothing herein shall exempt the

Monitor from any duty to report or make disclosure imposed by applicable Environmental

Legislation.  The Monitor shall not, as a result of this Order or anything done in pursuance of the

Monitor'’s duties and powers under this Order, be deemed to be in Possession of any of the

Property within the meaning of any Environmental Legislationlegislation, unless it is actually in

possession.

27. THIS COURT ORDERS that that the Monitor shall provide any creditor of the34.

Applicant and the DIP Lender with information provided by the Applicant in response to

reasonable requests for information made in writing by such creditor addressed to the Monitor.

The Monitor shall not have any responsibility or liability with respect to the information

disseminated by it pursuant to this paragraph.  In the case of information that the Monitor has

been advised by the Applicant is confidential, the Monitor shall not provide such information to

creditors unless otherwise directed by this Court or on such terms as the Monitor and the

Applicant may agree.
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28. THIS COURT ORDERS that, in addition to the rights and protections afforded the35.

Monitor under the CCAA or as an officer of this Court, the Monitor shall incur no liability or

obligation as a result of its appointment or the carrying out of the provisions of this Order or the

Initial Order, save and except for any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part.  Nothing

in this Order or the Initial Order shall derogate from the protections afforded the Monitor by the

CCAA or any applicable legislation.

29. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor and counsel to the36.

Applicant’s counsel and advisors in connection with the CCAA proceedings (collectively, the

“Restructuring Advisors”) together with independent counsel to the Board (“Board Counsel”)

shall each be paid their reasonable fees and disbursements, in each case at their standard rates

and charges, whether incurred prior to or subsequent to the date of this Order, by the Applicant as

part of the costs of these proceedings.  The Applicant is hereby authorized and directed to pay the

accounts of the Monitor, counsel for the Monitor and counsel for the Applicant on a [TIME

INTERVAL] basis and, in addition, the Applicant is hereby authorized to pay to the Monitor,

counsel to the Monitor, and counsel to the Applicant, retainers in theRestructuring Advisors and

Board Counsel.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the fees and disbursement of Board Counsel

paid by the Applicant from and after the date of this Order shall not exceed the aggregate

amount[s] of $ [250,000, respectively,] to be held by them as security for payment of their

respective fees and disbursements outstanding from time to timeplus HST, pending further Order

of the Court.

30. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor and its legal counsel shall pass their37.

accounts from time to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Monitor and its legal counsel

are hereby referred to a judge of the Commercial List of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice.

31. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor, if any, and the38.

Applicant’s counselRestructuring Advisors shall be entitled to the benefit of and are hereby

granted a charge (the "“Administration Charge"”) on the Property, which charge shall not

exceed an aggregate amount of $1,250,000,  as security for their professional fees and

disbursements incurred at the standard rates and charges of the Monitor and such

counselRestructuring Advisors, both before and after the making of this Order in respect of these
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proceedings.  The Administration Charge shall have the priority set out in paragraphs [38]54 and

[40]56 hereof.

COURT-APPOINTED MEDIATOR

THIS COURT ORDERS that [►] is hereby appointed, as an officer of the Court and to39.

act as a neutral third party (the “Court-Appointed Mediator”) to assist the Applicant and the

relevant stakeholders with a mediation of:

the review and restructuring of the academic programs of the Applicant;(a)

the collective agreement between the Applicant and the Laurentian University Faculty(b)

Association; 

the framework for the Applicant’s restructuring and future operations; and(c)

any other matters that are referred to the Court-Appointed Mediator by the Applicant,(d)

the Monitor or this Court

(together, the “Mediation Objectives”).

THIS COURT ORDERS that in carrying out his/her mandate, the Court-Appointed40.

Mediator may, among other things:

adopt processes, procedures and timelines which, in his/her discretion, he/she(a)

considers appropriate to facilitate an effective and efficient negotiation of the

Mediation Objectives (the “Mediation Process”); and

consult with an appointed representative of the parties affected by the Mediation(b)

Objectives, the Monitor, the Applicant, and such other creditors and stakeholders of

the Applicant and any other persons the Court-Appointed Mediator considers

appropriate.

THIS COURT ORDERS that, subject to an agreement between the Applicant and the41.

Court-Appointed Mediator, all reasonable fees and disbursements of the Court-Appointed

Mediator as may have been incurred prior to the date of this Order or which shall be incurred by
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them in relation to carrying out his mandate shall be paid by the Applicant on a monthly basis,

forthwith upon the rendering of accounts to the Applicant.

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Court-Appointed Mediator is authorized to take all42.

steps and to do all acts necessary or desirable to carry out the terms of this Order, including as it

relates to any Court, regulatory body or other government ministry, department or agency, and to

take all such steps as are necessary or incidental thereto.

THIS COURT ORDERS that, in addition to the rights and protections afforded as an43.

officer of this Court, the Court-Appointed Mediator shall incur no liability or obligation as a

result of his/her appointment or the carrying out of the provisions of this Order, save and except

for any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on his/her part.  Nothing in this Order shall

derogate from the protections afforded to a person pursuant to Section 142 of the Courts of

Justice Act (Ontario).

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Court and the Court-Appointed Mediator may44.

communicate between one another directly to discuss, on an ongoing basis, the conduct of the

Mediation Process and the manner in which it will be coordinated with the CCAA proceedings,

including but not limited to individual matters referred specifically by the Court to the

Court-Appointed Mediator for resolution.

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Court will not disclose to the Court-Appointed45.

Mediator how the Court will decide any matter which may come before the Court for

determination and the Court-Appointed Mediator will not disclose to the Court the negotiating

positions or confidential information of any of the parties in the Mediation Process.

THIS COURT ORDERS that all statements, discussions, offers made and documents46.

produced by any of the parties in the course of the Mediation Process shall not be subject to

disclosure through discovery or any other process; shall be confidential; shall not be referred to in 

Court and shall not be admissible into evidence for any purpose, including impeaching credibility

or to establish the meaning and/or validity of any settlement or alleged settlement arising from

the Mediation Process.

THIS COURT ORDERS that any notes, records, statements made, discussions had and47.

recollections of the Court-Appointed Mediator in conducting the Mediation Process shall be
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confidential and without prejudice and protected from disclosure for all purposes in accordance

with paragraph 46 hereof.

DIP FINANCING

32. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant is hereby authorized and empowered to48.

obtain and borrow under a credit facility from [DIP LENDER'S NAME]Firm Capital Mortgage

Fund Inc., or its assignee (the "“DIP Lender"”) in order to finance the Applicant'’s working

capital requirements and other general corporate purposes and capital expenditures, provided that

borrowings under such credit facility shall not exceed $25,000,000, unless permitted by further

Order of this Court.

33. THIS COURT ORDERS THATthat such credit facility shall be on the terms and49.

subject to the conditions set forth in the commitment letterterm sheet between the Applicant and

the DIP Lender dated as of [DATE]January 29, 2021 (the "Commitment Letter"), filed“DIP

Term Sheet”) attached as Exhibit “HHH” to the Hache Initial Affidavit, subject to such minor

amendments as may be acceptable to the Applicant and the DIP Lender and approved by the

Monitor.

34. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant is hereby authorized and empowered to50.

execute and deliver such credit agreements, mortgages, charges, hypothecs and security

documents, guarantees and other definitive documents (collectively, the "Definitive“DIP

Documents"”), as are contemplated by the Commitment LetterDIP Term Sheet or as may be

reasonably required by the DIP Lender pursuant to the terms thereofof the DIP Term Sheet, and

the Applicant is hereby authorized and directed to pay and perform all of its indebtedness,

interest, fees, liabilities and obligations to the DIP Lender under and pursuant to the Commitment

LetterDIP Term Sheet and the DefinitiveDIP Documents, as and when the same become due, and

are to be performed, notwithstanding any other provision of this Order.

35. THIS COURT ORDERS that the DIP Lender shall be entitled to the benefit of and51.

is hereby granted a charge (the "“DIP Lender’s Charge"”) on the Property, whichincluding

without limitation, the real property set out in Schedule “A”, and the DIP Lender'’s Charge shall

not secure anany obligation that exists between the Applicant and the DIP Lender before this
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Order is made.  The DIP Lender’s Charge shall have the priority set out in paragraphs [38]54 and

[40]56 hereof.

36. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any other provision of this Order:52.

the DIP Lender may take such steps from time to time as it may deem necessary or(a)

appropriate to file, register, record or perfect the DIP Lender’s Charge or any of the

DefinitiveDIP Documents;

upon the occurrence of an event of default under the DefinitiveDIP Documents or the(b)

DIP Lender’s Charge or upon the Maturity Date (as defined in the DIP Term Sheet),

the DIP Lender, upon 14 days’ written notice to the Applicant and the Monitor, may

exercise, with prior approval of this Court, any and all of its rights and remedies

against the Applicant or the Property under or pursuant to the Commitment Letter,

DefinitiveDIP Term Sheet, the DIP Documents and the DIP Lender’s Charge,

including without limitation, to cease making advances to the Applicant and set off

and/or consolidate any amounts owing by the DIP Lender to the Applicant against the

obligations of the Applicant to the DIP Lender under the Commitment Letter, the

Definitive Documents or the DIP Lender’s Charge, to make, demand, accelerate

payment and give other notices, or to apply to this Court for the appointment of a

receiver, receiver and manager or interim receiver, or for a bankruptcy order against

the Applicant and for the appointment of a trustee in bankruptcy of the Applicant; and

the foregoing rights and remedies of the DIP Lender shall be enforceable against any(c)

trustee in bankruptcy, interim receiver, receiver or receiver and manager of the

Applicant or the Property.

37. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that, unless otherwise agreed by the53.

DIP Lender, the DIP Lender shall be treated as unaffected in any plan of arrangement or

compromise filed by the Applicant under the CCAA, or any proposal filedother or similar

proceeding that may be commenced by the Applicant under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act

of Canada (the "BIA"), with respect to any advances made under the DefinitiveDIP Documents.
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VALIDITY AND PRIORITY OF CHARGES CREATED BY THIS ORDER

38. THIS COURT ORDERS that the priorities of the Directors’ Charge, the54.

Administration Charge and, the DIP LenderDirectors’s Charge, and the DIP Lender’s Charge

(collectively, the “Charges” and each individually, a “Charge”) as among them, shall be as

follows9:

First – Administration Charge (to the maximum amount of $1,250,000);

Second – DIP Lender’sDirectors’ Charge (to the maximum amount of

$2,000,000); and

Third

Third – DIP Lender’s Charge (to the maximum amount of $25,000,000); and

Fourth – Directors’ Charge (to the maximum amount of $3,000,000).

39. THIS COURT ORDERS that the filing, registration or perfection of the Directors’55.

Charge, the Administration Charge or the DIP Lender’s Charge (collectively, the "Charges")

shall not be required, and that the Charges shall be valid and enforceable for all purposes,

including as against any right, title or interest filed, registered, recorded or perfected subsequent

to the Charges coming into existence, notwithstanding any such failure to file, register, record or

perfect.

40. THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Directors’ Charge, the Administration56.

Charge and the DIP Lender’s Charge (all as constituted and defined herein)Charges shall

constitute a charge on the Property and such Charges shall rank in priority to all other security

interests, trusts, liens, construction liens, charges and encumbrances, claims of secured creditors,

statutory or otherwise (collectively, "“Encumbrances"”) in favour of any Person.

41. THIS COURT ORDERS that except as otherwise expressly provided for herein, or57.

as may be approved by this Court, the Applicant shall not grant any Encumbrances over any

9 The ranking of these Charges is for illustration purposes only, and is not meant to be determinative.  This ranking 
may be subject to negotiation, and should be tailored to the circumstances of the case before the Court.  Similarly, 
the quantum and caps applicable to the Charges should be considered in each case.  Please also note that the 
CCAA now permits Charges in favour of critical suppliers and others, which should also be incorporated into this 
Order (and the rankings, above), where appropriate.
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Property that rank in priority to, or pari passu with, any of the Directors’ Charge, the

Administration Charge or the DIP Lender’s ChargeCharges, unless the Applicant also obtains the

prior written consent of the Monitor, the DIP Lender and the beneficiaries of the Directors’

Charge and the Administration ChargeCharges affected thereby (collectively, the “Chargees”),

or further Order of this Court.

42. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Directors’ Charge, the Administration Charge, the58.

Commitment Letter, the Definitive Documents and the DIP Lender’s ChargeCharges shall not be

rendered invalid or unenforceable and the rights and remedies of the chargees entitled to the

benefit of the Charges (collectively, the "Chargees") and/or the DIP Lender thereunder shall not

otherwise be limited or impaired in any way by (a) the pendency of these proceedings and the

declarations of insolvency made herein; (b) any application(s) for bankruptcy order(s) issued

pursuant to Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) (the “BIA”), or any bankruptcy order made

pursuant to such applications; (c) the filing of any assignments for the general benefit of creditors

made pursuant to the BIA; (d) the provisions of any federal or provincial statutes; or (e) any

negative covenants, prohibitions or other similar provisions with respect to borrowings, incurring

debt or the creation of Encumbrances, contained in any existing loan documents, lease, sublease,

offer to lease or other agreement (collectively, an "Agreement") which binds the Applicant, and

notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in any Agreement:

neither the creation of the Charges nor the execution, delivery, perfection, registration(a)

or performance of the Commitment LetterDIP Term Sheet or the DefinitiveDIP

Documents shall not create or be deemed to constitute a breach by the Applicant of

any Agreement to which it is a party;

none of the Chargees shall have any liability to any Person whatsoever as a result of(b)

any breach of any Agreement caused by or resulting from the Applicant entering into

the Commitment LetterDIP Term Sheet, the creation of the Charges, or the execution,

delivery or performance of the DefinitiveDIP Documents; and

the payments made by the Applicant pursuant to this Order, the Commitment(c)

LetterDIP Term Sheet or the DefinitiveDIP Documents, and the granting of the

Charges, do not and will not constitute preferences, fraudulent conveyances, transfers
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at undervalue, oppressive conduct, or other challengeable or voidable transactions

under any applicable law.

43. THIS COURT ORDERS that any Charge created by this Order over leases of real59.

property in Canada shall only be a Charge in the Applicant'’s interest in such real property leases.

THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding anything else contained herein and60.

pending further Order of the Court, the Property subject to the Charges herein shall not include

the Segregated Funds.

SERVICE AND NOTICE

44. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall (i) without delay, publish in61.

[newspapers specified bythe Globe & Mail and the Court]Sudbury Star a notice containing the

information prescribed under the CCAA, and (ii) within five days afterof the date of this Order,

(A) make this Order publicly available in the manner prescribed under the CCAA, (B) send, in

the prescribed manner, a notice to every known creditor who has a claim against the Applicant of

more than $10001,000 (excluding any individual employees, former employees with pension

and/or retirement savings or benefits plan entitlements, and retirees and other beneficiaries who

have entitlements under any pension or retirement savings plan), and (C) prepare a list showing

the names and addresses of those creditors and the estimated amounts of those claims, and make

it publicly available in the prescribed manner, all in accordance with Section 23(1)(a) of the

CCAA and the regulations made thereunder, provided that the Monitor shall not make the claims, 

names and addresses of individuals who are creditors publicly available, unless otherwise

ordered by the Court.

45. THIS COURT ORDERS that the E-Service Protocol of the Commercial List (the62.

“Protocol”) is approved and adopted by reference herein and, in this proceeding, the service of

documents made in accordance with the Protocol (which can be found on the Commercial List

website at

http://www.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/practice-directions/toronto/e-service-protocol/http://ww

w.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/practice-directions/toronto/eservice-commercial) shall be valid

and effective service.  Subject to Rule 17.05 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, this Order shall

constitute an order for substituted service pursuant to Rule 16.04 of the Rules of Civil Procedure.
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Subject to Rule 3.01(d) of the Rules of Civil Procedure and paragraph 21 of the Protocol, service

of documents in accordance with the Protocol will be effective on transmission.  This Court

further orders that a Case Website shall be established in accordance with the Protocol with the

following URL: ‘<@>’www.ey.com/ca/Laurentian.

46. THIS COURT ORDERS that if the service or distribution of documents in63.

accordance with the Protocol is not practicable, the Applicant and the Monitor are at liberty to

serve or distribute this Order, any other materials and orders in these proceedings, any notices or

other correspondence, by forwarding true copies thereof by prepaid ordinary mail, courier,

personal delivery or facsimile transmission to the Applicant'’s creditors or other interested parties

at their respective addresses as last shown on the records of the Applicant and that any such

service or distribution by courier, personal delivery or facsimile transmission shall be deemed to

be received on the next business day following the date of forwarding thereof, or if sent by

ordinary mail, on the third business day after mailing.

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall create, maintain and update as necessary64.

a list of all Persons appearing in person or by counsel in this proceeding (the “Service List”).

The Monitor shall post the Service List, as may be updated from time to time, on the case

website as part of the public materials in relation to this proceeding.  Notwithstanding the

foregoing, the Monitor shall have no liability in respect of the accuracy of or the timeliness of

making any changes to the Service List.

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant and the Monitor and their respective65.

counsel are at liberty to serve or distribute this Order, and other materials and orders as may be

reasonably required in these proceedings, including any notices, or other correspondence, by

forwarding true copies thereof by electronic message to the Applicant’s creditors or other

interested parties and their advisors. For greater certainty, any such distribution or service shall

be deemed to be in satisfaction of a legal or judicial obligation, and notice requirements within

the meaning of clause 3(c) of the Electronic Commerce Protection Regulations, Reg.

81000-2-175 (SOR/DORS).

SERVICE AND NOTICE
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THIS COURT ORDERS that, subject to paragraph 67, all motions in this proceeding66.

are to be brought on not less than seven (7) calendar days' notice to all persons on the Service

List. Each Notice of Motion shall specify a date (the “Return Date”) and time for the hearing.

THIS COURT ORDERS that motions for relief on an urgent basis need not comply67.

with the notice protocol described herein.

THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested Person wishing to object to the relief68.

sought in a motion must serve responding motion material or, if they do not intend to file

material, a notice in all cases stating the objection to the motion and the grounds for such

objection in writing (the “Responding Material”) to the moving party, the Applicant and the

Monitor, with a copy to all Persons on the Service List, no later than 5:00 p.m. on the date that is

four (4) calendar days prior to the Return Date (the “Objection Deadline”). 

THIS COURT ORDERS that, if no Responding Materials are served by the Objection69.

Deadline, the judge having carriage of the motion (the “Presiding Judge”) may determine:

whether a hearing is necessary;(a)

whether such hearing will be in person, by telephone, by video conference, or by(b)

written submissions only; and

the parties from whom submissions are required(c)

(collectively, the “Hearing Details”). In the absence of any such determination, a hearing will be

held in the ordinary course.

THIS COURT ORDERS that, if no Responding Materials are served by the Objection70.

Deadline, the Monitor shall communicate with the Presiding Judge regarding whether a

determination has been made by the Presiding Judge concerning the Hearing Details.  The

Monitor shall thereafter advise the Service List of the Hearing Details and the Monitor shall

report upon its dissemination of the Hearing Details to the Court in a timely manner, which may

be contained in the Monitor's next report in the proceeding.

THIS COURT ORDERS that if any party objects to the motion proceeding on the71.

Return Date or believes that the Objection Deadline does not provide sufficient time to respond
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to the motion, such objecting party shall, promptly upon receipt of the Notice of Motion and in

any event prior to the Objection Deadline, contact the moving party and the Monitor (together

with the objecting party and any other party who has served Responding Materials, the

“Interested Parties”) to advise of such objection and the reasons therefor.  If the Interested

Parties are unable to resolve the objection to the timing and schedule for the motion following

good faith consultations, the Interested Parties may seek a scheduling appointment before the

Presiding Judge to be held prior to the Return Date or on such other date as may be mutually

agreed by the Interested Parties or as directed by the Presiding Judge to establish a schedule for

the motion.  At the scheduling appointment, the Presiding Judge may provide directions

including a schedule for the delivery of any further materials and the hearing of the contested

motion, and may address such other matters, including interim relief, as the Court may see fit.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Presiding Judge may require the Interested Parties to proceed

with the contested motion on the Return Date or on any other date as may be directed by the

Presiding Judge or as may be mutually agreed by the Interested Parties, if otherwise satisfactory

to the Presiding Judge.

SEALING PROVISION

THIS COURT ORDERS that Confidential Exhibits “EEE” and “FFF” of the Haché72.

Initial Affidavit, are hereby sealed pending further order of the Court, and shall not form part of

the public record.

GENERAL

47. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant or the Monitor may from time to time73.

apply to this Court for advice and directions in the discharge of itstheir powers and duties

hereunder.

THIS COURT ORDERS that upon the registration in the Land Titles Division of the74.

Real Property of the DIP Lender’s Charge in the form prescribed in the Land Titles Act or the

Registration Reform Act, or both, as applicable, the Land Registrar is hereby directed to register

the DIP Lender’s Charge on title of the Real Property.
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48. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Monitor from75.

acting as an interim receiver, a receiver, a receiver and manager, or a trustee in bankruptcy of the

Applicant, the Business or the Property.

49. THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court,76.

tribunal, regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada or in the United

States,outside of Canada to give effect to this Order and to assist the Applicant, the Monitor and

their respective agents in carrying out the terms of this Order.  All courts, tribunals, regulatory

and administrative bodies are hereby respectfully requested to make such orders and to provide

such assistance to the Applicant and to the Monitor, as an officer of this Court, as may be

necessary or desirable to give effect to this Order, to grant representative status to the Monitor in

any foreign proceeding, or to assist the Applicant and the Monitor and their respective agents in

carrying out the terms of this Order.

50. THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Applicant and the Monitor be at liberty77.

and is hereby authorized and empowered to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or

administrative body, wherever located, for the recognition of this Order and for assistance in

carrying out the terms of this Order, and that the Monitor is authorized and empowered to act as a

representative in respect of the within proceedings for the purpose of having these proceedings

recognized in a jurisdiction outside Canada.

51. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party (including the Applicant and the78.

Monitor) may apply to this Court to vary or amend this Order on not less than seven (7) days

notice to any other party or parties likely to be affected by the order sought or upon such other

notice, if any, as this Court may order.

52. THIS COURT ORDERS that this Order and all of its provisions are effective as of79.

12:01 a.m. Eastern Standard/Daylight Time on the date of this Order, and is enforceable without

any need for entry and filing.

       _____________________________________  
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Schedule “A”
Real Property

PIN Legal Description
73584-0678 LT 63-67 PL 4SB MCKIM; LT 158-159 PL 25SA MCKIM; PT LT 160 PL 25SA 

MCKIM; PT LT 68-69 PL 4SB MCKIM; PT NELSON ST, DAVID ST PL 4SB 
MCKIM (CLOSED BY S70); PT S1/2 LT 5 CON 3 MCKIM AS IN S61148; S/T 
INTEREST IN S61148; S/T EXECUTION 00-00878, IF ENFORCEABLE; 
GREATER SUDBURY

73584-0804 LT 232-234 PL 6S MCKIM; PT LT 229-231 PL 6S MCKIM AS IN S53645 
EXCEPT PART 1 53R6379; GREATER SUDBURY

73585-1052 PT N1/2 LT 5 CON 3 MCKIM; PT LT 6 CON 3 MCKIM PT 1, 2, 3, 4 & 5 
53R16518; GREATER SUDBURY; SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT IN GROSS 
OVER PT 2 53R19698 AS IN SD225472; SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT IN 
GROSS OVER PT 3 53R19698 AS IN SD225678; SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT 
IN GROSS OVER PT 3, 53R19698 AS IN SD239534

73585-1167 PT LT 6, CON 3 MCKIN, PTS 1, 2, AND 3 ON PLAN 53R-19698; SUBJECT TO 
AN EASEMENT IN GROSS OVER PT 2, 53R19698 AS IN SD225472; SUBJECT 
TO AN EASEMENT IN GROSS OVER PT 3, 53R19698 AS IN SD225678; 
SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT IN GROSS OVER PT 3, 53R19698 AS IN 
SD229534; CITY OF GREATER SUDBURY

73592-0084 PCL 46194 SEC SES SRO; PT LT 2 CON 2 MCKIM PT 2 53R7594; GREATER 
SUDBURY

73592-0217 PCL 30769 SEC SES; PT LT 2 CON 2 MCKIM AS IN LT212290 (THIRDLY) 
EXCEPT PT 3 53R7594; PT LT 3 CON 2 MCKIM AS IN LT212290 (FIRSTLY) 
EXCEPT PT 1, 53R16920; LT 1 EXPROP PL M785 & UNIT 8 EXPROP PL D49; 
EXCEPT PT 13, 14 53R9175, UNITS 1-7, 9 EXPROP PL D49, PT 1-16 53R5371; 
PT BROKEN LT 4 CON 2 MCKIM AS IN LT220905 (FIRSTLY) EXCEPT UNITS 
1, 2, 3, 13 EXPROP PL D48; S/T LT233153, LT32862, LT622331, LT748126, 
LT842126; GREATER SUDBURY

73592-0412 PCL 53884 SEC SES; 1STLY: PT LT 3 CON 2 MCKIM PT 1, 53R16920: 2NDLY: 
PT LT 3 CON 2 MCKIM PT 5, 8, 11 & 12 53R5371; GREATER SUDBURY; 
SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT IN GROSS OVER PTS 2,4,5,6,8,10,11,12 & 13 
53R17763 AS IN SD246793

73592-0414 PCL 53880 SEC SES; PT LT 3 CON 2 MCKIM PT 7, 53R5371; GREATER 
SUDBURY

73592-0427 PCL 30769 SEC SES; PT LT 3 CON 2 MCKIM LT 1 EXPROP PL M785; S/T 
LT622331; GREATER SUDBURY; SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT IN GROSS 
OVER PT 1 53R19195 AS IN SD246792

73593-0063 PCL 21810 SEC SES; FIRSTLY: PT LT 2 CON 1 MCKIM; SECONDLY: PT LT 2 
CON 2 MCKIM AS IN LT130739; GREATER SUDBURY
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73593-0276 PCL 30769 SEC SES; PT LT 3 CON 1 MCKIM; PT LT 4 CON 1 MCKIM; PT LT 2 
CON 1 MCKIM AS IN LT212290 (SECONDLY, FIFTHLY), LT220905 
(SECONDLY, THIRDLY), LT 1 EXPROP PL M764, EXCEPT PT 1 SR754, PT 1 
53R4053, PT 1-6 & 8 53R6915, PT 1 53R7807, PT 1, 2 53R8716, PT 1, 2 53R9178,; 
PT LT 3 CON 1 MCKIM SRO AS IN LT 212290 (FOURTHLY); PT LT 3 CON 1 
MCKIM COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST ANGLE OF THE SAID LT; 
THENCE SOUTH ALONG THE WEST LIMIT THEREOF TWENTY CHAINS; 
THENCE EAST PARALLEL TO THE NORTH LIMIT OF THE LOT 5 CHAINS; 
THENCE NORTH PARALLEL TO THE WEST LIMIT TWENTY CHAINS 
MORE OR LESS TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LIMIT OF THE LOT; 
THENCE WEST ALONG SAID LIMIT FIVE CHAINS MORE OR LESS TO 
THE POINT OF COMMENCEMENT; PT LT 5 PL M92 MCKIM PT 2, 53R7807; 
S/T LT119418, LT233153, LT25019, LT436834, LT748126, LT842126; GREATER 
SUDBURY

73593-0406 PCL 34100 SEC SES AS IN LT264521; PT BROKEN LT 1 CON 1 MCKIM 
LOCATION 145, PT 1 SR1028; GREATER SUDBURY

73593-0444 PCL 30769 SEC SES; LT 3 CON 2 MCKIM S OF UNIT 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 & 6 
EXPROPPL D49 & SW OF PT 2, 3, 7, 9 & 14, 53R5371 EXCEPT PT 1 SR754; N 
1/2 LT 2 CON 1 MCKIM EXCEPT LT130739; PT LT 2 CON 2 MCKIM AS IN 
EP6694 EXCEPT LT130739, PT 3 53R7594; SRO E 1/2 LT 3 CON 1 MCKIM 
EXCEPT PT 1-6, 8 53R6915; PT LT 3 CON 1 MCKIM AS IN LT211094, EP4842, 
LT 1 EXPROP PL M764 EXCEPT PT 1 SR754; PT BROKEN LT 4 CON 2 
MCKIM AS IN LT220905 (FIRSTLY) EXCEPT UNITS 1-3, 13 EXPROP PL D48; 
PT LT 4 CON 1 MCKIM AS IN LT2 20905 (SECONDLY) & PT 2 SR754 
EXCEPT PT 1 53R4053, PT 1 53R7807, PT 1 & 2 53R8716 & PT 1 & 2 53R9178; 
PT LT 5 PL M92 PT 2 53R7807; S/T LT119418, LT32862, LT233153 
(PARTIALLY RELEASED AS IN SD371949), LT436834, LT25019, LT748126, 
LT842126;; SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT IN GROSS OVER PT LT 4 CON 2, 
PT 1 53R7680 AS IN SD261440; SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT IN GROSS 
OVER PART LOT 3 CONCESSION 3 MCKIM,PART 1 PLAN 53R20567 AS IN 
SD317507; SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT IN GROSS OVER PART LOTS 3 
AND 4 CONCESSION 2 MCKIM PARTS 2 AND 3 PLAN 53R20797 AS IN 
SD353369; CITY OF GREATER SUDBURY

73593-0446 PCL 53880 SEC SES; PT LT 3 CON 2 MCKIM PT 7 53R5371; GREATER 
SUDBURY
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73593-0465 PCL 30769 SEC SES; LT 3 CON 2 MCKIM S OF UNIT 1,2,3,4,5 & 6 EXPROP PL 
D49 & SW OF PT 2,3,7,9 & 14 53R5371; EXCEPT PT 1 SR754 & PARTS 1,2,3 
53R20763; N 1/2 LT 2 CON 1 MCKIM; EXCEPT LT130739; PT LT 2 CON 2 
MCKIM AS IN EP6694; EXCEPT LT130739, PT 3 53R7594; SRO E 1/2 LT 3 
CON 1 MCKIM; EXCEPT PT 1-6, 853R6915; PT LT 3 CON 1 MCKIM AS IN 
LT211094, EP4842, LT 1 EXPROP PL M764; EXCEPT PT 1 SR754; PT BROKEN 
LT 4 CON 2 MCKIM AS IN LT220905 (FIRSTLY); EXCEPT UNITS 1-3, 13 
EXPROP PL D48; PT LT 4 CON 1 MCKIM AS IN LT2 20905 (SECONDLY) & 
PT 2 SR754; EXCEPT PT 1 53R4053, PT 1 53R7807, PT 1 & 2 53R8716 & PT 1 & 2 
53R9178; PT LT 5 PL M92 PT 2 53R7807; S/T LT119418, LT32862, LT233153 
(PARTIALLY RELEASED AS IN SD371949), LT436834, LT25019, LT748126, 
LT842126;; SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT IN GROSS OVER PT 1 53R7680 AS 
IN SD261440; SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT IN GROSS OVER PART 1 
53R20567 AS IN SD317507; SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT IN GROSS OVER 
PARTS 2 & 3 53R20797 AS IN SD353369; CITY OF GREATER SUDBURY

Lease between Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Ontario as Represented by 
the Minister of Government and Consumer Services and Laurentian 
University dated January 1, 2020
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This is Exhibit “A”, referred to in the 

Affidavit of ROBERT HACHÉ,  
sworn before me via videoconference  

this 30th day of January, 2021. 

 

___________________________________ 
A Commissioner for taking Affidavits, etc. 
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 1 

An Act to incorporate 

Laurentian University of Sudbury 
 

Statutes of Ontario, 1960 

CHAPTER 151 

as amended by 1961-62, Chapter 154 

_________ 

 

 

Preamble 

 

WHEREAS the University of Sudbury, the United Church of Canada and The Incorporated Synod  

of the Diocese of Algoma (Anglican) by their petition have represented that they are desirous of 

establishing in the Province of Ontario, at or near the City of Sudbury, a non-denominational 

bilingual institution to provide facilities for instruction in all branches of higher learning having the 

rights and powers of a university; and whereas the petitioners have prayed for special legislation to 

effect such purpose; and whereas it is expedient to grant the prayer of the petition; 

 

Therefore, Her Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly of the 

Province of Ontario, enacts as follows: 

 

Interpretation 

 

1. In this Act, 

a) “affiliated college” means a college affiliated with the University; 

b) “Board” means the Board of Governors of the University; 

c) “college” means an institution of higher learning; 

d) “federated college” means a college federated with the University; 

e) “federated university” means a university federated with the University; 

f) “property” includes all property, both real and personal; 

g) “real property” includes messuages, lands, tenements and hereditaments, whether 

corporeal or incorporeal, and any undivided share thereof or any estate or interest 

therein; 

h) “Senate” means the Senate of the University; 

i) “teaching staff” includes professors, associate professors, assistant professors, 

lecturers, associates, instructors, demonstrators and all others engaged in the work of 

teaching or giving instruction; 

j) “University” means Laurentian University of Sudbury. 1961-62, c. 154, s. 1. 
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 2 

 

Laurentian University of Sudbury incorporated  

 

2. Ralph Douglas Parker, Robert James Askin, Benjamin Franklin Avery, Harold Bennett, 

Robert Campeau, William Stanley Cole, Jean-Noël Desmarais, Ernest Cecil Facer, Horace John 

Fraser, Donald Leslie James, Nigel Mordaunt Kensit, Joseph Armand Lapalme, John Williams 

McBean, James Wesley McNutt, James Richard Meakes, George Merle Miller, Alibert St. Aubin, 

Adjutor Joseph Samson, George Clement Tate, and such other persons who may hereafter be 

appointed or elected President or a member of the Board or a member of the Senate or upon whom 

the University may confer a degree, are hereby created a body corporate with perpetual succession 

and a common seal under the name of “Laurentian University of Sudbury”. 1960, c. 151, s. 2. 

 

Objects and purposes 
 

3. The objects and purposes of the University are, 

a) the advancement of learning and the dissemination of knowledge; and 

b) the intellectual, social, moral and physical development of its members and the 

betterment of society. 1960, c. 151, s. 3. 

 

Powers 

 

4. (1) The University has university powers, including the power, 

 

Establish courses 

 

a) to establish and maintain, in either or both of the French and English languages, such 

faculties, schools, institutes, departments and chairs as determined by the Board, 

other than those already established by the University of Sudbury, which faculties, 

schools, institutes, departments and chairs are continued in the University under 

authority of the Board and Senate; 

 

Degrees 

 

b) to confer university degrees, honorary degrees, awards and diplomas in any and all 

branches of learning, except in Theology; 

 

University College  

 

c) to establish a college of the University within the Faculty of Arts and Science to be 

known as University College, which college shall give instruction in either or both of 

the French and English languages in such subjects, excepting religious knowledge, as 

may from time to time be approved by the Faculty of Arts and Science of the 

University and be consented to by the Senate and Board, and the University shall 

accept such courses in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree under the 

same academic terms and conditions as would obtain if the instruction were given in 
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the University; 

 

Federation of church-related colleges 

 

d) to admit church-related universities or colleges into federation as colleges of the 

Faculty of Arts and Science, which church-related universities or colleges have the 

right to give instruction in philosophy and religious knowledge and in such other 

subjects as may from time to time be approved by the Faculty of Arts and Science of 

the University and be consented to by the Senate and Board, and the University shall 

accept such courses in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree under the 

same academic terms and conditions as would obtain if the instruction were given in 

University College; 

 

Federation 

 
e) to permit federation or affiliation of other colleges or universities with the University 

and to make agreements for federation or affiliation with other colleges or 

universities, provided that Hearst College and Prince Albert College, presently 

affiliated with The University of Sudbury, may enter agreements to affiliate with the 

University; 

 

University property R.S.O. 1960, c. 191 

 

f) in addition to the powers, rights and privileges mentioned in section 26 of The 

Interpretation Act, to purchase or otherwise acquire, take or receive by deed, gift, 

bequest or devise and to hold and enjoy any estate or property whatsoever, and to 

sell, grant, convey, mortgage, hypothecate, pledge, charge, lease or otherwise dispose 

of the same or any part thereof from time to time as occasion may require and to 

acquire other estate and property in addition thereto without licence in mortmain and 

without limitation as to the period of holding; 

 

Expropriation R.S.O. 1960, c. 249 

 

g) without the consent of the owner or of any person interested therein, other than a 

municipal corporation, to enter upon, take, use and expropriate all such real property 

as it deems necessary for the purposes of the University, making due compensation 

for any such real property to the owners and occupiers thereof and all persons having 

an interest therein, and the provision of The Municipal Act as to taking land 

compulsorily and making compensation therefor and as to the manner of determining 

and paying the compensation apply mutatis mutandis to the University and to the 

exercise by it of the powers conferred by this Act, and, where any act is by any of 

such provisions required to be done by the clerk of a municipality or at the office of 

such clerk, the like act shall be done by or at the office of the secretary of the Board; 
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Borrowing  

 

h) if authorized by by-law of the Board, 

i) to borrow money on its credit in such amount, on such terms and from such 

persons, firms or corporations, including chartered banks, as may be 

determined by the Board, 

ii) to make, draw and endorse promissory notes or bills of exchange, 

iii) to hypothecate, pledge, charge or mortgage any or all of its property to secure 

any money so borrowed or the fulfillment of the obligations incurred by it 

under any promissory note or bill of exchange signed, made, drawn or 

endorsed by it, 

iv) to issue bonds, debentures and obligations on such terms and conditions as 

the Board may decide and pledge or sell such bonds, debentures and 

obligations for such sums and at such prices as the Board may decide and 

hypothecate, pledge, charge or mortgage all or any part of the property of the 

University to secure any such bonds, debentures and obligations. 

 

Enrolment of students 

 

(2) Every undergraduate student in the Faculty of Arts and Science shall enroll either in 

University College or in one of the church-related colleges of the Faculty. 1961-62, c. 

154, s. 2, part. 

 

University non-denominational 
 

5. The management and control of the University shall be non-denominational, and no religious 

test shall be required of any professor, lecturer, teacher, officer, employee, servant or student of the 

University, but such management and control shall be based upon Christian principles.  1961-62, c. 

154, s. 2, part. 

 

University property 

 

6. All property hereafter granted, conveyed, devised or bequeathed to, or to any person in trust 

for, or for the benefit of, the University, subject to any trust or trusts affecting the same, is vested in 

the University. 1960, c. 151, s. 6. 

 

Land Vested in University not liable to expropriation 

 

7. Real property vested in the University is not liable to be entered upon, used or taken by any 

corporation, except a municipal corporation, or by any person possessing the right of taking real 

property compulsorily for any purpose and no power to expropriate real property hereafter conferred 

extends to such real property unless in the Act conferring the power it is made in express terms to 

apply thereto. 1960, c. 151, s. 7. 
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Proceedings 
 

8. All proceedings by or against the University may be had and take in the name of “Laurentian 

University of Sudbury”. 1960, c. 151, s. 8. 

 

Investment of funds 

 

9. The funds of the University not immediately required for its purposes and the proceeds of 

all property that come into the University, subject to any trust or trusts affecting the same, may be 

invested and re-invested in such investments as to the Board seems meet, and all property and 

revenue of the University shall be applied for the attainment of the objects for which the 

University is constituted and to the payment of expenses to be incurred for objects legitimately 

connected with or depending on the purposes aforesaid.  1960, c. 151, s. 9. 

 

Members and officers not individually liable for debts 

 

10. Nothing herein contained has the effect of, or shall be construed to have the effect of, 

rendering all or any of the members or officers of the University, or any person whomsoever, 

individually liable or accountable for or by reason of any debt, contract or security incurred or 

entered into for or by reason of the University or for or on account or in respect of the University 

or for or on account or in respect of any matter or thing whatsoever relating to the University. 

1960, c. 151, s. 10; 1961-62, c. 154, s. 3. 

 

Tax exemption 

 

11. Property vested in the University or in any federated college or property vested in both the 

University and one or more federated colleges, and any property leased to and occupied by the 

University or federated college, or leased to and occupied by the University and one or more 

federated colleges, are not liable for taxation for provincial, municipal or school purposes and are 

exempt from every description of such taxation so long as the same are actually used and 

occupied for the purposes of the University or of a federated college.  1960, c. 151, s. 11. 

 

Application of statute of limitations 

 

12. All property vested in the University shall, as far as the application thereto of any statute of 

limitations is concerned, be deemed to have been and to be real property vested in the Crown for the 

public use of Ontario.  1960, c. 151, s. 12. 

 

Constitution of Board 
 

13. The persons named in section 2 and five persons to be named by the Lieutenant Governor in 

Council, together with the President when appointed, shall constitute the Board of Governors of the 

University.  1961-62, c. 154, s. 4, part. 
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Terms of office 

 

14. The members of the Board shall hold office as follows:  

a) of the members mentioned in section 2, six shall hold office for a period of one year, 

six shall hold office for a period of two years, and seven shall hold office for a period 

of three years, and, as the term of any such member expires, the vacancy shall be 

filled by election by the Board, and such election shall be for a period of three years, 

and so on from time to time; 

b) the members of the Board appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council shall 

hold office for three years and until their successors are appointed by the Lieutenant 

Governor in Council; 

c) as the term of any member of the Board expires, such member is eligible for re-

election or re-appointment.  1961-62, c. 154, s. 4, part. 

 

Eligibility 

 

15. Except as otherwise provided in this Act, no principal or head of any of the academic units of 

the University or of any federated or affiliated college, or any member of the teaching and 

administrative staff of the University or of any federated or affiliated college or any member of the 

staff, Board, Senate or governing body of any other degree-granting institution is eligible for 

appointment or election as a member of the Board.  1961-62, c. 154, s. 4, part. 

 

Filling vacancies 

 

16. Where a vacancy on the Board occurs before the term of office for which a member has been 

appointed or elected has expired, the vacancy shall be filled by the Board, and the member so 

appointed or elected shall hold office for the remainder of the term of office of the member whose 

membership is vacant.  1961-62, c. 154, s. 4, part. 

 

Chairman and vice-chairman 

 

17. (1) The Board shall elect one of its members to be chairman and one of its members to be 

vice-chairman, and, in case of the absence or illness of the chairman or of there being a vacancy in 

the office of the chairman, the vice-chairman shall act as and have all the powers of the chairman. 

 

Idem 

 

 (2) In case of the absence or illness of the chairman and the vice-chairman, the Board 

may appoint one of its members to act as chairman pro tempore, and the member so appointed shall 

act as and have all the powers of the chairman.  1961-62, c. 154, s. 4, part. 

 

Management of University vested in Board 

 

18. (1) Except as to such matters as are by this Act specifically assigned to the President, the 
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Senate, federated universities and federated colleges, all powers over, in respect of or  in relation to 

the government, financial management and control of the University and of its officers, servants and 

agents, its property, revenues, expenditures, business and affairs are vested in the Board, and the 

Board has all powers necessary or convenient to perform its duties and achieve the objects and 

purposes of the University and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, has power, 

a) to appoint and dismiss the President and Vice-Presidents; 

b) upon the recommendation of the President, to appoint and dismiss the heads and 

associate heads of the faculties, departments and colleges of the University, other 

than of federated universities or colleges or of affiliated universities or colleges, and 

the professors and other members of the teaching staff of the University, other than of 

federated universities or colleges or of affiliated universities or colleges, and to 

appoint and dismiss all other officers, servants, agents and employees of the 

University, other than of federated universities or colleges and other than of affiliated 

universities or colleges, and the tenure of office and employment of all such 

appointments made by the Board shall, unless otherwise provided, be during the 

pleasure of the Board; 

c) to determine and fix the salaries of the President, the Vice-Presidents and all other 

members of the teaching staff and all servants, agents and employees of the 

University;  

d) to appoint an executive committee of five members and to define its powers.  

 

Idem 
 

(2) No action of the Board shall require confirmation by members of the University. 

 

Idem 
 

(3) All the powers over, in respect of or in relation to the University and University 

College, which are not by the terms of this Act directed to be exercised by any other person 

or body of persons, are hereby, subject to the provisions of this Act, vested in the Board. 

 

Power of Board to make by-laws, etc. 
 

(4) The Board has power to make bylaws, resolutions or regulations, 

a) pertaining to the meetings of the Board and its transactions, and fixing the quorum of 

the Board; 

b) providing for the appointment of committees by the Board and for the conferring upon 

any such committees of authority to act for the Board with respect to any matters or 

class or classes of matters, but,  

 i)  a majority of the members of every such committee, including in the computation 

    thereof the ex officio members, shall be members of the Board, and 

 ii) no decision of a committee, which includes in its membership persons who are 

not members of the Board, shall be valid or effective until approved and ratified 

by the Board; 
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c) providing for the retirement and superannuation of the persons mentioned in clauses 

         [a] and [b] of subsection 1; 

d) providing for payments by way of gratuities, retiring allowances, superannuation 

  allowances, pensions, annuities or life insurance, or any combination thereof, payable 

 to, in respect of or for the benefit of the persons mentioned in clauses a and b of  

 subsection 1, or any class or classes thereof, out of a fund or funds comprising  

 contributions made by such persons, or any class or classes thereof, or by the Board, or  

 both, or otherwise, whether affected by agreements or arrangements entered into with  

 one or more insurance companies licensed to transact business in Ontario or with Her  

 Majesty in right of Ontario, or Her Majesty in right of Canada, or otherwise; and 

e) providing for and governing a health service and health examination and physical 

  instruction and training of the students of the University and University College. 

 

Idem 
 

 (5)    Save as in this Act otherwise expressly provided, the action of the Board in any matter 

with which it may deal shall be by by-law, resolution or regulation, as the Board may determine, but 

it is not essential to the validity of any such by-law, resolution or regulation that it be under the 

corporate seal of the University if it is authenticated in the manner prescribed by the Board.   1961-

62, c. 154, s. 4, part. 

 

Composition of Senate 

 

19. There shall be a Senate of the University composed of, 

a) the President, ex officio, who shall be its chairman; 

b) the Academic Vice-President, ex officio, when there is such an official; 

c) the principal or head of each federated university or college; 

d) the dean of each faculty and school of the University; 

e) the Librarian; 

f) the Registrar of the University, who shall be the secretary of the Senate; 

g) the Director of the Extension Department of the University; 

h) one full-time professor elected annually by each federated university and college; 

i) two full-time professors elected annually by each faculty, school and college of the 

 University. 1961-62, c. 154, s. 4, part. 

 

Ineligibility of members of another university 

 

20. No person is eligible for appointment as a member of the Senate who is a member of a 

governing body or senate or faculty of any degree-granting university, college or institution of higher 

learning, other than the University and its federated and affiliated colleges.  1961-62, c. 154, s. 4, 

part.  

 

Powers of Senate 

 

21. The Senate is responsible for the educational policy of the University, and, with the approval 

of the Board in so far as the expenditure of funds and establishment of facilities are concerned, may 
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create faculties, schools, institutes, departments, chairs or courses of instruction within the 

University, may create faculty councils to act as committees which may recommend to the Senate 

regulations respecting the admission of the students, courses of study and requirements for 

graduation, may pass by-laws, resolutions and regulations in  respect of matters in this section 

referred to, and may from time to time amend or replace any of its by-laws, resolutions and 

regulations, and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Senate has power, 

a) to conduct examinations and appoint examiners; 

b) to deal with matters that arise in connection with the award of fellowships, 

 scholarships, medals, prizes and other awards; 

c) to confer degrees of Bachelor, Master and Doctor in the several arts, sciences and 

faculties and all other degrees that may appropriately be conferred by a university, 

except degrees in Theology; 

d) to confer honorary degrees with the concurrence of the Board.  1961-62, c. 154, s. 4, 

 part. 

Idem 
 

22. In addition to such other powers and duties as are expressly mentioned in this Act, the Senate 

shall, 

a) provide for the regulation and conduct of its proceedings, including the determination 

 of a quorum necessary for the transaction of business; 

b) provide for the convening and conduct of such Convocations as may be requisite for 

 the purposes set out in this Act; 

c) recommend to the Board the federation or affiliation of any university or college, the  

dissolution or suspension of any such federation or affiliation or the modification or 

alteration of the terms thereof; 

d) consider and determine, on the recommendations of the respective faculty and school  

 councils, the courses of study in all faculties and schools; 

e) provide, if deemed necessary by the Senate, for an executive committee, which shall  

 act in the name and on behalf of the Senate, whose constitution and powers shall be 

  as the Senate may from time to time determine; 

f) consider all such matters as are reported to it by any faculty council and communicate 

 its opinion or action thereon to the faculty council; 

g) make rules and regulations for the management and conduct of the library, and  

 prescribe the duties of the Librarian; 

h) make such changes in the composition of the Senate as may be deemed expedient;  

provided that no change shall be made that affects the rights of representation thereon 

of a federated university or college, unless the change is assented to by the federated 

university or college affected by the change and is approved by the Board.   1961-62, 

c. 154, s. 4, part. 
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Court of Discipline 

 

23. There shall be a committee, to be called the Court of Discipline, which shall be composed of 

the President, who shall be the chairman, the Registrar of the University, the principal or head of 

University College and of each federated university or college, the Dean of Men and the Dean of 

Women, if and when appointed, and the dean of each faculty or school of the University, and the 

presence of at least four members constitutes a quorum at a meeting of the Court of Discipline.   

1961-62, c. 154, s. 4, part. 

 

Disciplinary jurisdiction of governing bodies 

 
24. (1) The governing body of each federated university or college has disciplinary jurisdiction 

over and the entire responsibility for the conduct of its students in respect of all matters arising or 

occurring in or upon its university or college buildings and grounds, including residences. 

 

Disciplinary jurisdiction of Court of Discipline 

 

(2) In all other cases, as respects all students of the University and of each federated  

university or college, disciplinary action is vested in the Court of Discipline, but the Court of 

Discipline may delegate its authority in any particular case or by general regulations to the governing 

body of the faculty, school, or college to which the student belongs.   1961-62, c. 154, s. 4, part. 

 

Punishment 
 

25. (1) The power of the Court of Discipline includes power to suspend, to impose fines and to  

recommend to the Senate the withholding of degrees, diplomas, certificates or academic standing. 

 

Expulsion 
 

(2) In cases involving conduct that the Court of Discipline or the governing body of a  

federated university or college considers may warrant the punishment of expulsion, the Court of 

Discipline has power to award, either in addition to or in substitution for any other punishment that 

may be awarded, the punishment of expulsion, subject to confirmation by the Board, whose decision 

is final and not open to review.  1961-62, c. 154, s. 4, part. 

 

Power to change provisions re discipline 

 

26. With respect to the conduct and discipline as students of the University of all students 

enrolled in any federated university or college or in University College, the provisions of sections 24 

and 25 may be abrogated or changed by the Board.  1961-62, c. 154, s. 4, part. 

 

Suspension of degree-granting rights of federated colleges 

 

27. If any university or college is federated or affiliated with the University and has the right to 

254



 

 11 

grant degrees, such right, except for degrees in Theology, shall remain dormant during the time that 

such university or college remains federated or affiliated with the University.   1961-62, c. 154, s. 4, 

part. 

 

President 
 

28. (1) There shall be a President of the University who shall be appointed by the Board and  

who, unless otherwise provided, shall hold office during the pleasure of the Board. 

 

Idem 

 

(2) The President is the chief executive officer of the University and chairman of the  

Senate and has supervision over and direction of the academic work and general administration of 

the University and the teaching staff thereof, and the students thereof, and the officers and servants 

thereof, and has such other powers and duties as may from time to time be conferred upon him by the 

Board. 

 

Vice-Presidents 

 

(3) The Board may appoint one or more Vice-Presidents, who have such powers and duties  

as may be conferred upon or assigned to them by the Board.  1961-62, c.154, s. 4, part. 

 

Accounts 

 

29. The accounts of the University shall be audited at least once a year by an auditor or auditors 

appointed by the Board.  1961-62, c. 154, s. 4, part. 

 

Reports 

 

30. The Board shall submit to the Lieutenant Governor in Council, upon request, the annual 

report of the University and such other reports as may be so requested from time to time.   1961-62, 

c. 154, s. 4, part. 

 

Commencement 
 

31. This Act comes into force on the day it receives Royal Assent. 

 

Short title 

 

32. This Act may be cited as The Laurentian University of Sudbury Act, 1960. 
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This is Exhibit “B”, referred to in the 

Affidavit of ROBERT HACHÉ,  
sworn before me via videoconference 

this 30th day of January, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 
A Commissioner for taking Affidavits, etc. 
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Category ID: (C)CC/E Page: 2

Certified a true copy of the data as recorded on the Ontario Business
Information System.

Director
Ministry of Government Services
Toronto, Ontario

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number Corporation Name

1547420 NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE/ECOLE

DE MEDECINE DU NORD DE L ONTARIO

Corporate Name History Effective Date

NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE/ECOLE 2004/07/29
DE MEDECINE DU NORD DE L ONTARIO

NORTHERN ONTARIO MEDICAL SCHOOL/ECOLE DE 2002/11/15
MEDECINE DU NORD-ONTARIO

Current Business Name(s) Exist: NO

Expired Business Name(s) Exist: NO

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

ALEXANDRE
1041 DELWOOD COURT

ANAWATI

SUDBURY
ONTARIO
CANADA P3E 4M2

Date Began First Director

2016/09/18 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR
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Transaction ID: 77118100 Ministry of Government Services Time Report Produced: 12:44:38
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Certified a true copy of the data as recorded on the Ontario Business
Information System.

Director
Ministry of Government Services
Toronto, Ontario

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number Corporation Name

1547420 NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE/ECOLE

DE MEDECINE DU NORD DE L ONTARIO

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

MICHEL
226 SEQUOIA DRIVE

BEDARD

THUNDER BAY
ONTARIO
CANADA P7N 5T2

Date Began First Director

2016/09/23 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

DANIELLE
116113 QUARRY RD

BELANGER-CORBIN

HAILEYBURY
ONTARIO
CANADA P0J 1K0

Date Began First Director

2015/09/23 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR
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Request ID: 025238185 Province of Ontario Date Report Produced: 2020/11/05

Transaction ID: 77118100 Ministry of Government Services Time Report Produced: 12:44:38
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Certified a true copy of the data as recorded on the Ontario Business
Information System.

Director
Ministry of Government Services
Toronto, Ontario

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number Corporation Name

1547420 NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE/ECOLE

DE MEDECINE DU NORD DE L ONTARIO

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

GARY
43 SAGE STREET

BOISSONEAU

GARDEN RIVER FN
ONTARIO
CANADA P6A 0A3

Date Began First Director

2014/09/23 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

LUCY
500 HOGARTH AVE

BONANNO

GERALDTON
ONTARIO
CANADA P0T 1M0

Date Began First Director

2016/09/23 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR
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Transaction ID: 77118100 Ministry of Government Services Time Report Produced: 12:44:38
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Certified a true copy of the data as recorded on the Ontario Business
Information System.

Director
Ministry of Government Services
Toronto, Ontario

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number Corporation Name

1547420 NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE/ECOLE

DE MEDECINE DU NORD DE L ONTARIO

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

KENNETH
590 BEVERLY STREET

BOSHCOFF
Suite # UNIT 202
THUNDER BAY
ONTARIO
CANADA P7B 6N1

Date Began First Director

2014/09/23 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

ANGELE
2036 HAWKRIDGE DRIVE

BRUNELLE

THUNDER BAY
ONTARIO
CANADA P7J 1H2

Date Began First Director

2011/12/02 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR

268



Request ID: 025238185 Province of Ontario Date Report Produced: 2020/11/05

Transaction ID: 77118100 Ministry of Government Services Time Report Produced: 12:44:38

Category ID: (C)CC/E Page: 6

Certified a true copy of the data as recorded on the Ontario Business
Information System.

Director
Ministry of Government Services
Toronto, Ontario

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number Corporation Name

1547420 NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE/ECOLE

DE MEDECINE DU NORD DE L ONTARIO

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

PIERRE
1619 WEST P.O BOX 594

DUMAIS

HEARST
ONTARIO
CANADA P0L 1N0

Date Began First Director

2014/09/23 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

LORI
SITE 300-40

FLINDERS RR#3

FORT FRANCES
ONTARIO
CANADA P9A 0A1

Date Began First Director

2016/09/23 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR
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Request ID: 025238185 Province of Ontario Date Report Produced: 2020/11/05
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Certified a true copy of the data as recorded on the Ontario Business
Information System.

Director
Ministry of Government Services
Toronto, Ontario

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number Corporation Name

1547420 NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE/ECOLE

DE MEDECINE DU NORD DE L ONTARIO

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

MARK
555 MAIN STREET SOUTH

HURST
Suite # 7
CALLANDER
ONTARIO
CANADA P0H 1H0

Date Began First Director

2015/09/23 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

NANCY
711 URSULA STREET

JACKO

NORTH BAY
ONTARIO
CANADA P1B 5L3

Date Began First Director

2016/09/23 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR

270



Request ID: 025238185 Province of Ontario Date Report Produced: 2020/11/05

Transaction ID: 77118100 Ministry of Government Services Time Report Produced: 12:44:38

Category ID: (C)CC/E Page: 8

Certified a true copy of the data as recorded on the Ontario Business
Information System.

Director
Ministry of Government Services
Toronto, Ontario

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number Corporation Name

1547420 NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE/ECOLE

DE MEDECINE DU NORD DE L ONTARIO

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

WILLIAM
309 LONGBOW STREET

MCCREADY

THUNDER BAY
ONTARIO
CANADA P7G 1K3

Date Began First Director

2016/09/23 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

MOIRA
370 CROSSBOW COURT

MCPHERSON

THUNDER BAY
ONTARIO
CANADA P7G 1H5

Date Began First Director

2015/03/18 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR
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Certified a true copy of the data as recorded on the Ontario Business
Information System.

Director
Ministry of Government Services
Toronto, Ontario

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number Corporation Name

1547420 NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE/ECOLE

DE MEDECINE DU NORD DE L ONTARIO

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

GEORGE
219 MARLBOROUGH

PAYNE

THUNDER BAY
ONTARIO
CANADA P7B 4G7

Date Began First Director

2018/09/19 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

ROGER
1060 RAMSEY LAKE ROAD

STRASSER

SUDBURY
ONTARIO
CANADA P3E 6J7

Date Began First Director

2003/12/02 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR
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Certified a true copy of the data as recorded on the Ontario Business
Information System.

Director
Ministry of Government Services
Toronto, Ontario

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number Corporation Name

1547420 NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE/ECOLE

DE MEDECINE DU NORD DE L ONTARIO

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

ROGER
1060 RAMSEY LAKE ROAD

STRASSER

SUDBURY
ONTARIO
CANADA P3E 6J7

Date Began First Director

2003/12/02 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

OFFICER PRESIDENT

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

ROGER
1060 RAMSEY LAKE ROAD

STRASSER

SUDBURY
ONTARIO
CANADA P3E 6J7

Date Began First Director

2003/12/02 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

OFFICER CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Certified a true copy of the data as recorded on the Ontario Business
Information System.

Director
Ministry of Government Services
Toronto, Ontario

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number Corporation Name

1547420 NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE/ECOLE

DE MEDECINE DU NORD DE L ONTARIO

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

ROGER
935 RAMSEY LAKE ROAD

STRASSER DR LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY

SUDBURY
ONTARIO
CANADA P3E 2C6

Date Began First Director

2003/12/02 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

OFFICER SECRETARY

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

ROGER
935 RAMSEY LAKE ROAD

STRASSER DR.

SUDBURY
ONTARIO
CANADA P3E 2C6

Date Began First Director

2003/12/02 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR
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Transaction ID: 77118100 Ministry of Government Services Time Report Produced: 12:44:38
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Certified a true copy of the data as recorded on the Ontario Business
Information System.

Director
Ministry of Government Services
Toronto, Ontario

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number Corporation Name

1547420 NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE/ECOLE

DE MEDECINE DU NORD DE L ONTARIO

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

BRUCE
2122 LACEWOOD DR

SUTTON

THUNDER BAY
ONTARIO
CANADA P7K 1C4

Date Began First Director

2015/09/23 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

BRUCE
2122 LACEWOOD DR

SUTTON

THUNDER BAY
ONTARIO
CANADA P7K 1C4

Date Began First Director

2015/09/23 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

OFFICER TREASURER
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Certified a true copy of the data as recorded on the Ontario Business
Information System.

Director
Ministry of Government Services
Toronto, Ontario

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number Corporation Name

1547420 NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE/ECOLE

DE MEDECINE DU NORD DE L ONTARIO

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

JOY
1555 MOUNTAIN ROAD

WARKENTIN

THUNDER BAY
ONTARIO
CANADA P7J 1C6

Date Began First Director

2016/09/23 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

PIERRE
179 JOHN STREET

ZUNDEL

SUDBURY
ONTARIO
CANADA P3E 1P5

Date Began First Director

2016/09/21 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

DIRECTOR
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Certified a true copy of the data as recorded on the Ontario Business
Information System.

Director
Ministry of Government Services
Toronto, Ontario

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number Corporation Name

1547420 NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE/ECOLE

DE MEDECINE DU NORD DE L ONTARIO

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

PIERRE
179 JOHN STREET

ZUNDEL

SUDBURY
ONTARIO
CANADA P3E 1P5

Date Began First Director

2016/09/21 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

OFFICER CHAIR

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation) Address

PIERRE
179 JOHN STREET

ZUNDEL

SUDBURY
ONTARIO
CANADA P3E 1P5

Date Began First Director

2016/09/21 NOT APPLICABLE

Designation Officer Type Resident Canadian

OFFICER VICE-PRESIDENT
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Category ID: (C)CC/E Page: 15

Certified a true copy of the data as recorded on the Ontario Business
Information System.

Director
Ministry of Government Services
Toronto, Ontario

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number Corporation Name

1547420 NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE/ECOLE

DE MEDECINE DU NORD DE L ONTARIO

Last Document Recorded

Act/Code Description Form Date

CIA ANNUAL RETURN 2019 1C 2019/11/03 (ELECTRONIC FILING)

THIS REPORT SETS OUT THE MOST RECENT INFORMATION FILED BY THE CORPORATION ON OR AFTER JUNE 27, 1992, AND RECORDED
IN THE ONTARIO BUSINESS INFORMATION SYSTEM AS AT THE DATE AND TIME OF PRINTING. ALL PERSONS WHO ARE RECORDED AS
CURRENT DIRECTORS OR OFFICERS ARE INCLUDED IN THE LIST OF ADMINISTRATORS.

ADDITIONAL HISTORICAL INFORMATION MAY EXIST ON MICROFICHE.

The issuance of this certified report in electronic form is authorized by the Ministry of Government Services.
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This is Exhibit “D”, referred to in the 

Affidavit of ROBERT HACHÉ,  
sworn before me via videoconference 

this 30th day of January, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 
A Commissioner for taking Affidavits, etc. 
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This is Exhibit “E”, referred to in the 

Affidavit of ROBERT HACHÉ,  
sworn before me via videoconference 

this 30th day of January, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 
A Commissioner for taking Affidavits, etc. 
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This is Exhibit “F”, referred to in the 

Affidavit of ROBERT HACHÉ,  
sworn before me via videoconference 

this 30th day of January, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 
A Commissioner for taking Affidavits, etc. 
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RELATIONSHIP AGREEMENT 
 

Made as of December 19, 2018 

between and among 

LAKEHEAD UNIVERSITY 

and 
 

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY 
 

and 
 

NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE 
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2018 REVISION 

RELATIONSHIP AGREEMENT 

 

 

 
 

RELATIONSHIP AGREEENT 

 
This Agreement amends, restates and replaces the Relationship Agreement between the Parties 
made as of November 30, 2015 and is made as of December 19, 2018 between and among: 

 
LAKEHEAD UNIVERSITY (“Lakehead”) 

and 
 

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY (“Laurentian”) 
and 

 

 

RECITALS 

NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE (“NOSM”) 

(1) NOSM, a medical school for the whole of Northern Ontario, is a shared initiative of 
Lakehead and Laurentian. 

 

(2) The relationship between and among the Parties involves a number of complex 
components, related to the uniqueness and diversity of the Universities and the 
distance between them. This complexity is guided by the establishment of shared 
values and principles that the Parties employ as they respect each other’s unique 
differences and circumstances. 

 

(3) It is meaningful to describe the background to the formation of NOSM and the 
intricacies of the historical relationships where agreement has been reached on a 
broad basis in order to provide context for the working relationships between and 
among the Parties. 

 

(4) With medical school sites at Lakehead in Thunder Bay and at Laurentian in Sudbury, 
NOSM has multiple teaching and research sites across Northern Ontario, in large rural 
and remote communities. As such, NOSM contributes to improving the health of 
people in Northern Ontario. 

 

(5) NOSM is the first medical school in the country established through collaboration 
between two universities. In many ways, the establishment and development of 
NOSM was a new endeavor for which there was little or no precedent in Canada. 

 

(6) The Universities remain committed to ensuring that NOSM supports the interests of 
the whole of Northern Ontario and thrives as a successful medical school. NOSM 
acknowledges that the entirety of its wider campus of Northern Ontario is the 
Ancestral Traditional Lands of the First Nations Peoples and Métis Peoples who 
resided alongside. NOSM also respectfully acknowledges that the medical school 
building at Laurentian is located in the Robinson-Huron Treaty territory and at 
Lakehead in the Robinson-Superior Treaty territory. 

 
Lakehead respectfully acknowledges its campuses are located on the traditional lands 
of Indigenous Peoples. Lakehead Thunder Bay is located on the traditional lands of 
the Fort William First Nation, signatory to the Robinson-Superior Treaty of 1850. The 
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Anishinaabeg include the Ojibwe, Odawa, and Pottawatomi nations, collectively 
known as the Three Fires Confederacy. Lakehead acknowledges the history that many 
nations hold in the areas around our campuses, and is committed to a relationship 
with First Nations, Métis, and Inuit Peoples based on the principles of mutual trust, 
respect, reciprocity, and collaboration in the spirit of reconciliation. 

 

Laurentian is located on the traditional Anishinaabe territory of the Atikameksheng 
Anishnawbek and Wahnapitae First Nation. Laurentian is situated within the 
boundaries of the Robinson-Huron Treaty of 1850. Laurentian acknowledge those 
who came before us and honour those who are the caretakers of this land and the 
waters. 

 

NOW THEREFORE IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual promises and agreements of the Parties 
herein expressed and for other good and valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which 
are hereby acknowledged, the Parties covenant and agree as follows: 

 

1.0        BACKGROUND 
 

1.1 For the purpose of this Agreement: 
 

(1) “Agreement” means this relationship agreement, as amended or restated from time 
to time. 

 
(2) “Faculty member” means individuals appointed by NOSM under the NOSM Faculty 

Appointment and Reappointment Policy, as well as faculty who are employees of 
NOSM and individuals who are members of LUFA (Laurentian) or LUFA (Lakehead). 

 

(3) “Learners” means all students and residents enrolled with NOSM, including medical 
students, residents (postgraduate learners), graduate students, dietetic interns, 
physician assistant students, and other health professional students undertaking 
placements coordinated by NOSM. 

 
(4) “Parties” collectively means NOSM, Lakehead and Laurentian. 

 

(5) “Program” means any combination of courses and/or other study requirements that, 
upon successful completion, lead to the award of a formal qualification such as a 
university degree (MD or MMS) or health professional certification (CCFP, FRCPSC or 
RD). 

 

(6) “Universities” collectively means Lakehead and Laurentian. 
 

1.2 NOSM is a separate corporate entity established by Lakehead and Laurentian which, as a 
single region-wide organization, serves as the Faculty of Medicine both for Lakehead and for 
Laurentian. 

 
2.0        NOSM MODEL 

 

2.1 NOSM was established under the Corporations Act (Ontario) with Lakehead and Laurentian 
as the two members of the not-for-profit corporation. Under the operating by-laws of NOSM, 
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the Presidents of Lakehead and Laurentian, or if so delegated by the President, the University 
Provost, serve as Chair and Vice-Chair of the NOSM board of directors (“Board”). The holders 
of these positions alternate every three years. 

 
2.2 The corporate Letters Patent set out the objects of NOSM as follows: 

 

“Working under the auspices of Lakehead University and Laurentian University of Sudbury 
to establish, operate and maintain a medical school which is responsive to the needs of the 
people of Northern Ontario and other regions of Canada for the purposes of: 

 

(a) providing undergraduate and post-graduate medical education programs with a 
primary focus on those programs that are innovative and responsive to the individual 
needs of students and to the healthcare needs of the people of Northern Ontario; 

 

(b) advancing the highest quality of medical learning, teaching, research and 
professionalism; 

 

(c) contributing to the advancement of medical education and healthcare services in 
Northern Ontario and in the Ontario, Canadian and global contexts with particular 
focus on the unique healthcare needs of the people who live in the communities of 
Northern Ontario and other northern regions of Canada; and 

 

(d) facilitating student appreciation of the opportunities for quality educational and 
professional medical careers in rural and northern regions of Ontario with a focus on 
Northern Ontario and its communities’ healthcare needs.” 

 

2.3 In the NOSM Strategic Plan 2015 – 2020, the vision, mission and goals are: 
 

Vision 
Innovative Education and Research for a Healthier North 

 
Mission 
The Northern Ontario School of Medicine (NOSM) is committed to the education of high 
quality physicians and health professionals, and to international recognition as a leader in 
distributed, learning-centred, community-engaged education and research. 

NOSM will accomplish this by: 

Being socially accountable to the priority health needs and the diversity of the populations of 
Northern Ontario. 

Actively involving Indigenous, Francophone, remote, rural and underserviced communities. 

Leading and conducting research activities that positively impact the health of those living in 
Northern communities. 

Fostering a positive learning environment for learners, faculty and staff. 

Achieving an integrated, collaborative approach to education, learning, and programming. 

Increasing the number of physicians and health professionals with the clinical and leadership 
knowledge and skills to practice in Northern Ontario. 
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Goals 

Enrich the educational programs to foster exemplary quality health care in rural and remote 
communities. 

Strengthen NOSM’s capacity to perform outstanding research that aligns with the health 
needs of Northern Ontario. 

Create an inclusive whole-school culture and learning environment that support the growth 
and development of NOSM’s faculty, staff, and learners. 

Empower  faculty  members  through  ongoing  engagement  and  active  involvement  in  all 
aspects of NOSM. 

Engage  communities,  health  service  partners,  and  other  collaborators  strategically  to 
strengthen relationships and expand resources. 

2.4 The establishment of NOSM was guided by the Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities 
(“MTCU”). As part of the model, it was determined that MTCU would communicate directly 
with NOSM and copy these communications to the Presidents of each of Lakehead and 
Laurentian. Funding flows from MTCU directly to NOSM rather than through the Universities. 
The NOSM Board is ultimately responsible and accountable for all corporate and financial 
aspects of NOSM and not subject to the direction of any other boards, including the boards of 
governors of the two Universities. 

 

2.5 NOSM cannot grant degrees; only universities grant degrees. NOSM gains its academic status 
through the authority of the Senates of the two Universities. NOSM serves as the Faculty of 
Medicine of Lakehead and the Faculty of Medicine of Laurentian. Consequently, NOSM has a 
dual governance structure like that of the Universities with corporate governance provided 
by the NOSM Board and academic governance exercised through the Senates of Lakehead and 
Laurentian. 

 
2.6 Academic governance arrangements for NOSM have been established through the NOSM 

Academic Council, which makes recommendations to the Senates of Lakehead and Laurentian 
through the Joint Senate Committee (“JSC”) for NOSM. The Senates may only accept, reject, or 
send back for further work, recommendations from the JSC. 

 

2.7 For many academic activities and programs, NOSM functions in virtually the same way as 
other faculties/schools in each university except that its faculty members are neither 
employees of the Universities nor members of the Universities’ faculty bargaining units. The 
NOSM Doctor of Medicine (MD) Program (known as "undergraduate medical education 
(UME)") culminates in a joint degree of the two Universities. Other NOSM programs like the 
Residency Programs (known as "post-graduate education (PGE)") lead to qualifications 
awarded by non-university organizations (e.g. certification by the Royal College of Physicians 
and Surgeons of Canada or the College of Family Physicians of Canada). 

 

2.8 Similar to the MD Program, the NOSM Graduate Studies Program leads to the awarding of a 
joint Masters and/or a joint PhD  degree of both Universities. NOSM contributes to the 
Graduate Studies programs of both Universities through the supervision of Masters and PhD 
students in a variety of departments and schools of the Universities. 
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2.9 The appointment or reappointment of the Dean of NOSM comprises a process involving a 
Search Committee of the NOSM Board constituted in accordance with Section 32 of the By- 
laws of NOSM, as amended, and otherwise, as follows: 

 
“32.1 The Corporation shall have a Dean, who shall be recommended by the Search 
Committee for appointment jointly by the Board and by Lakehead University and Laurentian 
University on such terms and for such duration as the Board may from time to time 
determine. 

 

32.2 The appointment of the Dean is subject to the approval of the appropriate bodies of 
each of Lakehead University and Laurentian University within their respective policies. 

 
32.3 The Dean shall function primarily as the chief executive officer of the Corporation and 
shall act as president for the purposes of the Act so long as that statute requires there to be a 
president of an entity governed by it.” 

 

2.10 There are a number of advantages of the NOSM corporate and academic model from the 
perspectives of the Universities, as well as for NOSM. These advantages include: 

 

• the Universities maintain academic oversight for NOSM through their Senates, 
 

• there are open and transparent relationships between and among the Parties with a 
clear and distinct demarcation on flow of funds, 

 
• the Universities are protected from legal and financial liabilities, other than those 

specifically assumed by agreement, 
 

• a successful medical school enhances the prominence and reputation of both 
Universities, relative to other universities, and assists with recruitment of learners 
and faculty beyond the immediate reaches of NOSM, 

 
• the NOSM model provides the opportunity for taking innovative and new approaches 

to academic programs across the two Universities and in administrative processes, 
and 

 
• NOSM derives academic enrichment, standing and credibility, as well as 

administrative support through its association with not one but two universities, each 
with over half a century of history. 

 

2.11 The Dean of NOSM has a duty to advocate for additional resources for NOSM. The Chair and 
Vice-Chair of the NOSM Board shall be informed of the steps taken by the Dean in his or her 
advocacy for additional funding from the Province of Ontario or elsewhere. 

 

3.0 PRINCIPLES 
 

3.1 The working relationships between and among the Parties are guided by the following 
principles (“Principles”): 
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• the Universities and NOSM will work towards a shared goal of providing a common 
educational experience for Learners with a common professional philosophy and 
program regardless of the University of registration, as well as common and 
consistent support for research, 

• the relationships are intended to maximize benefits to the Universities as well as to 
NOSM, 

• all structures, policies and processes will seek to maximize efficiency and 
effectiveness, and minimize unnecessary duplication, 

• opportunities will be explored that yield innovative and creative solutions that 
address technology, administrative and academic goals, and 

• the Parties, while acknowledging the challenges and complexities presented by this 
multi-governance model, will work co-operatively to ensure its effectiveness. 

4.0 LEARNERS 
 

4.1 NOSM has a wide range of education programs including the MD program Residency 
Programs and Continuing Education Professional Development (“CEPD”), all of which have 
specific Accreditation requirements. In addition, NOSM is involved in other education 
programs: the Northern Ontario Dietetic Internship Program (“NODIP”) is a one year 
clinical/community education program accredited by the Dietitians of Canada which 
prepares dietetic interns to be qualified as registered dietitians; the Physician Assistant 
education program (provided by a Consortium of the University of Toronto Faculty of 
Medicine, the Michener Institute of Applied Health Sciences and NOSM); the Northern Studies 
Stream for McMaster University students in Physiotherapy and Occupational Therapy; 
clinical placements for Speech Language Pathology, Audiology, Physiotherapy and 
Occupational Therapy students from other academic institutions; PharmD program of the 
University of Waterloo; and the Northern Ontario Radiation Physics program in collaboration 
with the regional cancer programs in Thunder Bay and Sudbury, accredited by the 
Commission on Accreditation of Medical Physics Education Programs; the NOSM Graduate 
Studies Program (Master of Medical Studies), a joint program of both Universities. In addition 
NOSM contributes to the Graduate Studies programs of both Universities through the 
supervision of Masters and PhD students in a variety of departments and schools of the 
Universities. NOSM also participates in interprofessional education in collaboration with 
other health sciences programs of the Universities and other post-secondary education 
institutions within and beyond Northern Ontario. 

 

4.2 NOSM medical students graduate with a Doctor of Medicine (MD) Degree conferred by both 
Universities. A clear requirement of the Committee on Accreditation of Canadian Medical 
Schools (“CACMS”)/Liaison Committee on Medical Education (“LCME”) is accreditation 
(“Accreditation”) which has the expectation of consistency such that all medical students in 
each NOSM MD class study the same curriculum and receive the same support and services. 
All Parties will ensure that NOSM medical students have access to similar services to the 
extent possible at both Universities. 

 

4.3 Although similar in intent, the regulations affecting NOSM medical students of Lakehead and 
Laurentian are not identical. Medical schools usually have their own specific regulations, 
which complement the general regulations of the University.  For NOSM, there is a need for 

311



RELATIONSHIP AGREEMENT 

- 7 - 2018 REVISION 
 

 

 
 

consistent and clear “University  regulations”  so as to meet Accreditation requirements. 
Consequently, specific NOSM regulations have been developed which are consistent with the 
regulations of Lakehead and Laurentian. It should be noted that societal requirements of 
medical schools place an added responsibility to ensure that medical students meet 
standards of professional performance and behaviour, in addition to the academic and 
behavioural standards required of all university students. 

 

4.4 In the case of NOSM medical or graduate student appeals, both Senates have approved the 
NOSM Policy Regarding Academic Appeals and the Academic Council Appeal Committee 
Terms of Reference. The Appeal Committee is drawn from a Committee Panel that will be 
convened to hear Learner appeals based on an academic decision rendered by any NOSM 
program or committee under the purview of Academic Council whose decisions are final. 
Postgraduate Learners (Residents) can appeal only as far as the NOSM Academic Council 
whose decisions are final. 

 

4.5 It is understood that where NOSM medical or graduate students engage (or are alleged to 
have engaged) in misconduct, a person aggrieved has the right to pursue a complaint under 
the relevant NOSM regulation and/or policy in addition to their right to pursue a complaint 
under the relevant policies, procedures and/or regulations of the University in whose 
jurisdiction it takes place. Where the complaint is brought under a University policy, 
procedure and/or regulation of the jurisdiction in which the misconduct takes place, the 
University’s officers will consult with the appropriate NOSM authorities prior to instituting 
any disciplinary measures/actions. Notwithstanding the substance of any consultation, in 
addition to any disciplinary measures/actions taken pursuant to NOSM regulations, the 
University having jurisdiction may impose its own disciplinary corrective measures in 
accordance with the relevant university policy/procedure/regulation under which the 
misconduct was addressed. NOSM medical students or graduates are registered as Lakehead 
students if they begin their studies at Lakehead and as Laurentian students if they begin their 
studies at Laurentian. As occurs at other medical schools, NOSM medical students seeking an 
undergraduate medical degree begin their program on a University campus (either 
Laurentian or Lakehead) and continue their medical studies in years three and four at a 
variety of distributed clinical learning locations with occasional time spent on the University 
campuses. 

 

4.6 In order to avoid duplication and to adequately address medical or graduate student liability 
risks and the obligation for medical students that NOSM has under collaboration agreements 
entered into with hospitals and other health service teaching sites, the Parties agree that: 

 

(a) NOSM medical and graduate students will be considered to be registered at NOSM 
and at either of Lakehead or Laurentian as provided for in Section 4.5 of this 
Agreement. 

 

(b) The policy of insurance maintained by NOSM shall apply to any academic and medical 
malpractice liability involving NOSM learners including medical and graduate 
students, residents and dietetic interns. Residents are also required to be members 
of the Canadian Medical Protective Association. 
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(c) Each Party shall be held responsible for its own negligence and each Party shall 
indemnify, defend and hold harmless each of the other Parties from and against all 
claims, losses, damages and costs with respect to such negligence. 

 
(d) NOSM has added Lakehead and Laurentian as “additional insureds” to the NOSM 

insurance policy and each of Lakehead and Laurentian have added NOSM as an 
“additional insured” to its insurance policy. 

 

4.7 As required by MTCU, NOSM reports its Learners to MTCU, drawing on data supplied by the 
two Universities’ Registrars’ Offices. Although MTCU funding comes directly to NOSM, the 
Universities collect the tuition and ancillary fees from the NOSM Learners in the same way as 
for students of other schools and faculties. NOSM Learners registered at Lakehead have their 
fees collected by Lakehead and Laurentian-registered NOSM Learners have their fees 
collected by Laurentian. 

 

4.8 Consistent with the Principles outlined previously, the Registrar’s Office at each University 
maintains the primary Learner records in the same way as for students of other 
Faculties/schools in the Universities. NOSM keeps some limited Learner records, in its Office 
of Learner Affairs. 

 

4.9 Arrangements for the production of transcripts have been developed through cooperation 
between the Registrars’ Offices of the two Universities. Transcripts produced for NOSM 
Learners designate both Universities consistent with students undertaking single 
undergraduate programs. 

 

4.10 NOSM Learners have full access to the library resources of both Universities and students of 
both Universities have access to library resources of NOSM. Access to library resources is 
important for NOSM Learners, regardless of where they are located and their university 
registration status. Reciprocal processes for this access to library resources will be 
maintained and on-going collaboration ensures technical support for said access. The 
libraries ensure that there is no unnecessary duplication with regard to licences for access to 
electronic resources. The University and NOSM libraries ensure appropriate representation 
and inclusion in relevant library consortia activities. 

 

4.11 All NOSM Learners are provided with equal access to support and counselling covering 
academic, personal/social, health, and financial matters. Many of these student affairs 
services are provided through established mechanisms of both Universities with appropriate 
funding provided by NOSM to the Universities. The mechanisms of the two Universities for 
providing financial counselling and support are sufficiently different from each other that the 
NOSM Office of Learner Affairs requires mechanisms to facilitate consistency for all NOSM 
Learners. Protocols facilitating consistency and funding limits are developed and approved 
by the Universities and NOSM. 

 

4.12 In addition to Learner support and counselling, NOSM is required to ensure that all NOSM 
Learners have access to student financial aid. The NOSM Office of Learner Affairs collaborates 
with the relevant University financial aid offices to ensure that NOSM Learners have access 
to all scholarships and bursaries that are available to them. 
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4.13 There is a particular imperative for NOSM to ensure that student financial aid is available 
such that no medical student is unduly disadvantaged financially by studying medicine at 
NOSM. As a result of recruiting medical students with a northern and rural background, the 
average family income of NOSM medical students is less than that of students of other medical 
schools (based on census data). The NOSM Board has recognized this issue and established 
the NOSM Bursary Fund to facilitate the collection of a pool of funds to provide scholarships 
and bursaries for NOSM medical students. Donations are made to either University or to 
NOSM and the donor may designate the manner in which the funds are to provide medical 
student support. Bursary funds donated to either University shall be invested in accordance 
with the relevant University policies on investment trust and endowment funds. 

 

4.14 In relation to Convocations, usually NOSM medical students registered at Lakehead graduate 
at a Lakehead Convocation in Thunder Bay and Laurentian-registered medical students 
graduate at a Laurentian Convocation in Sudbury. Exceptions can be made where the medical 
student presents a compelling argument to the NOSM Associate Dean Undergraduate Medical 
Education for attending the convocation at the University to which they have not been 
registered provided sufficient notice period to allow the logistics of this to occur. The MD 
Degree parchments signifies award of an MD degree of Lakehead and Laurentian with both 
Universities recognized equally on the parchment. 

 

4.15 As noted above, NOSM is responsible for post-graduate medical education (Residency 
Programs) accredited by the College of Family Physicians of Canada (“CFPC”) or the Royal 
College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada (“RCPSC”). CFPC and RCPSC determine 
curriculum standards, examine candidates and award certification in specific specialties. This 
certification is required for physicians to qualify for an independent licence to practice. NOSM 
residents are registered with NOSM and recorded by the Universities for reporting to MTCU 
and the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Residents undertake most of their education 
in clinical settings with some classroom based learning on the University campuses. NOSM 
residents have full access to NOSM library, Learner support services and other services 
available to University students. 

 

5.0 FACULTY 
 

5.1 The NOSM Faculty Appointment  and  Reappointment Policy, and Policy and Procedures 
Governing Joint and Stipendiary Faculty Promotions covers NOSM faculty members who are 
not employees of either Lakehead or Laurentian and therefore not covered by the collective 
agreements of either University. These NOSM faculty members may be employed by NOSM, 
employed by another institution (such as a hospital or health service) or be self-employed 
(like many physicians). To cover Lakehead or Laurentian faculty members who undertake 
faculty roles for NOSM, agreed terms for secondment have been developed by the parties and 
are attached as Schedule A. 

 

5.2 NOSM has primary responsibility for providing and funding professional development, 
training, and other human resources support for staff and faculty who are employees of 
NOSM. Consistent with the Principles, NOSM protocols and procedures are similar to those 
of the two Universities. Policies approved by the NOSM Board take precedence over the 
policies of either Lakehead or Laurentian. 
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5.3 The NOSM Faculty Appointment  and  Reappointment Policy, and Policy and Procedures 
Governing Joint and Stipendiary Faculty Promotions distinguishes the concepts of 
employment status from faculty status and from academic rank. It allows for NOSM faculty 
members to have faculty status and academic rank in the Faculty of Medicine at both 
Universities. 

 

5.4 This recognition of faculty status applies to NOSM faculty members, at both Laurentian and 
Lakehead, as well as other locations including all stipendiary faculty members. It seeks to 
foster collaboration and enable the integration of the faculty members of NOSM into the 
academic community of Laurentian and Lakehead, including fostering co-operative and 
collaborative research and harmonized research application, while recognizing the need to 
respect the collective agreement commitments of each University and NOSM. The intention 
is that employed NOSM faculty members have the same access as full-time Lakehead and 
Laurentian faculty members and stipendiary NOSM faculty members would have the same 
access as part-time Lakehead and Laurentian faculty members.  (see Schedule D and F) 

 

5.5 Faculty status recognition by the Universities does not grant NOSM faculty members standing 
within departments of the Universities. NOSM faculty members may apply to be involved in 
the academic activities of a University department or school, as if they are within the same 
institution. The Laurentian faculty collective agreement describes this as a "cross 
appointment" between departments or schools, and the Lakehead Senate policy describes 
this as an "internal adjunct appointment" between departments or schools. The procedure 
for seeking such an appointment is described in the Protocol for Reciprocal Recognition of 
Faculty Members, which is set out in Schedule C. 

 

5.6 Recognition of faculty status by the Universities does not make faculty members at NOSM 
members of the bargaining unit of faculty members at either Lakehead or Laurentian, unless 
they are offered work defined in the collective agreement of the Universities. Such work will 
be compensated according to the collective agreement, and the persons performing it will be 
members as defined by that collective agreement. 

 

5.7 In the event of any legal labour disruption between the Lakehead faculty association and the 
Board of Governors at Lakehead or between the Laurentian faculty association and the Board 
of Governors at Laurentian, faculty members at NOSM will not be used as “replacement 
workers” in any activities performed by faculty members of the University at which the legal 
labour dispute is taking place in accordance with the relevant collective agreement governing 
those activities. In the event of a labour disruption between the NOSM faculty association 
and the NOSM Board, faculty members of the Universities will not be used as "replacement 
workers" in any activities performed by NOSM faculty members in accordance with the NOSM 
collective agreement. 

 

6.0 RESPECTFUL AND SAFE LEARNING, RESEARCH AND WORK ENVIRONMENT 
 

6.1   NOSM, Lakehead and Laurentian have a moral, ethical and legal obligation to ensure a safe 
and respectful learning, research and work environment for all Learners, faculty and staff. 
The Parties agree to work together to align policies and procedures as will be outlined in a 
Schedule H (to be developed). 
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7.0 SHARED SERVICES 
 

7.1 Shared services is a way of organizing administrative (back-office) functions, where viable, 
through standardization or centralization, to optimize the delivery of cost-effective, flexible 
and reliable services to all customers. 

 

7.2 While NOSM is an independent legal entity, accountable for making decisions in the best 
interests of the corporation, at its inception, there was an expectation that NOSM, Lakehead 
and Laurentian would work together, in good faith, to achieve synergistic benefits through 
shared-services arrangements, administrative capacity and efficiencies. 

 
(a) Consistent with the Principles and negotiated collective agreements, the Universities 

and NOSM will continue to identify opportunities for increased operational capacity 
and efficiencies, through ongoing, successful collaborations in connection with 
administration services including but not limited to: 

 

(i) Environmental/facility   services,   (includes   sharing   of   operating   costs   of 
facilities, leases, utilities, maintenance, etc.); 

 
(ii) security services; 

 

(iii) human resources; 
 

(iv) procurement; 
 

(v) insurance and risk; 
 

(vi) ancillary services; 
 

(vii) technology services; 
 

(viii) financial services; 
 

(ix) registration, collection and accounting of tuition and ancillary fees; 
 

(x) students support services; 
 

(xi) advancement support and alumni; 
 

(xii) communications support; 
 

(xiii) francophone support services; 
 

(xiv) Indigenous support services; 
 

(xv) emergency preparedness, and 
 

(xvi) research and innovation services (See Schedule D). 
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(b) These service delivery relationships shall be managed through clear Service Level 
Agreements (SLAs) including financial compensation for specified services, where 
applicable. These SLAs will be overseen by the Joint Administration Leadership 
Group, consisting of both University VPs of Administration and the COO of NOSM. 

 
8.0 AGREEMENT OVERSIGHT AND IMPLEMENTATION 

 

8.1 Oversight and implementation of this Agreement occurs through the activities of the Joint 
Vice-Presidents and Deans Group and the Joint Administration Leadership Group. 

 

8.2 As set out in Schedule F, the Joint Administration Leadership Group discusses the operational 
relationships between NOSM and the Universities focused on inclusion and fostering 
collaboration, consistent with the Principles set out in Section 3.0. 

 

8.3 The NOSM Dean or designate shall be a member of the Laurentian Provost’s Academic 
Management Team and the Laurentian Administrative and Academic Leadership Groups, and 
Lakehead Provost’s Council and Senior Management Team. 

 

9.0 CONCLUSION 
 

9.1 This Agreement outlines a series of Principles and relationship issues which follow from 
NOSM serving as the Faculty of Medicine of Lakehead and the Faculty of Medicine of 
Laurentian. Although constituted as a not-for-profit corporation for corporate governance, 
the ultimate authority in all academic matters for NOSM lies with the Senates of the two 
Universities. 

 
9.2 For undergraduate and post-graduate medical education, there is an Accreditation 

imperative that NOSM Learners are treated absolutely consistently wherever they are 
located. Although registered with one University, NOSM medical students graduate with an 
MD Degree from both Universities and to the extent possible, they should experience 
consistent treatment by way of regulations, record keeping and transcripts, access to library 
resources, support and counselling, and financial aid. In addition, NOSM faculty members 
have faculty status and academic recognition with both Universities. 

 

9.3 The arrangements reflected by this Agreement benefit both Universities through enhancing 
the status and importance of the Universities, relative to other universities, and assisting with 
recruitment of Learners and faculty beyond the immediate reaches of NOSM. In addition, 
there are likely to be enhanced education and research activities at both Universities beyond 
the immediate programs and activities of NOSM. In turn, NOSM derives academic enrichment, 
standing and credibility, as well as administrative support through its association with not 
one but two universities, each with over half a century of history. 

 

10.0 AGREEMENT TERM AND IMPLEMENTATION 
 

10.1 The Presidents or Provosts of each University and the Dean-CEO of NOSM jointly review and 
approve the policies, procedures and schedules developed under this Agreement to ensure 
adherence to the Principles and agreements reflected by this Agreement. 
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10.2 This Agreement was reviewed in 2009, 2012, 2015 and 2018 and will be reviewed every 
three years thereafter. 

 

11.0 GENERAL 
 

11.1 This Agreement is not intended to and does not: 
 

(a) constitute any Party as the agent of any other Party for any purpose, or otherwise 
create any relationship of agency; 

 

(b) constitute or create any joint venture; or 
 

(c) constitute or create any partnership; 
 

and no Party shall allege or assert for any purpose that this Agreement constitutes or creates 
a relationship of agency, joint venture or partnership between or among the Parties. 

 

11.2 This Agreement shall be governed by the laws in force in the Province of Ontario, including 
the federal laws of Canada applicable therein. 

 
11.3 The Parties agree from time to time to do all such acts and provide such further assurances 

and instruments as may reasonably be required in order to carry out the provisions of this 
Agreement according to their spirit and intent. 

 

11.4 If a disagreement occurs between or among the Parties with respect to this Agreement, then 
the dispute resolution mechanisms described in Schedule B shall be used to resolve the 
dispute. 

 

11.5  Nothing in this Agreement will contravene anything in the collective agreements in force 

at NOSM, Lakehead or Laurentian. 
 

This Agreement is executed by the Parties. 
 

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY LAKEHEAD UNIVERSITY 
 
 
 
 

By: By:     
 

 

Name: Dr. Pierre Zundel Name: Dr. Moira McPherson 

Title:  Interim President Title: President 
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NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF 
MEDICINE 

 
 

By: 

Name: Dr. Roger Strasser 

Title:  CEO-Dean, President 
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SCHEDULE A 
 

AGREEMENT FOR SECONDMENTS 
OF LAKEHEAD AND LAURENTIAN FACULTY MEMBERS 
TO THE NORTHERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE 

 

1.1 INTRODUCTION 
 

(1) This Schedule outlines the procedures for secondment of Lakehead and Laurentian 
faculty members to undertake academic roles for NOSM. For the purpose of this Schedule, 
a reference to “academic” with respect to responsibilities at NOSM includes teaching, 
division head and administrative co-ordinator responsibilities and responsibilities in 
developing and delivering new programs but does not include any responsibilities or 
work relating to research. 

 
(2) If the commitment to NOSM is only one day per week (Lakehead) or one half day per week 

(Laurentian) and falls within the respective collective agreement as “outside professional 
activity”, these procedures may not be applicable. However, a secondment agreement 
may apply if Dean-to-Dean discussion concludes that academic service to NOSM would 
conflict in timing and schedule with the faculty member’s academic duties at Lakehead or 
Laurentian. 

 

(3) There is a clear expectation from NOSM and the Universities, that faculty members of 
either Lakehead or Laurentian will inform their Department Chair / School Director and 
Dean of their intention to undertake any paid academic work for NOSM and NOSM will 
provide notification of such arrangements to the appropriate Vice-President Academic. 

 

(4) This Schedule is intended to provide clarity to administrators at NOSM and at Lakehead 
and Laurentian, as well as to Faculty Associations and individual faculty members. It 
respects the delegated authority of the respective Universities for administrative and 
human resource matters involving University faculty. NOSM secondments under this 
Schedule will respect the terms and conditions of the collective agreements between 
Lakehead and Laurentian and their respective Faculty Associations. 

 

2.0 PROCESS FOR SECONDING LAKEHEAD OR LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY FACULTY TO 
NOSM 

 

2.1 Initiating the Process 
 

(1) By February 15 of each year, NOSM will inform the Lakehead and Laurentian Vice- 
Presidents Academic respectively about the secondments (which may include courses 
taught on overload) of Lakehead and Laurentian faculty members contemplated for the 
forthcoming academic year beginning July 1. 

 
(2) This process is initiated when NOSM identifies a preferred candidate who is a faculty 

member of Lakehead or Laurentian. The Vice-President Academic of the member’s 
University will be informed by NOSM in writing of the proposed secondment including 
the name of the preferred candidate, the schedule and duration of NOSM academic duties 
requested. 
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(3) The terms of the secondment shall be determined by Dean-to-Dean discussion, and 
mutual approval (preliminary discussions may occur between other individuals). 

 
(4) There will be full disclosure of the terms of the proposed secondment appointment to the 

appropriate Provost or Vice-President whose approval is required. 
 

2.2 Content of Written Offer 
 

After an agreement is reached between the NOSM Dean and the candidate’s Dean, NOSM will prepare 
a written offer to the candidate with a copy to the Staff Relations / Office of the Vice-President 
Academic containing the following terms: 

 

(1) The number of days per week that NOSM requires the candidate to dedicate to NOSM and, 
accordingly, to be released from University duties and the duration of the secondment by 
date. 

 

(2) The expectation that for each day dedicated to NOSM, the candidate will provide a full 
day’s work consisting of academic program activities and faculty development. 

 
(3) The candidate will continue to be paid by the University at the same level of compensation 

and benefits and will be eligible for any general increases. 
 

(4) NOSM will reimburse the University the salary and benefits costs of the candidate’s 
release. The prorated reimbursement will be between 20 and 100 per cent depending on 
the number of days per week release time. 

 

(5) NOSM will reimburse the reasonable costs incurred by the University in recruiting a 
replacement faculty member (where applicable). 

 

(6) Although the individual remains a University employee, disputes related to NOSM work 
will be resolved through the NOSM dispute resolution mechanism and not through the 
individual’s Faculty Association. 

 

(7) NOSM acknowledges that the candidate retains responsibilities as a faculty member of 
the University (e.g. serving on committees). Time spent performing these tasks is 
considered University time. 

 
(8) An administrative or developmental stipend may be paid by NOSM directly to the 

seconded faculty member. 
 

(a) Administrative stipends will reflect Division Head and Administrative Coordinator 
responsibilities at NOSM. 

 

(b) Any developmental stipend will reflect workload in developing and delivering new 
programs. 

 

(9) The President of the University will receive a written notification of each completed 
secondment appointment. 
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SCHEDULE B 
 

DISPUTE RESOLUTION MECHANISM 
 

1.0 NON-ACADEMIC DISPUTES 
 

1.1 For any non-academic dispute arising between or among the Parties arising out of or 
concerning this Agreement, the Parties will use their best efforts to avoid non-academic 
disputes by clearly articulating expectations, establishing clear lines of communication, and 
respecting each Party’s interests. The Parties will use their best efforts to resolve any disputes 
that might arise in a collaborative manner through informal discussion and resolution. To 
facilitate and encourage this informal dispute resolution process, the Parties will use their 
best efforts to jointly develop a written issues statement describing the facts and events 
leading to the dispute and listing potential options for its resolution. 

 
1.2 If the dispute cannot be resolved at the level at which it first arose within five Business Days, 

the Parties will refer it to the Vice Presidents Administration of the Universities and the Dean 
of NOSM. These individuals will meet within 14 days of this referral in person or by phone 
or video-conference, and will use their best efforts to resolve the dispute. If these individuals 
cannot resolve the dispute, it shall be referred to a committee consisting of the respective 
chairs of the board of each Party and a neutral third party agreed upon by the Parties. The 
resolution of the issue or dispute shall be made by a decision of a simple majority. This issue 
and dispute resolution process will not affect or prejudice any Party from exercising any 
other rights it may have at law or in equity. 

 

2.0 ACADEMIC DISPUTES 
 

2.1 Any academic dispute arising between or among the Parties arising out of or concerning this 
Agreement that pertains to academic matters shall be referred to the Provosts or their 
delegates of the Universities and the Dean of NOSM to review and determine in accordance 
with the mechanisms determined by such individuals. 
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SCHEDULE C 
 

PROTOCOL FOR RECIPROCAL RECOGNITION OF FACULTY MEMBERS 
 

Background 
 

This Schedule complements the Faculty section of the Agreement. 
 

In this Schedule, “faculty member(s)” means NOSM faculty members is as defined in 1.1.2 of the 
agreement. 

 

NOSM employs its own faculty who are members of the OPSEU Local 677 Unit 1 (Union). The NOSM 
faculty collective agreement covers all bargaining unit members and the NOSM Faculty Appointment 
and Promotions Policy covers all other NOSM faculty members who may be employed by NOSM, 
employed by another institution (such as a hospital or health service), or are self-employed (like 
many physicians). 

 
This Schedule sets out reciprocal arrangements whereby faculty members of Lakehead and of NOSM, 
and of Laurentian and of NOSM may be involved in the academic activities of the other, as if they are 
within the same institution. The Laurentian University Faculty Collective Agreement describes this 
as a "cross appointment" between departments or schools, and the Lakehead University Senate 
policy describes this as an "internal adjunct appointment" between departments or schools. 

 

Protocol 
 

The following procedure is to be followed for reciprocal recognition of faculty members between 
NOSM Divisions and Departments/Schools/Programs in either University. It should be noted that if 
NOSM has identified a University faculty member to undertake a substantive academic role, then the 
Agreement for Secondments of Lakehead and Laurentian Faculty Members to the Northern Ontario 
School of Medicine applies. (See Schedule A): 

 

(1) The process is initiated when individual faculty members determine through informal 
communications that they wish to be recognized in a Division of NOSM if they are 
Laurentian or Lakehead faculty member, or in a Department/School/Program of 
Lakehead or Laurentian if they are NOSM faculty members. 

 

(2) The faculty member should make a formal approach to their own Division Head or 
Department/School/Program Chair or Director. 

 
(3) The Division Head/Chair/Director will then request that their Dean approach the Dean 

responsible for the reciprocating Division/Department/School/Program to seek formal 
approval from NOSM or the University, in accordance with the requirements and 
procedures set out in the applicable collective agreements and/or Senate Policies. 

 
(4) The Dean responsible for the reciprocating Division/Department/School/Program will 

take the necessary steps to seek the recommendation and approval in accordance with 
the requirements and procedures set out in the applicable collective agreements and/or 
Senate Policies. 
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(5) If the appointment is confirmed by both Deans, the Vice-President Academic of the 
University will be notified of the arrangement by the Dean responsible for the 
reciprocating Division/Department/School/Program. 

 

(6) If the faculty member being considered for reciprocal recognition is a Division 
Head/Chair/Director or Dean/Associate Dean then approvals will be sought from the 
individual's immediate supervisor. 

 

(7) The individual will be notified of their reciprocal appointment by the Dean of the 
receiving School/Faculty. 
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SCHEDULE D 
 

 
RESEARCH ADMINISTRATION AND REGULATION AGREEMENT  BETWEEN 

LAKEHEAD, LAURENTIAN, AND NOSM 
 
 
 

1. PRINCIPLES 

(1) NOSM serves as the Faculty of Medicine of Lakehead University and Laurentian University. 
All NOSM faculty members, employed and stipendiary, are considered faculty members of 
the Universities when considering all research and innovation matters set out in this 
agreement. 

(2) NOSM agrees to adhere to the terms and conditions of the ‘Tri-Agency Agreement on the 
Administration of Agency Grants and Awards by Research Institutions’ signed by Lakehead 
University and Laurentian University, as well as any provincial and federal regulations and 
policies that govern research and innovation. Similarly, the Dean of NOSM will ensure that 
all NOSM faculty members, staff and personnel (i.e., students, postdoctoral fellows, 
research staff and technicians under the supervision of NOSM faculty members) are 
informed through NOSM policies that they must comply with the same university and Tri- 
Agency policies and regulations. 

(3) All research grants and contracts associated with the faculty members of NOSM made to 
one of the three federal agencies (Tri-Agencies), the Canadian Institutes of Health Research 
(CIHR), Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC) and the Social 
Sciences and Humanities Research Council (SSHRC), will be administered and regulated by 
Lakehead and Laurentian University. 

 

(4) All research grants and contracts associated with the faculty members of NOSM, with the 
exception of those indicated in section (4) (a)-(d) will be administered and regulated either 
by Lakehead or Laurentian University. 

 

(a) Research grants or contracts from the following agencies will be administered 
directly by NOSM: i. NOSM-specific Research  Chairs (excluding Canada Research 
Chairs) ii. Infrastructure grants/contracts such as endowments, FedNor or NOHFC 
(excluding grants from the Canada Foundation for Innovation). 

(b) Research grants from the Northern Ontario Academic Medical Association 
(NOAMA) may be administered by one of the  universities,  NOSM,  the  hospital 
with which the lead faculty member holds privileges or the Local Educational Group 
of which the faculty member is a member. The administering body will be identified 
during the application process. 

(c) Industry-sponsored clinical trials research represents a unique situation and as such 
the administration of these contracts will be determined on an individual basis. 

(d) Research grants and contracts for Members of Unit 1, OPSEU Local 677, if the 
application was made through the research office of another institution as set out in 
Article 2.16 (4) of the NOSM Faculty Collective Agreement 
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(5) Once the application for research funding has been initiated by an institution, that 
institution will be deemed the host for the life of the project and will administer 
grant/contract funds and manage all requirements including but not limited to proposal 
submission, ethics certifications (Research Ethics Board, Animal Care Committee, 
Radiation Safety, Biosafety, etc.), post-award administration including contract 
negotiations, accounting and  financial management, payroll and human resources 
management, technology transfer management, etc. 

 

(6) Research administration and regulation between Lakehead, Laurentian, and NOSM “should 
seek to maximize efficiency and effectiveness, and minimize unnecessary duplication” 
while respecting the Tri-Agency and other federal and provincial regulatory bodies. (e.g., 
Ontario Health and Safety Act and WHMIS). 

 
(7) NOSM and the Universities will consider coordinating proposals for research initiatives 

that may be of common interest to both NOSM and the Universities to avoid undue 
competition for the same external funding opportunities. For such initiatives there will be 
reciprocal communication through the research offices of NOSM and the Universities 
before institutional grant/contract applications are submitted to external funding agencies. 
One copy of NOSM’s institutional research grant/contract applications will be sent to the 
Research Offices of Lakehead University and Laurentian University for their records. The 
funding decisions on institutional grant/contract applications will be communicated in a 
timely manner. 

 

(8) All research projects involving NOSM faculty members as investigators that require ethics 
certifications will obtain such approvals from Lakehead and/or Laurentian, depending on 
where the research activity is planned to take place. NOSM along with Lakehead and 
Laurentian Universities will be included in any discussions regarding ethics harmonization 
with partner organizations and will follow procedures agreed to as a result of ethics 
harmonization agreements signed between the universities and their hospital Research 
Ethics Boards. It is recognized that NOSM research projects (particularly those 
implemented by clinical faculty members and residents) often span the whole of Northern 
Ontario. NOSM and the Universities agree to work together and with community hospitals 
to improve efficiencies in the research ethics review process while maintaining the highest 
standards of research participant protection. 

 
2. STRUCTURE OF RESEARCH ADMINISTRATION AND REGULATION FOR NOSM AND THE 

RELATED FINANCIAL COMPENSATION 

 
NOSM will compensate each University $75,000 per year for the general indirect costs associated 
with services provided by each University’s Office of Research Services. 

 
The Research Support Fund (RSF) generated through NOSM Tri-Agency funding and where applicable 
the indirect costs generated from other grants/contracts held by NOSM faculty are administered by 
Lakehead or Laurentian University. Given that there are indirect costs of research incurred by NOSM 
to support these research projects, the universities will allocate a portion of the indirect costs to NOSM 
according to the following formula: 

 
RSF allocation: 80% of RSF earned by NOSM researchers 
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Other indirect costs generated through grants/contracts to NOSM: 80% of RSF earned by NOSM 
researchers 

 
Recognizing that these formulas were established in the early stages of NOSM and that research 
conducted by NOSM researchers has continued to increase the Universities and NOSM agree to 
establish a working group to review facts and figures provided by all three institutions and revise as 
necessary the formulas allocating RSF and other indirect costs generated through grants and or 
contracts. The working group report is to be completed by June 30 2019 and the Schedule D to be 
revised or amended accordingly. 

 
In order to be eligible for an allocation from the RSF, NOSM and the Universities will enter into a 
separate five-year agreement for administration of the RSF as required by the Tri-Agency Institutional 
Programs Secretariat. 

 
NOSM agrees to use the RSF on eligible RSF expenses (i.e., to offset the indirect costs of research as 
defined by the RSF program). 

 
3. SIGNING PROCEDURE FOR RESEARCH PROPOSALS AND GRANT APPLICATIONS 

 

(1) All research proposals and grant applications from NOSM faculty members  applying 
for external research funding through Lakehead or Laurentian, as indicated in Section 
(1.1) must obtain approval from their Division Head and the Associate Dean, Research 
of NOSM. Each university’s Research Approval Form (or Romeo application process) 
must be completed (including the approval of the Division Head and the Associate Dean, 
Research), prior to submission to the appropriate University research office, following 
the procedures and rules of each university for internal deadlines. Finally, the 
research/contract proposals and subsequent contracts of NOSM faculty that are related 
to research and innovation managed by their host university must be approved and 
signed by those with  signing  authority  as  per  each  host  University’s  signing policy 
for research.  This signing procedure includes but is not limited to: 

Tri-Agency research grants, including Canada Research Chair grants; 

Not-for-profit non-government research funding organization; 

Government grants and contracts (such as CFI, ORF, and different federal and provincial 
government departments); 

Industry (including research contracts, service contracts and non-restricted grants) 

Should research involve human participants, experimental animals, radiation safety or 
biohazards, approval shall be obtained from their University or both Universities, in 
accordance with any existing harmonization agreements and depending where the 
research will take place as set out in paragraph 1.1 (4) 

 
 

(2) Prior to undertaking research conducted in collaboration with faculty members at 
NOSM and one or both of Lakehead or Laurentian University, an agreement between 
the researchers should be developed to detail activities, requirements (for example 
intellectual property) and financial arrangements. 
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4.0       ADMINISTRATION AND USE OF RESEARCH FUNDS 

 
All external research funds awarded to faculty members of NOSM will be administered through the 
Research Office/Finance Office of the respective University administering the research, as defined 
and with the exceptions noted in Item 1.1 (4). Faculty members of NOSM will be bound by all 
internal and external policies for administering research funds of the respective University. When 
required, expenditures incurred by NOSM faculty members will be approved by their N O S M 
Division Head prior to processing and approval by the Universities administering the research funds. 
NOSM will provide each University annually with an update on the approved signing authorities. 
NOSM and the Universities will work on establishing efficient and effective procedures for signing 
approvals and expenses related to research grants and contracts of NOSM researchers. 

 
 

5.0       ACCESS TO INTERNAL RESEARCH RESOURCES 

 
Due to differences in internal research resources between Lakehead University and Laurentian 
University, access to these internal funding resources by faculty members of NOSM will be 
determined by separate arrangements between NOSM and the respective University. All three 
institutions have research funding mechanisms specific for their own faculty members. Examples 
include (but are not limited to: operating grants, start-up funds, strategic initiatives,  training 
awards, travel grants, publication support, etc. 

 
 

In the case of institutional grants and grant-writing resources (includes but is not limited to grants 
from the Canada Foundation for Innovation, Canada Research Chairs, Research Support Fund, 
proposal writing and mentorship programs, etc.) which are allocated to either Lakehead or Laurentian 
University that are attributable in part to a formula which recognizes research funding awarded to 
faculty at NOSM, NOSM faculty members shall be eligible to apply for these funds on the same basis as 
faculty members in other faculties and schools of Lakehead or Laurentian University. NOSM faculty 
members shall be subject to the internal peer review processes and decision-making processes in 
place at each University for awarding these funds. 

 
 

6.0       EQUITY, DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION (EDI) 
 

NOSM agrees to adopt the Universities Canada (https://www.univcan.ca/) Principles on Equity, 
Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) agreed to by all Canadian Universities in 2017. In support of federal 
research initiatives requiring EDI institutional strategies (i.e., Athena Swan), NOSM agrees to develop 
and implement an EDI plan that includes strategies to ensure EDI strategies are implemented in 
research and innovation activities including training programs for highly qualified personnel. 

 
 

7.0       MUTUAL ACCESS TO RESEARCH FACILITIES 
 

Research facilities (including but not limited to library, equipment, and  shared  laboratories)  of 
NOSM and the respective University should be made available for all faculty members of NOSM 
and non-NOSM faculty members of Lakehead University or Laurentian University. Priority for 
usage of research facilities will be determined by mutual agreement and in relation to the needs. If 
user fees apply, the faculty members of NOSM would have the benefit of the same  rates as faculty 
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members of Lakehead University or Laurentian University, and similarly, faculty members of 
Lakehead University and Laurentian University would have the benefit of the same rates as the NOSM 
faculty. 

 
 

8.0      HIRING RESEARCH SUPPORT STAFF 

 
Research support staff, such as Research Assistants, may be hired by NOSM regardless of where the 
research grant or contract is being administered. In instances in which the research grants or contracts 
are being administered by Lakehead or Laurentian University, the University will accept invoices from 
NOSM for such expenses, with supporting documentation. 

 
9.0       POSTDOCTORAL FELLOWS, VISITING SCHOLARS AND RESIDENTS 

 
 

Post-doctoral fellows, visiting scholars and residents engaged in research supervised by NOSM 
faculty members will be administered through and regulated by NOSM or the respective University 
where the fellow, scholar or resident is hosted. Residents who could be considered to be hosted by 
both Universities will choose one of the Universities as host. All related University policies shall be 
followed. In instances in which the research grants or contracts are being administered by Lakehead 
or Laurentian University, the University will accept invoices from NOSM for such expenses, with 
supporting documentation. 

 
10.0       IMPLEMENTATION AND REGULATION OF RESEARCH POLICIES 

 
In order to reduce duplication and complexity for the requirements regarding research activities as 
well as to comply with the Tri-Agency Financial Administration Guide signed by both Lakehead 
University and Laurentian University, all research projects (funded or unfunded) conducted by NOSM 
faculty members shall be approved by the Research Ethics Board (human participant research), 
Biosafety and Radiation Committee, Animal Care Committee and other regulatory committees of 
the NOSM faculty members’ University as appropriate. Appeal to any committee decisions would be 
processed according to the current policies in place at the host  universities. 

 
 

11.0       INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY MANAGEMENT 

 
Lakehead, Laurentian and NOSM have inventor-owned provisions contained within their respective 
collective agreements. While these agreements provide for commercialization activity at the discretion 
of the owner of the intellectual property, each has its own individual requirements regarding sharing of 
net proceeds of intellectual property developed utilizing the institution’s resources. Prior to the 
undertaking of collaborative research projects between NOSM and/or Lakehead and/or Laurentian, 
agreements on ownership of intellectual property, responsibility for commercialization activities and 
sharing of costs and revenues associated with the commercialization activities will be negotiated on a 
case by case basis between the parties. 

 

 
12.0   REPORTING AND ALLOCATION OF RESEARCH FUNDING 
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For purposes of reporting research revenues to the Council of Ontario Financial Officers (COFO), 
Council of Ontario Faculties of Medicine (COFM), and the Association of Faculties of Medicine of Canada 
(AFMC) NOSM will report their institutional research funding separately. For purposes of reporting to 
Research InfoSource or other external agencies such as Statistics Canada, NOSM’s institutional research 
funding will be divided equally between Lakehead and Laurentian  Universities. 
For the research revenues and projects  that one of the universities administers and hosts, (see 
Item 1.1 (4)) that university will be the reporting institution. 

 
 

13.0     RESPONSIBLE CONDUCT OF RESEARCH 
 
 

The NOSM research integrity policy (NOSM Policy for the Review and Investigation of Alleged 
Research Misconduct), which is compliant with the Tri-Agency Framework: Responsible Conduct of 
Research (hereinafter referred to as  the “Framework”) is consistent with the research integrity 
policies of Lakehead and Laurentian Universities. NOSM recognizes and agrees to adhere to the Tri- 
Agency Framework and any subsequent amendments will govern. The NOSM Policy for the Review 
and Investigation of Alleged Misconduct shall apply to all research conducted under the auspices or 
the jurisdiction of NOSM. It is the responsibility of the respective Vice-Presidents of Research at each 
university and the Dean of NOSM to ensure compliance with and consistency in policies and 
procedures. NOSM shall promote awareness and education among faculty members and students of 
what constitutes responsible conduct of research to ensure compliance with the Tri-Agency 
Framework: Responsible Conduct of Research. The Vice-Presidents of Research at each university 
have the right to declare NOSM ineligible to apply for funding or hold research accounts through the 
Universities if NOSM is deemed not to be compliant with the Tri-Agency Framework: Responsible 
Conduct of Research. 

 
 

An allegation of a breach of the Tri-Agency Framework: Responsible Conduct of Research  against 
a NOSM faculty member, staff member and/or student will be reviewed in accordance with the 
NOSM Policy for the Review and Investigation of Alleged Research Misconduct and the NOSM Unit 1, 
OPSEU 677 collective agreement, where applicable (in the case of Unit 1 faculty members). For 
research projects administered by one of the Universities (funded and unfunded projects), 
Laurentian’s Vice-President (Research) or Lakehead’s  Vice-President  (Research and Innovation) 
will immediately inform the Associate Dean of Research at NOSM (and vice-versa if the allegation 
is received by the Associate Dean of Research at NOSM). The NOSM Associate Dean, Research will 
normally be responsible for responding to all allegations with an inquiry to determine whether an 
investigation is required in accordance with Tri-agency Framework: Responsible Conduct of 
Research, the NOSM Policy for the Review and Investigation of Alleged Research Misconduct and the 
NOSM Unit 1 OPSEU 677 collective agreement. NOSM will strive to meet reasonable timelines for 
completing an inquiry, completing an investigation, reporting the findings, making a decision on what 
action should be taken, and communication with the University. 

 
 

The Universities reserve the right, independently or at the Tri-Agency’s request in exceptional 
circumstances, to take immediate action when allegations involve significant financial, health and 
safety, or other risks. Such  action may include freezing grant accounts and halting the research 
project pending the outcome of the inquiry and investigation. 
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14.0       PROCESS FOR AMENDMENTS 
 

Laurentian’s Vice-President (Research) and Lakehead’s Vice-President (Research and Innovation) 
and the NOSM Associate Dean of Research will jointly review and approve the policies, procedures 
and schedules developed under this Research Administration and Regulation Agreement to ensure 
adherence to the Principles and agreements reflected by the Relationship Agreement.  If 
amendments to policies, procedures and schedules developed under this Research Administration 
and Regulation Agreement have implications for collective  agreements,  comments on revisions 
will be sought from the Faculty Associations of NOSM and the  Universities. 

331



 

 

 

SCHEDULE E 
 

JOINT VICE-PRESIDENTS AND DEANS GROUP 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

The Joint Vice-Presidents and Deans Group is established to discuss, and collaboratively plan actions 
to continuously improve health professional education, research consistent with the social 
accountability mandate of NOSM. The Academic Health Sciences Network North (AHSNetworkNorth) 
is building on the strengths of the two academic health sciences centres (Thunder Bay Regional 
Health Sciences Centre and Health Sciences North) to fully integrate academic work (teaching, 
research and academic leadership) in clinical settings across Northern Ontario. The Joint Vice- 
Presidents and Deans Group works collaboratively to support the Universities’ participation in the 
AHSNetworkNorth as appropriate. 

 

Responsibilities of the Group: 
 

1. Build upon the academic mission of each institution in sharing academic and research 
developments and initiatives that pertain to Northern Ontario health professional education 
and health care. 

2. Proactively  seek  and  foster  opportunities  for  tri-organization  academic  and  research 
collaboration that advance social accountability. 

3. Align strategic planning in areas related to health professional education and research. 

4. Provide a forum for updating and initiating joint academic health professional programming 
and research scholarship. 

5. Seek out areas  of synergy and complementarity and endeavour to avoid duplication of 
programs and initiatives. 

6. Initiate and assign specific Task Force Groups / members as required to address a specific 
issue. 

7. Explore opportunities and mechanisms to foster efficiencies between institutions. 
 
 

Membership shall consist of the following VP and decanal positions (or designate) at each 
institution: 

 
Lakehead University: 

 

Provost and Vice-President (Academic) 
Vice-President, Research and Innovation 
Vice-President, Administration and Finance 
Dean, Faculty Health and Behavioral Sciences 
Dean, Faculty of Science and Environmental Studies 
Dean, Graduate Studies 

 

Laurentian University: 
 

Vice-President, Academic and Provost 
Vice-President Research 
Vice-President, Administration 
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Dean, Faculty of Health 
Dean, Faculty of Science, Engineering and Architecture 
Dean, Graduate Studies 

 

Northern Ontario School of Medicine: 
 

Dean and CEO 
Chief Operating Officer (COO) 
Vice Dean Academic 
Associate Dean, Faculty Affairs 
Associate Dean, Undergraduate Medical Education 
Associate Dean, Postgraduate Education 
Associate Dean, Research & Senior Associate Dean 

 

Chair: 
 

The Chair position shall rotate between the Provosts or designate of each University and the Dean of 
NOSM or designate dependent on the locale of the host site for each scheduled meeting. 

 

Meetings: Meetings shall be held at least semi-annually with the proviso that special meetings may 
be called as required. 
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SCHEDULE F 
 

JOINT ADMINISTRATION LEADERSHIP GROUP 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

PURPOSE 
 

To  refresh  the  operational  relationships  between and  among  NOSM,  Lakehead  and  Laurentian 
focused on inclusion and enhanced agreements to foster collaboration. 

 

FUNCTIONS 
 

The Joint Administration Leadership Group shall: 
 

a. Develop a vision statement and detailed scope of services including responsibilities to guide 
accountability, 

b. Review the current Agreement between NOSM and the Universities, 

c. Develop new Service Level Agreements between NOSM and the Universities, 

d. Identify and explore other areas of collaboration in administrative functions, 

e. Ensure access for NOSM faculty, to benefits such as library resources, athletic facilities, 
parking and a Laurentian or Lakehead faculty photo ID card as enjoyed by Lakehead and 
Laurentian faculty members and outlined in Section 5.6 of this Agreement, 

f. Initiate and assign specific Task Groups/members to support development of Service Level 
Agreements, 

g. Explore opportunities and mechanisms in fostering efficiencies between institutions, 

h. Establish peer-to-peer network for formal best practice sharing, and 

i. Initiate service integration for low-impact functions. 

MEMBERSHIP 

The Joint Administration Leadership Group shall consist of the following members: 
 

a. Vice-President, Administration and Finance – Lakehead 

b. Vice-President, Administration – Laurentian 

c. Chief Operating Officer NOSM 

d. Additional resource persons/direct reports may be invited to participate, as required. 

Ad-hoc sub-committees may be established on a case-by-case/project-by-project basis. 

ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT 
 

NOSM will provide administrative support to the Joint Administration Leadership Group. 
 

MEETINGS 
 

The Joint Administration Leadership Group shall meet as required, but at a minimum two times a 
year. Meetings may be held in person, by video and/or audio conference. In addition, the committee 
members may provide feedback as needed by e-mail or through other agreed to processes. 

 

ACCOUNTABILITY/REPORTING 
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Reports prepared will be shared with the Vice-Presidents – Administration of the Universities Chief 
Operating Officer – NOSM as required. Updates of the progress of the discussions will be presented 
to the NOSM Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee. 
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SCHEDULE G 
 

PROTOCOLS FOR ADVANCEMENT & ALUMNI ENGAGEMENT 
 

Background: This Schedule complements the Shared Services section of the Agreement as it relates 
to Advancement, Philanthropy and Alumni Engagement. 

 

Purpose: The purpose of this Schedule is to clearly present the shared understandings of the Parties 
relating to how Advancement, Philanthropy and Alumni engagement activities are conducted in 
support of the respective institutions, and to identify the protocols by which these activities are 
administered. 

 

Partnership Objectives: It is understood that the Parties are committed to pursuing a donor-centric 
approach to their fund-raising efforts. For this Schedule, ‘Donor-centric’ fundraising is defined as: the 
art of fundraising which inspires donors to be loyal and committed partners with the organizations they 
choose to support. A guiding principle of this approach is that donors will choose where, how and 
when gifts will be made; and it is understood that the priorities and interests of the donor will inform 
the gift negotiation process, where applicable, and will, whenever possible, be matched with the 
priorities of the institutions. This Schedule confirms that the Parties are committed to, and 
supportive of their collaboration and are dedicated to the success of each institution, individually and 
collectively. 

 

The Parties agree to work together in a collaborative, collegial and transparent manner to support 
and strengthen donor interest, loyalty and engagement. 

 

This Schedule addresses four specific areas of understanding between and among the Parties Donor 
Approach Management, Donor Stewardship and Recognition, Database Management and Alumni 
Engagement. 

 
Donor Approach Management: 

 

1. Identification, research, cultivation and solicitation of prospective donors in support of NOSM is 
the responsibility of the NOSM Advancement unit. 

2. Opportunities may exist for collaboration on prospects to benefit all Parties. Should a prospect 
be identified that may wish to support a collaboration between any 2 or 3 of the Parties, a joint 
proposal and strategy will be developed. 

3. At least once annually, the senior advancement officers of the Parties will meet to review the 
status of current prospects and solicitation in support of NOSM. Where the potential for a timing 
conflict in solicitation is identified, a strategy will be developed to coordinate the competing 
activities to maximize the potential for overall financial success of the institutions involved. 

4. NOSM’s annual funding priorities will be documented annually and shared with the Universities. 
There may be times when, to address a prospect’s interests and/or priorities, one of the Parties 
may establish a relationship with the prospective donor. 

5. This relationship is key, and the NOSM Advancement Unit staff member must ensure that the 
donor’s wishes are well considered in any gift negotiation process. At times, this may mean that 
a University Advancement staff member will be expected to help a donor make a gift to NOSM 
and/or that a NOSM Advancement Unit staff member will be expected to help a donor complete 
a gift to support one of the other faculties or projects connected with one (or both) of the 
Universities. 

Donor Stewardship and Recognition: 
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1. Each Party is responsible for the stewardship and recognition of their respective donors. 

2. There may be opportunities to steward and recognize donors jointly by agreement among the 
Parties and a strategy to engage all Parties may be developed to acknowledge the support 
attributed to specific Parties. The established donor stewardship plan is attached as an appendix 
to this Schedule. 

3. Communication with NOSM donors is primarily the responsibility of NOSM. 

4. Invitations to events for donors will be for each individual organization. Should a University wish 
to include NOSM in their stewardship and recognition events, a discussion shall be undertaken in 
advance, to jointly develop an appropriate stewardship strategy. 

5. As an extension of its recognition practices, NOSM will maintain a donor wall on both the Sudbury 
and Thunder Bay sites. It also reserves the right to develop and promote a listing of ‘naming 
opportunities’ that can be offered to prospective donors, as part of its gift negotiation practices. 
Where naming of NOSM-occupied facilities (i.e. buildings owned by one of the universities) are 
being considered, NOSM agrees to conduct such negotiations with prospective donors, consistent 
with the approved ‘naming policies’ of the related University. Otherwise, all decisions involving 
the naming of programs, assets and spaces within the NOSM-occupied facilities, will be the 
responsibility of NOSM. 

6. It is understood and agreed that the Parties may include (for advancement program crediting 
purposes only) related financial results in marketing and publishing the overall success of a 
Party’s advancement efforts. 

Database Management: 
 

Each Party will operate and maintain their own donor information databases. Donors supporting 
financial aid at NOSM will be identified in the respective University databases as NOSM donors, but 
should not be communicated with by said University, without prior NOSM approval. 

 

Alumni Engagement: 
 

It is understood that while NOSM Learners are proud to be graduates of their respective Universities, 
their learning community has been NOSM-centred and upon graduation, they see their relationships 
continue primarily with NOSM. NOSM has reason to remain in regular contact with its alumni, 
particularly in relation to the need for graduates to be an important source for clinical faculty and 
mentors to future students. The alumni’s continued involvement with NOSM and the communities in 
which they received their education is a source for future career development, consistent with the 
overall objective of responsiveness to the School’s social accountability mandate. 

 
1. NOSM agrees to make the University Alumni offices aware of its communications with NOSM 

graduates, including but not limited to mailouts, call campaigns, alumni event invitations, etc., 
with their respective alumni. 

 

2. Updates of contact information provided by the alumni of NOSM will be shared with the 
respective University Alumni offices on a regular basis. Should alumni of NOSM not wish to be 
contacted by NOSM, he/she will notify the NOSM Advancement Office. 

 

3. University Alumni offices will ensure that the details of all formal communications, including but 
not limited to mailouts, call campaigns, donor event invitations, etc., to alumni of NOSM will be 
made available to the NOSM Advancement Office. 

 
4. Each Party’s Alumni Relations Office will have the opportunity to contact and communicate with 

the NOSM alumni to update them on current activities within their respective institutions. 
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5. NOSM will manage its own affinity partnership and any revenues derived will be in support of 
NOSM alumni activities. 
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Advancement Unit 

STEWARDSHIP PROGRAM 

Purpose 
 

The purpose of the Stewardship Program is to ensure that all donors to the Northern Ontario 

School of Medicine (NOSM) are appropriately thanked, celebrated, and stewarded following 

consistent guidelines. This program includes the procedures already in place by Lakehead and 

Laurentian University in stewarding all donations to their institutions. 
 

Fundraising includes a limited number of programs and processes designed to acquire a first gift 

from a donor and ask for subsequent gifts. Stewardship includes a sophisticated and varied number 

of activities designed to make the donor WANT to keep giving. Since additional and/or larger gifts 

are directly tied to donor longevity (i.e. loyalty), stewardship is, by definition, a critical determining 

factor of fundraising success. In an age of intense competition for philanthropic dollars, excellent 

stewardship is the customer loyalty advantage of the fundraising industry. 
 

The goal of establishing such a program is, as mentioned above, to ensure that donors are 

incorporated into a lifelong pattern of giving with appropriate attention and recognition 

(stewardship) which will enable the Advancement Unit to mark a path for these donors thereby 

inspiring increased gifts, cultivate donors and prospects to consider giving to institutional 

priorities, and set the course toward ultimate gifts. The program, in conjunction with appropriate 

university development strategies, supports cultivation, recognition and stewardship through 

events, publications, special projects etc. 
 

Objective 

 
The Stewardship Program will support the four key strategic areas of stewardship. 

 
1. Acquisition – Secure the Gift 

 
Tools – Strategic cultivation, special events management, pledge forms 

 
2. Acknowledgement – Prompt and Effective 

 
Tools – Timely and appropriate thank you in accordance with the recognition chart 

 
3. Appreciation – Regular and Sincere 

 
Tools – Special events for donors, naming opportunities, media coverage where 
appropriate, Northern Passages magazine articles, website profiles 

 
4. Affinity – Informed and Engaged 

 
Tools – Donor Report, Annual Report, endowment fund reports, campaign specific updates, 
holiday card mailings, Northern Passages distribution 
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Advancement Unit 

Stewardship Plan 

 
 

Possible Items which may invite support 
 

• Tours of the NOSM 

• Special events that draw first-time attendees – golf classics, galas, etc. 

• Newly established memorial funds 

• Naming opportunities 

• Donor challenges 

• Anniversary notices of large gifts reminding the donor of the significant impact that gift 
made to the institution 

• Donor testimonials in published lists/reports 

• Use photos of donors wisely and strategically (i.e. send copies to the donors, establish a 
photo display of major donors in appropriate locations throughout campus etc.) 

 
Donor Retention 

 
An effective donor recognition program cannot be established without incorporating an effective 
plan for donor retention. Some of the items listed in the donor recognition plan may assist donor 
retention, however, the staff of the Advancement Unit will consider and include other 
stewardship techniques – such as matching new donors’ interests with projects that will more 
readily merit another gift etc. 
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2018 REVISION 

 

 

 

 
 

Recognition 
$1 to $4,999 

Donor 

$5,000 to 

$9,999 

 
Mentor 

$10,000 to 

$49,999 

 
Patron 

$50,000 to 

$99,999 

 
Leader 

Personal thank you letter 

signed by the Advancement 

Manager at NOSM including 

charitable donation receipt 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

If gift received by host 

universities, a thank you 

letter signed by the 

Director of Advancement 

with their charitable 

donation receipt 

 

 
 

X 

 

 
 

X 

 

 
 

X 

 

 
 

X 

Inclusion in Host University 

Magazine Annual Donor 

listing 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

Inclusion on donor Wall at 

both East & West campuses 
 

X X X 

Inclusion on NOSM Virtual 

Donor Wall 
 

X X X 

Holiday Card   X X 

Inclusion in the Annual 

Report mailing list 
 

X X X 

Handwritten note or email 

within 24 hrs of a meeting 

or phone call 

  
X 

 
X 

 
X 

Personal thank you letter 

signed by the Dean 
 

X X X 

Inclusion in Northern 

Passages quarterly 

distribution 

  
X 

 
X 

 
X 

Invitation to Donor 

Receptions 
 

X X X 

 

 

 

 

D - 1 RELATIONSHIP AGREEMENT 

341



Advancement Unit 

Stewardship Plan 

RELATIONSHIP AGREEMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Oryst Sawchuk print (while 

available) 
 

X Up to $ 24,999 

Goyce Kakagamec print 

(while available) 
 

Over $25,000 X 

Mutually agreeable media 

strategy 
  

X 

Invitation to NOSM events  X X 

Naming Opportunities  X X 

 

Donation announcement in 

Northern Passages 

Publication 

 X 
 

X 

Personal phone call from 

the Dean of NOSM 
X 

Meeting with Dean of NOSM   X 
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Advancement Unit 

Stewardship Plan 

RELATIONSHIP AGREEMENT 

 

 

 

     
 

Recognition 

$100,000 to $249,999 

Benefactor 

$250,000 to $499,000 

Laureate 

500,000 to $999,999 

Founder 

$1M + 

Visionary 

Thank you 

letter signed by 

Advancement 

Manager at 

NOSM 

 

 
X 

 

 
X 

 

 
X 

 

 
X 

If gift received 

by host 

universities a 

thank you letter 

signed by the 

Director of 

Advancement 

with their 

charitable 

donation 

receipt 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

Inclusion in 

host University 

Magazine 

Annual Donor 

Listing 

 

 
X 

 

 
X 

 

 
X 

 

 
X 

Inclusion on 

Donor Wall at 

both East & 

West campus 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

Inclusion on 

NOSM Virtual 

donor wall 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

Holiday Card X X X X 

Inclusion in the 

Annual Report 

mailing list 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

Handwritten 

note or email 

within 24 hrs of 

X X X X 
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Advancement Unit 

Stewardship Plan 

RELATIONSHIP AGREEMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 
a meeting or 

phone call 
    

Personal thank 

you letter 

signed by the 

Dean 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

Inclusion in 

Northern 

Passages 

quarterly 

distribution 

 

 
X 

 

 
X 

 

 
X 

 

 
X 

Invitation to 

Donor 

Receptions 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

Goyce 

Kakagamec 

print (while 

available) 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

Mutually 

agreeable 

media strategy 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

Invitation to 

NOSM events 
X X X X 

Naming 

Opportunities 
X X X X 

Donation 

announcement 

in Northern 

Passages 

Publication 

 

 
X 

 

 
X 

 

 
X 

 

 
X 

Meeting with 

Dean of NOSM 
X X X X 
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This is Exhibit “G”, referred to in the 

Affidavit of ROBERT HACHÉ,  
sworn before me via videoconference 

this 30th day of January, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 
A Commissioner for taking Affidavits, etc. 
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This is Exhibit “H”, referred to in the 

Affidavit of ROBERT HACHÉ,  
sworn before me via videoconference 

this 30th day of January, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 
A Commissioner for taking Affidavits, etc. 
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THESE TERMS OF FINANCIAL DISTRIBUTION, effective as of the 1st day of May, 2019  

(the “Effective Date”)  

 

B E T W E E N :  

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY 

 

(“Laurentian University”) 

 

   - and -  

 

HUNTINGTON UNIVERSITY 

 

(the “Recipient”)  

 

 

 

This Notice is delivered further to the Proposed Grant Distribution and Services Fees document 

dated November 10, 1993 (the “1993 Funding Model”) and sets out the terms for the distribution 

of operating grants to the Recipient and service fees charged to the Recipient from and after the 

Effective Date.  This document amends, restates and replaces in its entirety any prior 

documentation, oral or written representations and past practices relating to the distribution of 

grant funding, tuition fees and service fees between Laurentian University and the Recipient, 

including but not limited to those described under the 1993 Funding Model.  No future 

amendments to the terms set out in this Notice are effective unless confirmed and agreed to in 

writing, in advance, by Laurentian University.   

 

The Recipient is a separate legal entity established by separate Acts and governed by an 

independent Board.  The Recipient owns its own buildings on land that is owned by Laurentian 

University and leased to the Recipient by Laurentian University. 

 

The Recipient is recognized under the Laurentian University Act by allowing Laurentian University 

to admit “church-related universities or colleges into federation as colleges of the Faculty of Arts 

and Science, which church-related universities or colleges have the right to give instruction in 

philosophy and religious knowledge and in such other subjects as may from time to time be 

approved by the Faculty of Arts and Science of the University and be consented to by the Senate 

and Board, and the University shall accept such courses in partial fulfillment of the requirements 

for a degree under the same academic terms and conditions as would obtain if the instruction 

were given in University College”. 

 

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY FINANCIAL DISTRIBUTION TO 

FEDERATED UNIVERSITIES 
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Huntington University, Thorneloe University and the University of Sudbury are each referred to in 

this Notice as a “Federated University” and are collectively referred as the “Federated 

Universities”. 

 

REVENUE SHARING 

 

The Federated Universities do not receive funding directly from the government. Laurentian 

University has historically transferred a portion of the funding it receives from the government to 

each Federated University according to a set formula, unless otherwise instructed by the 

government.  Since 1993 that formula has been pursuant to the 1993 Funding Model. 

 

As the Recipient is aware, the Province introduced a new university funding model for 2017-2018 

(the “New Funding Model”).  The New Funding Model includes an enrolment-based envelope.  

Consistent with the enrolment-based envelope, the Province provides each institution with a base 

level of operating funding determined in accordance with a specific level of eligible enrolment and 

program of registration.  

 

Laurentian University advanced funds for 2017-18 and 2018-19 in accordance with the 1993 

Funding Model, while it considered the effect of any changes. 

 

The purpose of this Notice is to ensure that all funding transferred by Laurentian University to any 

of the Federated Universities from and after the Effective Date is consistent with the New Funding 

Model, and that the financial effects of the New Funding Model are recognized and assumed 

proportionately by each of Laurentian University and the Federated Universities, on the terms set 

out herein.  The underlying principle is that none of Laurentian University or any of the Federated 

Universities will subsidize the operations or services of another, and each will be responsible for 

covering its own costs.  The funding mechanism in place at any given time will be consistent with 

the funding mechanism between the Province and Laurentian University.   

 

As outlined in Schedule A, as at and from the Effective Date, Laurentian University will transfer 

grant funding to each Federated University based on the current and future provincial funding 

formulas for post-secondary institutions, consistent with the terms of the New Funding Model to 

which Laurentian University is now subject.     

 

Tuition fees are collected by Laurentian University and will be transferred to the Recipient based 

on enrolment in courses, less the tuition set-aside obligation, as outlined in Schedule B. 

 

Laurentian University will be implementing the New Funding Model as at and from the Effective 

Date.   All aspects of funding and the distribution of revenue by Laurentian University to the 

Federated Universities will be strictly in accordance with this Notice. 
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ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICE FEES 

 

Laurentian University provides direct non-academic administrative services to each Recipient as 

outlined in Schedule C.  From and after the Effective Date, an administrative services fee will be 

charged to the Recipient by Laurentian University calculated in accordance with Schedule C 

based on 15% of shared revenues, being Grant Revenue and Tuition Revenue as such terms are 

defined on Schedule A (the “Administrative Services Fee”).   

 

The Administrative Services Fee will only partially cover the costs incurred by Laurentian 

University for a number of non-academic services it provides as set out on Schedule C.  This 

formula will be reviewed and, if required, updated by Laurentian University not less than once 

every three (3) years.   

 

Each Federated University employs its own staff and is, and will continue to be, responsible for 

its own financial affairs. Laurentian University is the principal employer for administering pension 

plan and benefits and provides access to these employee benefits to each of the Federated 

Universities, with each Federated University bearing the sole financial responsibility for all 

contributions and funding for such employee benefits for its own staff.       

 

AMENDING THE TERMS OF FINANCIAL DISTRIBUTION TO FEDERATED UNIVERSITIES 

 

As set out on Schedule A, at all times the funding model established between the Province and 

Laurentian University from time to time will be reflected in the financial distribution model between 

Laurentian University and each of the Federated Universities.   Any modification by the Province 

in the grant structure or through regular negotiation with the Province through the Strategic 

Mandate Agreements (SMA) or otherwise with Laurentian University will be correspondingly 

reflected in the grant allocation calculations by Laurentian University with each of the Federated 

Universities.  If a change occurs, an amendment to the terms contained in this Notice will be 

provided by Laurentian University to each of the Federated Universities, and become effective.  

Laurentian University will keep the Recipient informed when the Province implements 

modifications in the grant structure and formulas. 

 

 

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY 

 

 

 

Per:___ _____________________________ 

Name: Dr. Pierre Zundel 

Title: Interim President and Vice-Chancellor 
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SCHEDULE “A” 

GRANT REVENUE ALLOCATION 

 

Operating grant revenue allocations from Laurentian University to the Federated Universities will 

be consistent at all times with the Provincial funding formulae for post-secondary institutions. 

 

In accordance with the terms of the New Funding Model, Laurentian University receives a 

specified amount of operating funding provided through a new Core Operating Grant (“COG”). 

Enrolment will continue to be counted using a single measure of activity-enrolments as measured 

by Full-time Equivalent enrolments in specific programs.  These enrolments will be weighted by 

program and level of study using the new program weights as provided by the Ministry of Training, 

Colleges and Universities (the “Ministry”).  Information on the reallocation of grants is available 

in the Ministry’s University Funding Technical Design Manual.   

 

The total COG provided to Laurentian University annually will be equal to the total Weighted Grant 

Unit (“WGU”) at its corridor midpoint multiplied by the average grant per WGU funding determined 

by the New Funding Model. Under the corridor funding model, Laurentian University will receive 

the amount of funding with enrolments levels at its corridor midpoint, as long as it remains within 

its enrolment corridor range of plus or minus 3%.   

 

Should Laurentian University fall above or below the corridor lower threshold, the grant 

adjustment by the Province will be correspondingly reflected on the grant allocation made by 

Laurentian University to the Recipient. 

 

Each Federated University will receive Grant Revenue for the COG based upon their relative 

students’ enrolment in programs as reported to the Ministry for 2017-18.  

 

Until SMA3 (or any replacement or modification thereof) is negotiated between Laurentian 

University and the Province, or there is any change in the funding formula by the Ministry, the 

Northern Grant will remain consistent with the historical allocation.   

 

Until SMA3 (or any replacement or modification thereof) is negotiated between Laurentian 

University and the Province, or there is a change in the funding formula by the Ministry, the 

Performance Grant will be distributed to each Federated University based upon their relative 

WGU as a share of gross Laurentian University WGU for 2017-18.   This grant is currently under 

review by the Province, and effective May 1, 2020, Laurentian University will update the grant 

allocation to be consistent with the Province’s determination. 

 

Laurentian University will also continue to transfer to the University of Sudbury its share of the 

French Language Grant and the Bilingualism Grant as mandated by the Province and will 

notify the University of Sudbury if any changes are established by the Province, which will then 

flow through in a corresponding manner to the amounts distributed by Laurentian University to 

the University of Sudbury. 
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The Ministry provides Facilities Renewal Program (FRP) capital funding to institutions through the 

Facilities Renewal Grant based on space standards (“generated space” – the amount of 

theoretical space a university should have) and the current formulae is under review by the 

Province.   If the funding formulae are modified by the Ministry, Laurentian University will update 

the grant allocation for each Federated University to be consistent with the Province’s funding 

principles. Unless and until that occurs, the current Grant Revenue allocation will remain 

unchanged. 

 

 

GRANT REVENUE ALLOCATION EFFECTIVE MAY 1, 2019  

 

2017-2018 Enrolment 

Data             

    
Laurentian 

University  U of S Huntington Thorneloe Total Federated Grand Total 

Grant               

         

  WGU 16,247.5 97.5 263.7 111.1 472.3 16,719.8 

 

 

Grant Revenue Allocation to Federated Universities based upon 2017-18 data and 

effective May 1, 2019 to April 30th, 2020:     

    U of S Huntington Thorneloe Total Federated  

             

Grant            

  Core  283,043 765,521 322,523 1,371,087  

  Performance  41,075 111,093 46,805 198,972  

  Northern 212,816 172,832 80,462 466,185  

  Bilingualism 615,185 0 0 615,185  

Total Grant Distributed 1,152,119 1,049,446 449,790 2,651,354  
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FRP funding will continue on the same basis as is currently allocated, pending any change in the 

funding formula by the Ministry.  Prior year’s allocations and distributions were as follows: 

 

CAPITAL 

GRANTS 

TOTAL 

PROVINCIAL 

ENVELOPE 

TOTAL 

LU + FEDS 

Laurentian U of S Huntington Thorneloe 

92.98 % 3.54 % 2.04 % 1.43 % 

2018 40,000,000 656,308 610,235 23,299 13,389 9,385 

2017 56,093,200 920,300 855,694 32,671 18,744 13,161 

2016 26,630,000 436,900 406,229 15,510 8,913 6,248 

2015 17,300,000 291,800 271,315 10,359 5,953 4,173 

2014 17,300,000 291,800 271,315 10,359 5,953 4,173 
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SCHEDULE “B” 

TUITION REVENUE DISTRIBUTION 

 

Tuition fee revenue (“Tuition Revenue”) resulting from course registrations are received by each 

Recipient offering the courses, from Laurentian University.  

 

All Tuition Revenue collected from students for course registrations at Federated Universities are 

transferred by Laurentian University to the Recipient, net of Tuition Set-Aside (TSA). Beginning 

in 1996/1997 the TSA fund was established in addition to the government’s Ontario Student 

Assistance Program (OSAP). The fund required universities to expend the TSA amount annually 

to provide financial support to students through bursaries, scholarships, work-study programs and 

work between academic terms. This is monitored annually by the Ministry.  

 

Laurentian University administers scholarships and bursaries paid from the TSA funds to students 

registered at all Federated Universities. Laurentian will continue to calculate the TSA percentage 

annually.   

 

Work study is a component of TSA. Laurentian University will allocate a proportionate share to 

each Federated University for work study.  For clarity, the total amount for work study in 2019-20 

will be $50,000. The Recipient will receive a proportionate Work Study share based upon its pro 

rata share of the amount of tuition revenue allocated to it by Laurentian University.  The Recipient 

shall provide supporting information on their use of Work Study funds to Laurentian University in 

order to allow for reporting to the Ministry. 
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SCHEDULE “C” 

ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES PROVIDED BY LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY 

 

 

Laurentian University provides services to its students and academic departments through a 

number of central services. Laurentian University strives to optimize the delivery of cost-effective, 

flexible and reliable services to all customers. 

 

There exists an understanding between the Recipient and Laurentian University that they will 

work together, in good faith, to achieve synergistic benefits through administrative capacity and 

efficiencies. 

 

Consistent with that understanding, Laurentian University provides the following services to the 

Recipient and the student population:   student fees collection and accounting, central computing 

services, administration of all pension and employee benefit services, security, registrarial 

functions, library, recruitment and liaison services, student support services (such as but not 

limited to academic advising, international supports, mental health and wellness, accessibility and 

counselling services, campus recreation, equity and diversity).  

 

While ensuring efficiency among Laurentian University and the Federated Universities and in 

promoting elimination of duplication, Laurentian University shall recover the cost of providing 

services through the payment by each Federated University of an annual Administrative Service 

Fee.  As at and from the Effective Date, the actual administrative cost associated with the 

provision of these student services by Laurentian University represents approximately 30% of 

Laurentian University’s total annual expenses.  For clarity, these costs do not include the provision 

of any facility costs or administrative costs other than those provided to the Recipient. 

 

The Administrative Services Fee will be deducted annually from the Grant Revenue and Tuition 

Revenue distributions made by Laurentian University to each Federated University in accordance 

with Schedule A. Effective May 1, 2019, the Administrative Services Fee payable to Laurentian 

University by each Federated University shall be set at 15% of shared gross revenue with the 

Recipient (comprised of Grant Revenue and Tuition Revenue), all as set out on Schedule A.    

 

Laurentian University and the Recipient will continue to identify opportunities for increased 

operational capacity and efficiencies through ongoing, successful collaborations in connection 

with administration services including but not limited to: 

 

1. (Environmental/facility services, (includes sharing of operating costs of 

facilities, leases, utilities, maintenance, etc.); 

2. security services; 

3. human resources; 

4. procurement; 

5. insurance and risk; 

6. ancillary services; 
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7. technology services; 

8. financial services; 

9. registration, collection and accounting of tuition and ancillary fees; 

10. students support services; 

11. advancement support and alumni; 

12. communications support; 

13. francophone support services; 

14. Indigenous support services; 

15. emergency preparedness 
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This is Exhibit “I”, referred to in the 

Affidavit of ROBERT HACHÉ,  
sworn before me via videoconference 

this 30th day of January, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 
A Commissioner for taking Affidavits, etc. 
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THESE TERMS OF FINANCIAL DISTRIBUTION, effective as of the 1st day of May, 2019  

(the “Effective Date”)  

 

B E T W E E N :  

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY 

 

(“Laurentian University”) 

 

   - and -  

 

THORNELOE UNIVERSITY 

 

(the “Recipient”)  

 

 

 

This Notice is delivered further to the Proposed Grant Distribution and Services Fees document 

dated November 10, 1993 (the “1993 Funding Model”) and sets out the terms for the distribution 

of operating grants to the Recipient and service fees charged to the Recipient from and after the 

Effective Date.  This document amends, restates and replaces in its entirety any prior 

documentation, oral or written representations and past practices relating to the distribution of 

grant funding, tuition fees and service fees between Laurentian University and the Recipient, 

including but not limited to those described under the 1993 Funding Model.  No future 

amendments to the terms set out in this Notice are effective unless confirmed and agreed to in 

writing, in advance, by Laurentian University.   

 

The Recipient is a separate legal entity established by separate Acts and governed by an 

independent Board.  The Recipient owns its own buildings on land that is owned by Laurentian 

University and leased to the Recipient by Laurentian University. 

 

The Recipient is recognized under the Laurentian University Act by allowing Laurentian University 

to admit “church-related universities or colleges into federation as colleges of the Faculty of Arts 

and Science, which church-related universities or colleges have the right to give instruction in 

philosophy and religious knowledge and in such other subjects as may from time to time be 

approved by the Faculty of Arts and Science of the University and be consented to by the Senate 

and Board, and the University shall accept such courses in partial fulfillment of the requirements 

for a degree under the same academic terms and conditions as would obtain if the instruction 

were given in University College”. 

 

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY FINANCIAL DISTRIBUTION TO 

FEDERATED UNIVERSITIES 
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Huntington University, Thorneloe University and the University of Sudbury are each referred to in 

this Notice as a “Federated University” and are collectively referred as the “Federated 

Universities”. 

 

REVENUE SHARING 

 

The Federated Universities do not receive funding directly from the government. Laurentian 

University has historically transferred a portion of the funding it receives from the government to 

each Federated University according to a set formula, unless otherwise instructed by the 

government.  Since 1993 that formula has been pursuant to the 1993 Funding Model. 

 

As the Recipient is aware, the Province introduced a new university funding model for 2017-2018 

(the “New Funding Model”).  The New Funding Model includes an enrolment-based envelope.  

Consistent with the enrolment-based envelope, the Province provides each institution with a base 

level of operating funding determined in accordance with a specific level of eligible enrolment and 

program of registration.  

 

Laurentian University advanced funds for 2017-18 and 2018-19 in accordance with the 1993 

Funding Model, while it considered the effect of any changes. 

 

The purpose of this Notice is to ensure that all funding transferred by Laurentian University to any 

of the Federated Universities from and after the Effective Date is consistent with the New Funding 

Model, and that the financial effects of the New Funding Model are recognized and assumed 

proportionately by each of Laurentian University and the Federated Universities, on the terms set 

out herein.  The underlying principle is that none of Laurentian University or any of the Federated 

Universities will subsidize the operations or services of another, and each will be responsible for 

covering its own costs.  The funding mechanism in place at any given time will be consistent with 

the funding mechanism between the Province and Laurentian University.   

 

As outlined in Schedule A, as at and from the Effective Date, Laurentian University will transfer 

grant funding to each Federated University based on the current and future provincial funding 

formulas for post-secondary institutions, consistent with the terms of the New Funding Model to 

which Laurentian University is now subject.     

 

Tuition fees are collected by Laurentian University and will be transferred to the Recipient based 

on enrolment in courses, less the tuition set-aside obligation, as outlined in Schedule B. 

 

Laurentian University will be implementing the New Funding Model as at and from the Effective 

Date.   All aspects of funding and the distribution of revenue by Laurentian University to the 

Federated Universities will be strictly in accordance with this Notice. 
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ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICE FEES 

 

Laurentian University provides direct non-academic administrative services to each Recipient as 

outlined in Schedule C.  From and after the Effective Date, an administrative services fee will be 

charged to the Recipient by Laurentian University calculated in accordance with Schedule C 

based on 15% of shared revenues, being Grant Revenue and Tuition Revenue as such terms are 

defined on Schedule A (the “Administrative Services Fee”).   

 

The Administrative Services Fee will only partially cover the costs incurred by Laurentian 

University for a number of non-academic services it provides as set out on Schedule C.  This 

formula will be reviewed and, if required, updated by Laurentian University not less than once 

every three (3) years.   

 

Each Federated University employs its own staff and is, and will continue to be, responsible for 

its own financial affairs. Laurentian University is the principal employer for administering pension 

plan and benefits and provides access to these employee benefits to each of the Federated 

Universities, with each Federated University bearing the sole financial responsibility for all 

contributions and funding for such employee benefits for its own staff.       

 

AMENDING THE TERMS OF FINANCIAL DISTRIBUTION TO FEDERATED UNIVERSITIES 

 

As set out on Schedule A, at all times the funding model established between the Province and 

Laurentian University from time to time will be reflected in the financial distribution model between 

Laurentian University and each of the Federated Universities.   Any modification by the Province 

in the grant structure or through regular negotiation with the Province through the Strategic 

Mandate Agreements (SMA) or otherwise with Laurentian University will be correspondingly 

reflected in the grant allocation calculations by Laurentian University with each of the Federated 

Universities.  If a change occurs, an amendment to the terms contained in this Notice will be 

provided by Laurentian University to each of the Federated Universities, and become effective.  

Laurentian University will keep the Recipient informed when the Province implements 

modifications in the grant structure and formulas. 

 

 

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY 

 

 

 

Per:___ _____________________________ 

Name: Dr. Pierre Zundel 

Title: Interim President and Vice-Chancellor 
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SCHEDULE “A” 

GRANT REVENUE ALLOCATION 

 

Operating grant revenue allocations from Laurentian University to the Federated Universities will 

be consistent at all times with the Provincial funding formulae for post-secondary institutions. 

 

In accordance with the terms of the New Funding Model, Laurentian University receives a 

specified amount of operating funding provided through a new Core Operating Grant (“COG”). 

Enrolment will continue to be counted using a single measure of activity-enrolments as measured 

by Full-time Equivalent enrolments in specific programs.  These enrolments will be weighted by 

program and level of study using the new program weights as provided by the Ministry of Training, 

Colleges and Universities (the “Ministry”).  Information on the reallocation of grants is available 

in the Ministry’s University Funding Technical Design Manual.   

 

The total COG provided to Laurentian University annually will be equal to the total Weighted Grant 

Unit (“WGU”) at its corridor midpoint multiplied by the average grant per WGU funding determined 

by the New Funding Model. Under the corridor funding model, Laurentian University will receive 

the amount of funding with enrolments levels at its corridor midpoint, as long as it remains within 

its enrolment corridor range of plus or minus 3%.   

 

Should Laurentian University fall above or below the corridor lower threshold, the grant 

adjustment by the Province will be correspondingly reflected on the grant allocation made by 

Laurentian University to the Recipient. 

 

Each Federated University will receive Grant Revenue for the COG based upon their relative 

students’ enrolment in programs as reported to the Ministry for 2017-18.  

 

Until SMA3 (or any replacement or modification thereof) is negotiated between Laurentian 

University and the Province, or there is any change in the funding formula by the Ministry, the 

Northern Grant will remain consistent with the historical allocation.   

 

Until SMA3 (or any replacement or modification thereof) is negotiated between Laurentian 

University and the Province, or there is a change in the funding formula by the Ministry, the 

Performance Grant will be distributed to each Federated University based upon their relative 

WGU as a share of gross Laurentian University WGU for 2017-18.   This grant is currently under 

review by the Province, and effective May 1, 2020, Laurentian University will update the grant 

allocation to be consistent with the Province’s determination. 

 

Laurentian University will also continue to transfer to the University of Sudbury its share of the 

French Language Grant and the Bilingualism Grant as mandated by the Province and will 

notify the University of Sudbury if any changes are established by the Province, which will then 

flow through in a corresponding manner to the amounts distributed by Laurentian University to 

the University of Sudbury. 
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The Ministry provides Facilities Renewal Program (FRP) capital funding to institutions through the 

Facilities Renewal Grant based on space standards (“generated space” – the amount of 

theoretical space a university should have) and the current formulae is under review by the 

Province.   If the funding formulae are modified by the Ministry, Laurentian University will update 

the grant allocation for each Federated University to be consistent with the Province’s funding 

principles. Unless and until that occurs, the current Grant Revenue allocation will remain 

unchanged. 

 

 

GRANT REVENUE ALLOCATION EFFECTIVE MAY 1, 2019  

 

2017-2018 Enrolment 

Data             

    
Laurentian 

University  U of S Huntington Thorneloe Total Federated Grand Total 

Grant               

         

  WGU 16,247.5 97.5 263.7 111.1 472.3 16,719.8 

 

 

Grant Revenue Allocation to Federated Universities based upon 2017-18 data and 

effective May 1, 2019 to April 30th, 2020:     

    U of S Huntington Thorneloe Total Federated  

             

Grant            

  Core  283,043 765,521 322,523 1,371,087  

  Performance  41,075 111,093 46,805 198,972  

  Northern 212,816 172,832 80,462 466,185  

  Bilingualism 615,185 0 0 615,185  

Total Grant Distributed 1,152,119 1,049,446 449,790 2,651,354  
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FRP funding will continue on the same basis as is currently allocated, pending any change in the 

funding formula by the Ministry.  Prior year’s allocations and distributions were as follows: 

 

CAPITAL 

GRANTS 

TOTAL 

PROVINCIAL 

ENVELOPE 

TOTAL 

LU + FEDS 

Laurentian U of S Huntington Thorneloe 

92.98 % 3.54 % 2.04 % 1.43 % 

2018 40,000,000 656,308 610,235 23,299 13,389 9,385 

2017 56,093,200 920,300 855,694 32,671 18,744 13,161 

2016 26,630,000 436,900 406,229 15,510 8,913 6,248 

2015 17,300,000 291,800 271,315 10,359 5,953 4,173 

2014 17,300,000 291,800 271,315 10,359 5,953 4,173 
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SCHEDULE “B” 

TUITION REVENUE DISTRIBUTION 

 

Tuition fee revenue (“Tuition Revenue”) resulting from course registrations are received by each 

Recipient offering the courses, from Laurentian University.  

 

All Tuition Revenue collected from students for course registrations at Federated Universities are 

transferred by Laurentian University to the Recipient, net of Tuition Set-Aside (TSA). Beginning 

in 1996/1997 the TSA fund was established in addition to the government’s Ontario Student 

Assistance Program (OSAP). The fund required universities to expend the TSA amount annually 

to provide financial support to students through bursaries, scholarships, work-study programs and 

work between academic terms. This is monitored annually by the Ministry.  

 

Laurentian University administers scholarships and bursaries paid from the TSA funds to students 

registered at all Federated Universities. Laurentian will continue to calculate the TSA percentage 

annually.   

 

Work study is a component of TSA. Laurentian University will allocate a proportionate share to 

each Federated University for work study.  For clarity, the total amount for work study in 2019-20 

will be $50,000. The Recipient will receive a proportionate Work Study share based upon its pro 

rata share of the amount of tuition revenue allocated to it by Laurentian University.  The Recipient 

shall provide supporting information on their use of Work Study funds to Laurentian University in 

order to allow for reporting to the Ministry. 
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SCHEDULE “C” 

ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES PROVIDED BY LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY 

 

 

Laurentian University provides services to its students and academic departments through a 

number of central services. Laurentian University strives to optimize the delivery of cost-effective, 

flexible and reliable services to all customers. 

 

There exists an understanding between the Recipient and Laurentian University that they will 

work together, in good faith, to achieve synergistic benefits through administrative capacity and 

efficiencies. 

 

Consistent with that understanding, Laurentian University provides the following services to the 

Recipient and the student population:   student fees collection and accounting, central computing 

services, administration of all pension and employee benefit services, security, registrarial 

functions, library, recruitment and liaison services, student support services (such as but not 

limited to academic advising, international supports, mental health and wellness, accessibility and 

counselling services, campus recreation, equity and diversity).  

 

While ensuring efficiency among Laurentian University and the Federated Universities and in 

promoting elimination of duplication, Laurentian University shall recover the cost of providing 

services through the payment by each Federated University of an annual Administrative Service 

Fee.  As at and from the Effective Date, the actual administrative cost associated with the 

provision of these student services by Laurentian University represents approximately 30% of 

Laurentian University’s total annual expenses.  For clarity, these costs do not include the provision 

of any facility costs or administrative costs other than those provided to the Recipient. 

 

The Administrative Services Fee will be deducted annually from the Grant Revenue and Tuition 

Revenue distributions made by Laurentian University to each Federated University in accordance 

with Schedule A. Effective May 1, 2019, the Administrative Services Fee payable to Laurentian 

University by each Federated University shall be set at 15% of shared gross revenue with the 

Recipient (comprised of Grant Revenue and Tuition Revenue), all as set out on Schedule A.    

 

Laurentian University and the Recipient will continue to identify opportunities for increased 

operational capacity and efficiencies through ongoing, successful collaborations in connection 

with administration services including but not limited to: 

 

1. (Environmental/facility services, (includes sharing of operating costs of 

facilities, leases, utilities, maintenance, etc.); 

2. security services; 

3. human resources; 

4. procurement; 

5. insurance and risk; 

6. ancillary services; 
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7. technology services; 

8. financial services; 

9. registration, collection and accounting of tuition and ancillary fees; 

10. students support services; 

11. advancement support and alumni; 

12. communications support; 

13. francophone support services; 

14. Indigenous support services; 

15. emergency preparedness 
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This is Exhibit “J”, referred to in the 

Affidavit of ROBERT HACHÉ,  
sworn before me via videoconference 

this 30th day of January, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 
A Commissioner for taking Affidavits, etc. 
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THESE TERMS OF FINANCIAL DISTRIBUTION, effective as of the 1st day of May, 2019  

(the “Effective Date”)  

 

B E T W E E N :  

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY 

 

(“Laurentian University”) 

 

   - and -  

 

UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY 

 

(the “Recipient”)  

 

 

 

This Notice is delivered further to the Proposed Grant Distribution and Services Fees document 

dated November 10, 1993 (the “1993 Funding Model”) and sets out the terms for the distribution 

of operating grants to the Recipient and service fees charged to the Recipient from and after the 

Effective Date.  This document amends, restates and replaces in its entirety any prior 

documentation, oral or written representations and past practices relating to the distribution of 

grant funding, tuition fees and service fees between Laurentian University and the Recipient, 

including but not limited to those described under the 1993 Funding Model.  No future 

amendments to the terms set out in this Notice are effective unless confirmed and agreed to in 

writing, in advance, by Laurentian University.   

 

The Recipient is a separate legal entity established by separate Acts and governed by an 

independent Board.  The Recipient owns its own buildings on land that is owned by Laurentian 

University and leased to the Recipient by Laurentian University. 

 

The Recipient is recognized under the Laurentian University Act by allowing Laurentian University 

to admit “church-related universities or colleges into federation as colleges of the Faculty of Arts 

and Science, which church-related universities or colleges have the right to give instruction in 

philosophy and religious knowledge and in such other subjects as may from time to time be 

approved by the Faculty of Arts and Science of the University and be consented to by the Senate 

and Board, and the University shall accept such courses in partial fulfillment of the requirements 

for a degree under the same academic terms and conditions as would obtain if the instruction 

were given in University College”. 

 

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY FINANCIAL DISTRIBUTION TO 

FEDERATED UNIVERSITIES 
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Huntington University, Thorneloe University and the University of Sudbury are each referred to in 

this Notice as a “Federated University” and are collectively referred as the “Federated 

Universities”. 

 

REVENUE SHARING 

 

The Federated Universities do not receive funding directly from the government. Laurentian 

University has historically transferred a portion of the funding it receives from the government to 

each Federated University according to a set formula, unless otherwise instructed by the 

government.  Since 1993 that formula has been pursuant to the 1993 Funding Model. 

 

As the Recipient is aware, the Province introduced a new university funding model for 2017-2018 

(the “New Funding Model”).  The New Funding Model includes an enrolment-based envelope.  

Consistent with the enrolment-based envelope, the Province provides each institution with a base 

level of operating funding determined in accordance with a specific level of eligible enrolment and 

program of registration.  

 

Laurentian University advanced funds for 2017-18 and 2018-19 in accordance with the 1993 

Funding Model, while it considered the effect of any changes. 

 

The purpose of this Notice is to ensure that all funding transferred by Laurentian University to any 

of the Federated Universities from and after the Effective Date is consistent with the New Funding 

Model, and that the financial effects of the New Funding Model are recognized and assumed 

proportionately by each of Laurentian University and the Federated Universities, on the terms set 

out herein.  The underlying principle is that none of Laurentian University or any of the Federated 

Universities will subsidize the operations or services of another, and each will be responsible for 

covering its own costs.  The funding mechanism in place at any given time will be consistent with 

the funding mechanism between the Province and Laurentian University.   

 

As outlined in Schedule A, as at and from the Effective Date, Laurentian University will transfer 

grant funding to each Federated University based on the current and future provincial funding 

formulas for post-secondary institutions, consistent with the terms of the New Funding Model to 

which Laurentian University is now subject.     

 

Tuition fees are collected by Laurentian University and will be transferred to the Recipient based 

on enrolment in courses, less the tuition set-aside obligation, as outlined in Schedule B. 

 

Laurentian University will be implementing the New Funding Model as at and from the Effective 

Date.   All aspects of funding and the distribution of revenue by Laurentian University to the 

Federated Universities will be strictly in accordance with this Notice. 
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ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICE FEES 

 

Laurentian University provides direct non-academic administrative services to each Recipient as 

outlined in Schedule C.  From and after the Effective Date, an administrative services fee will be 

charged to the Recipient by Laurentian University calculated in accordance with Schedule C 

based on 15% of shared revenues, being Grant Revenue and Tuition Revenue as such terms are 

defined on Schedule A (the “Administrative Services Fee”).   

 

The Administrative Services Fee will only partially cover the costs incurred by Laurentian 

University for a number of non-academic services it provides as set out on Schedule C.  This 

formula will be reviewed and, if required, updated by Laurentian University not less than once 

every three (3) years.   

 

Each Federated University employs its own staff and is, and will continue to be, responsible for 

its own financial affairs. Laurentian University is the principal employer for administering pension 

plan and benefits and provides access to these employee benefits to each of the Federated 

Universities, with each Federated University bearing the sole financial responsibility for all 

contributions and funding for such employee benefits for its own staff.       

 

AMENDING THE TERMS OF FINANCIAL DISTRIBUTION TO FEDERATED UNIVERSITIES 

 

As set out on Schedule A, at all times the funding model established between the Province and 

Laurentian University from time to time will be reflected in the financial distribution model between 

Laurentian University and each of the Federated Universities.   Any modification by the Province 

in the grant structure or through regular negotiation with the Province through the Strategic 

Mandate Agreements (SMA) or otherwise with Laurentian University will be correspondingly 

reflected in the grant allocation calculations by Laurentian University with each of the Federated 

Universities.  If a change occurs, an amendment to the terms contained in this Notice will be 

provided by Laurentian University to each of the Federated Universities, and become effective.  

Laurentian University will keep the Recipient informed when the Province implements 

modifications in the grant structure and formulas. 

 

 

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY 

 

 

 

Per:___ _____________________________ 

Name: Dr. Pierre Zundel 

Title: Interim President and Vice-Chancellor 
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SCHEDULE “A” 

GRANT REVENUE ALLOCATION 

 

Operating grant revenue allocations from Laurentian University to the Federated Universities will 

be consistent at all times with the Provincial funding formulae for post-secondary institutions. 

 

In accordance with the terms of the New Funding Model, Laurentian University receives a 

specified amount of operating funding provided through a new Core Operating Grant (“COG”). 

Enrolment will continue to be counted using a single measure of activity-enrolments as measured 

by Full-time Equivalent enrolments in specific programs.  These enrolments will be weighted by 

program and level of study using the new program weights as provided by the Ministry of Training, 

Colleges and Universities (the “Ministry”).  Information on the reallocation of grants is available 

in the Ministry’s University Funding Technical Design Manual.   

 

The total COG provided to Laurentian University annually will be equal to the total Weighted Grant 

Unit (“WGU”) at its corridor midpoint multiplied by the average grant per WGU funding determined 

by the New Funding Model. Under the corridor funding model, Laurentian University will receive 

the amount of funding with enrolments levels at its corridor midpoint, as long as it remains within 

its enrolment corridor range of plus or minus 3%.   

 

Should Laurentian University fall above or below the corridor lower threshold, the grant 

adjustment by the Province will be correspondingly reflected on the grant allocation made by 

Laurentian University to the Recipient. 

 

Each Federated University will receive Grant Revenue for the COG based upon their relative 

students’ enrolment in programs as reported to the Ministry for 2017-18.  

 

Until SMA3 (or any replacement or modification thereof) is negotiated between Laurentian 

University and the Province, or there is any change in the funding formula by the Ministry, the 

Northern Grant will remain consistent with the historical allocation.   

 

Until SMA3 (or any replacement or modification thereof) is negotiated between Laurentian 

University and the Province, or there is a change in the funding formula by the Ministry, the 

Performance Grant will be distributed to each Federated University based upon their relative 

WGU as a share of gross Laurentian University WGU for 2017-18.   This grant is currently under 

review by the Province, and effective May 1, 2020, Laurentian University will update the grant 

allocation to be consistent with the Province’s determination. 

 

Laurentian University will also continue to transfer to the University of Sudbury its share of the 

French Language Grant and the Bilingualism Grant as mandated by the Province and will 

notify the University of Sudbury if any changes are established by the Province, which will then 

flow through in a corresponding manner to the amounts distributed by Laurentian University to 

the University of Sudbury. 
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The Ministry provides Facilities Renewal Program (FRP) capital funding to institutions through the 

Facilities Renewal Grant based on space standards (“generated space” – the amount of 

theoretical space a university should have) and the current formulae is under review by the 

Province.   If the funding formulae are modified by the Ministry, Laurentian University will update 

the grant allocation for each Federated University to be consistent with the Province’s funding 

principles. Unless and until that occurs, the current Grant Revenue allocation will remain 

unchanged. 

 

 

GRANT REVENUE ALLOCATION EFFECTIVE MAY 1, 2019  

 

2017-2018 Enrolment 

Data             

    
Laurentian 

University  U of S Huntington Thorneloe Total Federated Grand Total 

Grant               

         

  WGU 16,247.5 97.5 263.7 111.1 472.3 16,719.8 

 

 

Grant Revenue Allocation to Federated Universities based upon 2017-18 data and 

effective May 1, 2019 to April 30th, 2020:     

    U of S Huntington Thorneloe Total Federated  

             

Grant            

  Core  283,043 765,521 322,523 1,371,087  

  Performance  41,075 111,093 46,805 198,972  

  Northern 212,816 172,832 80,462 466,185  

  Bilingualism 615,185 0 0 615,185  

Total Grant Distributed 1,152,119 1,049,446 449,790 2,651,354  
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FRP funding will continue on the same basis as is currently allocated, pending any change in the 

funding formula by the Ministry.  Prior year’s allocations and distributions were as follows: 

 

CAPITAL 

GRANTS 

TOTAL 

PROVINCIAL 

ENVELOPE 

TOTAL 

LU + FEDS 

Laurentian U of S Huntington Thorneloe 

92.98 % 3.54 % 2.04 % 1.43 % 

2018 40,000,000 656,308 610,235 23,299 13,389 9,385 

2017 56,093,200 920,300 855,694 32,671 18,744 13,161 

2016 26,630,000 436,900 406,229 15,510 8,913 6,248 

2015 17,300,000 291,800 271,315 10,359 5,953 4,173 

2014 17,300,000 291,800 271,315 10,359 5,953 4,173 
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SCHEDULE “B” 

TUITION REVENUE DISTRIBUTION 

 

Tuition fee revenue (“Tuition Revenue”) resulting from course registrations are received by each 

Recipient offering the courses, from Laurentian University.  

 

All Tuition Revenue collected from students for course registrations at Federated Universities are 

transferred by Laurentian University to the Recipient, net of Tuition Set-Aside (TSA). Beginning 

in 1996/1997 the TSA fund was established in addition to the government’s Ontario Student 

Assistance Program (OSAP). The fund required universities to expend the TSA amount annually 

to provide financial support to students through bursaries, scholarships, work-study programs and 

work between academic terms. This is monitored annually by the Ministry.  

 

Laurentian University administers scholarships and bursaries paid from the TSA funds to students 

registered at all Federated Universities. Laurentian will continue to calculate the TSA percentage 

annually.   

 

Work study is a component of TSA. Laurentian University will allocate a proportionate share to 

each Federated University for work study.  For clarity, the total amount for work study in 2019-20 

will be $50,000. The Recipient will receive a proportionate Work Study share based upon its pro 

rata share of the amount of tuition revenue allocated to it by Laurentian University.  The Recipient 

shall provide supporting information on their use of Work Study funds to Laurentian University in 

order to allow for reporting to the Ministry. 
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SCHEDULE “C” 

ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES PROVIDED BY LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY 

 

 

Laurentian University provides services to its students and academic departments through a 

number of central services. Laurentian University strives to optimize the delivery of cost-effective, 

flexible and reliable services to all customers. 

 

There exists an understanding between the Recipient and Laurentian University that they will 

work together, in good faith, to achieve synergistic benefits through administrative capacity and 

efficiencies. 

 

Consistent with that understanding, Laurentian University provides the following services to the 

Recipient and the student population:   student fees collection and accounting, central computing 

services, administration of all pension and employee benefit services, security, registrarial 

functions, library, recruitment and liaison services, student support services (such as but not 

limited to academic advising, international supports, mental health and wellness, accessibility and 

counselling services, campus recreation, equity and diversity).  

 

While ensuring efficiency among Laurentian University and the Federated Universities and in 

promoting elimination of duplication, Laurentian University shall recover the cost of providing 

services through the payment by each Federated University of an annual Administrative Service 

Fee.  As at and from the Effective Date, the actual administrative cost associated with the 

provision of these student services by Laurentian University represents approximately 30% of 

Laurentian University’s total annual expenses.  For clarity, these costs do not include the provision 

of any facility costs or administrative costs other than those provided to the Recipient. 

 

The Administrative Services Fee will be deducted annually from the Grant Revenue and Tuition 

Revenue distributions made by Laurentian University to each Federated University in accordance 

with Schedule A. Effective May 1, 2019, the Administrative Services Fee payable to Laurentian 

University by each Federated University shall be set at 15% of shared gross revenue with the 

Recipient (comprised of Grant Revenue and Tuition Revenue), all as set out on Schedule A.    

 

Laurentian University and the Recipient will continue to identify opportunities for increased 

operational capacity and efficiencies through ongoing, successful collaborations in connection 

with administration services including but not limited to: 

 

1. (Environmental/facility services, (includes sharing of operating costs of 

facilities, leases, utilities, maintenance, etc.); 

2. security services; 

3. human resources; 

4. procurement; 

5. insurance and risk; 

6. ancillary services; 
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7. technology services; 

8. financial services; 

9. registration, collection and accounting of tuition and ancillary fees; 

10. students support services; 

11. advancement support and alumni; 

12. communications support; 

13. francophone support services; 

14. Indigenous support services; 

15. emergency preparedness 
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This is Exhibit “K”, referred to in the 

Affidavit of ROBERT HACHÉ,  
sworn before me via videoconference 

this 30th day of January, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 
A Commissioner for taking Affidavits, etc. 
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This is Exhibit “L”, referred to in the 

Affidavit of ROBERT HACHÉ,  
sworn before me via videoconference 

this 30th day of January, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 
A Commissioner for taking Affidavits, etc. 
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This is Exhibit “M”, referred to in the 

Affidavit of ROBERT HACHÉ,  
sworn before me via videoconference 

this 30th day of January, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 
A Commissioner for taking Affidavits, etc. 
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This is Exhibit “N”, referred to in the 

Affidavit of ROBERT HACHÉ,  
sworn before me via videoconference 

this 30th day of January, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 
A Commissioner for taking Affidavits, etc. 
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This is Exhibit “O”, referred to in the 

Affidavit of ROBERT HACHÉ,  
sworn before me via videoconference 

this 30th day of January, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 
A Commissioner for taking Affidavits, etc. 
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This is Exhibit “P”, referred to in the 

Affidavit of ROBERT HACHÉ,  
sworn before me via videoconference 

this 30th day of January, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 
A Commissioner for taking Affidavits, etc. 
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This is Exhibit “Q”, referred to in the 

Affidavit of ROBERT HACHÉ,  
sworn before me via videoconference 

this 30th day of January, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 
A Commissioner for taking Affidavits, etc. 
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C) C)
THIS INDENTURE made in triplicate this ,2 4 day

of October, l9614, in pursuance of The Short Forms of Leases

Act:

BETWEEN:

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUBURY

hereinafter called “the Lessor”

OF THE FIRST PJLRT

-and

THORNELQE UNIVEBSY

hereinafter called “the Lessee”

OF THE SECOND PART

WHEREAS the Lessee has entered into an agreement of

federation with the Lessor;

4TJ TtT0EA5 the Lessor has agreed to allocate and

reserve land within its campus which the Lessee may acquire

and upon which it may construct buildings for teaching at the

University level, administration, and faculty and students

residences, with or without chapels, subject to the prior

written approval of the Lessor as to architectural design and

upon such arrangements and conditions as to title and tenure

as may be agreed upon;

WITNESSETH that in consideration of the premises

and in further consideration of the rents, covenants and agree

ments hereinafter contained on the part of the Lessee to be

observed and performed, the Lessor hath demised and leased and

by these presents doth demise and lease unto the Lessee

That part of Lot 3 in the First Concession and that part

of Lot 3 in the Second Concession of the Township of

McKim in the District of Sudbury and being designated

as PART 3 on a plan of survey of record in the office

of Land Titles at Sudbury as SR-Plan 525.

TOGETHER WITH A RIGHT-OF-WAY for all those now and

hereafter entitled thereto, over along and upon: That

part of Lot 3 in the First Concession and that part of

Lot 3 in the Second Concession of the Township of 4cKinz

in the District of Sudbury and being designated as PART 1

on said SR-Plan 525.
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C)
-2-

0

2. TO HAVE AN]) TO HOlD the said demised lands for and

during the term of ninety-nine (99) years from and inclusive of

the 1st day of September, 1963, and thenceforth next ensuing and

fully to be completed and ended.

3. YIELDING AND PAYING therefor during the said term the

sum of ONE DOLLAW ($1.00) of lawful nney of Canada on the 1st

day of September, 1963, and on the 1st day of September of each

year of the rem,*inder of the term hereby granted, if demanded.

4. THE LSEE covenants with the Lessor to pay rent.

5. THE LSOR covenants with the Lessee that if the

Lessee duly and regularly pays the said rent, if demanded,

and performs all and every the covenants, provisos and conditions

herein and on the part of the Lessee to be paid and performed,

the Lessor will at the expiration of the said term (at the cost

of the Lessee and upon the written request of the Lessee, mailed

by registered post to or delivered to the Lessor not later than

six (6) nnths before the expiration of the said term) grant to

the Lessee a renewal lease of the said lands and premises for a

further term of ninety-nine (99) years, at the same rent, and

subject to the same covenants, provisos and agreements as are

herein contained, and such new lease shall contain all the

covenants, provisos and agreements contained in the present

lease.

6, PROVIDED that this lease and any renewal thereof shall

at the option of the Lessor cease and be void if at any time

during the term hereby granted the Lessee shall withdraw from

federation with the Lessor or if the lands and premises cease

for a period of three years to be used by the Lessee for

educational instruction at a University level, or if the Lessee

shall cease for a period of three years to operate as a

University. In the event of such termination the Lessor shall

within a reasonable time thereafter pay to the Lessee the value
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C) C)
-3-

as of such termination of any building or buildings constructed

by the Lessee on the said lands the plans for which have been

approved by the Lessor and which building or buildings could

be used by the Lessor in the ordinary course for University

purposes, such as a residence or classroom building or buildings,

but reserving to the Lessor the right not to pay the Lessee for

any building or buildings which may duplicate then existing

facilities of the Lessor, other than residence or classroom

facilities, the said value to be considered for the purposes

hereof as the cost of construction or erection thereof, less

depreciation calculated on the basis of 4% depreciation per

annwn, provided that it the Lessor considers that the said

building has depreciated at a rate of nre than 4% per annum the

said value shall be reduced on the basis of a rate of deprecia

tion higher than 4% per annum and it the Lessor and the Lessee

cannot agree on such higher rate the rate of depreciation shall

be determined by arbitration at the instance of either the Lessor

or the Lessee, but the rate of depreciation for the purposes of

fixing the said value shall in no event be less than 4% per

annum. If the matter of rate of depreciation is submitted to

arbitration as aforesaid it shall be determined by the award of

three arbitrators, or a majority of these, one to be named by

the Lessor end one by the Lessee; and the two arbitrators thus

chosen shall forthwith select a third, and their award, or the

award of a majority of them shall be final and binding upon

the Lessor and the Lessee and not open to review in any Court

or otherwise howsoever. The expense of the said arbitration

shall be borne equally by the parties hereto. In case of failure

of the two arbitrators appointed by the parties hereto to agree

upon a third arbitrator, such third arbitrator shall be appointed

in accordance with the provision of the Arbitration Act of

Ontario by reference to a Judge of the Supreme Court of Ontario.

The Lessor and the Lessee agree that, if at the time of such

termination the demised lands and any building or buildings to

be constructed thereon by the Lessee for which the Lessor has
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agreed to pay the Lessee the value thereof as hereinbefore set

out in the event of such termination are subject to a mortgage,

the Lessor shall assume the obligation of such mortgage in

respect to any such building or buildings only and to the extent

only of the aunt which it would be obligated in such event to

pay to the Lessee, and any such amount so assumed shall be

deducted by the Lessor from the amount to be paid to the Lessee.

7. THE LESSEE covenants with the Lessor that it will

during the term of this lease and any renewal hereof keep and

mairtain in good and proper repair all buildings to be con

structed on the demised lands.

8. THE LESSOR and the Lessee agree that those portions

of the demised lands and of the remaining lands of the Lessor

above a contour level of nine hundred and sixty feet (960’)

constitute an outstanding topographical feature of the

Laurentian University of Sudbury campus and that to preserve

this outstanding feature of the campus for the use and enjoyment

of a].l students and staff members of the Lessor nd of the

federated or affiliated universities or colleges the Lessor and

the Lessee covenant and agree as follows:

(a) The Lessee covenants that it will not during the

- term of this lease or any renewal thereof erect

any building or structure the foundation of

which shail be on land above the said contour

level of nine hundred and sixty feet (960’).

(b) The Lessor and the Lessee agree that the said

portions of the demised lands above the said

contour level of nine hundred and sixty feet

(960’) may be developed as a landscape area or

observation lookout by either the Lessor or the

Lessee according to plans to be approved by- the

Lessor and the Lessee for the use of the Lessor

and the Lessee in common with other universities

or cofleges federated or affiliated with the

Lessor.
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(c) The Lessor and the Lessee agree that it is

desirable that no building to be erected by the

Lessee on the demised lands (or by the Lessor

on its remaining lands or by any university or

college federated or affiliated with the Lessor

on the lands demised to it or them by the Lessor)

shall exceed in elevation a contour level of

nine hundred and seventy feet (970’).

(d) The Lessor reserves to itself and its feder

ated or affiliated universities or colleges

the right of access to and egress from the

said lands above a contour level of nine hundred

and sixty feet (9601) from and to the lands of

the Lessor adjacent to the demised lands over,

along and upon a footpath or roadway to be

constructed by the Lessor or the Lessee according

to plans as to design and location to be approved

by the Lessor and the Lessee.

9. THE LESSEE covenants with the Lessor that no

part of any building or structure shall be erected closer to

the boundary of the demised lands than fifteen feet (15’) and

that it will not erect any building or buildings or other

structure or structures upon the lands hereby demised without

the written approval of the Lessor as to site planning and

building design first had and obtained, and that it will not

rezve or make major alterations to or in any of the buildings

now or at any time during the currency of this lease or any re

newal hereof situate upon the lands hereby demised without the

written consent of the Lessor first had and obtained, and that

it will not erect or cause to be erected conspicuous notices,

signs or symbols on or about the demised lands or any buildings

or structure to be constructed thereon without the written consent

of the Lessor as to design and appropriateness within the

Lessor’s overall plan for the Lau.rentian campus first had and

obtained.

10. THE LESSEE further covenants with the Lessor

that subject to any statutory exemptions which it may enjoy,
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it will during the term hereby granted pay all taxes, rates,

duties and assessments whatsoever whether municipal, parliamen

tary or otherwise, including municipal taxes for local improve
ments or worIs the coat of which is properly assessed upon the

property benefited thereby now charged or hereafter to be

charged upon the demised premises or upon any buildings or

erections thereon or upon the Lessor on account thereof.

U. THE LESSEE further covenants with the Lessor

that it will not during the term hereby demised or any renewal

thereof hew, fell, cut down or destroy or cause or knowingly

permit or suffer to be hewed, felled, cut down or destroyed

without the consent in writing of the Lessor, any trees that may

now or during the said term or any renewal thereof be growing
upon the demised premises.

12. AND IS IS HEREBY AGREED that it shall be lawful

for the Lessor, its successors and assigns and S ents at

all reasonable times during the said term to enter upon the

said demised premises to exrn1T1e the condition thereof and

further that all want of reparation that upon such review shall

be found arid for the amendment of which, notice in writing

shall be left at the premises, the Lessee will within three

calendar months next after such notice well and sufficiently

repair and make good accordingly.

13. PROVIDED ALWAYS and it is hereby expressly

agreed that in case of the breach or non-performance of any

of the covenants or agreements herein contained on the part

of the Lessee, the Lessee shall be given six uxrnths’ notice in

writing to remedy such breach or non-perftrmance and if the

Lessee fails to remedy such breach or non-performance within

the six uzntbs, it shall be lawful for the Lessor, its

successors and assigns at any time thereafter into and upon

the demised premises or any part thereof in the name of the

whole to re-enter and the same to have again repossess and

enjoy as of its former estate, subject to the provisions of

paragraph 6 herein contained.

111. AND THE LESSEE further agrees to observe and fulfil

the provisions arid requirements of all statutes,
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orders-in-council, by-laws, rules and regulations relating

to the use by the Lessee of the said demised premises, plumb

ing fixtures, drain pipes, sidewalks, areas, streets and lanes

connected therewith, and that upon request being made or

notice being given by the proper official charged with the

enforcement of the said provisions and requirements to the

Lessee or to the Lessor in respect of any non-performance or

infraction of any such provisions or requirements the Lessee

shall immediately comply with the demand contained in such

request or demand and in default thereof the Lessor may pro

cure to be done any work necessary to comply therewith and

may charge the cost thereof against the Lessee and shall

have the same remedies for the recovery of the moneys so

paid as if the same were arrears of the rent reserved hereby

in respect of the said demised premises.

15. IF, after the expiration or termination of

this lease, the Lessee shall remain in possession of the de

mised premises, with or without the consit of the Lessor,

or without any further written agreement, a tenancy from

year to year shall not be created by implication of law, but

the Lessee shall be deemed to be a monthly tenant only, at a

rental of ONE DOLLAR ($1.00) per month, payable in advance on

the 1st day of each Iiith, if demanded, and subject in all

other respects to the terms of this lease.

16. IT IS HEREBY AGREED that in case any dispute or

question shall arise between the Lessor and the Lessee relative

to the maintenance of the lands and buildings herein mentioned,

or as to matters consequent upon termination hereof, or as to

construction of the terms of this lease, such dispute or question

shall be referred to the arbitration and determination of three

arbitrators, one to be named by each of the parties hereto and

the third to be named by the two so appointed; and the award and

determination of the said arbitrators shall be final and binding.
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17, IT IS Y(JRTHER PROVIDED AND AGREED that any notice

given by the Lessor to the Lessee or by the Lessee to the

Lessor may be sufficiently given by sending it by Registered

Mail in a letter, postage prepaid and shall be taken to have

been received by the party to whom the letter is addressed on

the second day after it is deposited in the post at Sudbury,

or if that day is a Sunday or a public holiday then on the

next day following.

IN WITNESS 1HEREOF the parties hereto have hereunto

affixed their respective corporate seals duly attested by the

signatures of their proper officers in that behalf.

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SIJDJRY
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LEASE AMENDING AGREEMENT

DATED the day of November, 1997.

B E T W E E N:

THORNELOE UNIVERSITY

(Hereinafter referred to as “Lessee”)

OF THE FIRST PART

- and -

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY

(Hereinafter referred to as “Lessor”)

OF THE SECOND PART

WHEREAS pursuant to a lease agreement, dated November 13, 1964, registered
in the Land Titles Office of the District of Sudbury, as instrument number 217228 between Lessee
and Lessor (the ‘Lease”), Lessee leased from Lessor the property legally described as follows:

Parcel 30769, in the register for Sudbury East Section, being part of Lot 3, in the
First Concession of the Township of McKim, and part of Lot 3, in the Second
Concession of the Township of McKim, in the District of Sudbury, being
designated as Part 3 according to Plan of Survey SR-525 (the “Property”).

AND WHEREAS in order to facilitate the construction of an addition to Lessee’s
existing building located on the Property, more particularly described in the sketch attached
hereto as Schedule “A” certain provisions of the Lease must be amended;

AND WHEREAS Lessee and Lessor have agreed to such amendments;

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of One ($1.00) Dollar now paid by Lessee to
Lessor, the mutual covenants herein contained and other good and valuable consideration, the
parties hereto agree as follows:

The Lease is hereby amended by the addition of the following terms and
conditions:

a) Definitions - In this Lease, the terms listed below shall have the following
definitions:

i) “Lease” means the lease agreement dated November 13, 1964,
registered in the Land Titles Office of the District of Sudbury, as
instrument #21 7228 between the Lessee and the Lessor;

ii) “New Addition” means the construction of a theatre/classroom
building addition to Thorneloe’s existing building, more particularly
described in the sketch attached hereto as Schedule “A”;

iii) “Property” means the real property legally described as follows:

Parcel 30769, in the register for Sudbury East Section,
being part of Lot 3, in the First Concession of the Township
of McKim, and part of Lot 3, in the Second Concession of
the Township of McKim, in the District of Sudbury, being
designated as Part 3 according to Plan of Survey SR-525.
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b) Elevation Amendment - Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 8(a),
8(b), 8(c) and 8(d) of the Lease, Lessee shall be permitted to use those
portions of the Property above the contour line of 960’ necessary in order
to construct the New Addition in a manner more particularly described in
Schedule “A” attached hereto. It is further agreed that the roof elevation of
the New Addition shall be permitted to be approximately 981’, being a roof
elevation similar to that of the Lessee’s existing buiiding.

c) Setbacks - Notwithstanding the setback requirements provided for in
paragraph 9 of the Lease, Lessee and Lessor agree that Lessee shall be
permitted to erect part of New Addition within the fifteen foot (15’) setback
provided for in paragraph 9 of the Lease as more particularly set out in
Schedule “A” attached hereto.

d) Trees - Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 11 of the Lease, for
the purposes of constructing the New Addition, Lessee shall be permitted
to cut down and remove such trees and other vegetation as may be
reasonably required in order the permit the construction of the New
Addition.

2. Terms of Lease and Conflict - All other terms and conditions of the Lease shall
remain in effect unamended in their present form. To the extent of any conflict between the terms
of this Lease Amending Agreement and the Lease, the provisions of this Lease Amending
Agreement shall govern.

a. Successors and Assigns - This Lease Amending Agreement shall be binding upon
the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors and permitted
assigns.

4. Governing Law - This Lease Amending Agreement shall be governed by,
interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario.

5. Registration of Lease Amending Agreement - It is agreed that a copy of this Lease
Amending Agreement may be registered on title to the Property by Lessee.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have hereto duly executed this Agreement
on the date first above written.

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED THORNELOE UNIVERSITY
In the presence of

Per:

gf

)

)

)
)

Per:
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY

Per:

Per:
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SITE PLAN

SCHEDULE “A”

HANDICAP ACCESS, LIFT
AND RE—ARRANGEMENT OF
LEVELS AT LINK I‘BUILDING TIGHT TO
PROPERTY LINE

ARrHnicrEs / AflcHITCf$ INc.

PRELIMINARy
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

N.T.S.

456



SECOND PAGE OF SCHEDULE “A” CONTINUED

0

‘t41

%.

RECE

cbt

*

457



TEMPORARY EASEMENT AGREEMENT

DATED the /cc’ day of March, 1998.

BETWEEN:

THORNELOE UNIVERSITY

(Hereinafter referred to as “Thorneloe”)

OF THE FIRST PART

- and -

HUNTINGTON UNIVERSITY

(Hereinafter referred to as “Huntington’)

OF THE SECOND PART

WHEREAS pursuant to a lease agreement, dated November 1 3, 1 964, registered
in the Land Titles Office of the District of Sudbury, as instrument number 217228 between
Thorneloe and Laurentian University of Sudbury (the “Lease”), Thorneloe leased from
Laurentian University the property legally described as follows:

Parcel 30769, in the register for Sudbury East Section, being part of Lot 3, in
the First Concession of the Township of McKim, and part of Lot 3, in the
Second Concession of the Township of McKim, in the District of Sudbury,
being designated as Part 3 according to Plan of Survey SR-525 (the
“Property”).

AND WHEREAS Huntington has leased from Laurentian University the lands
immediately to the north of the Property legally described as follows:

Parcel 30769, in the register for Sudbury East Section, being part of Lot 3, in
the First Concession of the Township of McKim, and part of Lot 3, in the
Second Concession of the Township of McKim, in the District of Sudbury,
being designated as Part 2 according to Plan of Survey SR-525 (the
“Huntington Property”).

AND WHEREAS in order to facilitate the construction of an addition to
Thorneloe’s existing building located on the Property (“New Addition”), more particularly
described in the sketch attached hereto as Schedule “A”, the co-operation of Huntington is
required;

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of One ($1 .00) Dollar now paid by Thorneloe
to Huntington, the mutual covenants herein contained and other good and valuable
consideration, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Consent to Construction - Huntington consents to the construction of the New
Addition and more particularly the location of the New Addition as more particularly set out
in Schedule “A” attached hereto.

2. Temporary Right of Access - For the period of the construction of the New
Addition only, Huntington agrees to permit Thorneloe, its employees, servants, contractors
and agents, the uninterrupted right to access that area bounded by Manitou Road, the
Huntington University Upper Parking Lot entry, the Huntington University Upper Parking Lot
and the adjacent northerly boundary of the existing Thornloe Property, for the purposes of
facilitating the construction of the New Addition only.
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3. Repair to Original Condition - To the extent that the access provided hereunder
causes any disruption or destruction to any of the Huntington Property, Thorneloe agrees that
it shall be responsible for the return of such lands to their original condition, prior to the
granting of the rights of access provided for hereunder.

4. No liability - Huntington shall have no liability for any damage or injury to
Thorneloe or its agents, contractors, servants and employees resulting from or in any way
related to their entering on the Huntington Property during the term of this agreement.
Thorneloe further agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Huntington against and from all
costs, liabilities, claims, damages or expenses in respect of any injuries, deaths, loss or
damages suffered as a consequence of its agents, contractors, servants and employees,
entering upon the Huntington Property, except such claims that result directly from the
negligence of Huntington.

5. Term - The rights of access contemplated by this agreement shall commence
on the date hereof and conclude upon the completion of the New Addition and in no event
shall they extend beyond December 31, 1998.

6. Successors and Assigns - This agreement shall be binding upon the parties
hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors and permitted assigns.

7. Governing Law - This agreement shall be governed by, interpreted and enforced
in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have hereto duly executed this Agreement
on the date first above written.

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED THORNELOE UNIVERSITY
In the presence of

Per: /Ei /Y

Per:

,/

HUNTINGTON UNIVERSITY

Per:

____________________

7-Per:
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C

AKflDAVXT

I, MEOW BENNETT, of the City øf Toronto, in the

County of York, fl oath and say as follows:

1. Z am Secrotary of the Beard of aurentian University

of Sudbiu.

2, Stanley *tflJsas, whose signature is affixed to the

annexed document is the President #f aunnti*n University

of Sudbury, and Harold Sn.flt whose signatn. is also

affixed thereto is Secretary of the Beard of Z.aurentian

University if Sudhury and the seal aftfled thereto is the

coflOflte seal of Laurentian Univorsity of $i4bury.

3, Under the fl-tn of the Board of Governors of the

University the President nd Secretary are empoinnd to

execute on behalf of the University all deeds and other

instruments requiring the seal cf the Univenfty,

4. X*urentian Uflivfl ity of Sudbury is, I verily

believe, the owner of the land intiened in the said

domaent.

awops before me at the City

of Toronto, in the Cetrnty of

York, thiS 29th day of
,

December, *4). 1964

A Comeissioner, etc.
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C $#Th!g.W..c!PUlaC)

I, AflhiSY AUCCA$Dfl )WSSGL, of the City of Toronto, Sn the

County of York, Solicitor, a*)N oath and say as follows;

I. That I was personally present and did see the within

or annexed doeent and duplicates thereof 4u1 aSned, sealed

aM executed by Harold Hanoatt, Secretary f tie aoard of

Laurentian University of Sidbur.

2. That the said instnnt aid duplicates were executed

by the said party at the City of Toronto, in the County of York.

3, That I know the said party.

4. That I an a subserib*n witness to the said instriant

and duplieatn.

swami before a at the
City of Toronto, in
the County of York, this
29th day of December,

_____________________________

A n Sj r, -.-L.J Jima _C, .__rnLt.r—w .• t.

A Coemitsioner, etc.
ø 4. — 0’ 414 0’ 4. 4. . .w 4. ao a 4. — ** ‘ — ‘n — 1.. —

/
c

,of the City of Sudbury, in the

District of Suibury, sake oath and say as foflowsi

1. That I was personally present and did see the within

or annexed docent and duplisates t)wnof duly sinned, sealed

and executed by Stanley Ibuins, President of Laurontian

University of Sudbury.

2. That the said instrwnt and duplicates were exeeuted

by the said party at the City of Sudbury, in the District

of Sudbury.

3. That I know the said party.

4. that I as a subseribing witness to the said

instrtnent and duplicates

SWORN before at the
Cityofaudbury,inthe /
District of Sudbuzy, this 1iyt
5T5 Of 3wawnp, /
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TI-TI. INDENTURE made in dun1ica the 1st day of

October, 1964.

IN PURSUANCE OF THE SHORT FORM OF LEASES ACT.

B E T W E E N:

LAURENT IAI’T TJJ IVERS ITY OF SUi3IrRY

hereinafter called the “Lessor”

of the first part

- and -

THORNELOE UN IVERS ITY

hereinafter called the “Lessee”

of the second part

W}{EREAS the Lessor has agreed to lease unto the
Lessee certain space in its Arts and Humanities Building
for the use of the Lessee for administrative and academic
purposes until such time as the Lessee has constructed its
own building, or until the demised space is required by the
Le s sor,

WITNESSETH. that in consideration of the rents,
covenants and agreements hereinafter reserved and contained
on the part of the Lessee to be respectively paid, observed
and performed the Lessor doth demise and lease unto the Lessee
that portion of the Arts and Humanities Building situate on
the Lessor’s campus in the City of Sudbury, which portion of
the said building is hereinafter called the “demised premises”
as shown outlined in red on the sketch attached hereto and
containing an area of .1,269 square feet more or less.

1. To have and to hold the demised premises for and
during the term of two years to be computed from
the first day of October, 196)4 and thenceforth
next ensuing and fully to be complete and ended.

2. Yielding and paying therefore during the said $4,479.60
term unto the Lessor the sum of $,/.7J( to be
payable in equal monthly installments of $186.65
each in advance on the first day of each month H

during the said term, the first payment to be made
on the 1st day of October, 1964.

3. Provided that the Lessee may terminate this lease
on the last day of any month during the term hereby
granted by giving one months’ notice in writing to
the Lessor.

4. The Lessee covenants with the Lessor to pay rent and
to repair reasonable wear and tear and damage by fire,
lightning and tempest only excepted.

And the Lessor may enter and view the state of repair.

And that the Lessee will repair according to notice
in writing, reasonable wear and tear and damage by
fire, lightning and tempest only excepted.

And will not assign or sub-let without leave which
leave may be unreasonably withheld.

Provided the Lessee may remove its fixtures.
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Provided that in the event of damage by fire,
lightning or tem’est, rent shall cease until the
premises are rebuilt.

5. Proviso for re-entry by the Lessor on non-payment
of rent or non-performance of covenants.

6. The lessor covenants with the Lessee for quiet
enjoyment.

The Lessor shall supply adequate facilities to
heat the demised premises to the same standards
and at the same times as the portions of the said
building occupied by the Lessor are heated.

The Lessor shall permit the Lessee in common with
other persons entitled thereto to use such of the
lavatories and wash closets provided in the build
ing as may be designated from time to time, except
at such time as the general suoply of water may be
turned off from the nublic main.

The Lessor shall give the Lessee and all nersons
lawfully requirine communication with it free use
at all reasonable times of the main entrance to the

building and of the stairways and corridors leading
to the demised premises.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have hereunto

affixed their corporate seals under the hands of’ their proper

officers duly authorized in that behalf.

LMJRENTIAN TJNIcJ]RSITV Op STTDBURy

1Eê4
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June 29th, 1965

Thneloe University
Laurentin Un orsity CaPus,
DUDBUi!, :ntrio

tteni;n r. V.L. Berg, Regitr

Gent1exen;

Further to your letter n+ June 8th, 1965, and subsequent
conversatione dth Mr. Bert, w agree to suppir and instL. as follows:

() 4 x L” duct n co crete i’r.m our nnhole Wl4 to the
electrical root at Thorneioe Urd’versity.

(b) 3 conductor /12 FILC D cable, couiplete with splicinL,
potheadirig, and Iii —pot testing froi the Lcurent1 n Uni versi ty iii nni rig
Building switchrooi to the switch gear .t Thorneioe UniverElty.

(c) 2/14 iICL fire alara cab1e frni the centrj. cont.rl in
the Laurentian University Dining il1din t3 Thorneic University.

The tot.l cost for Thorneloe Un.I versity s portion of
these servIces fron their lot line to their buiding will be 4953.86.
2ur Invoice for this aiount will be subrnitted a &on as this work,
which Is currently In progress is eoipleted.

Yours very truly,
L..UikNTLN UNIVER3IT!

4/iW1

I______
J.. E)fl P1
Director

cc President s.G. MuiHns

Ni’. .J. $hea
4r. it.H. Noore
Kr. H. Lemire-
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March 8, 1967.

Exrpt from article in March 8, l967,edition of Sudbury Daily Star.

CHAPEL AT THORNELOE WILL BE MEMORIAL

TO PARENTS OF PIONEER FIELDING FAMILY.

A $75,000 chapel for Thorneloe College will be built on Laurentian

University campus, Dr. David Forth, provost of Throneloe College, announced

today.

To create a memorial to their parents, the money to build the

chapel is being donated by the family of the late Mr. and Mrs. George Parker

Fielding.

The inspiration for the memorial chapel stemmed from a suggestion

by en Merwin, prominent Sudbury lumberman, made to the Fielding family

while Merwin was chairman of the capital funds campaign for Thorneloe

University.

“Thorneloe commissioned Dr. T. Howarth to illustrate the

architectural considerations. He emphasized that the chapel would be

important as the architectural focal point for Thorneloe College,” Dr.

Forth said.

As Laurentian University’s consultant on architectural design

for all structures on campus, Dr. Howarth indicates the site for the memorial

chapel will be adjacent to Thorneloe College, overlooking Trout Lake, and

connected to the Thorneloe residence, probably by a covered walkway.

“We expect the chapel will be built during this summer and will

be ready for dedication by Archbishop William L. Wright in time for the
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opening of the 1967 fall term. ( Archbishop Wright is bishop of the

Anglican diocese of Algoma.)

The new Thorneloe chapel will be a memorial to one of Sudbury’s

pioneer families. George Parker Fielding emigrated from Manchester,

England, arriving in Sudbury in 1886. He settled on the well-known

Fielding farm in Waters township and farmed the property on Kelly Lake

continuously until his death on March 8, 1937.
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rinuut fur Jiuanrg.

3i ?rrrbp rutfrom. herein called the Le8sor,

(subject, if house occupied, to present tenant vacating), the premises 8ituate at P.r.
“..“.“

and L-22 herein Called the 8auZpremse5,from

the day of ,to day of

,1967ata monthly rental of , to become due and bepaycthle in

advance on the day of each and every month during my tenancy.

T to py 1i tcr i’I for g nrnl 0y ,. crg +h

I am the sole owner of all goods and chattels that are to be brought upon the said premises, and they are free from any mortgage,
lien, charge or encumbrance.

I admit that I have inspected the premises and that they are now clean and in a good state of repair, and I agree to keep the said
premises, including fixtures, in a good state of repair, reasonable wear and tear excepted, d to clean the ehed and out ..

ntificd t “ y ts propr municipal officer, and 1 agree to leave the said premises in a clean state whcn giving up possession, and to
make good all damage clone to the said premises or fixtures.

I agree not to assign or sublet the said premises or any part thereof, or to make any alterations, without the written consent of the
Lessor or his agent, and not to carry on any business or calling that may be deemed a nuisance.

I agree to give the Lessor a month’s notice in writing before leaving, p”t k9p up “cti’s “Pv ‘“ er T ot”in

— a lowoF front window o t prnus “t” pr”us + loavig, and to allow persons bearing an order from the Lessor or his
agent to inspect the said premises on any week day.

I hereby waive and renounce the right to exemptions from seizure provided by “The Landlord and Tenant Act”, and I agree that,
notwithstanding the said Act, the Lessor may seize and sell all my goods and chattels, or such part thereof as may be necessary, for pay.
ment of rent and costs, and that the Lessor may seize the said goods and chattels at any place they may have been removed to, and the
Lessor shall be entitled to all costs as between solicitor and client which he may have incurred, whether in collecting arrears of rent, or
otherwise howsoever.

All the terms hereof shall be binding upon my executors, administrators, and assigns.

Dated at SUDBURY , the day of , 19

T1LQRNELUE URS ITY

PRES IDENT

( FORM NO. s137—30e53

COPYRIGHT, CANADA. BY

iuRWlCK BROS. A RUTTEI’? LIMITED

TORONTO CANADA
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THORNELOE UNIVERSITY
A University of the Anglican Communion

Federated with

LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY

Mr. Ron Chrysler
Vice-President, Administration
Laurentian University

Dear Mr. Chrysler,

ILJL:. .i

/ii;I
iJLLJUL

.- —- -,
-..----

Office of the President
February 6, 1995

At the last meeting of the Thorneloe Board of Governors while reviewing the provisions
of our lease with Laurentian University, the following clause was noted:

YIELDING AND PA YJNG there/or during the said term the suni of ONE
DOLLAR ($1.00) of laii,fid money of Canada on the 1st day ofSeptember, 1963,
and on the is! day ofSeptember of each year of the remainder of the term hereby
gran1ed if demanded.

We have searched our records to see whether Laurentian had ever “demanded this or
whether it had ever been volunteered. We find no record of either.

The Governors did request that we volunteer to pay this sum. I therefore enclose a
cheque for $30.00 in payment for the years of 1964 to 1994. We hope that notwithstanding this
symbolic payment, that relationships between Thorneloe and Laurentian remain collaborative,
cooperative, and contributory in the spirit of the founding of this university.

Sincerely,

(The Rev. Dr.) Don Thompson
President and Provost of the College

College of Thorneloe University • Ramsey Lake Road, Sudhury, Ontario, Canada • P3E 2C6 • Tel. (705) 673-1730 • Fax (705) 673-4979

Department of Classical Studies . Department of Religious Studies • School of Theology . Theatre Arts Program . Women’s Studies Program

490



•1iri ii i IATIAI fl,1TT
1D JL[ Ii 21sT FLOOR

7 KING STREET EAST
/ TORONTO 1. CANADA

/
TELEPHONE‘hi’ /

3e2-7292
O.toher

‘. V. MoeaiA,
Laureotias Uatv.rsity of Siy,

AJT, Qnarte.

Dear . )oea1d:

?i_e II -

____

Tiw toUmiis CaF ere ea.r work whieb wm -_

to wovid. asccdatice far tho PIrs’%eL CeUapm s tho teornio
Depsrnt. Am it ws iz.dteot 10 1. eo, oertate taelzdm( areas
were eajit.10* a ohorgeal. 1. Eutta..

Tho Ci_a .re arg

C ‘4.r #1* - Rasi.s Ø. • ,7S9.13
- Ja..10a c.u..

#36 — (rware)

•23 ,69.36

A of tho Arehtt..t’a Ist10r of teh.r 5, 199.
is e..1eo. which shows ti_ eowt. tsciarrU ow 1f of tI
r..eoti 0a11s:

A000IISO

A.omt eoe - C’---j- iar 1S • a,7e9.13

Allocaltoc:
Aecowut e9ai

ry CeUp $1o,3e669
Tr.1.e -
Jaati eT7eo

Asseat e9ca -

Szteaetaa D$. • 2,79.13

?otal peMi10r. as ar% of ho.e II 23,659.36

S
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rounthw5e & Assoiates Architects 53 Vrkvfl3• Ave. Teronto .I:Wa -3a3l

‘CJd..iw.
R.Hj4,

OCT1GI9G4

October 15, 1964

Mr. H. H. Moore
7 King St. E.
21st Floor
Toronto, Ontario

Dear Mr. Moore:

Re: Arts Building

The following breakdown of costs for the rented sras On the second and third
floors ha been calcultaed on the basis of costs known to us. We believe this
may be more realistic than the figure quoted John Woolcock earlier this year.

Sudbury $10,386.69-
Thornloe 5,6O5.74v
Laurentian 1,877.8o

Total $ 20,870.23

C.O. #23 l9,503.71i.
C.O. #36 1,366.li9

Total $ 20,870.23

Yours very truly,

Glenn Hadley.

GH/jj

C. P. T. Rounthwit.. E.D., 8.Arch.. M.R.A.I.C.
.4. M. GuguIL, e.ArCh.. M..A.I.C.

G. R. HadI.y, B.Arcfl., M.R.A.j.C. H. G. F.,b.r, Op.Irg.. M.R.A.I.C. G. T. Sm.CI.y, •.Arch., MM.A.I.C.
Con.tructlon Sup.rvIsorr; C. .4. Brown B.Sc., P.Eng. A. £. .4. CuflflflQhi
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This is Exhibit “R”, referred to in the 

Affidavit of ROBERT HACHÉ,  
sworn before me via videoconference 

this 30th day of January, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 
A Commissioner for taking Affidavits, etc. 
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	SERVICE AND DEFINITIONS
	1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Motion and the Motion Record is hereby abridged and validated so that this Motion is properly returnable today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof.
	2. THIS COURT ORDERS that capitalized terms used herein that are not otherwise defined shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Haché Initial Affidavit.
	NON-APPLICANT STAY PARTY
	THIS COURT ORDERS that the Laurentian University Students General Association (the “SGA”) shall be referred to herein as a “Non-Applicant Stay Party”.  Although not an applicant under the CCAA, the Non-Applicant Stay Party shall enjoy certain of the b...
	APPLICATION
	3. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the Applicant is insolvent and is a company to which the CCAA applies.
	PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT
	4. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall have the authority to file and may, subject to further order of this Court, file with this Court a plan of compromise or arrangement (hereinafter referred to as the "Plan").
	POSSESSION OF PROPERTY AND OPERATIONS
	5. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall remain in possession and control of its current and future assets, undertakings and properties of every nature and kind whatsoever, and wherever situate including all proceeds thereof (the “Property”).  Su...
	6. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall be entitled to continue to use the cash management system currently in place, as described in the Haché Initial Affidavit, which for greater certainty includes any segregated bank accounts now existing (to...
	7. THIS COURT ORDERS that (a) any segregated bank accounts established by the Applicant from and after December 1, 2020, to hold funds received by it on the condition that such funds be used for a specific purpose in respect of a particular aspect of ...
	8. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall be entitled but not required to pay the following expenses whether incurred prior to, on or after the date of this Order, in all cases subject to the availability of financing under the DIP Term Sheet (as ...
	(a) all outstanding and future wages, salaries, employee and retiree benefits (including, without limitation, employee medical, dental, vision, insurance and similar benefit plans or arrangements), amounts owing under corporate credit cards issued to ...
	(b) all outstanding amounts owing in respect of the current 2020-21 academic year and future amounts owing in respect of rebates, refunds or other similar amounts that are owing or may be owed to students or student associations of the Applicant, whet...
	(c) all outstanding amounts owing in respect of the current 2020-21 academic year and future amounts payable to students in respect of student scholarship, bursary or grants; and
	(d) the fees and disbursements of any Assistants retained or employed by the Applicant in respect of these proceedings, at their standard rates and charges.

	9. THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as otherwise provided to the contrary herein, the Applicant shall be entitled but not required to pay all reasonable expenses incurred by the Applicant in carrying on the Business in the ordinary course after the Init...
	(a) all expenses and capital expenditures reasonably necessary for the preservation of the Property or the Business (including the value thereof) including, without limitation, payments on account of insurance (including directors and officers’ insura...
	(b) payment for goods or services actually supplied to the Applicant following the date of this Order or payments to obtain the release of goods or delivery of services contracted for prior to the date of this Order,
	provided that, to the extent such expenses were incurred prior to the date Initial Filing Date, the Applicant shall only be entitled to pay such amounts if they are determined by the Applicant, in consultation with the Monitor, to be necessary to the ...

	10. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall remit, in accordance with legal requirements, or pay:
	(a) until further order of this Court, all outstanding and future normal course contributions to or payments in respect of the Pension Plan, as defined in the Haché Initial Affidavit, in the ordinary course of business and consistent with existing com...
	(b) any statutory deemed trust amounts in favour of the Crown in right of Canada or of any Province thereof or any other taxation authority which are required to be deducted from employees’ wages, including, without limitation, amounts in respect of (...
	(c) all goods and services or other applicable sales taxes (collectively, “Sales Taxes”) required to be remitted by the Applicant in connection with the sale of goods and services by the Applicant, but only where such Sales Taxes are accrued or collec...
	(d) any amount payable to the Crown in right of Canada or of any Province thereof or any political subdivision thereof or any other taxation authority in respect of municipal realty, municipal business or other taxes, assessments or levies of any natu...

	11. THIS COURT ORDERS that until a real property lease is disclaimed or resiliated in accordance with the CCAA, the Applicant shall pay, without duplication, all amounts constituting rent or payable as rent under real property leases (including, for g...
	12. THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as specifically permitted herein, the Applicant is hereby directed, until further Order of this Court: (a) to make no payments of principal, interest thereon or otherwise on account of amounts owing by the Applicant ...
	PENSION PLAN
	13. THIS COURT ORDERS that the obligation of the Applicant to make special payments (whether pursuant to the Ontario Pension Benefits Act, RSO 1990, c. P-8 and regulations made thereunder or to the terms of the Pension Plan, as such term is defined in...
	14. THIS COURT ORDERS that for the duration of this proceeding, no Person (as hereinafter defined), including employees and former employees of the Applicant (or the surviving spouse of any such person) entitled to a benefit under the defined benefit ...
	15. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant and each of its respective directors, officers, officials, and agents shall not incur any obligation or liability, whether by way of debt, damages for breach of any duty whether statutory, fiduciary, common law...
	16. THIS COURT ORDERS that if any claim, lien, charge or trust, including deemed trust, arises as a result of the suspension of the Special Payments, no such claim, lien charge or trust, including deemed trust, shall have priority over the Charges (as...
	Restructuring
	17. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall, subject to such requirements as are imposed by the CCAA, have the right to:
	(a) permanently or temporarily cease, downsize or shut down any of its Business or operations, and to dispose of redundant or non-material assets not exceeding $50,000 in any one transaction or $250,000 in the aggregate.  Notwithstanding the foregoing...
	(b) terminate the employment of such of its employees or temporarily lay off such of its employees as they deem appropriate;
	(c) vacate, abandon or quit any leased premises and disclaim or resiliate any real property lease and any ancillary agreements relating to any leased premises, subject to paragraphs 11 and 18 of this Order;
	(d) disclaim arrangements or agreements of any nature whatsoever with whomever, whether oral or written, as the Applicant deems appropriate, with the Monitor’s consent or pursuant to further Order of the Court, in accordance with Section 32 of the CCAA;
	(e) pursue all avenues of refinancing of the Business or Property, in whole or part, subject to prior approval of this Court being obtained before any material refinancing; and
	(f) pursue all avenues and to engage in discussions with key stakeholders of the Applicant in an effort to give effect to an operational restructuring of the Applicant;

	all of the foregoing to permit the Applicant to proceed with an orderly restructuring of its business (the “Restructuring”).
	18. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall provide each of the relevant landlords with notice of the Applicant’s intention to remove any fixtures from any leased premises at least seven (7) days’ prior to the date of the intended removal.  The rel...
	19. THIS COURT ORDERS that if a notice of disclaimer is delivered pursuant to Section 32 of the CCAA, then (a) during the notice period prior to the effective time of the disclaimer, the landlord may show the affected leased premises to prospective te...
	NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE APPLICANT OR THE PROPERTY
	20. THIS COURT ORDERS that until and including April 30, 2021, or such later date as this Court may subsequently order (the “Stay Period”), no proceeding or enforcement process in or out of any court or tribunal or other forum, whether arising by cont...
	NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES
	21. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all rights and remedies of any individual, firm, corporation, governmental body or agency, or any other entities (all of the foregoing, collectively being “Persons” and each being a “Person”) against ...
	(a) the Applicant being insolvent or having made an application to this Court under the CCAA;
	(b) the Applicant being a party to this proceeding or taking any steps related thereto; or
	(c) any default or cross-default arising from the matters set out in the foregoing subparagraphs,

	provided that nothing in this Order shall:
	(a) empower the Applicant to carry on any business which the Applicant is not lawfully entitled to carry on;
	(b) exempt the Applicant from compliance with any statutory or regulatory provisions relating to health, safety or the environment;
	(c) affect such investigations, actions, suits or proceedings by a regulatory body as are specifically permitted by Section 11.1 of the CCAA;
	(d) prevent the filing of any registration to preserve or perfect a security interest;
	(e) prevent the registration of a claim for lien; or
	(f) prevent any actions that are permitted by Section 34(8) of the CCAA.

	LIMITED STAY IN RESPECT OF THE NON-APPLICANT STAY PARTY
	22. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, no Person shall (a) commence or continue any Proceeding or enforcement process, (b) terminate, repudiate, make any demand, accelerate, alter, amend, declare in default, exercise any options, rights or...
	(a) the Applicant being insolvent or having made an application to this Court under the CCAA;
	(b) the Applicant being a party to this proceeding or taking any steps related thereto; or
	(c) the stay granted pursuant to this paragraph 22; and
	(d) any default or cross-default arising from the matters set out in the foregoing subparagraphs,

	except with the written consent of the Applicant and the Monitor, or with leave of this Court.
	NO INTERFERENCE WITH RIGHTS
	23. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, no Person shall discontinue, fail to honour, alter, interfere with, repudiate, terminate or cease to perform any right, renewal right, contract, agreement, lease, sublease, licence or permit in favour...
	CONTINUATION OF SERVICES
	24. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all Persons having oral or written agreements with the Applicant or statutory or regulatory mandates for the supply of goods and/or services, including without limitation all computer software, commun...
	NON-DEROGATION OF RIGHTS
	25. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding anything else in this Order, no Person shall be prohibited from requiring immediate payment for goods, services, use of lease or licensed property or other valuable consideration provided on or after the dat...
	PROCEEDINGS AGAINST DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
	26. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, and except as permitted by subsection 11.03(2) of the CCAA, no Proceeding may be commenced or continued against any of the current or future directors or officers of the Applicant, including the membe...
	DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INDEMNIFICATION AND CHARGE
	27. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall indemnify its directors, officers and the Board against obligations and liabilities that they may incur as directors or officers of the Applicant after the commencement of the within proceedings, except t...
	28. THIS COURT ORDERS that the directors, officers and Board of the Applicant shall be entitled to the benefit of and are hereby granted a charge (the “Directors’ Charge”) on the Property, which charge shall not exceed an aggregate amount of $5,000,00...
	29. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any language in any applicable insurance policy to the contrary, (a) no insurer shall be entitled to be subrogated to or claim the benefit of the Directors’ Charge, and (b) the Applicant’s directors, officer...
	APPOINTMENT OF MONITOR
	30. THIS COURT ORDERS that Ernst & Young Inc. is hereby appointed pursuant to the CCAA as the Monitor, an officer of this Court, to monitor the business and financial affairs of the Applicant with the powers and obligations set out in the CCAA or set ...
	31. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, in addition to its prescribed rights and obligations under the CCAA, is hereby directed and empowered to:
	(a) monitor the Applicant’s receipts and disbursements;
	(b) liaise with and assist the Applicant and the Assistants with respect to all matters relating to the Applicant’s Business, the Applicant’s Property and the Restructuring, and such other matters as may be relevant to the proceedings herein;
	(c) report to this Court at such times and intervals as the Monitor may deem appropriate with respect to matters relating to the Property, the Business and such other matters as may be relevant to the proceedings herein;
	(d) advise the Applicant in the preparation of the Applicant’s cash flow statements and any other reporting to the Court or otherwise;
	(e) be at liberty to participate in discussions with representatives of the Ministry of Colleges and Universities (“MCU”) and such other representatives of Provincial or Federal government agencies, at any time on all aspects of this proceeding and th...
	(f) assist the Applicant, to the extent required by the Applicant, in its dissemination, to the DIP Lender (as defined below) and its counsel on a weekly basis of financial and other information as agreed to between the Applicant and the DIP Lender wh...
	(g) advise the Applicant in its development of the Plan and any amendments to the Plan;
	(h) assist the Applicant, to the extent required by the Applicant, with the holding and administering of a creditors’ meeting for voting on the Plan;
	(i) have full and complete access to the Property, including the premises, books, records, data, including data in electronic form, and other financial documents of the Applicant, wherever situate, in order to assess the Applicant’s business and finan...
	(j) be at liberty to engage independent legal counsel or such other persons as the Monitor deems necessary or advisable respecting the exercise of its powers and performance of its obligations under this Order; and
	(k) perform such other duties as are required by this Order or by this Court from time to time.

	32. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall not take possession of the Property of the Applicant, or any property of the Non-Applicant Stay Party, and shall take no part whatsoever in the management or supervision of the management of the Business an...
	33. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Monitor to occupy or to take control, care, charge, possession or management (separately and/or collectively, “Possession”) of any of the Property that might be environmentally cont...
	34. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall provide any creditor of the Applicant and the DIP Lender with information provided by the Applicant in response to reasonable requests for information made in writing by such creditor addressed to the Monit...
	35. THIS COURT ORDERS that, in addition to the rights and protections afforded the Monitor under the CCAA or as an officer of this Court, the Monitor shall incur no liability or obligation as a result of its appointment or the carrying out of the prov...
	36. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor and the Applicant’s counsel and advisors in connection with the CCAA proceedings (collectively, the “Restructuring Advisors”) together with independent counsel to the Board (“Board Counsel...
	37. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor and its legal counsel shall pass their accounts from time to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Monitor and its legal counsel are hereby referred to a judge of the Commercial List of the Ontario Super...
	38. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Restructuring Advisors shall be entitled to the benefit of and are hereby granted a charge (the “Administration Charge”) on the Property, which charge shall not exceed an aggregate amount of $1,250,000, as security for t...
	COURT-APPOINTED MEDIATOR
	39. THIS COURT ORDERS that [►] is hereby appointed, as an officer of the Court and to act as a neutral third party (the “Court-Appointed Mediator”) to assist the Applicant and the relevant stakeholders with a mediation of:
	(a) the review and restructuring of the academic programs of the Applicant;
	(b) the collective agreement between the Applicant and the Laurentian University Faculty Association;
	(c) the framework for the Applicant’s restructuring and future operations; and
	(d) any other matters that are referred to the Court-Appointed Mediator by the Applicant, the Monitor or this Court
	(together, the “Mediation Objectives”).

	40. THIS COURT ORDERS that in carrying out his/her mandate, the Court-Appointed Mediator may, among other things:
	(a) adopt processes, procedures and timelines which, in his/her discretion, he/she considers appropriate to facilitate an effective and efficient negotiation of the Mediation Objectives (the “Mediation Process”); and
	(b) consult with an appointed representative of the parties affected by the Mediation Objectives, the Monitor, the Applicant, and such other creditors and stakeholders of the Applicant and any other persons the Court-Appointed Mediator considers appro...

	41. THIS COURT ORDERS that, subject to an agreement between the Applicant and the Court-Appointed Mediator, all reasonable fees and disbursements of the Court-Appointed Mediator as may have been incurred prior to the date of this Order or which shall ...
	42. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Court-Appointed Mediator is authorized to take all steps and to do all acts necessary or desirable to carry out the terms of this Order, including as it relates to any Court, regulatory body or other government ministry,...
	43. THIS COURT ORDERS that, in addition to the rights and protections afforded as an officer of this Court, the Court-Appointed Mediator shall incur no liability or obligation as a result of his/her appointment or the carrying out of the provisions of...
	44. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Court and the Court-Appointed Mediator may communicate between one another directly to discuss, on an ongoing basis, the conduct of the Mediation Process and the manner in which it will be coordinated with the CCAA proce...
	45. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Court will not disclose to the Court-Appointed Mediator how the Court will decide any matter which may come before the Court for determination and the Court-Appointed Mediator will not disclose to the Court the negotiati...
	46. THIS COURT ORDERS that all statements, discussions, offers made and documents produced by any of the parties in the course of the Mediation Process shall not be subject to disclosure through discovery or any other process; shall be confidential; s...
	47. THIS COURT ORDERS that any notes, records, statements made, discussions had and recollections of the Court-Appointed Mediator in conducting the Mediation Process shall be confidential and without prejudice and protected from disclosure for all pur...
	DIP FINANCING
	48. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant is hereby authorized and empowered to obtain and borrow under a credit facility from Firm Capital Mortgage Fund Inc., or its assignee (the “DIP Lender”) in order to finance the Applicant’s working capital requi...
	49. THIS COURT ORDERS that such credit facility shall be on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the term sheet between the Applicant and the DIP Lender dated as of January 29, 2021 (the “DIP Term Sheet”) attached as Exhibit “HHH” to t...
	50. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant is hereby authorized and empowered to execute and deliver such credit agreements, mortgages, charges, hypothecs and security documents and other definitive documents (collectively, the “DIP Documents”), as are ...
	51. THIS COURT ORDERS that the DIP Lender shall be entitled to the benefit of and is hereby granted a charge (the “DIP Lender’s Charge”) on the Property, including without limitation, the real property set out in Schedule “A”, and the DIP Lender’s Cha...
	52. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any other provision of this Order:
	(a) the DIP Lender may take such steps from time to time as it may deem necessary or appropriate to file, register, record or perfect the DIP Lender’s Charge or any of the DIP Documents;
	(b) upon the occurrence of an event of default under the DIP Documents or the DIP Lender’s Charge or upon the Maturity Date (as defined in the DIP Term Sheet), the DIP Lender, upon 14 days’ written notice to the Applicant and the Monitor, may exercise...
	(c) the foregoing rights and remedies of the DIP Lender shall be enforceable against any trustee in bankruptcy, interim receiver, receiver or receiver and manager of the Applicant or the Property.

	53. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that, unless otherwise agreed by the DIP Lender, the DIP Lender shall be treated as unaffected in any plan of arrangement or compromise filed by the Applicant under the CCAA, or any other or similar proceeding that m...
	VALIDITY AND PRIORITY OF CHARGES CREATED BY THIS ORDER
	54. THIS COURT ORDERS that the priorities of the Administration Charge, the Directors’ Charge and the DIP Lender’s Charge (collectively, the “Charges” and each individually, a “Charge”) as among them, shall be as follows:
	55. THIS COURT ORDERS that the filing, registration or perfection of the Charges shall not be required, and that the Charges shall be valid and enforceable for all purposes, including as against any right, title or interest filed, registered, recorded...
	56. THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Charges shall constitute a charge on the Property and such Charges shall rank in priority to all other security interests, trusts, liens, construction liens, charges and encumbrances, claims of secured creditors,...
	57. THIS COURT ORDERS that except as otherwise expressly provided for herein, or as may be approved by this Court, the Applicant shall not grant any Encumbrances over any Property that rank in priority to, or pari passu with, any of the Charges, unles...
	58. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Charges shall not be rendered invalid or unenforceable and the rights and remedies of the Chargees shall not be limited or impaired in any way by (a) the pendency of these proceedings and the declarations of insolvency m...
	(a) the creation of the Charges nor the execution, delivery, perfection, registration or performance of the DIP Term Sheet or the DIP Documents shall not create or be deemed to constitute a breach by the Applicant of any Agreement to which it is a party;
	(b) none of the Chargees shall have any liability to any Person whatsoever as a result of any breach of any Agreement caused by or resulting from the Applicant entering into the DIP Term Sheet, the creation of the Charges or the execution, delivery or...
	(c) the payments made by the Applicant pursuant to this Order, the DIP Term Sheet or the DIP Documents and the granting of the Charges, do not and will not constitute preferences, fraudulent conveyances, transfers at undervalue, oppressive conduct, or...

	59. THIS COURT ORDERS that any Charge created by this Order over leases of real property in Canada shall only be a Charge in the Applicant’s interest in such real property leases.
	60. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding anything else contained herein and pending further Order of the Court, the Property subject to the Charges herein shall not include the Segregated Funds.
	SERVICE AND NOTICE
	61. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall (i) without delay, publish in the Globe & Mail and the Sudbury Star a notice containing the information prescribed under the CCAA, and (ii) within five days of the date of this Order, (A) make this Order pu...
	62. THIS COURT ORDERS that the E-Service Protocol of the Commercial List (the “Protocol”) is approved and adopted by reference herein and, in this proceeding, the service of documents made in accordance with the Protocol (which can be found on the Com...
	63. THIS COURT ORDERS that if the service or distribution of documents in accordance with the Protocol is not practicable, the Applicant and the Monitor are at liberty to serve or distribute this Order, any other materials and orders in these proceedi...
	64. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall create, maintain and update as necessary a list of all Persons appearing in person or by counsel in this proceeding (the “Service List”).  The Monitor shall post the Service List, as may be updated from tim...
	65. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant and the Monitor and their respective counsel are at liberty to serve or distribute this Order, and other materials and orders as may be reasonably required in these proceedings, including any notices, or other ...
	SERVICE AND NOTICE
	66. THIS COURT ORDERS that, subject to paragraph 67, all motions in this proceeding are to be brought on not less than seven (7) calendar days' notice to all persons on the Service List. Each Notice of Motion shall specify a date (the “Return Date”) a...
	67. THIS COURT ORDERS that motions for relief on an urgent basis need not comply with the notice protocol described herein.
	68. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested Person wishing to object to the relief sought in a motion must serve responding motion material or, if they do not intend to file material, a notice in all cases stating the objection to the motion and the gro...
	69. THIS COURT ORDERS that, if no Responding Materials are served by the Objection Deadline, the judge having carriage of the motion (the “Presiding Judge”) may determine:
	(a) whether a hearing is necessary;
	(b) whether such hearing will be in person, by telephone, by video conference, or by written submissions only; and
	(c) the parties from whom submissions are required

	70. THIS COURT ORDERS that, if no Responding Materials are served by the Objection Deadline, the Monitor shall communicate with the Presiding Judge regarding whether a determination has been made by the Presiding Judge concerning the Hearing Details. ...
	71. THIS COURT ORDERS that if any party objects to the motion proceeding on the Return Date or believes that the Objection Deadline does not provide sufficient time to respond to the motion, such objecting party shall, promptly upon receipt of the Not...
	SEALING PROVISION
	72. THIS COURT ORDERS that Confidential Exhibits “EEE” and “FFF” of the Haché Initial Affidavit, are hereby sealed pending further order of the Court, and shall not form part of the public record.
	GENERAL
	73. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant or the Monitor may from time to time apply to this Court for advice and directions in the discharge of their powers and duties hereunder.
	74. THIS COURT ORDERS that upon the registration in the Land Titles Division of the Real Property of the DIP Lender’s Charge in the form prescribed in the Land Titles Act or the Registration Reform Act, or both, as applicable, the Land Registrar is he...
	75. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Monitor from acting as an interim receiver, a receiver, a receiver and manager, or a trustee in bankruptcy of the Applicant, the Business or the Property.
	76. THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court, tribunal, regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada or outside of Canada to give effect to this Order and to assist the Applicant, the Monitor and their respect...
	77. THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Applicant and the Monitor be at liberty and is hereby authorized and empowered to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or administrative body, wherever located, for the recognition of this Order and for assis...
	78. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party (including the Applicant and the Monitor) may apply to this Court to vary or amend this Order on not less than seven (7) days notice to any other party or parties likely to be affected by the order sough...
	79. THIS COURT ORDERS that this Order and all of its provisions are effective as of 12:01 a.m. Eastern Time on the date of this Order, and is enforceable without any need for entry and filing.


